
 
 

 
 
Committee: 
 

CABINET 

Date: 
 

TUESDAY, 10 FEBRUARY 2026 

Venue: 
 

MORECAMBE TOWN HALL 

Time: 6.00 P.M. 
 

A G E N D A 
 
 
1. Apologies  
 
2. Minutes  
 
 To receive as a correct record the minutes of Cabinet held on Tuesday, 13 January  2026 

(previously circulated).   
  
3. Items of Urgent Business Authorised by the Leader  
 
 To consider any such items authorised by the Leader and to consider where in the 

agenda the item(s) are to be considered.  
  
4. Declarations of Interest  
 
 To receive declarations by Councillors of interests in respect of items on this Agenda.   

Councillors are reminded that, in accordance with the Localism Act 2011, they are 
required to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests which have not already been 
declared in the Council’s Register of Interests. (It is a criminal offence not to declare a 
disclosable pecuniary interest either in the Register or at the meeting).   

Whilst not a legal requirement, in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 9 and in the 
interests of clarity and transparency, Councillors should declare any disclosable pecuniary 
interests which they have already declared in the Register, at this point in the meeting.   

In accordance with Part B Section 2 of the Code Of Conduct, Councillors are required to 
declare the existence and nature of any other interests as defined in paragraphs 8(1) or 
9(2) of the Code of Conduct.   

  
5. Public Speaking  
 
 To consider any such requests received in accordance with the approved procedure.   
  
6. Reports from Overview and Scrutiny  
 
 None.   
  
 Reports  
 



 

7. Adoption of Arnside and Silverdale National Landscape Management Plan (Pages 4 
- 97) 

 
 (Cabinet Member with Special Responsibility Councillor Tyldesley) 

 
Chief Officer Planning & Climate Change 

  
8. Budget and Policy Framework General Fund Revenue Budget 2026/27 - 2030/31 

(Pages 98 - 152) 
 
 (Cabinet Member with Special Responsibility Councillor Hamilton-Cox) 

 
Report of Chief Officer Resources (report published on 5.2.26) 

  
9. Capital Programme 2026/27 – 2035/36 & Capital Strategy (Investing in the Future) 

(Pages 153 - 180) 
 
 (Cabinet Member with Special Responsibility Councillor Hamilton-Cox) 

 
Report of Chief Officer Resources (report published on 6.2.26) 

  
10. Treasury Management Strategy 2026/27 (Pages 181 - 211) 
 
 (Cabinet Member with Special Responsibility Councillor Hamilton-Cox) 

 
Report of Chief Officer Resources (report published on 6.2.26) 

  
11. Medium Term Financial Strategy 2026/27 - 2030/31 (Pages 212 - 226) 
 
 (Cabinet Member with Special Responsibility Councillor Hamilton-Cox) 

 
Report of Chief Officer Resources (report published on 5.2.26) 

  
12. Housing Revenue Account Budget Framework 2026/27 - 2030/31 (Pages 227 - 265) 
 
 (Cabinet Member with Special Responsibility Councillor Hamilton-Cox) 

 
Joint Report of Chief Officer Housing & Property and Chief Officer Resources (report 
published on 6.2.26) 

  
13. Flexible use of Capital Receipts Strategy 2026/27 (Pages 266 - 273) 
 
 (Cabinet Member with Special Responsibility Councillor Hamilton-Cox) 

 
Report of Chief Officer Resources (report published on 6.2.26) 

  
14. Delivering our Priorities 2025/26 Q3 (Pages 274 - 308) 
 
 (Cabinet Member with Special Responsibility Councillor Hamilton-Cox) 

 
Report of Chief Officer Resources (report published on 5.2.26) 

  
ADMINISTRATIVE ARRANGEMENTS 
 
(i) Membership 



 

 
 Councillors Caroline Jackson (Chair), Peter Jackson, Mandy Bannon, Martin Bottoms, 

Tim Hamilton-Cox, Paul Hart, Sally Maddocks, Sam Riches and Sue Tyldesley 
 

 
(ii) Queries regarding this Agenda 

 
 Please contact Liz Bateson, Democratic Support - email ebateson@lancaster.gov.uk. 

 
(iii) Changes to Membership, substitutions or apologies 

 
 Please contact Democratic Support, telephone 582000, or alternatively email 

democracy@lancaster.gov.uk.   
 
 

MARK DAVIES, 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE, 
TOWN HALL, 
DALTON SQUARE, 
LANCASTER, LA1 1PJ 
 
Published on FRIDAY 30 January, 2026.   

 

mailto:democracy@lancaster.gov.uk


 

 

CABINET  

 
Adoption of Arnside and Silverdale National Landscape 

Management Plan  
   

10th February 2026 
 

Report of Chief Officer – Planning and Climate Change 
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

(i) To approve the adoption of the Arnside and Silverdale National Landscape 
Management Plan. 
 

Key Decision 
 

 Non-Key Decision X Referral from Cabinet 
Member 

 

Date of notice of forthcoming 
key decision 

N/A 

This report is public 
 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE PORTFOLION HOLDER 
 
(1) To approve the adoption of the Arnside and Silverdale National Landscape 

Management Plan which, on adoption, will act as a material consideration in 
planning decisions, guide delivery and provide a strong foundation for support 
in bids for funding opportunities for projects within the National Landscape.    

 
1.0 Introduction 

 
1.1 As set out in Section 89 of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000, the Council 

has a duty to jointly prepare and review Management Plans for the two National 
Landscapes (NL) in its area (Arnside and Silverdale NL and the Forest of Bowland 
NL).This work is delivered on the Council’s behalf by the relevant National Landscape 
partnerships and staff teams. For Arnside & Silverdale NL the two other responsible 
local authorities are Westmorland & Furness Council and Lancashire County Council. 
For clarity, National Landscapes were previously known as Areas of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty.  
 

1.2 The Management Plan for the Arnside & Silverdale National Landscape has recently 
been reviewed and a draft to guide the management of this protected landscape for 
the period 2026 – 2031 was produced in Autumn 2025 (consultation ran 
from 1st September 2025 until 17th October 2025).  The Council now needs to formally 
adopt the Management Plan to continue to meet its statutory duties.  

  
1.3 The first statutory Management Plan for Arnside & Silverdale was published in 2004 

and was reviewed and rewritten in 2009, 2014, 2019 and again in 2025 for this new 
Management Plan which will cover the period 2026-2031.  It sets out how partners can 
all work together to conserve, enhance and connect people to the National Landscape, 
to ensure it remains a beautiful place where people and nature thrive together. The 
Management Plan takes account of all consultations carried out in 2024 and 2025.  

Page 4Agenda Item 7



  
1.4 Council officers have been involved in the review and preparation of the Management 

Plan through attendance of the Management Plan Review Sub-group 
meetings and through numerous on-going collaborative officer meetings and site visits 
with both the National Landscape team and Westmorland and Furness Council. 
Members have contributed through attendance of the Executive Committee and/or 
Sub-group meetings and have been made aware of the NL Management Plan 
consultation and its content at Local Plan Review Group (LPRG) on 24th September 
2025. A report on the draft Management Plan was also presented to Council Business 
Committee on 16th October 2025.   

  
1.5 This is the first Management Plan to be produced since legislative changes in 2023 as 

a result of the Levelling-up and Regeneration Act 2023 (LURA) which amended the 
duty on (my emphasis) relevant authorities in respect of their functions which affect 
land in National Parks, National Landscapes, and the Norfolk and Suffolk Broads 
(collectively referred to as Protected Landscapes) in England.  Relevant authorities 
must now ‘seek to further’ the statutory purposes of Protected Landscapes. This 
replaces the previous duty on relevant authorities to ‘have regard to’ their statutory 
purposes.   

  
1.5 As set outby DEFRA1, “the duty is intended to facilitate better outcomes for 

England’s    Protected Landscapes, which are in line with their statutory purposes. The 
duty is intended to… [ensure] that the purposes for which Protected Landscapes 
are designated for are recognised in reaching decisions and undertaking activities 
that impact these areas”.  

 
1.5  As set out in the National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949; confirmed 

by Section 89 of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000, the primary purpose of 
the designation is to conserve and enhance natural beauty. 

 
 
2.0 Content of the Arnside and Silverdale Management Plan 
 
2.1 Management Plans are meant to be taken as a guide for all partners and stakeholders 

to refer to when planning their own work within the National Landscape. They set out 
a range of objectives, desired outcomes and requirements for land management and 
project delivery within the National Landscape to achieve these outcomes. Some of 
these required actions and behaviours would be led by the National Landscape 
partnership and team, whilst many of the actions and behaviours would be led by other 
partners and stakeholders, with support from the National Landscape team 
where required.   

  
2.2 The Draft Management Plan is split into three themes for delivery. Each 

theme represents an aspect of delivering the primary purpose.  
  
• Place:  A landscape alive with nature and beauty,  
• People: A landscape for everyone, and  
• Partnerships:  Working together for the landscape.   

  
2.3 These three themes are then subsequently split into 10 Strategic Objectives.  These are 

as follows:    
  

Landscape & Seascape Placemaking & Planning 

Geodiversity Biodiversity 

Historic & Cultural Heritage Farming, Forestry & Rural Land Use 

Access, Employment & Wellbeing Governance & Ways of Working 

Sustainable Economy, Tourism, Transport Finance & Fundraising 

Page 5



  
2.4 Each of these ten Strategic Objectives have their own section in the report, within which 

is a set of Outcomes, Drivers for change, Indicators of Success, Key Partners, and a list 
of Actions, as well as the relevant background legislation/ policy context.     

  
2.5 To give an indication of the what the plan is looking to do under each of the 10 strategic 

objectives, a selection of these aims are set out at para 2.6 through to para 2.15.   
 
2.6 In the case of the landscape and seascape strategic objective, the Management Plan is 

looking to implement 10 actions such as reducing the impact of light pollution and 
another being developing a climate adaptation plan for the landscape. 

 
2.7 For the Geodiversity strategic objective the Management Plan is looking at supporting 

conservation of geological assets, supporting the geotrails network, and developing a 
Local Geodiversity Action Plan.   

 
2.8 For the Biodiversity strategic objective, the Management Plan is looking to raise 

awareness of the importance of wildlife, enhance and restore grassland, woodland and 
wetland habitats,  encourage conservation grazing, and progress projects in the 
shoreline management plan and Nature Recovery Plan. It’s also looking to encourage 
swift bricks and bat and bird boxes and looks to promote using urban landscaping like 
roadside verges to improve connectivity for pollinators. 

 
2.9  For the Historic and Cultural Heritage strategic objective, the Management Plan is aiming 

to reduce the number of nationally designated scheduled monuments at risk in the NL, 
raise awareness of designated heritage assets, restore the network of traditional field 
boundaries and also raise awareness of notable archaeological finds in the area. 

 
2.10 For the Access, Enjoyment & Well-being strategic objective the Management Plan looks 

to deliver a supported programme of walks for people experiencing barriers to enjoying 
the countryside, producing high quality visitor guides, and encouraging visitor 
compliance of national guidance like the Countryside Code and Leave No Trace 
principles.   

 
2.11 For the Sustainable Economy, Tourism & Transport strategic objective, the Management 

Plan looks to improve visitor understanding of the landscape and its special qualities 
and is also aiming to get a better understanding of visitor numbers, perceptions, 
behaviours and their economic and social contributions to the landscape.  

 
2.12 For the Planning and Place Making strategic objective the aim of the Management Plan 

is for planning application decisions and for the preparation of Local Plans to “seek to 
further the purpose of the National Landscape designation”.  It looks to support local 
housing associations and Parish Councils with providing affordable housing for local 
needs, to ensure that design of development is of the highest quality, and also to restrict 
proposals for new static caravan, chalet, cabin or lodge-style development or short term 
holiday lets.  
 

2.13 For the Farming, Forestry & Rural Land Use strategic objective, the Management Plan 
looks to provide bespoke advice and support to farmers, landowners and managers on 
land management practices as well as supporting opportunities for creating and 
supporting the next generation of land managers.  
 

2.14 For the Governance & Ways of Working strategic objective, the Management Plan looks 
at actively engaging, and working with partnerships, groups, networks, academic 
institutions, local special interest groups and skilled individuals with links to the National 
Landscape and also supporting volunteering within the landscape for people of all ages 
and abilities.   

 

Page 6



2.15 And finally for the Funding & Finance strategic objective the Management Plan looks to 
explore opportunities to further develop income through individual gifting schemes, 
crowdfunding and targeted donations, and to facilitate and lead on funding bids that 
contribute towards the purpose of the designation.  

 
 

Future Use of the Management Plan 
 
2.16 As a statutory plan1, once adopted, the Management Plan would be used as a material 

consideration in planning decisions, however it is important to note that it does not form 
part of the statutory Development Plan (The Lancaster District Local Plan).  As a material 
consideration however, it does carry significant weight in decision making as Local 
Authorities are legally required to prepare and review the Management Plan under the 
Countryside and Rights of Way Act (2000).   

 
2.17 The Management Plan will provide a framework for ensuring delivery of the statutory 

purpose of designation; it sets the framework for action by Local Authorities, Public 
bodies, Businesses, Communities and Partner Organisations and informs the National 
Landscape team work programme. 

 
2.18 Following adoption, the Management Plan will also be used by the National Landscape 

Partnership team and its partners and stakeholders when applying for funding 
opportunities.  Reference to the Management Plan in funding bids assists greatly in 
illustrating that a project is evidence led, locally supported and part of a wider co-
ordinated strategy on which there has been substantial consultation and input.  Funding 
bids might include those for heritage, nature, landscape or access projects to the 
National Lottery Heritage Fund, Natural England,DEFRA schemes or charitable trusts, 
for example.   

 
3.0 Proposal Details 
 
3.1 There is one proposal to consider: 

 
Proposal A: To adopt the Arnside and Silverdale Management Plan. 

 
3.0 Proposal A – Management Plan adoption 
 
3.1 National Landscape Management Plans are statutory plans whose purpose is to 

provide a framework for ensuring delivery of the statutory purpose of designation, that 
of conserving and enhancing the natural beauty of their designated landscapes (As set 
out in the National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949; confirmed by 
Section 89 of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000, the primary purpose of the 
designation is to conserve and enhance natural beauty). The Management Plan guides 
the work of the National Landscape Partnership. It sets the framework for action by 
Local Authorities, Public bodies, Businesses, Communities and Partner Organisations 
and informs the National Landscape Team work programme and therefore requires 
formal adoption by the relevant authorities.  

 
 
4.0 Options and Options Analysis (including risk assessment) 
 

 Option 1:  To adopt the Arnside and 
Silverdale National Landscape 
Management Plan 

Option 2:  not to adopt the 
Arnside and Silverdale 
National Landscape 
Management Plan 

 
1 Under section 89 of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act (2000). 

Page 7



Advantages 
 

The City Council is one of the 

organisations responsible for the 

governance and operation of the National 

Landscape at Arnside and Silverdale and 

the formal process requires the approval 

of the relevant local authorities (which 

includes LCC) before the MP can be 

submitted to Government.  The adoption 

would be in accordance with the required 

approach and makes it clear that 

Management Plans are a starting point for 

actively managing these protected 

landscape areas. 

  

None known. 

Disadvantages 
 

None known. Without formal adoption, the 
Council would not be fulling 
its duty under Section 89 of 
the Countryside and Rights 
of Way Act 2000 which 
requires the relevant 
authorities to adopt the 
Management Plan.  This 
would lead to less overall 
guidance and direction for 
those actively managing the 
National Landscape. The 
Council would not be able to 
fulfil their statutory duty 
under Levelling Up and 
Regeneration Act 2023 to 
‘seek to further the purpose’ 
of the designation. 
 

Risks 
 

None known. Without an adopted 
Management Plan, it will be 
harder to protect the 
National Landscape from 
inappropriate development 
and would result in 
fragmented management of 
the landscape area.  

  
 
 
 
7.0 Officer Preferred Option (and comments) 
 
7.1 The preferred option is Option 1, for Lancaster City Council to formally adopt the 

Arnside and Silverdale National Landscape Management Plan.   
 
8.0 Conclusion 
 
8.1 This report sets out the preferred way forward for adopting the Arnside and Silverdale 

National Landscape Management Plan.  Actioning the formal adoption will help 

Page 8



ensure that the National Landscape is effectively and cohesively managed and 
protected.  

 
 

RELATIONSHIP TO POLICY FRAMEWORK 
 
As set out in the National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949; confirmed by Section 
89 of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000, the primary purpose of the designation is 
to conserve and enhance natural beauty and Management Plans should guide the work of the 
National Landscape Partnership. 
 
At a district level, the Local Plan sets out the Council’s broad strategy for its two National 
Landscape areas within the Strategic Policies and Land Allocations (climate emergency 
review) DPD and the Development Management (climate emergency review) DPD, both 
adopted in January 2025 and the Management Plan is in general conformity with these 
documents.    
 

CONCLUSION OF IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
(including Health & Safety, Equality & Diversity, Human Rights, Community Safety, 
Human Resources, Sustainability and Rural Proofing) 
 

The report and its recommendation to adopt the final Management Plan has positive 
implications for sustainability and rural issues, given that prominence is given to these issues 
in plans. There are no equality issues arising from this report. The National Landscape 
Management Plan includes actions that seek to address equality issues, increasing access 
opportunities for disabled people and those with additional needs. The support of activities for 
outdoor recreation and education/community participation all of which promote good health.  
Managing the rural economy through change and conservation is an effective way of ensuring 
that rural communities can become sustainable and that traditional skills can be retained for 
the benefit of those who live there, and those who visit for tourism and recreation.   

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
Under Section 89 of the Countryside and Rights of Way (CRoW) Act 2000, the relevant local 
authorities (Lancaster City Council, Westmorland & Furness Council and Lancashire County 
Council) must adopt the Management Plan.   

Its adoption will form part of the Council’s planning evidence base to inform effective decision 
making in National Landscapes. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
Under Section 89 of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000, the Council is required to 
prepare and regularly review Management Plans for the two National Landscapes within its 
area: Arnside and Silverdale, and the Forest of Bowland. 

The plan has been prepared by the National Landscape team, and consultation has already 
been undertaken. There are no financial implications arising from the adoption of the plan. 

OTHER RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS, such as Human Resources, Information Services, 
Property, Open Spaces: 
 

Human Resources: 

None 

Information Services: 

Page 9



None 

Property: 

None 

Open Spaces: 

None 

SECTION 151 OFFICER’S COMMENTS 
 
The Section 151 Officer has been consulted and has no further comments to add. 
 

MONITORING OFFICER’S COMMENTS 
 
The Monitoring Officer has been consulted and has no further comments to add. 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

1.  Arnside & Silverdale National 
Landscape Management Plan (Current 
Final Draft) 2026 – 2031. 

Contact Officer:  Diane Neville 
Telephone: 01524 582335 
E-mail: dneville@lancaster.gov.uk 
 

 

Page 10



1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Arnside & Silverdale 

National Landscape 

Management Plan  

(Final Draft) 

2026 – 2031 
Con 

Page 11



2 

 

 
 

 

 

Our Vision 

Arnside & Silverdale National Landscape is a unique and celebrated 

landscape, where an intimate mosaic of low limestone hills, woodlands 

and grasslands meets the open sands, marshes and vast skies of 

Morecambe Bay. It is valued for its rich and diverse wildlife, outstanding 

geology and history. 

 

The landscape is supported by strong local communities and rural 

businesses. There are many and varied opportunities for people to 

access, enjoy and understand the landscape and participate in its 

conservation and management.  

 

The landscape is managed collaboratively with involvement from 

partners, farmers, landowners, communities and visitors. The 

landscape is resilient and its natural and cultural heritage is conserved 

for the future.  

 

Page 12



3 

Place 

Conserve and enhance the landscape and seascape, our 

rich and diverse biodiversity and geodiversity, and the 

social and built heritage of Arnside & Silverdale National 

Landscape. 

Build resilience for habitats and species in the face of 

changing climate.   

Partnerships 

Facilitate collaboration and partnerships across Arnside & 

Silverdale National Landscape to achieve our shared ambitions 

for landscape 

Increase capacity and resources for landscape and seascape 

conservation, explore innovative finance and new opportunities 

to support our work.  

People 

Improve access and opportunities for people to enjoy 

the countryside and to engage with their landscape.  

Support and encourage local communities, farmers, 

foresters and other stakeholders to conserve and 

enhance their landscape.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Statutory Purpose 

To conserve and enhance the natural beauty of Arnside & Silverdale 

National Landscape 

 

Page 13



4 

Chair’s Foreword 

We live in one of the most beautiful places in the country that is appreciated by many 

people; those who live and work here, and those who visit.  

The Arnside & Silverdale National Landscape is nationally designated for its natural 

beauty and this new Draft Management Plan 2026 – 2031 sets out how we can all 

work together to ensure that it remains a beautiful place where people and nature can 

thrive together.  

The National Landscape Partnership is currently reviewing the previous Management 

Plan on behalf of Lancaster City Council, Lancashire County Council and 

Westmorland & Furness Council, with the support of Defra, Natural England and the 

National Landscapes Association.  

Importantly, this Draft Plan takes account of informal public consultations already 

carried out in 2024 – 2025 and is now being made available for formal public 

consultation including residents, farmers, land managers, schools, businesses, local 

clubs and organisations, and parish councils.  

We all have a collective responsibility to conserve and enhance our beautiful 

landscape and I would like to encourage as many people as possible to contribute.   

This is our collective opportunity to be part of conserving and enhancing the natural 

beauty of the place in which we live, work and enjoy and also ensuring that it 

continues to be a place where people can thrive.   

Thank you very much for your support.  

 

Cllr Helen Chaffey  

Acting Chair - Arnside & Silverdale National Landscape Partnership     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 14



5 

Contents 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

Purpose 

 

6 

Key Policy & Legislation 

 

7 

Introduction to the Landscape 

 

8 

Special Qualities 

 

9 

The State of the National Landscape 

 

11 

Themes 

 

15 

Strategic Objectives 

 

16 

S1 Landscape & Seascape 

 

17 

S2 Geodiversity 

 

20 

S3 Biodiversity 

 

24 

S4 Historic & Cultural Heritage 

 

36 

S5 Access, Enjoyment & Well-being 

 

43 

S6 Sustainable Economy, Tourism & Transport 

 

50 

S7 Planning & Place Making 

 

54 

S8 Farming, Forestry & Rural Land Use 

 

63 

S9 Governance & Ways of Working 

 

69 

S10 Finance & Fundraising 

 

73 

Protected Landscapes Targets & Outcomes Framework 

 

76 

Plan Monitoring 

 

81 

Supporting Documents 

 

86 

Photograph & Image Credits 

 

87 

 

Page 15



6 

 

The Management Plan 

A Protected Landscape Management Plan is a statutory document; the responsible authorities (in this 

case the local authorities of Lancaster City Council, Lancashire County Council and Westmorland and 

Furness Council) are required by law to jointly produce and review the Management Plan every five 

years (Part 4 S89 CROW Act 2000). Management Plans are of national importance and no major 

decisions that could affect the future of Arnside & Silverdale National Landscape should be taken 

without reference to this Management Plan.  

The Management Plan establishes the joint management principles and strategic objectives of the 

responsible authorities. The Plan is for the geographic area of the designation and not for any one 

authority or body. It is an over-arching document that sets out the relevant strategic objectives, 

outcomes and actions for ensuring that the purpose of the designation is met. 

The review of the Management Plan is a shared task and influenced by a collaborative partnership 

made up of local authorities, statutory agencies, farmers and land managers, businesses, community 

groups, residents, local and national charities and individuals.  

 

 

Purpose 

The primary purpose of designation is to conserve and enhance the 

natural beauty of the landscape. Sustainable social and economic 

development, and enjoyment and recreation, are encouraged in ways 

that support the primary purpose.  

Apple Day Event, 

Leighton Hall 

Page 16



7 

Key Policy & Legislation Drivers and Dependencies 

• National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949 

• Countryside and Rights of Way (CROW) Act 2000 

• Levelling up and Regeneration Act 2023 (Part 12, S245) 

• Protected Landscapes Targets and Outcomes Framework (PLTOF) – see page 76 

• Environment Act 2021 

• Environmental Improvement Plan 2025 (EIP) 

• Countryside Act 1968 

• Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 

• Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 

• Marine and Coastal Access Act 2009 

• Flood and Water Management Act 2010 

• Climate Change Act 2008 

• Ancient Monuments and Archaeological Areas Act 1979 

• Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 

• National Planning Policy Framework 2024 

• International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN) 

 

 
 

Local Policies and Strategies 

• Arnside and Silverdale Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) Development Plan 

Document 2019 

• Lancaster City Council Local Plan (Climate Emergency Review) 2025 

• Westmorland and Furness Local Plan (in development) 

• Lancashire Local Nature Recovery Strategy (LNRS) 

• Cumbria Local Nature Recovery Strategy  

• Shoreline Management Plans (SMP) 2012 onwards 

 

Levelling up and Regeneration Act 2023 – Strengthened Duty 

CROW Duty: Part 4, S85 (1A) - In exercising or performing any functions in relation to, or so as to 

affect, land in an area of outstanding natural beauty (National Landscape) in England, a relevant 

authority must seek to further the purpose of conserving and enhancing the natural beauty of 

the area of outstanding natural beauty. 

The National Landscapes Association has produced guidance for local planning authorities and 

relevant decision makers on the application of the new duty here: 

CRoW s.85 duty guidance for LPAs - NLA Briefing November 24 (External link) 

 

Page 17

https://national-landscapes.files.svdcdn.com/production/assets/images/Documents/Briefings/CRoW-s.85-duty-guidance-for-LPAs_NLA-Briefing-Nov-24.pdf?dm=1741185927


8 

Introduction to the Landscape 

Arnside & Silverdale is a unique landscape of national importance. Designated in 1972, it covers an area 

of approximately 75km2 within south Cumbria and north Lancashire. The area is characterised by a 

diverse mosaic of low limestone hills, limestone pavements, woodlands, mosses, pastures and 

intertidal sand and mudflats along with distinctive settlements, historic buildings and heritage 

features. The landscape lies within the political boundaries of Westmorland and Furness, Lancashire 

County and Lancaster City Councils.  

Page 18



9 

Outstanding landscape and spectacular views  

A highly diverse mosaic of limestone hills, woodlands, wetlands, pastures and 

coast, with spectacular views and an impressive setting 

Unique limestone geology  

Rare and distinctive Carboniferous limestone geology with extensive areas of 

limestone pavement, low coastal cliffs, extensive folding and faulting, and 

notable fossil assemblages 

Morecambe Bay – a stunning seascape 

The largest intertidal area in the UK, with extensive intertidal flats and 

saltmarshes supporting over one hundred thousand migratory waders and 

wildfowl over winter  

Rare and precious habitats 

An outstanding number and mix of priority habitats within a small area 

creating a mosaic that is home to an amazing diversity of wildlife  

Internationally and nationally important species  

An amazing diversity of species, many of which are uncommon in a national or 

international context 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Special Qualities 

The natural beauty of Arnside & Silverdale National Landscape is defined by 

its special qualities.  

They describe the natural beauty of the area and are what makes the area unique and 

particularly distinctive. Together, the special qualities make the area nationally important 

and give it a strong ‘sense of place’. The 2024 Arnside & Silverdale National Landscape 

Special Qualities Report accompanies the National Landscape Management Plan; the 

report covers the special qualities in greater detail. They are summarised here: 

 

Page 19



10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Special Qualities (continued) 

Rich sense of history 

Archaeological, built and cultural heritage reflecting thousands of years of human 

occupation creating ‘time-depth’ within the landscape  

Distinctive settlement character 

The design, detailing and use of local limestone in buildings, and the historic layout of 

settlements contribute to the area’s rural landscape character 

Strong community and culture 

        Vibrant rural communities who strongly identify with the local landscape  

Opportunities to enjoy the countryside  

The network of narrow lanes and paths offers wonderful opportunities to enjoy quiet 

recreation such as walking, cycling and wildlife watching 

Sense of tranquillity, space and place 

Inspiration, spiritual refreshment, unpolluted air, peace and quiet, and unique 

character  

A highly designated area  

A large number of local, national and international designations for biological, 

geological and historical interest 

 

Page 20



11 

 

Headline Statistics 

 

 

 

 

 

 
1 Arnside & Silverdale | Landscape and Seascape Character Assessment (LSCA) 2015 
2 Search the Heritage at Risk Register | Historic England 
3 Access Forestry Commission datasets - GOV.UK 

Landscape/Seascape Type1  Area (ha)  

Intertidal flats  2755  

Bays, saltmarshes and lagoons  470  

Inland pasture and parkland  950  

Coastal limestone pasture  559  

Wooded limestone hills and pavement  2108  

Heritage Assets2  

Category   Number  

Scheduled monuments  10  

Registered parks & gardens (Grade II) 1 

Grade II listed buildings 94  

Grade II* listed buildings 10  

Grade I listed buildings 6  

Woodland Type3  Area (ha)  

Woodland coverage total  1560  

Broadleaves  1421  

Conifers  30  

Felled  37  

Mixed  52  

Shrub  1  

Young trees  20  

Hedgerows  300km  

The State of The National Landscape 

The requirement to monitor progress is built into every Management Plan review. The baseline 

data used to inform each review is collected and compiled into the State of The National 

Landscape Report at the end of each 5-year period. Each Strategic Objective from the 2019-2024 

Management Plan has associated indicators and where data is available, results for each are given 

within the report. The report is not exhaustive and instead provides a snapshot of the condition of 

the Landscape.  

Moving forwards, for the 2026-2031 Plan period, targets and indicators will align closely with the 

England Protected Landscapes Targets and Outcomes Framework (PLTOF) and relevant 

commitments included within the 2025 Environmental Improvement Plan (EIP).  

A selection of headline data for Arnside & Silverdale is included in the tables below. Spatial data is 

shown on the State of the National Landscape mapping portal: 

Arnside & Silverdale National Landscape (External link to ESRI ArcGIS Webmap) 

The Fairy Steps 

Page 21

https://www.arnside-silverdale.org.uk/management/landscape-and-seascape-assessment
https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/heritage-at-risk/search-register/
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/access-forestry-commission-datasets
https://lancaster.maps.arcgis.com/apps/mapviewer/index.html?webmap=7739078c37bb4024a9efd21a75c1d889


12 

Ancient Woodland4  Area (ha)  

Ancient Woodland  492  

Plantation on Ancient Woodland Site  164  

Recorded veteran/ancient trees5  122  

 

 

 

 

 
4 Ancient Woodland (England) - data.gov.uk 
5 Woodland Trust Data 
6 Priority Habitats Inventory (England) - data.gov.uk 
7 England | Catchment Data Explorer 

Priority Habitat Type6  Area (ha)  

Deciduous woodland  1381.2  

Coastal and floodplain grazing marsh  321.6  

Deciduous woodland, Limestone pavement  78.9  

Lowland calcareous grassland  149  

Coastal saltmarsh  483.9  

Good quality semi-improved grassland  132.8  

Limestone pavement  14.8  

Traditional orchard  5  

Lowland fens  51  

Lowland calcareous grassland, Limestone pavement  2.1  

Maritime cliff and slope, Coastal saltmarsh  0.5  

Lowland meadows  54.1  

Lowland fens, Reedbeds  6.8  

Mudflats  2483.7  

Reedbeds  129.5  

Lowland heathland  0.1  

Lowland calcareous grassland, Maritime cliff and slope  1.1  

Purple moor grass and rush pastures  5.7  

Lakes, Lowland fens, Reedbeds  1.4  

Maritime cliff and slope  1.8  

Lakes  0.1  

Reedbeds, Coastal saltmarsh  0.4  

Coastal and floodplain grazing marsh, Coastal saltmarsh  0  

Deciduous woodland, Maritime cliff and slope  0.2  

Coastal and floodplain grazing marsh, Lowland meadows  0  

Lakes, Lowland fens  4.5  

Waterbody status7  Figure  

Total length of waterbodies within NL  14.57km  

Total length of waterbodies by 

status  

High  0  

Good  3.09km  

Moderate  5.67km  

Poor  0  

Bad  5.80km  

% of waterbodies with high or good status  21.2%  

Total number of lakes within NL  1 (bad condition)  

Page 22

https://www.data.gov.uk/dataset/9461f463-c363-4309-ae77-fdcd7e9df7d3/ancient-woodland-england
https://opendata-woodlandtrust.hub.arcgis.com/search
https://www.data.gov.uk/dataset/4b6ddab7-6c0f-4407-946e-d6499f19fcde/priority-habitats-inventory-england
https://environment.data.gov.uk/catchment-planning


13 

 

 

Geology  Number of sites  Area  

Geological SSSI  4 29.9ha  

Local Geological Sites  10  443.5ha  

Limestone Pavement Orders  16  1178ha  

 

  

 

Access9    

Public rights of way  112.3km  

Open access land  1250ha  

National cycleways  32km  

Tramper routes  9km  

 

Demographics10  
 

Population  7400  

Average age   53  

White  99%  

Mixed, multiple ethnic groups  1%  

Average monthly earning  £2100  

Average housing affordability ratio (ratio of median house price 

to median salary/income) 

7:1  

 

 
8 Site Search – Natural England Designated Sites Search 
9 Lancashire County Council, Westmorland and Furness Council 
10 Search - Office for National Statistics – ONS Census 2021 

Designation  Number of 

Sites  

Area (ha)  % Coverage 

Special Area of 

Conservation (SAC)  

2  3548  47%  

Special Protection Area 

(SPA)  

2  3312  43%  

Site of Special Scientific 

Interest (SSSI)  

19  4079  54%  

Local Wildlife Site (LWS)  64  857  11%  

Nature Reserves  10  3448  45%  

SSSI Feature Condition8  Number of Features  

Favourable  35  

Unfavourable - recovering  26  

Unfavourable – no change  11  

Unfavourable - declining  4  

Destroyed / part destroyed  0  

Not recorded  43  

Total number of features  119  

% SSSI features in favourable condition  29.4%  

% SSSI features with actions ‘on track’  4.2%  

Page 23

https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.uk/SiteSearch.aspx
https://www.ons.gov.uk/search?topics=9731,6646,3845,9497,4262,4128,7755,4994,6885,9724,7367&filter=datasets


14 

 

 

Greenhouse Gas Emissions (2022)12 Kt CO2e 

Domestic 13.2 

Industry 11.9 

Agriculture 11.0 

Transport 5.6 

Waste 2.7 

Commercial 2.6 

Public sector 0.9 

Land-use change & forestry (LUCF) -2.5 

Total emissions 45.5 

Per-capita emissions  0.0061 (6.1t 

per capita) 

Per km2 emissions  0.6 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
11 Search - Office for National Statistics – ONS Census 2021 
12 UK greenhouse gas emissions: local authority and regional - data.gov.uk 

Economy11    

Economically active (i.e in employment or education) 45% 

Unemployed 1% 

Economically inactive (i.e retired or volunteering) 54% 

Economically active by type:  

L1-3 Higher professional occupations 19% 

L4-6 Lower professional occupations 26% 

L7 Intermediate 11% 

L8-9 Small employers & own account 14% 

L10-13 Technical, semi routine & routine occupations 21% 

L14 Other 5% 

L15 Students 4% 

Walks For All participants and volunteers, Arnside 

Page 24

https://www.ons.gov.uk/search?topics=9731,6646,3845,9497,4262,4128,7755,4994,6885,9724,7367&filter=datasets
https://www.data.gov.uk/dataset/723c243d-2f1a-4d27-8b61-cdb93e5b10ff/local_authority_carbon_dioxide_emissions


15 

Themes 

The Management Plan is split into three themes for delivery. Each theme represents an aspect of 

delivering the primary purpose.  

 

 

 
The three themes are split into Strategic Objectives, each defining a set of desired Outcomes and the 

Actions needed to secure them.  

The Strategic Objectives, Outcomes and Actions are the core of the Management Plan. They identify 

the ambition for the landscape, set out the key drivers for change and define the actions that the 

partnership will work towards over the plan period.  

 

   
 

 

Place 

A landscape alive with nature and beauty 

People 

A landscape for everyone  

 

Partnerships 

Working together for landscape 

Page 25



16 

 

Strategic Objectives 

Theme  Strategic Objective Page 

Place S1 Landscape and Seascape 17 

S2 Geodiversity 21 

S3 Biodiversity 24 

S4 Historic & Cultural Heritage 36 

People S5 Access, Enjoyment & Wellbeing  43 

S6 Sustainable Economy, Tourism & 

Transport  

50 

S7 Place Making & Planning 54 

Partnerships S8 Farming, Forestry and Rural Land Use 63 

S9 Governance & Ways of Working 69 

S10 Finance & Fundraising 73 

 

Conservation management work party 

for the rare Netted Carpet Moth habitat, 

Hyning Scout Woods 

Page 26



17 

 
Arnside & Silverdale National Landscape is a unique limestone landscape, defined by the underlying 

carboniferous limestone. The area is a rich and intimate mosaic of wooded limestone hills, limestone 

pavement and coastal cliffs, freshwater reedbeds and wetlands, flower-rich grasslands and undulating 

farmed pastures. From the crests of the low hills and gaps in the coastal woodlands there are wide, 

sweeping views across the untamed channels, mudflats and marshes of Morecambe Bay.  

Thousands of years of interaction between humans and nature 

have shaped the landscape’s distinctive character, creating a 

living patchwork of contrasting habitats crossed by traditional 

stone field boundaries and ancient hedgerows. The villages are 

part of the historic fabric of the landscape, retaining medieval 

settlement patterns, limestone farms and barns, parish 

churches, grand regency country houses, seaside Victorian 

mansions and modest workers’ cottages and terraces. 

Elsewhere, there are relics of the area’s industrial past with 

quarries, railway cuttings, kilns and chimneys now hidden 

amongst native woodlands and pasture.  

The area’s distinctive character and combination of scenery, 

history, abundance of wildlife, peace and quiet, and culture is 

what makes the area unique. For many, this very particular 

sense of place is the primary motivation to visit and creates a 

strong connection with this landscape. The area benefits from 

low light pollution, with dark skies offering good stargazing 

opportunities. On rare occasions the Northern Lights are 

visible. 

The landscape and seascape are under threat from the effects of climate change. These threats are 

wide reaching and require significant national and international action to mediate and resolve. Within 

Arnside and Silverdale National Landscape, drier summers and wetter winters affect the mosaic of 

habitat niches and the species they support. Invertebrates, particularly butterflies, are impacted by 

storm events, changing temperatures and the unpredictability in seasonal change. The undeveloped 

coast is at risk of sea level rise, changes to patterns of erosion and deposition alter the structure and 

hydrology of saltmarshes, and heavy rainfall is impacting low-lying coastal grasslands and peatlands. 

The land managers and communities within the landscape contribute both towards mitigating the 

causes and impacts of climate change and to climate change adaptation, ensuring habitats, species, 

farmland and infrastructure are resilient and can withstand the changes predicted.  

S1 Landscape & Seascape 

Conserve, enhance and improve understanding of the natural beauty, 

landscape and seascape of Arnside & Silverdale 

The ‘Pepperpot’ monument, Silverdale 

Page 27



18 

 

Drivers for Change 

- Strengthened 2023 LURA duty on relevant authorities to ‘seek to further’ the purpose of 

designated landscapes 

- Legislative and policy drivers at international, national and local levels 

- Increased pressures on landscape from development, tourism, recreation and demographic 

change  

- Developing and worsening impacts of climate change which means that mitigation, adaptation 

and resilience measures need to be integrated into all aspects of work. If there are 

opportunities within any project to reduce impact, build resilience and increase carbon 

sequestration these should be integrated into project design and delivery 

- Changing visitor audiences and potential to develop new audiences with an interest in 

landscape 

- Landscape is being further recognised for its value to health and wellbeing 

Indicators of Success 

- Sky Quality Monitoring (SQM) surveys 

- Number of projects delivered with the potential to mitigate or adapt to Climate Change 

- National Landscape Climate Change Adaptation Plan developed and adopted 

Key Partners 

- Farmers and landowners  

- Local authorities 

- Parish councils 

- Natural England 

- Environment Agency 

- Forestry England & Forestry Commission 

- Historic England 

- National Landscapes Association 

- Environmental NGOs including National Trust, RSPB, The Wildlife Trusts, Woodland Trust 

- Friends of The Lake District (FLD), CPRE The Countryside Charity  

- Morecambe Bay Partnership 

- Local organisations such as The Arnside & Silverdale Landscape Trust, Bittern Countryside 

Community Interest Company 

 

S1 Landscape & Seascape 

Outcomes 

1) A unique and beautiful area where landscape and seascape 

character and the area’s special qualities are understood, valued, 

conserved and enhanced 

2) A landscape resilient and adaptive to climate change 

Page 28



19 

S1 Landscape & Seascape Actions 

1a Recognise that the conservation and enhancement of the natural beauty of the landscape and 

seascape is the primary purpose of the designation. Take a holistic landscape-first approach to 

the work of the National Landscape Partnership. 

 

1b Utilise the Arnside & Silverdale Landscape and Seascape Character Assessment (LSCA) as the 

basis for policy and decision making. Periodically review and update the LSCA. 

  

1c Apply the principles of the European Landscape Convention and use landscape and seascape 

characterisation as the basis for policy and decision making.  

 

1d Improve understanding and awareness of the landscape designation, its purpose and the wide 

range of public benefits provided by landscape. Improve recognition and understanding of the 

National Landscape Partnership.  

 

1e Maintain the sense of tranquillity within the landscape. Explore opportunities to enhance 

tranquillity of the area and sense of ‘peace and quiet’ through appropriate project design.  

 

1f Improve the quality of dark skies within the landscape, reduce the impacts of light pollution and 

follow the principles of lighting only where necessary. Increase awareness and appreciation of 

the value of dark skies to wildlife, tranquillity and people’s health and well-being.  

  

1g Support, encourage and deliver tangible projects and interventions to mitigate the causes and 

impacts of climate change across the landscape and within the area’s communities and built 

environment.  

 

1h Develop a climate adaptation plan for the landscape containing an assessment of the principal 

risks and opportunities and proposed actions for adaptation.  

 

1i Support and contribute to existing local climate change plans, strategies and targets such as 

Lancaster City Council Climate Change Action Plan and Westmorland & Furness Council 

Climate Action Plan. 

 

1j Explore opportunities to develop and support the implementation of specific risk management 

plans, including mitigation plans and local response plans for wildfire risk in the landscape. 

  

 

 

1c - European Landscape Convention 

The Convention aims to encourage public authorities to adopt policies and measures at local, 

regional, national and international level for protecting, managing and planning landscapes 

throughout Europe. It covers all landscapes, both outstanding and ordinary, that determine the 

quality of people’s living environment. The text provides for a flexible approach to landscapes 

whose specific features call for various types of action, ranging from strict conservation through 

protection, management and improvement to actual creation. 

Council of Europe Landscape Convention / Official website - Council of Europe Landscape Convention (External 

link) 

 

Page 29

https://www.coe.int/en/web/landscape


20 

 

 

 

 

 

1b - Landscape and Seascape Character Assessment 

The landscape is defined within the Landscape and Seascape Character Assessment (LSCA), 

with nine distinct landscape character types found within the designated boundary.  

- Intertidal flats 

- Bays, saltmarshes and lagoons 

- Lowland moss 

- Coastal limestone pasture 

- Inland pasture and parkland 

- Wooded limestone hills and pavements 

- Drumlin farmland 

- Low, coastal drumlins 

- Lowland valley and coastal margins 

Arnside & Silverdale Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Landscape and Seascape Character Assessment, Arnside & 

Silverdale AONB Partnership and Land Use Consultants, November 2015 

Arnside & Silverdale Landscape and Seascape Character Assessment (External link) 

 

1i - Climate Change Adaptation Plan 

Adaptation relates to the actions that protect the landscape from the impacts of climate change. 

This is linked to but separate from emissions reduction actions; it is about building resilience and 

managing risk.  

The UK’s National Adaptation Programme (NAP) is a rolling 5-year cycle of climate adaptation 

planning, assessment and monitoring. As part of this, National Landscapes and their host 

authorities are required to develop adaptation plans. The next planning cycle is 2028 – 2033 

(NAP4), by which time all National Landscapes will have climate adaptation plans in place.   

Third National Adaptation Programme (NAP3) - GOV.UK (External link) 

 

Arnside railway viaduct 

over the River Kent estuary 

Page 30

https://www.arnside-silverdale.org.uk/management/landscape-and-seascape-assessment
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/third-national-adaptation-programme-nap3


21 

 

The distinctive Carboniferous Limestone geology underpins the landscape, unifying its character and 

creating the conditions that have allowed the wide diversity of habitats to develop. The limestone 

landscape formed in warm shallow seas 330 million years ago, over a period of some 10-15 million 

years at a period in history where the region was part of the ‘Pangea’ or supercontinent located near 

the equator. Around 280 million years ago, during a period of 

mountain building caused by continental collisions, the 

Carboniferous rocks were uplifted and folded into a broad dome. 

This dome was then eroded, exposing the higher fells of the Lake 

District and leaving a ring of limestone around a mountainous core. 

The southern part of the ring was extensively folded and faulted and 

the exposed rock was subsequently eroded by ice and dissolved by 

rainwater over time, creating the landforms we see today.  

These limestone deposits contain a time capsule of life within the 

warm ancient oceans in the form of complex fossil beds. These 

fossils are records of continental shelf coral reef systems, as rich and 

diverse as modern tropical coral reef. Trowbarrow quarry holds a rich 

microfossil assemblage and is regarded as one of the most 

important limestone shelf localities in England. Elsewhere, at Far 

Arnside, the erosion of salt marsh has exposed Lower Carboniferous 

coral fossils, one species of which was previously unknown to 

science before its discovery in 2001.  

About 2 million years ago the Earth’s climate cooled, allowing the 

development of glaciers and ice sheets which, at their maximum, 

covered most of mainland Britain. These cold episodes were called Glacials and were separated by 

warmer Interglacials. The upstanding Carboniferous Limestone blocks were scoured by ice which 

swept away overlying soils and preferentially eroded weaker beds of limestone. Exposed on the 

surface, the limestone has been weathered during the warmer climatic periods by moderately acidic 

water.  This solutional erosion of the limestone has produced a range of characteristic features 

collectively known as karst (or paleokarst) landforms, such as dolines, polje and limestone pavements 

with their characteristic clints and grykes. These glacial features extend into Morecambe Bay with 

skears, scars and moraines protruding from the sands, revealed and re-covered by the movement of 

the tides and shifting of the channels.  

This varied and fascinating geological history is nationally important and recognised and protected 

through a range of designations. The habitats and species supported by the landscape are inextricably 

linked to the area’s geology, as is the landscape’s industrial and social history.  

 

S2 Geodiversity 

Conserve, enhance and improve understanding and appreciation of our geological heritage. 

Page 31



22 

 

Drivers for Change 

- Encroachment of scrub and vegetation on valuable geological sites and exposures  

- Continued enforcement of geological designations, including Sites of Special Scientific Interest 

(SSSI), Limestone Pavement Orders and Local Geological Sites (LGS) 

- The need for updated interpretation and education around local geology, finding opportunities 

to engage new audiences 

- Strong local support through active local geological conservation groups such as Cumbria 

Geoconservation and GeoLancashire 

Indicators of Success 

- Condition of Geological SSSIs and Local Geological Sites13 

- Development and adoption of a Local Geodiversity Action Plan 

Key partners 

- Local authorities 

- Natural England 

- Cumbria Geoconservation 

- GeoLancashire 

- Landowners and managers 

- Universities and research institutions 

- Morecambe Bay Partnership 

 

 

 

 
13 Geoconservation: Principles and practice - NE802 

S2 Geodiversity 

Outcomes 

1. The Geodiversity of the area is in good condition 

2. Local Geodiversity is researched and understood 

2d - Cumbria Geoconservation 

Cumbria Geoconservation (CGC) is a voluntary geological conservation group working to record, 

maintain and enhance important geological sites across the county. The group maintains an 

interactive mapping platform of sites of geological interest and an online catalogue of relevant 

publications and plays a key part in the identification, assessment and designation of Local 

Geological Sites (LGS).  

Cumbria Geoconservation (External link) 

 

Page 32

https://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6152405931261952
https://www.cbdc.org.uk/cumbria_geoconservation/


23 

Geodiversity Actions 

2a Conserve and positively manage geodiversity, including both statutory (Special Areas of 

Conservation, Limestone Pavement Orders, SSSI) and non-statutory (Local Geological 

Sites) sites and also non-designated geological features and assets of interest where they 

occur. 

   

2b Raise awareness of the importance of geodiversity as part of the landscape character and 

natural and cultural heritage of the area. Utilise content and recommendations of existing 

work such as the AONB Geology Audit and Assessment to support interpretation and 

education of geodiversity on local sites of geological significance. 

  

2c Where possible, integrate geodiversity within interpretation of other aspects of landscape 

interpretation such as industrial history and biodiversity. 

 

2d Support actions of local organisations involved with geodiversity conservation such as 

Cumbria Geoconservation and GeoLancashire.  

 

2e Continue support of the area’s Geotrails, a series of self-guided walks around notable 

geological sites within the landscape produced and published by the Arnside & Silverdale 

Landscape Trust. Explore opportunities to review, update and expand the existing network 

of Geotrails.  

 

2f Develop a Local Geodiversity Action Plan to provide a framework for conserving, managing 

and raising awareness of the geodiversity within the landscape.  

 

 

 

 

2e - Arnside & Silverdale Landscape Trust Geotrails 

The Arnside & Silverdale Geotrails are a series of self-guided walks curated and published by the 

Arnside & Silverdale Landscape Trust. Originally created by local geologist Peter Standing, the trail 

routes take in a range of notable and interesting geological features, explaining each in situ and 

providing information on their history and formation.  

The Geotrail booklets are available for purchase from the Landscape Trust. The format has been 

highly successful and there is ambition for the creation of new routes and new Geotrail publications, 

both on paper and in digital formats.  

 

2f – Geodiversity Action Plan 

Informed by the 2019 Geology Audit and Assessment, recommendations were made to develop a 

targeted action plan for important geological sites within the landscape.  

A Geodiversity Action Plan will outline measures to conserve, improve understanding and celebrate 

the geodiversity of the area and guide the work of the National Landscape Partnership.  

Arnside & Silverdale Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Landscape Monitoring Project – Geology Audit and 

Assessment, Cuesta Consulting January 2019  

Final Geology Audit and Assessment Report - DocsLib  (External link) 

Page 33

https://docslib.org/doc/13196353/final-geology-audit-and-assessment-report


24 

 

Arnside & Silverdale National Landscape is home to an amazing diversity of wildlife. The concentration, 

variety and importance of the wildlife in relation to the size of the area is a unique quality of the 

landscape. The geological past of the area has created an unusual and varied range of landform, soil 

conditions, hydrological conditions and micro-climates which support an equally varied number and 

range of species.  

The area includes almost of England’s 56 priority habitats (as listed in Section 41 of the Natural 

Environment and Rural Communities NERC Act 2006). These habitats are of principal importance 

nationally, due either to their scarcity, national declines or importance for priority species. Priority 

habitats which can be found within the landscape include Deciduous woodland, Coastal and floodplain 

grazing marsh, Limestone pavement, Lowland calcareous grassland, Coastal saltmarsh, Good-quality 

semi-improved grassland, Traditional orchards, Lowland fen, Maritime cliffs and slopes, Lowland 

meadow, Mudflat, Reedbed, Lowland heathland, Purple moor grass and rush pasture and Lakes/open 

water.  

These habitats support an outstanding diversity of plants, 

mammals, invertebrates, fish and fungi, many of which are 

uncommon or rare nationally. The geography of the landscape 

means it lies within an overlap zone for many species with either a 

northerly or southerly distribution. For example, amongst the 

butterflies, the northern species Scotch Argus and Northern 

Brown Argus are found here at the southern edge of their UK 

range while populations of the Small Pearl Bordered Fritillary, 

Pearl Bordered Fritillary and Duke of Burgundy occur at or near 

their UK northern range limits.  

Well over half the UK’s flowering plant species have been 

recorded in the landscape, including 29 nationally rare and 48 

nationally scarce species, 15 of which are British native orchids. 

The landscape is one of the few locations inhabited by the 

endemic Lancaster Whitebeam, a rare tree of limestone cliffs and 

screes only found around Morecambe Bay.  

RSPB Leighton Moss is home to reedbed specialists Bittern, 

Marsh Harrier and Bearded Tit. The saline lagoons and saltmarsh 

host breeding Avocet, Redshank and a colony of Black-Headed 

gull. Ancient woodland and parklands host the nationally scarce 

S3 Biodiversity 

Secure the long-term recovery, conservation and enhancement of protected and 

priority habitats and species across the National Landscape, taking a Biodiversity-

first management approach in all our work  

 

Bee Orchid, Trowbarrow LNR 

Page 34



25 

Hawfinch. Over winter, the vast expanse of Morecambe Bay is used by over a hundred thousand 

migratory wading birds and wildfowl as their primary wintering grounds.  

Otter, deer and badger are widespread throughout the landscape. The mosaic of woodland coppice, 

pavement and scrub has seen recent re-introductions of Hazel Dormice. A small population is now 

present in the area and early monitoring efforts to assess the success of colonisation are promising. 

  

 

 
 

  
 

 

 

The National Landscape Nature Recovery Plan 

The 2025 National Landscape Nature Recovery plan sets out the actions required to conserve 

and recover nature within the landscape and defines targets which contribute towards the 

national Protected Landscapes Targets and Outcomes Framework (PLTOF). The PLTOF intends 

to support all National Landscapes and National Parks to contribute towards national nature 

recovery targets. The Nature Recovery Plan reflects and supports the habitat and species 

outcomes within the Management Plan and provides further detail on the specific actions 

required for each suite of habitats.  

The habitats and species targets across both plans are in turn supported by the Cumbria and 

Lancashire Local Nature Recovery Strategies (LNRS). All documents should be considered when 

developing nature conservation projects to ensure that projects are coherently contributing 

towards the strategic outcomes. 

Homepage | Cumbria Local Nature Recovery Strategy (External link) 

Local Nature Recovery Strategy - Lancashire County Council (External link) 

 

Bittern in reedbed 

at RSPB Leighton 

Moss 

Dark Green 

Fritillary 

Sea Lavender 

Page 35

https://cumbrialnrs.org.uk/homepage-0
https://www.lancashire.gov.uk/council/strategies-policies-plans/environmental/local-nature-recovery-strategy/


26 

 

Drivers for Change 

- Varied and widespread impacts of climate change on the extent, condition and resilience of 

habitats and species  

- Significant structural change to Agri-Environment Scheme grants, and the complexity and 

availability of payments to enable land managers to conserve and enhance the landscape 

- Recent changes, delays and ‘moving goalposts’ which have affected the confidence of land 

managers in Agri-Environment Grant applications locally, particularly following the withdrawal 

and reinstatement of Sustainable Farm Incentive (SFI) in 2025  

- Development and adoption of Local Nature Recovery Strategies (LNRS) in Cumbria and 

Lancashire 

- Inconsistent monitoring, particularly of designated sites, meaning decision-making and 

prioritising work can suffer due to a lack of information  

- Lack of resources for conservation management, particularly of the network of Local Wildlife 

Sites and non-designated priority habitat  

- Recreational disturbance by locals and visitors, particularly of coastal birds  

- Isolated populations of scarce and rare species, particularly invertebrates, in the area leading to 

low genetic diversity and increased risk of loss from single events  

- Deer and grey squirrel management, particularly relevant for woodland habitats  

- Presence and expansion of Invasive Non-Native Species (INNS) 

- Plant pathogens such as Ash Die-back 

- Scrub encroachment and undermanagement of species-rich grasslands and open limestone 

pavements 

- Overgrazing of saltmarsh and wetlands 

- Mammalian predation pressure on declining species, particularly ground-nesting birds 

- Agricultural intensification and loss of ‘restorable’ habitats to land improvement, drainage and 

agricultural inputs  

- Poor water quality, diffuse agricultural pollution and marine/aquatic litter and micro plastic 

contamination 

- Emerging research over potential (positive and/or negative) impacts of gamebird release on 

native species and habitats. Existing work to better understand interactions between released 

gamebirds and native species 

S3 Biodiversity 

Outcomes 
1. Expansion and enhancement of the distinctive mosaic of high quality, 

well connected coastal and limestone habitats and the abundant and 

diverse species the habitats support 

2. A landscape resilient to climate change where land management 

protects and increases biodiversity 

3. Nature which is highly valued by the people who live in, work in and visit 

the area and is seen as integral to the character, history and future of the 

landscape 

 

Page 36



27 

Indicators of Success 

- Protected Landscape Targets and Outcomes Framework. Targets 1 – 8 (see page 76)  

- Positive results of the various ongoing biodiversity monitoring programmes specified within 

the Nature Recovery Plan, including: 

o Quality and extent of priority habitats 

o Stable/increasing priority species populations 

o Long-term success of species re-introductions 

- Relevant Lancashire and Cumbria Local Nature Recovery Strategy (LNRS) indicators 

Key Partners 

- Natural England 

- Local authorities  

- Parish councils 

- Environmental NGOs including The National Trust, RSPB, The Wildlife Trust etc. 

- Morecambe Bay Partnership 

- Landowners and managers 

- DEFRA 

- Environment Agency 

- Forestry Commission and Forestry England 

- Cumbria Biodiversity Data Centre (CBDC) & Lancashire Environmental Records Network 

(LERN) 

- Arnside & Silverdale Landscape Trust, Bittern Countryside Community Interest Company 

(BCCIC)  

- Local naturalists, species specialists and biological recorders 

- Universities and research institutions 

 

  
 

  

 

Avocet 

Primroses 

Forest Activity Day 

Starlings at dusk 

Page 37



28 

Biodiversity Actions 
G

e
n

e
ra

l 

 
3a Make tangible progress towards relevant national ‘30by30’ targets, Environmental 

Improvement Plan commitments and Protected Landscapes Targets and Outcomes 

Framework (PLTOF) targets.  

 

3b For designated sites, ensure that 60% of SSSI have ‘actions on track’ to achieve 

favourable condition by 2028 with a longer-term target of over 80% of SSSI features in 

favourable condition by 2042, equating to over 96 of 119 total SSSI features in the 

National Landscape. 

 

3c Ensure that the network of Local Wildlife Sites are maintained in good ecological 

condition and under positive management.  

 

3d Ensure that all areas of priority habitat are in favourable management. Periodically 

review and request updates to the local extent of the Natural England Priority Habitats 

Inventory (PHI). 

 

3e Raise awareness of the importance of wildlife as part of the landscape character and 

natural and cultural heritage of the area. Support and encourage opportunities for 

people to engage with nature through education, interpretation, themed events and 

activities. Support publication of relevant natural history reports, leaflets and guides 

such as the BCCIC Atlas and Guides.  

 

3f Reduce anthropogenic impacts on habitats and species; seek to significantly reduce 

recreational disturbance pressure on both breeding and wintering birds. Identify key 

sites and explore opportunities for improved signage, public engagement and 

interpretation, on-site access management and provision of Suitable Alternative Natural 

Greenspace (SANGs) where required. Ensure that the approaches to recreational 

disturbance mitigation in the landscape are consistent and compatible with the 

recreational disturbance mitigation approach utilised elsewhere within Morecambe Bay. 

 

 

 

 

3f Recreational Disturbance 

Recreational disturbance refers to both direct and indirect disturbance of wildlife caused by people 

when undertaking recreational activities, notably walking with dogs off-lead. There is an 

established body of evidence showing how increased levels of public access can have negative 

impacts on wildlife. These impacts become particularly acute on coastal sites.  

Recreational disturbance has been the subject of extensive local research and study and is 

recognised by Natural England, local authorities and Environmental NGOs as being a significant 

risk to the condition and integrity of coastal and marine designated sites.  

Morecambe Bay Bird Disturbance and Access Management Report (for Morecambe Bay Partnership), Footprint 

Ecology, May 2015 

Liley et al. - 2015 - Morecambe Bay Bird Disturbance and Access Manageme.pdf 

. 

 

 

Ringed Plover on 

Shore, Silverdale 

Page 38

https://www.footprint-ecology.co.uk/reports/Liley%20et%20al.%20-%202015%20-%20Morecambe%20Bay%20Bird%20Disturbance%20and%20Access%20Manageme.pdf


29 

G
e

n
e

ra
l 

 

3g Where possible, integrate biodiversity within interpretation of other aspects of 

landscape interpretation such as geology, heritage and social/cultural history. 

 

3h Raise awareness of the importance of monitoring Invasive Non-Native Species (INNS) in 

the landscape and support actions to control INNS where they present a risk to 

protected sites, priority habitats and priority species. INNS of most relevant concern 

include New Zealand Pygmyweed, Cotoneaster spp, Buddleia spp, Himalayan Balsam, 

Chinese Mitten Crab and Grey Squirrel.  

 

3i Support legacy work of previous projects to reintroduce protected species to the 

landscape such as Hazel Dormouse. Explore project opportunities for future 

reintroductions and recolonisation of appropriate species within the landscape. 

 

3j Take targeted action for key priority species included within the Arnside & Silverdale 

Nature Recovery Plan and Cumbria & Lancashire LNRS, and any other rare or notable 

species where they occur within the landscape. Ensure that management requirements 

for priority species are accounted for in relevant nature reserve management plans and 

other relevant land management plans. 

 

 

 

 

 

3j Priority Species 

Arnside & Silverdale is home to a range of nationally rare and scarce birds, butterflies, other 

invertebrates, plants and fungi.  

The Arnside & Silverdale Nature Recovery Plan contains a list of priority species for which targeted 

actions are needed over and above the management of the habitats which support them. These 

species are a particular focus for the conservation organisations managing Nature Reserves within 

the landscape.  

Priority species include the Duke of Burgundy and Small Pearl-Bordered Fritillary butterflies, rare 

plants such as Green-winged Orchid and Spiked Speedwell, the locally endemic Lancaster 

Whitebeam as well as nationally threatened birds including Great Bittern, Redshank and Hawfinch. 

 

 

Green Winged Orchid and other 

wildflowers, Silverdale Lots 

Page 39



30 

 

C
o

a
s

ta
l &

 M
a

ri
n

e
 

3k Maintain/improve quality and extent of high value saline-influenced habitats. Create a 

further 6ha of priority saline-influenced habitat behind existing coastal flood protection 

using regulated tidal exchange, managed realignment processes or similar.  

 

3l Significantly reduce grazing pressure on grazed saltmarsh. Seek a shift change in 

management from heavily sheep grazed marshes to ungrazed or (very) lightly 

cattle/pony grazed marshes. 

 

3m Seek to progress projects included within Shoreline Management Plans and the Nature 

Recovery Plan to re-naturalise the ‘hard’ coast and mitigate climate change. 

 

3n Manage for a more flexible and dynamic coast. Increase successional dynamism of 

saltmarsh habitats. Seek interventions to promote accretion and early stage ‘pioneer’ 

marsh and shingle habitats. 

 

3o Restore hydrology and wet features on saltmarshes to reverse damage caused by 

historic drainage and increase resilience to climate change impacts. 

 

 

 
 

  

Coastal and Marine Habitats 

Mudflats and saltmarshes cover almost 40% of the designated area. These wild and often 

inaccessible habitats are constantly changing and the species which rely on them have evolved to 

exploit this dynamic shifting of tides and seasons.  

A massive diversity of invertebrates, bivalves, fish and plankton supports over 100,000 migratory 

wading birds and wildfowl each autumn and winter.  

 

Thrift on Warton saltmarsh 

Glasswort (Samphire) 

Page 40



31 

 

T
re

e
s

 &
 W

o
o

d
la

n
d

s
 

3p Maintain/improve quality and extent of high value native woodland, ancient woodland 

and historic parkland within the landscape.  

 

3q Maintain condition of notable veteran/ancient trees present in the landscape and 

increase identification, monitoring and protection of individual veteran/ancient trees. 

Where veterans/ancient tree condition poses a risk to safety, manage decline through 

sensitive tree surgery and remedial works in preference to felling. If felling is necessary, 

ensure suitable replanting takes places, ideally of trees of local provenance. 

  

3r Create 134ha of associated woodland habitats to increase overall extent including 

coppice, scrub, wood pasture, hedgerows and compatible mosaic habitats. Focus on 

creating/enhancing ecologically coherent buffers, corridors and islands as part of a wider 

woodland network.  

 

3s Maintain and improve woodland connectivity for both woodland species and associated 

limestone grassland species through the creation of 183ha of open space, rides and 

glades within existing woodland.  

 

3t Support restocking and recovery following the impact of Ash die-back to improve 

woodland structure and increase species diversity and resilience to climate change. 

 

3u Prevent inappropriate afforestation. Refuse incompatible planting on priority habitats, 

especially new sites for non-natives and/or commercial timber crops. Reduce total area 

of non-native and/or plantation forestry and replace with appropriate priority 

woodland/scrub and mosaic habitats. 

 

 

   
 

Trees and Woodlands 

Woodland covers approximately 43% of the terrestrial landscape area. The majority of this is 

categorised as upland mixed ash woods; the calcareous substrate and light shade of this woodland 

type is generally characterised with a species-rich ground flora. Much of this habitat will also be 

ancient woodland, as defined by over 400 years of near-continuous woodland cover.  

The woodlands in the landscape form part of a much larger network of limestone woodlands across 

South Cumbria and support a range of scarce and notable species. There are 300km of hedgerows 

within the landscape, making up historic field boundaries that have not significantly altered in 

hundreds of years.  

 

Hazel Dormouse, Gaitbarrows NNR 

Treecreeper 

Page 41



32 

 

L
im

e
s

to
n

e
 G

ra
s

s
la

n
d

s
, 

M
e

a
d

o
w

s
 &

 

M
o

s
a

ic
 

3v Maintain/improve quality and extent of high value limestone grassland, meadows, 

pavements and limestone open mosaic habitats within the landscape. 

  

3w Create/restore 74ha of priority species-rich grassland and increase overall extent of 

species-rich limestone grassland and associated limestone scrub and open pavement 

habitats. Focus on creating/enhancing ecologically coherent buffers, corridors and 

islands as part of a wider limestone grassland and mosaic network.  

 

3x Maintain and improve connectivity for both woodland species and associated limestone 

grassland species through creation of 183ha rides and glades within adjacent/associated 

woodland and scrub areas. 

 

3y Support and encourage extensive conservation grazing management using native breeds 

of cattle, ponies and sheep. 

 

 

 

 

Limestone Grassland, Meadows & Mosaic 

2.4% of the area is classed as priority grassland, with grasslands as a habitat covering a total of 30% 

of the landscape. Species-rich calcareous grassland and hay meadows are a key component of the 

landscape and vital for the floral and invertebrate diversity present within the landscape. Significant 

areas of grassland are also managed for food production, and it is important to recognise a need for 

balance. Healthy soils are a key component for supporting nature and farming.  

60% of all UK butterfly species are found in the area. Most targeted woodland and grassland 

management within the landscape currently focuses on the localised populations of Pearl-

Bordered Fritillary, Small Pearl-Bordered Fritillary, Northern Brown Argus and Duke of Burgundy.  

 

Wildflower Meadow, 

Gaitbarrows Farm 

Page 42



33 

 

F
re

s
h

w
a

te
r 

W
e

tl
a

n
d

s
 &

 P
e

a
tl

a
n

d
s

 

3z Maintain/improve quality and extent of high value freshwater wetlands, notably the 

complex of reedbed, fen and open water forming part of RSPB Leighton Moss and 

Morecambe Bay Nature Reserve and Gaitbarrows NNR. 

 

3aa Create 54ha of priority wetland habitats to increase the overall extent of high value 

freshwater and water-compatible habitats, provide Natural Flood Management (NFM) 

benefits and protect soil carbon. Focus on the creation/restoration of new wetlands on 

river floodplains and restoration of hydrological functioning on historically cut-over peat 

moss at Arnside Moss and Hale Moss.  

 

3bb Maintain and improve wetland connectivity for wetland species, especially European Eel 

by maintaining/improving natural and built watercourses and removing barriers to fish 

passage. Where possible, allow natural watercourses to function within their floodplain, 

removing or re-engineering bank structures, canalised sections and culverts. 

 

3cc Improve water quality and severely reduce diffuse pollution risk from agricultural and 

urban sources through sustainable wastewater and sewerage interventions.  

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

Freshwater Wetlands & Peatlands 

Wetland covers around 500ha of the area including reedbed, fen and wet grassland. The landscape 

contains the largest reedbed in northwest England at Leighton Moss and areas of rare marl fen at 

Gaitbarrows NNR. Wetlands have been lost on a huge scale over the previous century, primarily due 

to the agricultural value of the underlying peat soils. Consequently, the extent of habitat available 

has declined and with it the connectivity and specialist suite of species which are supported.  

 

Otter, RSPB Leighton Moss 

Bittern, RSPB Leighton Moss 

Page 43



34 

 

U
rb

a
n

 

3dd Encourage built development (including renovations/remodels of older buildings) to 

incorporate wildlife friendly features such as Swift bricks, bird/bat boxes and bug 

hotels/invertebrate habitat within both the built structure and landscaping. 

 

3ee Utilise urban landscaping such as roadside verges to improve connectivity for pollinators. 

Identify and maintain existing high value verges and explore options for further verge 

enhancement with relevant Highways Authorities. 

  

3ff Support the provision of guidance on wildlife gardening and support measures to 

increase biodiversity value of private gardens. 

  

3gg Enhance community green spaces to provide more wild areas that improve connectivity 

of priority habitats across urban areas, particularly for pollinators. 

  

3hh Increase engagement about the local landscape, with community green spaces acting as 

an accessible way to learn about nature and become involved with conservation.  

 

 

 

 
 

  

Urban & Built Environment 

The built environment covers only around 3% (215ha) of the National Landscape area but plays a 

key role in the connectivity of the habitat mosaic. The settlement characters of the villages within 

the landscape all offer different opportunities for biodiversity, from the Victorian walled gardens 

and orchards of Arnside to the stone-built cottages and medieval burgage plots-turned-gardens 

of Warton and Beetham. 

 

A&SNL volunteers and staff 

wildflower plug planting on 

roadside verges, Arnside 

Nest box 

Page 44



35 

Priority Habitats 

 

Page 45



36 

 

The archaeological, built and cultural heritage of the area is integral to its character and quality, 

creating ‘time-depth’ within the landscape. Past settlement and use of the land and its natural 

resources have created the landscape we see today and have left a legacy of fascinating features 

which tell the story of the area over many thousands of years. The importance of the historic 

landscape is recognised with 10 Scheduled Monuments, 114 Listed Buildings, 1 Registered Park and 

Garden and 655 entries on the Historic Environment Record. 

 

Early Prehistory: There is some evidence for activity from around 500,000BC, following the retreat of 

the glaciers, with an increasing presence of hunter-gatherer bands moving seasonally across the 

landscape as time goes on. Morecambe Bay develops as sea levels rise, drowning a former land bridge 

to Ireland.   

Middle Prehistory: During the Neolithic period (5,000BC) farmers clear woodland and introduce 

domestic livestock to the area.  By the Bronze Age the better land had been settled, with the scale of 

Warton Crag enclosure suggesting a significant local population. 

Iron Age: Burial and ritual sites are created and used, including stone alignments and terraces. Warton 

Crag enclosure continues to be in use and shows signs of adaptation.  

Roman: A scatter of findspots suggest significant population is living in the area although there is no 

evidence of extensive ‘military’ Roman presence. 

7th – 8th centuries: A Christian cemetery is established at Beetham. The name ‘Beetham’ deriving from 

a Norse word for river embankments, suggesting an influx of Scandinavian population to the area.  

9th century: The Silverdale Viking hoard is buried, a cache of 200 pieces of silver jewellery and coins 

1086: Warton village, with its church and rectory, is listed in the Domesday book 

13th century: Early enclosures were formed across the area with their characteristic small, irregular 

and often sinuous boundaries. Strip-like layouts of ‘burgage’ plots are formed within the medieval 

borough of Warton.  

14th - 15th centuries: The ‘three towers’ at Arnside, Hazelslack and Beetham are constructed, all 

prominent fortified tower houses and manor houses. Evidence of medieval fish traps and stake nets 

show development of small local fishing fleets and shellfisheries.  

S4 Historic and Cultural Heritage 

Conserve and enhance our built, cultural and social heritage and improve 

understanding and the public value of the areas unique historic character 

  A brief history of Arnside & Silverdale National Landscape… 

Page 46



37 

16th century: A cargo wharf operates along the river Kent at Sandside. It was known as the ‘Port of 

Milnthorpe’ 

18th century: The area sees industrial development, quarrying of limestone and evidence of 

metalliferous ores being mined and smelted in the landscape, using charcoal from woodland coppice to 

fuel the furnaces. The mosslands at Hale and Leighton start to be drained to create more space for 

agriculture.  

19th century: Further industrialisation of the landscape and adoption of more modern industrial 

processes including the ironworks at Carnforth and Limeworks at Coldwell and Trowbarrow. The 

railway arrives in the landscape and, in addition to providing transport for industrial goods, the railway 

brings passengers and the village of Arnside develops as a Victorian resort. Silverdale expands and fine 

houses are built by wealthy industrialists and businessmen as their country residences. Country 

estates see expansion and historic designed landscapes, gardens and parkland are created. The local 

fishing industry develops commercially and boat building takes place in Arnside.   

20th century:  Closure of industries, construction of new housing, further development of tourism with 

new caravan parks in the area and the establishment of nature reserves at Warton Crag, Gaitbarrows 

and Leighton Moss. In 1972 Arnside & Silverdale is designated an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.  

The history of the landscape is researched, remembered and celebrated and forms a significant part of 

the strong local cultural identity. Local history societies, volunteer experts and academics have 

researched and written about the history of the area and produced a range of high-quality published 

works. Local institutions such as the Mourholme History Society and Arnside Archive continue to 

explore and document the rich and fascinating history of the area.  

 

 
 

 
 

 

Footpath, Arnside 

 

Arnside Tower 

Page 47



38 

 

Drivers for Change 

- Management and conservation of designated heritage assets  

- Neglect and poor management of heritage assets, particularly uninhabited structures and 

those exposed to the elements  

- Increasing vulnerability of heritage assets due to the effects of climate change and more 

frequent extreme weather events  

- Inconsistent recognition of heritage assets that contribute towards landscape character, such 

as barns, stone walls, gateposts etc.  

- Inconsistent support for the research and study of local history, including social history and 

costs of collating and circulating local history publications. Lack of formal recording and 

potential for important heritage assets to be misidentified or undervalued and/or forgotten  

- Changes to historic systems of land management  

- Development of local heritage lists of Non-designated Heritage Assets (NHDA) and their 

recognition/application in development management 

Indicators of success 

- Protected Landscape Targets and Outcomes Framework. Target 10 (see page 77) 

- Number and condition of scheduled monuments and designated heritage assets 

- Number of non-designated heritage assets (NHDA) 

- Condition of Conservation Areas 

- Number of Listed Building Consent applications/permissions with a positive outcome for the 

historic environment 

- Increase the extent of Historic Environment Record (HER) 

- Number/extent of Agri-environment (AES) land management options targeting the historic 

environment 

Key Partners 

- Local authorities & parish councils 

- Historic England, Natural England 

- The National Trust, English Heritage 

- Local heritage organisations such as Arnside Archive and the Mourholme History Society  

- Landowners and managers, property owners and residents  

- Friends of the Lake District, CPRE the Countryside Charity, Morecambe Bay Partnership

S4 Historic & Cultural Heritage 

Outcomes 

1) Historic landscape character is conserved and enhanced 

2) Key heritage assets and features are retained and sensitively restored, 

conserved or enhanced where appropriate  

3) The area’s heritage, including cultural heritage, is well researched and 

understood 

 

Page 48



39 

Historic & Cultural Heritage Actions 
D

e
s

ig
n

a
te

d
 H

e
ri

ta
g

e
 a

s
s

e
ts

 

4a Reduce the number of nationally designated scheduled monuments at risk in the 

landscape: Arnside Tower, Hazelslack Tower and Beetham Tower.  

 

4b Conserve and enhance designated heritage assets, including scheduled monuments, 

Registered Parks and Gardens, listed buildings and the Conservation Areas of Warton, 

Beetham, Yealand Conyers and Redmayne. Where possible, support condition 

monitoring of designated heritage assets and seek out, survey and research other 

heritage assets in the area potentially suitable for designation. 

 

4c Conserve and enhance locally important heritage assets through the production and 

maintenance of local non-designated heritage asset (NHDA) lists. Seek out, survey and 

research other heritage assets in the area with a view to assessment for potential 

inclusion in local lists. 

 

S
e

tt
le

m
e

n
t 

c
h

a
ra

c
te

r 

4d Conserve and enhance built heritage assets and features that contribute to the 

distinctive sense of place and cultural heritage of the area, both within a rural and village 

setting. Identify, conserve and increase awareness of characteristic features outlined 

within the Special Qualities report. 

 

4e Consider heritage assets holistically within their settings, accounting for supporting 

features and contribution towards wider landscape value. 

 

In
d

u
s

tr
ia

l h
e

ri
ta

g
e

 

4f Conserve, enhance and raise awareness of industrial heritage assets, including 

landforms, structures and features associated with the industrial past such as quarries, 

mine workings and the railways.  

 

4g Conserve and raise awareness of industrial processing structures and buildings relevant 

to characteristic local industries such as Lime Kilns and the smelting chimney at Jenny 

Browns Point. Assess risk to industrial structures and develop protection and 

consolidation plans where needed. 

  

4h Conserve structures associated with the area’s maritime past. Explore opportunities to 

survey and raise awareness of locally notable maritime industry such as Crossfield Boat 

Yard in Arnside.  

 

 

 

4f - Industrial heritage and quarrying 

Evidence of quarrying and limestone extraction is frequent across the landscape. The history of 

some smaller village quarries may lead back centuries, where small volumes of stone were cut and 

lifted for use in local buildings, walls and as troughs, lintels and gateposts.  

Larger scale mechanised quarrying began in the late 19th century, when sites as Warton, 

Trowbarrow, Sandside and Middlebarrow were opened up for exploitation. The operations took 

place at scale with use of engines, railways and explosives to extract the valuable limestone.  

Now, with only the quarry works at Sandside remaining active, the other former quarry sites have 

left fascinating exposures of the area’s geological past and some are now managed for 

biodiversity and public amenity.    

 

Page 49



40 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

L
a

n
d

s
c

a
p

e
 

4i Conserve and increase awareness of landscape heritage sites of importance, such as 

Dallam Tower Deer Park and the medieval earthworks and field systems around the 

historic settlements of Beetham, Far Arnside, Hale, Silverdale, Warton and the Yealands. 

   

4j Identify, conserve and restore the network of traditional field boundaries, including dry 

stone walls, veteran hedgerows, historic trackways and lanes. 

  

4k Identify, maintain and restore historic orchards. 

 

4l Encourage uptake of Agri-environment scheme  actions to enhance the historic 

landscape. 

 

4m Conserve and ensure positive management of historic springs, ponds, and wells such as 

Bank Well and Wood Well in Silverdale. 

 

4n Conserve and ensure positive management of historic designed landscapes and 

gardens, such as Mawsons Garden in Silverdale.  

 

 

 

4k – Historic Orchards 

Orchards have been a feature of the landscape for hundreds of years; records from the early 1600s 

refer to the presence of orchards in Haverbrack and Beetham.  Commercial fruit growing 

expanded when the railway provided improved access to markets in towns and cities and extensive 

orchards are shown across the area on early maps from the 1850s onwards.  

There are now more than 90 orchards in the National Landscape which grow a wide variety of 

apple, plum, damson and pear varieties. Numerous traditional varieties have been identified here 

with some unique to the area. There are at least 10 heritage apple varieties which have not been 

positively identified.   

 

Dallam Tower Deer Park 

Page 50



41 

A
n

c
ie

n
t 

&
 

a
rc

h
a

e
o

lo
g

ic
a

l 

4o Conserve features associated with the pre-medieval history of the area such as Warton 

Crag Scheduled Monument. Implement management recommended within the Warton 

Crag Scheduled Monument Conservation Management Plan.  

 

4p Raise awareness of notable finds from across the area. Promote and interpret finds on 

display in museums and collections such as the Silverdale Hoard and Dog Holes cave 

artifacts. 

  

R
e

s
e

a
rc

h
 a

n
d

 in
te

rp
re

ta
ti

o
n

 

4q Maintain and improve the Historic Environment Record (HER) for the area and improve 

signposting/access to the dataset, particularly for landowners. 

 

4r Support local organisations such as the Mourholme History Society and Arnside Archive 

and projects which enhance local capacity, increase awareness of, and public 

involvement in the further research and management of the local historic environment. 

 

4s Explore opportunities to update and refresh on-site interpretation of accessible 

heritage assets, building on the previous work of the Limestone Heritage Project. 

  

4t Where possible, integrate the historic environment within interpretation of other 

aspects of landscape interpretation such as Biodiversity and Geodiversity. 

 

4u Support research and recording of the area’s oral history and social history. 

 

 
 

  

 

Visitors to Woodwell 

spring pond c1920 

Millwheels, Heron Corn Mill, Beetham 

Page 51



42 

 

 

 

 

4o – Warton Crag Scheduled Monument 

Until recently, the remains of three long, curving stone walls at the summit of Warton Crag were 

thought to be the remains of a prominent Iron Age Hill Fort. 

Research carried out in 2015 using LiDAR surveys allowed Historic England to create a detailed 

plan of the monument. The evidence suggests the monument is around 1200 years older than 

was once thought. Dating to around 1500 – 1000 BCE, the site appears to be a bronze-age 

enclosure with no signs of permanent habitation and the walls show little evidence of defensive 

use. It may have been a meeting place for scattered communities whose lives revolved around 

their livestock.  

Whether it was a meeting place, a trading post or held some other cultural significance, the 

monument is unique in NW England.  

(Below) LiDAR image of Warton Crag showing wall structures. Taken from Warton Crag Aerial Investigation and 

Mapping Report, Historic England 2015 

Page 52



43 

 

Arnside & Silverdale National Landscape is a place for 

inspiration, spiritual refreshment, dark skies at night 

and clear, unpolluted air. People come here to relax, 

unwind and recharge their internal batteries, to get 

close to nature, breathe in the fresh sea air and absorb 

exhilarating wide-open views. Tranquillity and a sense 

of space are easy to find both in the intimate inland 

landscape and on the hills and open coast. 

The National Landscape is outstanding in the extent 

and quality of access available, providing wonderful 

opportunities to enjoy quiet recreation such as walking, 

cycling, climbing, wildlife watching and horse riding.  

The network of narrow lanes and minor highways is one 

of the delights of the landscape and, along with an 

intricate web of public rights of way, access land and 

other paths, provides many opportunities for people to 

come into close contact with the area’s wildlife, 

geology and history, providing inspiring learning 

opportunities and engaging visitors with the area.  

Many people still experience barriers to accessing the 

landscape and to enjoying the countryside. These 

barriers can be physical and social. Identifying and 

removing these barriers to the landscape in addition to 

providing better opportunities for people experiencing 

barriers is a key area of focus for the National 

Landscape Partnership.  

The National Landscape Partnership, supported by 

local access authorities, continues to support and 

deliver a range of projects to improve opportunities for people with disabilities and/or reduced mobility 

to enjoy the area. There is now a network of supported tramper trails, with over 9km of trails across 

S5 Access, Enjoyment & Well-being 

Communicate and interpret the special qualities of the landscape, 

promote the ways in which people can enjoy themselves safely and 

responsible and the health and well-being benefits of doing so  

Provide high quality access across the network of footpaths and bridleways 

and seek to remove both social and physical barriers to accessing and 

enjoying the countryside  

 

Trowbarrow LNR Bioblitz 

Walkers on Arnside Knott 

Page 53



44 

the area. The highly successful Walks for All programme has led hundreds of guided walks with a 

particular focus on therapeutic walks to support people living with neurological and 

neurodegenerative conditions such as dementia and their caregivers to access the landscape.  

Young people are encouraged and supported to engage with landscape. Primary schools in the area 

have provided training for their teaching staff to become forest school leaders. Supported visits to 

Nature Reserves by schools and community groups take place across the area. Landowners and 

partners, supported by the National Landscape team host a range of family events that interpret and 

celebrate the area such as the annual Apple Day event, now held at Leighton Hall.  

The interpretation of landscape through the arts is an effective and innovative way to attract 

audiences and encourage local communities to view the landscape in different and interesting ways. 

From an outdoor performance by the Poet Laureate to modern interpretive dance performances at 

iconic local sites, arts events and installations have created new intrigue and have provided new ways 

of communicating and engaging with the landscape.  

There are many opportunities for people to get involved, learn about and actively participate in the 

conservation of the landscape. There are numerous local groups and societies that provide activities 

based on, and which support interest in the area such as natural history, local history, ornithology, 

sustainability and walking groups and societies. There is high community awareness of the area’s 

unique qualities and of its designation. 

 

 
 

  

 

Walkers on 

woodland path, 

Warton 

Page 54



45 

 

Drivers for Change 

- Access for All programme 

- Physical and social barriers to accessing nature and landscape 

- Resource requirements for maintaining the existing Public Rights of Way (PROW) network to a 

high standard, including the provision of high quality waymarking  

- Development and establishment of the King Charles III England Coast Path 

- Lack of pavements and off-road pedestrian access, particularly on narrow lanes and around 

blind spots 

- Inconsistent inclusion of nature and wildlife education in primary and secondary curriculum  

- Limited participation by young people in landscape conservation and limited targeted 

events/programmes for young people  

- A lack of resources to support youth education in the landscape, including costs associated 

with transport and equipment 

- The need for a consistent and strategic approach to interpretation of the landscape 

- Increased awareness of the health benefits of nature and engagement with the countryside, 

the development of ‘Green prescribing’ initiatives 

- National public health issues such as dementia, mental health issues, obesity and social 

exclusion 

- Changing patterns of information access, development of social media as the initial ‘first 

contact’ information/engagement platform for younger audiences  

- Lack of resource to engage effectively with rapid high volume social media engagement e.g. 

TikTok etc. and the challenges of competing for visibility across platforms 

- Local demographic changes. In particular, a notable increase in people over the age of 50 and a 

contrasting decrease of those under the age of 49 since the 2011 census i.e. trends of ageing 

population are continuing and show no signs of change. Disability has also increased over the 

period 2011-2021 with approx. 12% of the population identifying as disabled 

Indicators of Success 

- Access For All programme targets & Protected Landscapes Targets and Outcomes Framework 

(PLTOF) Target 9 (see page 77) 

- Total length and condition of Public Rights of Way (PROW) network 

- Website traffic, Social media engagement 

- Number of landscape-related school sessions (such as Forest Schools) 

- Number of landscape-related public events 

S5 Access, Enjoyment & Wellbeing 

Outcomes 

1. A high quality and well managed access network of paths and bridleways 

facilitating quiet recreation and enjoyment for a diverse range of people 

2. A high awareness and understanding of the landscape designation and 

the special qualities of the area 

3. Wider range of people connecting with nature and the landscape through 

more opportunities to enjoy and appreciate the landscape 

Page 55



46 

Key Partners 

- Residents and communities 

- Farmers, landowners and managers 

- Health Authorities, local GP surgeries 

- Local authorities 

- Parish councils 

- DEFRA 

- Natural England 

- Morecambe Bay Partnership 

- Local Community Groups and Community Interest Companies such as Arnside & Silverdale 

Landscape Trust, Bittern Countryside Community Interest Company (BCCIC) 

- Environmental NGOs including National Trust, RSPB, The Wildlife Trusts etc. 

- Sporting/recreational associations such as British Mountaineering Council (BMC) 

- Local schools, universities and academic institutions 

 

 

 

 

 

5d - Arnside & Silverdale National Landscape website 

Launched in August 2025, the new Arnside & Silverdale National Landscape website is the primary 

source of information for visitors, residents, landowners and stakeholders on the landscape 

designation. The site hosts information on walks, activities and events for the public and visitors 

alongside an archive of technical reports, policy documents and associated information for 

stakeholders and those with a professional interest in the area.    

 

Stations of Welcome 

Workshop at the 

Coppice Co-op, 

Silverdale 

Page 56



47 

Access, Enjoyment & Well-Being Actions 
E

n
jo

y
m

e
n

t 
&

 W
e

ll
b

e
in

g
 

5a Offer and support an integrated and co-ordinated annual programme of events, guided 

walks, festivals, talks and conferences within the landscape. Curate outdoor experiences 

for a range of audiences and benefits including education, interpretation, health and 

wellbeing etc. Support existing long-running events that connect communities with 

landscape such as Apple Day and the Silverdale & Arnside Arts & Crafts Festival. 

  

5b Deliver a supported walks programme for people experiencing barriers to enjoying the 

countryside, particularly barriers relating to physical disability, mental health and 

neurological and neurodegenerative conditions such as dementia. 

  

5c Produce and circulate a range of high quality online and printed interpretation materials 

including visitor guides, walk guides, cultural trails and information. 

   

5d Manage and maintain a high-quality website as the primary online resource for 

stakeholders, communities and visitors to find relevant information about the landscape 

and the work of the partnership. 

 

5e Develop and implement a bespoke interpretation strategy for the landscape. 

  

5f Operate and support coordinated youth education and engagement programmes. 

Encourage participation by young people in the interpretation and management of the 

landscape and increase opportunities for schools, both locally and from nearby urban areas 

to access and discover the landscape.  

 

5g Support the development and delivery of projects that engage and interpret the landscape 

and its special qualities through the creative arts. 

 

 

 

 

 

5b Walks for All  

Walks for All is a programme of weekly supported walks across the landscape, aimed at providing 

opportunities for people with enhanced needs and their caregivers to experience the landscape in 

a safe and supported way. The walks are led by trained volunteers and carefully designed so people 

with varying abilities can get involved and enjoy themselves.  

The programme has a particular focus on enabling people living with dementia and their caregivers 

to visit the countryside, exercise and provide opportunities for socialising and group support.  

 

5g Forest Schools 

Forest School is a child-centred inspirational learning process, that offers opportunities for holistic 

growth through regular sessions. It is a long-term programme that supports play, exploration and 

supported risk taking. It develops confidence and self-esteem through learner inspired, hands-on 

experiences in a natural setting. 

The Woodland Oasis in Trowbarrow Local Nature Reserve provides the space and facilities for local 

Forest School practitioners to run their own sessions. Groups can also book guided sessions with 

qualified National Landscape staff. Local schools have also been supported to train their own 

practitioners and make Forest Schools an integral part of their curriculum.   

 

Page 57



48 

   

A
c

c
e

s
s

 

5h Maintain the public rights of way network to a high standard and identify opportunities to 

expand and improve both the public and permissive access network, improving the number, 

distance and connectivity of multi-user accessible routes including bridleways. Ensure the 

network is supported by consistent and high quality waymarking, signposting and suitable 

well-designed rest stops. 

 

5i Support and maintain the availability of Tramper scooters for use within the landscape. 

Maintain, improve and expand the network of Tramper scooter routes and promote their 

availability and use.  

 

5j Establish the National Landscape section of the King Charles III England Coast Path and 

promote its responsible use. 

 

5k Recognise and maintain key viewpoints across the landscape. Where possible, improve 

accessibility to key viewpoints. 

 

5l Undertake an accessibility audit, identifying barriers for people to access the landscape, 

including physical, social and perceptive barriers. Explore opportunities to remove or 

reduce impact of barriers.  

 

5m Support measures to improve pedestrian and cycle access across the highways network. 

Encourage relevant authorities to explore options for improvements to pedestrian and 

cycle access on highways and potential introduction of traffic calming measures and 

reduced speed limits. Explore and mitigate issues around pedestrian and cyclist access on 

narrow lanes, blind spots and soft verges where pavements are not present. Focus on gaps 

in the PROW network where pedestrian access on the highway is unavoidable. 

  

5n Raise awareness and encourage visitor compliance of relevant national guidance such as 

the Countryside Code, Marine and Coastal Wildlife Code and the ‘Leave no Trace’ 

principles. Support measures locally to tackle issues of livestock and wildlife disturbance by 

dogs on private land and across the PROW network.    

 

5o Support low-impact recreational rock climbing at appropriate sites within the landscape. 

Work with British Mountaineering Council (BMC) members to support and encourage 

responsible climbing and raise awareness of the BMC Regional Access Database (RAD) for 

local sites. Where required, support implementation of seasonal restrictions on certain 

routes to protect biodiversity features eg. cliff-nesting birds and Geodiversity features.  

 

The Growing Station, Arnside 

Page 58



49 

 

 

 

 

5i Tramper Scooters 

A Tramper is an electric all-terrain mobility scooter designed to cover rough ground and grass 

safely. They allow people with reduced mobility to get out into the countryside and access places 

they might not normally be able to. 

In 2025 the Three Nature Reserves Trail was opened, a new 6 mile fully tramper-accessible trail 

guiding visitors around the nature reserves at Leighton Moss, Gaitbarrows NNR, Trowbarrow LNR, 

Challan Hall and Coldwell Meadow. This route has been made possible by a partnership of local 

landowners (Natural England, Lancaster City Council, RSPB, Leighton Hall Estate, The Landscape 

Trust) and facilitated by Morecambe Bay Partnership.  

 

 

 

5j King Charles III England Coast Path 

The King Charles III England Coast Path is a 2700-mile National Trail spanning the entire coast of 

England. Once established, the Arnside & Silverdale section of the path will run from Arnside 

Station in the north to the River Keer in the south and take in approximately 9 miles of coastal 

pasture, woodland and limestone cliff with views out into Morecambe Bay.  

 

Walks For All Group, 

Warton Crag Quarry 

Page 59



50 

 

Tourism is a key component of the local economy; around 10% of businesses are involved in tourism 

related activity.  

Local services and facilities, including schools, doctors’ surgeries, shops, post offices, garages, pubs 

and restaurants all contribute to the quality of life of the area’s communities and are also important to 

the visitor economy. There are thriving primary schools and village/community halls in all the areas 

parishes. The largest settlements of Arnside and Silverdale both have medical practices and a range of 

other shops and services.  

Working to conserve and enhance the exceptionally high-quality environment of the National 

Landscape helps create the conditions for sustainable economic growth and prosperity both locally 

and across the wider region and creates tangible connections between businesses, communities and 

nature. 

The excellent access afforded within the landscape is further enhanced by the relative ease of travel to 

the area from urban centres. There are train stations at Carnforth, Silverdale and Arnside which 

connect to the West Cumbria Coast and Carlisle via Barrow-in-Furness and the West Coast mainline 

via Lancaster and Preston. Access to and from the M6 motorway is provided at junction 35, Carnforth, 

at the southern edge of the area. There are some bus services serving the villages within the 

landscape, which link to services at Carnforth, Lancaster and Kendal.  

S6 Sustainable Economy, Tourism & Transport 

Support the development and diversification of local services and economic 

activity which benefits local communities, improves the quality of tourism 

offered and conserves and enhances the special qualities of the landscape  

 

6b - Visitor attractions  

Arnside & Silverdale holds a range of popular and award-winning visitor attractions.  

- RSPB Leighton Moss & Morecambe Bay Nature reserve includes a visitor centre, shop and 

café and hosts up to 100,000 visitors annually. 

- Lakeland Wildlife Oasis at Hale is a diverse and carefully curated small zoo, allowing visitors 

to get up close with a range of both exotic and native birds, mammals, invertebrates, fish 

and reptiles. 

- Heron Corn Mill in Beetham is a museum, craft centre and community art space housed 

inside a historic water mill on the River Bela. 

- Leighton Hall is a traditional Country House with strong ties to the Gillow & Co Furniture 

company, once based in Lancaster. The Hall holds a fine collection of Gillow Furniture and 

hosts a range of popular annual events, including Apple Day, outdoor theatre productions 

and a variety of community arts and local heritage events.  

 

Page 60



51 

 

Drivers for Change 

- Increased visitor numbers and increased visitor ‘spill’ from nearby tourism attractions such as 

Eden Project Morecambe 

- Potential development of a central eco-tourism visitor hub for the area as part of the Evolving 

Leighton Moss project 

- Opportunities for improved collaboration and networking between tourism businesses, 

stakeholders and communities within the landscape 

- Poor availability of specific data on the local tourism and hospitality sector 

- Introduction of flexible use categories for commercial premises 

- Funding for rural services and changes to local authority education and health and social care 

provision 

- Mobile phone coverage and availability of super-fast broadband 

- Levels of community engagement and participation in consultations and decision making for 

the National Landscape 

- Availability and quality of public transport service in the area 

- Availability and quality of visitor (and resident) car parking provision in the area 

Indicators of Success 

- Visitor numbers at key attractions in the landscape 

- Number and type of local services available 

- Outcomes of the Silverdale Sustainable Transport Study 

- Number of tourism businesses operating 

- Number and type of visitor accommodation operating in the landscape. 

Key Partners 

- Local business owners and managers 

- Local authorities  

- Parish councils 

- Local service providers (Schools, GP Practices etc.) 

- Public Transport Providers, Furness Line Action Group 

- Tourism organisations: Cumbria Tourism, Marketing Lancashire

S6 Sustainable Economy, Tourism & Transport 

Outcomes 

1) Retention and improvement to local services and facilities for 

communities and visitors 

2) A high-quality sustainable tourism offer that focuses on quiet recreation, 

accessible wildlife experiences, local culture and history and local food, 

arts and crafts  

3) A strong, collaborative network of local businesses, valued by the 

community and supporting local employment 

 

Page 61



52 

Sustainable Economy, Tourism & Transport Actions 

6a Ensure commercial economic activity (including tourism) is consistent with the core purpose of 

the National Landscape and that activity in the area is environmentally responsible and does 

not cumulatively cause harm to the landscape.  

 

6b Promote and support tourism/visitor attractions that highlight and improve visitor 

understanding of the landscape and special qualities such as notable heritage sites, 

Geodiversity sites, nature reserves, providers of local food and products etc. 

 

6c Promote use of and improvements in sustainable transport particularly bus/train travel, cycling 

and walking for both residents and visitors. Promote the Furness train line as a key transport 

link and visitor gateway to the area and support improvements to facilities and accessibility at 

both Arnside and Silverdale Stations. 

  

6d Improve understanding of visitor numbers, perceptions, behaviours and their economic and 

social contributions to the landscape. Use the information to inform the principles of a visitor 

management plan. 

 

6e Explore implementation of opportunities outlined in the 2024 Silverdale Sustainable Transport 

Study. 

 

  
 

6f Support tourism marketing and promotions of the area where this is consistent with the core 

purpose of the landscape designation. 

 

6g Support efforts by local community groups and relevant Highways Authorities to encourage 

responsible and safer driving behaviour across the landscape, particularly within villages and 

around schools and public greenspaces. 

 

6h Support development of public electric vehicle charging infrastructure across the landscape.  

 

6i Support the RSPB in the ‘Evolving Leighton Moss’ project to sustainably develop the reserve as 

a conservation and environmental visitor hub for the area. 

  

6j Support scoping and potential development of the Arnside to Grange Trail, a proposed walking, 

wheeling and cycling route from Arnside to Grange-over-Sands utilising the Arnside railway 

viaduct to provide a new sustainable travel link and tourism asset.  

Railway Viaduct, Arnside 

Page 62



53 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6e Silverdale Sustainable Transport Survey 

The Silverdale Sustainable Transport Study, published in 2024 examined the potential for 

improved and sustainable passenger transport services within the parish of Silverdale. The study 

consists of 3 reports: a baseline assessment of transport services, an engagement and 

community survey and an options appraisal.  

The study sets out clear actions required for sustainable transport in Silverdale. Issues around EV 

charging, rail services, bus services, visitor parking and walking/cycling access and further 

provision for each are addressed. The next stage aims to develop a business case for 

implementation and to explore the technical feasibility of the actions suggested in the report.  

Silverdale-Sustainable-Transport-Options-Report-3.pdf (External link) 

 

6f Tourism marketing 

Cumbria Tourism and Marketing Lancashire, with support from Morecambe Bay Partnership 

provide a range of information and designation management services supporting the local visitor 

economy.  

Cumbria Tourism | The Official Tourist Board for Cumbria (External Link) 

Marketing Lancashire | Online Information For Tourism Businesses (External Link) 

Home | Morecambe Bay Partnership (External Link) 

Arnside Pier, Arnside 

Page 63

https://silverdale-pc-lancs.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2025/01/Silverdale-Sustainable-Transport-Options-Report-3.pdf
https://www.cumbriatourism.org/
https://www.marketinglancashire.com/
https://www.morecambebay.org.uk/


54 

 

The planning system plays an important role in ensuring new development is appropriate and 

sustainable, and preventing harm to the area’s special qualities from inappropriate development. The 

responsibility for planning policy and decision-making in Arnside & Silverdale National Landscape rests 

with the local planning authorities. The Levelling Up and Regeneration Act (2023) places a duty on all 

relevant authorities to ‘seek to further’ the purpose of National Landscape designation when carrying 

out their functions, which includes the planning process. 

 

The National Landscape Partnership plays a key role in supporting, advising on and influencing 

development of local planning policy and development management decisions, as a consultee.  

 

The national designation and high sensitivity of the landscape requires a different approach compared 

to outside of the area. This has led to the development and adoption of the Arnside and Silverdale 

Development Plan Document (DPD), which places conservation and enhancement of the landscape at 

the centre of development management. 

 

The DPD covers both the Lancaster City Council and Westmorland and Furness Council local authority 

areas and provides consistent development policy across the whole landscape. The DPD, adopted in 

2019, is the first National Landscape (AONB) DPD in England. It is a pioneering and innovative 

approach and has been followed closely by other National Landscape Partnerships up and down the 

country as an example of how a National Landscape Partnership, councils and communities can work 

together to produce the best outcomes for an area. The DPD has been widely praised and won an 

award from the Royal Town Planning Institute (RTPI) following its adoption.  

The DPD is only one of a number of plans and strategies affecting the National Landscape. It 

complements existing plans and strategies including the Management Plan, Lancaster City Council’s 

adopted Local Plan (Climate Emergency Review) (2025) and the developing Local Plans of both 

Lancaster City and Westmorland and Furness. The planning and place making principles included 

within the Management Plan intend to reflect the policies within the DPD. 

 

 

S7 Planning and Place Making 

Practice a landscape-f irst approach to planning and development 

management in which all development seeks to enhance the natural beauty 

and special qualities of the landscape  

 

Silverdale Cove 

and Shore 

Page 64



55 

 

Drivers for Change 

- In 2019 adoption of the AONB DPD established a consistent, unified approach to planning 

decision-making across the two local planning authority areas for the first time  

- Changes to National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and expected alterations to Local Plan 

making and the role of Supplementary Plans 

- Introduction of the Planning and Infrastructure Bill  

- Ongoing reviews of Local Plans within both local planning authorities 

- Opportunities to develop Sustainable Access Mitigation and Management Strategies for all 

local planning authorities in and around the Morecambe Bay area.  

- Implementation and development of Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) and development and 

adoption of the Cumbria Local Nature Recovery Strategy and the Lancashire Local Nature 

Recovery Strategy 

- Impacts of climate change and the need for mitigation and adaptation measures that may be 

subject to development management controls  

- Housing needs assessments produced by local planning authorities and the need for affordable 

housing within local communities 

- Small scale cumulative development, particularly renovations, conversions and extensions, has 

the potential for incremental erosion of landscape quality over time 

- ‘Undergrounding for visual amenity’ project run by Electricity Northwest 

- Commercial development pressure, including commercial scale renewable energy and 

communications infrastructure, either within the landscape, or within the setting  

- National house building targets and the need for residential development either within the 

landscape or within the towns of Carnforth and Milnthorpe increasing urban sprawl at the 

landscape edge and at the main ‘gateways’ to the landscape 

- Development within the hinterland of the National Landscape having cumulative impacts on 

the setting and on views in and out of the landscape 

- Relatively low levels of competition within regional house building sector i.e. few private 

companies willing to build small volume affordable developments and limited resources of 

housing associations to build social housing 

S7 Planning & Place Making 

Outcomes 

1) Planning policy and decision-making that conserves and enhances the 

natural beauty of the area and seeks to further the purpose of the 

designation 

2) Sustainable, high-quality and beautiful development that contributes 

positively to landscape, communities and visitors 

3) Development based on local needs 

4) Collaborative, transparent development planning and management 

between planning authorities, communities, stakeholders and 

developers 

 

 

Page 65



56 

- Lack of mains sewerage in Silverdale and Yealand and the need to replace/improve aging septic 

tank installations 

- Development of bespoke design principles for lighting as part of the Cumbria ‘Good Lighting 

Guide Technical Advice Note’ 

- Expansion and redevelopment of tourist accommodation, particularly caravan sites  

- Local community concerns over the numbers of dwellings used as short-term holiday lets that 

are considered suitable for use as a permanent residence  

Indicators of Success 

- Number of development management cases that make a positive contribution to the 

landscape 

- Number (and proportion) of affordable housing permitted and built 

- Maintain and/or reductions in total number of static caravans, lodges, chalets and touring 

pitches 

- Maintain and/or reductions in total number of short-term holiday lets 

- Total distance of cables/wires undergrounded  

Key Partners 

- Local authorities 

- Parish councils 

- Local Community Land Trusts and Housing Associations, The Rural Housing Enabling Service 

- Residents and communities 

- Developers and housebuilders  

- Natural England, Historic England 

- Friends of the Lake District, CPRE The Countryside Charity 

 

 
 

 
Footpath, Arnside 

Old Post Office, Beetham 

Page 66



57 

Planning and Place-making Principles 

 

 
14 Local Plan and Planning Policy - Lancaster City Council 
15 Planning policy | Westmorland and Furness Council 
16 Arnside and Silverdale AONB DPD - Lancaster City Council 

7a Ensure that all decision-making in relation to planning and development and in the preparation of 

Local Plans seeks to further the purpose of the National Landscape designation and support the 

conservation and enhancement of the Special Qualities, natural beauty, landscape character, 

settlement character, visual amenity, heritage, biodiversity (including protected habitats and 

species) and geodiversity. Development proposals are required to clearly demonstrate this.  

 

7b Support development of planning policy and decision-making processes that are bespoke and 

specific to the National Landscape. Support the continued adoption and periodic review of the 

approach and objectives currently contained within the Arnside and Silverdale AONB DPD, as 

part of any future Local Plans. Ensure local planning authorities work closely together to achieve 

a joint consistent approach across the National Landscape.  

   

7c Explore opportunities to develop specific design guidance for the landscape, consistent with the 

principles set out in the National Design Guide and National Model Design Code and any adopted 

Local Design Codes for Westmorland and Furness Council and Lancaster City Council.  

 

7d Support development of Local Authority Biodiversity Strategies, ensuring that any Biodiversity 

Net Gain (BNG) opportunities contribute towards outcomes included within the relevant Local 

Nature Recovery Strategies (LNRS) and/or actions from the 2025 Arnside & Silverdale National 

Landscape Nature Recovery Plan / Management Plan Habitats and Species Actions as 

appropriate. 

  

7e Support the continued implementation of a landscape capacity-led approach to planning and 

development management as referenced in Policy SP2 and SP3 of the 2025 Lancaster City 

Council Development Plan Document (DPD)14, Policy DM1 (9) of the 2019 South Lakeland 

Development Management Policies (DPD)15 and Policy AS01 of the 2019 Arnside & Silverdale 

AONB DPD16. In this context, landscape capacity refers to the amount of change the landscape 

is able to accommodate without unacceptable harm to its primary purpose, including its 

character and qualities. 

 

7e - Local Plan Policy (Lancaster Local Plan Policy SP3) 

 

“The development strategy ensures that only development that can be accommodated without 

harm to the AONBs primary purpose (to conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and 

cultural heritage of the area) will be permitted. This will be achieved whilst maintaining a positive 

approach to development, recognising that appropriately located and designed development can 

contribute to conserving and enhancing the landscape and settlement character, including where 

appropriate opportunities for regeneration and redevelopment to be delivered.” 

New Local Plans for both Lancaster City and Westmorland and Furness are in preparation. As part 

of this review and adoption of future Local Plans, the current planning policies may be superseded 

and requirements may change; this is likely within the period that this Management Plan covers. 

Any new Local Plans will seek to further the purpose of designation and maintain a joint consistent 

approach across the area.   

 

Page 67

https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/
https://www.westmorlandandfurness.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning/planning-policy
https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/arnside-and-silverdale-aonb-dpd


58 

 

 

   

7f Major development (describing any development which has the potential for significant harm to 

the designation) will not be supported unless it can be demonstrated to be in the public interest 

and exceptional circumstances can be demonstrated in line with national planning policy. This is 

to be determined on a case-by-case basis. 

 

7g Ensure housing proposals reflect identified local need in so far as is possible, providing that The 

Landscape Capacity approach is followed and that the landscape can accommodate new 

housing without unnecessary harm, as determined on a case-by-case basis. Proposals will be 

supported where affordable housing is maximised and where developments deliver no less than 

50% affordable housing and ideally more than 50% in line with current Local Plan Policy (AONB 

DPD Policy AS03). 

    

7h Support local housing associations and parish councils with providing affordable housing for 

local needs. Through future Local Plan policy review, explore the use of local occupancy 

restrictions in line with up-to-date evidence-based local housing needs. 

  

7i Development proposals will be supported where they contribute towards outcomes included 

within the relevant Local Nature Recovery Strategies (LNRS) and/or actions from the 2025 

Arnside & Silverdale National Landscape Nature Recovery Plan / Management Plan Habitats and 

Species actions.  

 

7f – Major Development 

Major development in Arnside & Silverdale is defined as development that has the potential to have 

serious adverse impact on the landscape, wildlife, cultural heritage or other characteristics of the 

National Landscape because of its scale, form, character or nature. Examples could include 

quarrying, medium and large-scale housing development, extensive commercial development, 

golf courses, caravan sites, new roads, vertical infrastructure, power lines or energy generation. 

The intimate nature of the landscape means that even small-scale proposals maybe be considered 

‘major’ development depending on the context.  

 

7i - Development to meet Nature Recovery Plan actions 

The Nature Recovery Plan includes a range of actions that, when implemented, would likely require 

planning permission. Groundworks associated with wetland creation, installation of water control 

structures, natural flood management measures, erection of anti-predator fencing to protect 

ground nesting birds or infrastructure required to allow conservation grazing management of 

limestone grassland mosaic habitats are examples. 

 

Page 68



59 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7j Development proposals within environmental protected sites (including internationally, 

nationally and locally designated wildlife or geology sites and functionally linked land) or 

development with the potential for adverse impacts to irreplaceable habitats, high-value priority 

habitats and/or protected species will not be supported unless exceptional circumstances can 

be demonstrated, the development cannot be located elsewhere and mitigation is provided or, 

where not possible compensatory measures are provided that result in enhancement (net gain) 

to the habitats extent, condition and value. 

  

7k Support development proposals that positively contribute to the extent and quality of public 

open space and publicly accessible areas (including Public Rights of Way) and supporting public 

recreational facilities (playgrounds, allotments, playing fields etc.). Proposals will not be 

supported where they result in loss of, or harm to the extent or quality of public open space 

and/or local green spaces except in the circumstances described in Paragraph 104 and 108 

(respect to Local Green Spaces) of the NPPF. 

  

7l Proposals for development within Key Settlement Landscapes will only be supported in 

exceptional circumstances, where they do not compromise the open nature, rural 

characteristics and landscape character of the Key Settlement Landscape in line with Local Plan 

Policy (AONB DPD AS06). A Key Settlement Landscape describes privately owned land that 

makes a positive contribution to landscape character, including pasture, woodland, 

ponds/wetlands, traditional boundaries or parkland within or on the fringes of settlements.  

 

7l - Key Settlement Landscapes 

Key Settlement Landscapes are private (and often not publicly accessible) areas of open space 

within the four Local Service Centres (villages) that make a particular and important contribution 

to the character of the area by bringing the countryside into the settlements and reinforcing their 

rural character as well as by providing key views and offering variety in settlement form, fabric and 

feel. Some are part of significant tracts of land within settlements. All the Key Settlement 

Landscapes form an important part of the distinctive character of the settlements within which 

they lie and form part of their setting.  

 

Memorial Cross 

Monument, Yealand 

Redmayne 

Page 69



60 

 

  

7m Ensure that design of proposed development is of the highest quality and responds positively to 

the character of the landscape and local built environment. Design should be respectful of 

settlement and building vernacular and should reinforce what is locally distinctive about the area, 

with careful consideration of layout, alignment, scale and form, massing, rooflines, lighting, 

materials finish and colours. Plot size should be consistent and boundary features, access points 

and landscaping should not be detrimental to the street scene and settlement character. (AONB 

DPD Policy AS08) 

 

7n Ensure that existing development that is harmful to landscape character or settlement 

character is not used to inform the design of new development or that proximity to it is not used 

to justify further poor quality or harmful development. (AONB DPD Policy AS08) 

   

7o Development proposals which bring demonstrable local community or local economic benefits 

will be supported except where they are incompatible with the designation of the National 

Landscape and would not conserve or enhance its Special Qualities. 

 

7p Support development proposals which enable improvements or diversification to farm 

businesses (with the exception of tourist accommodation) where proposals will result in 

improvements to business viability, or a reduction in environmental impact from agricultural 

operations, providing development does not cause adverse impacts on the designation. 

  

7q Essential infrastructure which supports development or is required to improve the capacity of 

existing infrastructure, including public transport provision, active travel and highways 

improvements, utilities services and communications infrastructure will be supported where it is 

appropriate to the development it supports, there is a proven need, and development does not 

cause adverse impacts on the designation. (AONB DPD Policy AS10) 

 

7m Vernacular building styles 

Most of the vernacular building style dates to the medieval period when some of the earliest stone 

buildings were built. They include distinctive features such as date stones, small ‘fire’ windows and 

decorative hood mouldings over windows. Wall construction is typically ‘slobbered masonry’ or 

limestone rubble wall with a white lime render and limewash finish. Buildings are typically 

moderately steeply pitched and slate roofed and rarely more than 2 storeys tall. Buildings tend to 

front directly onto the roadside and are laid out in terraces or a linear arrangement, following 

medieval settlement patterns such as the burgage plots found in Warton and Beetham.   

Later Victorian and Edwardian buildings take some influence from the vernacular style but with 

revival detailing. The use of limestone and slate is still dominant but decorative elements, finishes 

and features become more common.  

 

Bank House Farm, Silverdale 

Page 70



61 

 

 

 

7r Development proposals will not be supported for new static caravan, chalet, cabin or lodge-style 

development or the replacement of low-impact touring caravan or camping accommodation 

with static caravans, chalets, cabins or lodges. Proposals may be supported within the 

developed footprint of an existing site as part of a master-planned improvement for the whole 

site. (AONB DPD Policy AS11) 

 

7s New building development intended to provide self-catering visitor accommodation and short-

term holiday lets will not be supported. Conversions of existing buildings or redevelopment 

within the footprint of existing buildings for these uses will only be acceptable where the 

conversion of the building to a permanent dwelling would be inappropriate. (AONB DPD Policy 

AS11) 

 

7t Development which improves or rationalises the provision of waste water treatment in areas not 

connected to mains sewerage, including the installation of new treatment infrastructure will be 

supported. In areas not connected to mains sewerage, development proposals which have the 

potential to increase waste water flows will only be supported where the capacity and condition 

of current infrastructure is shown to be adequate. If replacement infrastructure (including 

upgrading septic tank systems to package treatment systems) is required, it will not have an 

adverse impact on the environment or landscape. (AONB DPD Policy AS12) 

 

7u Support small-scale low carbon, energy efficiency and renewable energy developments 

providing that the siting, scale, design and appearance will not have an adverse impact on 

landscape or settlement character (as defined within the LSCA) and that development does not 

compromise heritage assets and their setting, historic character, biodiversity or geodiversity 

features. (AONB DPD Policy AS13)  

 

7v Installation of new overhead lines (electricity or communications/fibre) will be supported only 

where undergrounding is demonstrably inappropriate or where overhead cables are essential for 

overriding reasons of public need and/or safety and cannot be located elsewhere. (AONB DPD 

Policy AS13)  

 

Beetham Village 

Page 71



62 

 

 

 

7w Large/tall vertical infrastructure, including communications masts, will only be supported where 

there is a demonstrable overriding public need and all reasonable alternative low-impact 

communications infrastructure is inappropriate. Vertical infrastructure should, as far as possible, 

not result in an impact to landscape, seascape, biodiversity, or settlement character. Where 

impacts are unavoidable a tailored package of mitigation measures will be needed for proposals 

to be supported. 

   

7x Proposals for adverts and commercial signage for which consent is required will only be 

supported where the advertising/signage are of high quality and of appropriate scale, design and 

colour as to not have adverse impacts on landscape or settlement character. Signage should be 

of traditional designs and maintain the rural character of the area. Where appropriate, removal 

or rationalisation of existing signage will be supported. (AONB DPD Policy AS14) 

 

7y All new lighting should adhere to the primary lighting principles outlined within the Cumbria 

Good Lighting Technical Advice Note and Lancaster City Council Good Lighting Planning 

Advisory Note 13, or that which supersedes this, or any additional local published guidance. 

Notably that lighting scale, position, and brightness should only be as much as is necessary for 

the intended purpose and that lighting should be kept away from sites of wildlife importance. 

  

7z Development proposals will not be supported where they impede on undeveloped coast or 

cause harm to the extent and character of the undeveloped coast. 

  

7aa Development proposals that seek to enhance or conserve buildings, structures or features with 

historic or heritage value will be supported. The appropriate conservation of listed buildings, 

non-designated heritage assets or other features of heritage interest within Conservation 

Areas will be supported. Conversions, alterations, or modifications to heritage assets should 

adhere to vernacular design and enhance the asset and its setting, the use of traditional 

materials, finishes, and construction methods should be utilised wherever possible to maintain 

the character and integrity of the asset. (AONB DPD Policy AS17) 

 

7y – The Good Lighting Guide 

The Cumbria Good Lighting Technical Advice Note (TAN) was developed by Friends of the Lake 

District and Dark Source Lighting design on behalf of several planning authorities in Cumbria and 

North Lancashire. The TAN provides technical lighting guidance to planners, applicants, 

architects, developers, electricians, property owners, communities, and lighting professionals to 

support them in applying relevant local and national planning policies and good lighting principles 

when submitting or assessing planning applications or other applications (such as Notifications of 

Intent and Listed Building) and in making good lighting choices when installing new or replacing 

existing lighting outside of the planning process.  

Good Lighting Technical Advice Note (TAN) - Full Version by Friends of the Lake District - Issuu (External link) 

 

Page 72

https://issuu.com/friendsofthelakedistrictpublic/docs/cumbria_-_good_lighting_tan?fr=sYzU0MjY3Njg2NjY


63 

 

Working the land is the foundation of the rural economy; the traditional cultures of low-intensity 

pasture management and woodland coppice management have created much of the distinctive 

landscape character we see today, and the area remains a living, working landscape. Farming and 

forestry make a major contribution to the landscape’s character and distinctive features. Landowners 

and farming and forestry tenants actively maintain the natural beauty and distinctiveness of the area. 

The expanse of Morecambe Bay and the river estuaries that feed it have been fished for centuries. 

Local traditions for hand-gathered artisanal shellfisheries, tractor shrimping, stake netting and 

recreational angling are managed sustainably by the Northwestern Inshore Fisheries and 

Conservation Authority (NW-IFCA).  

The interdependent relationship between land management, natural beauty, community and the 

economy is clear.  The health and viability of the land management sector, national policy approaches 

and work of individual landowners, farmers and land managers are all critical to conserving and 

enhancing the landscape. Maintaining an economically viable and sustainable land management sector 

will be essential to delivering the National Landscape purpose into the future. 

Changes introduced through the Environment Act 2021, including the de-coupling of agricultural 

subsidy payments and transition into a ‘public money for public goods’ model of subsidy has the 

potential for significant positive influence towards the local farming and forestry sectors ongoing 

contribution towards the conservation of the landscape. The growth of sustainable, locally produced 

woodland products such as woodcrafts, charcoal and woodfuel has encouraged restoration of 

traditional coppice and woodland management. Extensive pasture systems produce high-quality 

livestock products and impacts to the environment from modern agriculture are being limited through 

provision of farm advice, training and access to grant schemes.  

The Farming in Protected Landscapes (FiPL) programme, delivered by the National Landscape team 

has supported a range of projects to provide training to land managers, improve and create habitats, 

restore heritage features and traditional boundaries and conduct research and analysis. The 

programme has also developed and delivered a range of public and community engagement projects, 

encouraging and supporting more people to visit and be part of the landscape.   

Rural skills such as hedge laying, drystone walling, coppice management and maintenance of 

traditional orchards are vital for maintaining the traditional landscape and habitats of the area and 

regular training sessions and competitions are held with the involvement of local organisations and 

training providers. 

 

S8 Farming, Forestry & Rural Land Use 

Support and encourage sustainable management of the landscape which 

conserves and enhances the special qualities and delivers a range of 

environmental, community and local economic benefits 

 

Page 73



64 

 

Drivers for Change 

- Agricultural transition and the move from area-based subsidy to a payment for actions system. 

- Impacts of climate change and pressure on agricultural land and farming systems  

- Protected Landscape Targets and Outcomes Framework (PLTOF) 

- Changes to rural development schemes and non-nature based funding support mechanisms 

for landowners. Frequency and scale of changes to funding can limit ability for landowners to 

plan long-term  

- Increased interest and developing evidence on regenerative farming techniques, pasture-fed 

livestock systems, agroforestry and high nature value farming 

- Increased prices of products required to support existing farming systems e.g. fertilizer and 

processed feeds 

- Loss of expertise and experience in traditional rural skills such as hedgelaying, drystone walling, 

coppice and woodcrafts. Limited training and income opportunities for new practitioners  

- Lack of available ecological expertise to advise land managers on designing and delivering 

conservation projects as part of Agri-environment scheme commitments  

- Investment required to establish local supply chains and associated costs of marketing and 

developing retail premises 

 

  
 

  

S8 Farming, Forestry & Rural Land Use 

Outcomes 

1) Viable high nature value farming and forestry delivering a wide range of 

public benefits including the storage and sequestration of carbon, 

conservation and enhancement of habitats, species and natural beauty 

2) Truly sustainable farming, forestry and fisheries management producing 

high quality products with short supply chains 

 

 

Annual Hedgelaying competition, 

Coldwell Parrock 

Page 74



65 

Indicators of success 

- Protected Landscapes Targets and Outcomes Framework (PLTOF) Targets 1-8 

- Uptake and coverage of Agri-Environment Schemes (AES), management options and capital 

works by type 

- Uptake and coverage of Farming in Protected Landscapes (FiPL) 

- Total value of AES and FiPL within the landscape 

- DEFRA June farm survey results  

- Number of farm and land management events 

- Total area under Conservation Grazing management  

Key Partners 

- Landowners and managers 

- Farmers, foresters, land agents and agricultural and forestry contractors 

- Natural England 

- Forestry England & Forestry Commission 

- Northwestern Inshore Fisheries and Conservation Authority 

- Commercial fishers, recreational anglers and angling clubs 

- DEFRA 

- National Farmers Union (NFU) 

- Sustainable farming organisations such as Pastures4Life 

- Deer stalkers and gamebird managers 

- Environmental NGOs including National Trust, RSPB, The Wildlife Trusts etc. 

 

  
 

8c – Farming in Protected Landscapes 

Farming in Protected Landscapes is a programme funded by Department for Environment, Food & 

Rural Affairs (Defra) as part of their Agricultural Transition Plan, which aims to move farmers away 

from subsidy funding based on the area of land farmed, and towards rewarding them for delivery 

of public goods.  

As of March 2025, over 150ha of land has been supported through FiPL projects within the 

National Landscape. These projects have planted over 2000 trees and 4500m of hedgerows, 

restoration of 500m of existing hedgerow and restoration of over 200m of dry-stone walls as well 

as providing 3000m of path improvements and over 50 educational visits, workshops, talks and 

events. 

 

Page 75



66 

Farming, Forestry & Rural Land Use Actions 

8a Provide bespoke advice and support to landowners and managers on land management 

practices which conserve and enhance the landscape and natural and cultural heritage of the 

area through a range of mechanisms e.g. habitat and species monitoring, woodland/site 

management plans, felling licences, Agri-Environment Scheme (AES) agreements etc. 

 

8b Ensure at least 80% of farmers and land managers adopt nature friendly farming practices on at 

least 15% of their land.  

 

8c Deliver the Farming in Protected Landscapes (FiPL) programme, supporting projects which: 

- Support nature recovery 

- Mitigate the impacts of climate change 

- Provide opportunities for people to discover, enjoy and understand the landscape and 

its cultural heritage 

- Protect or improve the quality and character of the landscape or place.  

 

8d Support the National Landscape Farming and Land Management Group, provide information, 

share expertise and explore further development of farm ‘clusters’ to deliver nature-based 

projects.  

  

8e Support development of relevant skills and expertise within the farming, forestry and land 

management sector, collaborating with existing networks to provide information, knowledge 

sharing, training and events tailored to the landscape. Promote innovation and use of new 

technologies that may improve the sustainability and viability of land use operations. 

 

 

   
 

8b – Nature Friendly farming 

Nature friendly farming is centred on the principles of a sustainable food production model based 

on healthy soils, clean water and abundant biodiversity.  

The Nature Friendly Farming Network (NFFM) champions innovative approaches to farming, 

combining traditional techniques alongside new technology to reduce impacts, increase efficiency 

and diversify farming operations.  

Home | Nature Friendly Farming Network, NFFN (External link) 

 

Page 76

https://www.nffn.org.uk/


67 

8f Support and implement Catchment Sensitive Farming (CSF) initiatives to tackle agricultural 

diffuse and point source pollution across the landscape.  

 

8g Improve climate change resilience of farm businesses to adapt to expected drier summers, 

wetter winters and higher frequency of storms. Support the transition to systems of ‘wetter’ 

farming on low-lying, reclaimed farmland and farmland over peat soils where inundation risk is 

highest. 

 

8h Support opportunities for creating and developing the next generation of land managers 

through work placements, apprenticeships, internships and skills training opportunities.  

 

8i Support sustainable small scale artisanal fisheries and recreational sea angling. Ensure fisheries 

activities are not detrimentally affecting the network of environmentally designated sites or 

the special qualities of the landscape/seascape. 

  

8j Support development and diversification of rural economy with products produced through 

the conservation of habitats, species and landscape e.g. biochar and woodcraft products from 

under-managed woodlands, local venison supply chains as part of deer management etc.  

 

8k Protect and restore healthy soils on farmed land. Encourage the development and delivery of 

soil restoration plans for farmed land. 

 

8l Support measures to protect soil carbon by raising water levels on low-lying, reclaimed 

farmland and farmland over peat soils. Encourage update of Agri-Environment Scheme (AES) 

options which raise water levels in peat soils.  

 

8m Support development of a viable conservation grazing model that provides sustainable 

conservation grazing services to nature reserves and high nature value farmland within the 

landscape.  

 

8n Safeguard local genetic progeny of heritage livestock breeds. Encourage uptake of and support 

applications using relevant Heritage Breeds at Risk (HBAR) management actions within Agri-

Environment Schemes (AES).  

 

8o Ensure compliance with relevant gamebird release general licence (GL4317) in relation to 

gamebird release within buffer zones of Special Areas of Conservation (SACs). Encourage 

sustainable gamebird management practices18 within the landscape and explore opportunities 

for biodiversity improvements as part of gamebird management. 

 

 

 
17 GL43: licence to release common pheasants or red-legged partridges 
18 Sustainable gamebird releasing - Game and Wildlife Conservation Trust 

8i – Hand gathered shellfisheries 

Morecambe Bay has a long history and tradition of hand-gathered shellfisheries. Operating at low 

tide, gatherers travel far out onto the sands to fish for cockles. The cockle fishery is seasonal, and 

gatherers often spend the rest of the year shrimping or harvesting mussel from the cobble skears 

in the outer bay. Fisheries in the area are managed by NW-IFCA under bylaw with a flexible permit 

scheme, strict controls are in place to ensure the fishery is sustainable and that sufficient shellfish 

are available for molluscivorous wintering waders and ducks such as Oystercatcher, Knot and Eider.  

 

Page 77

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/gamebirds-licence-to-release-common-pheasants-or-red-legged-partridges-on-certain-european-sites-or-within-500m-of-their-boundary-gl43/gl43-licence-to-release-common-pheasants-or-red-legged-partridges-on-certain-european-sites
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/gamebirds-licence-to-release-common-pheasants-or-red-legged-partridges-on-certain-european-sites-or-within-500m-of-their-boundary-gl43/gl43-licence-to-release-common-pheasants-or-red-legged-partridges-on-certain-european-sites
https://www.gwct.org.uk/advisory/guides/sustainable-gamebird-releasing/#:~:text=Sustainable%20gamebird%20management%20is%20based%20on%20minimising%20biodiversity,gamebirds%20underpin%20most%20lowland%20game%20shooting%20in%20Britain.


68 

 

 

 

 

 

8j - Biochar 

Biochar is a supplementary product of charcoal production, created by pyrolysis of brash-wood 

from coppice management. Pyrolysis involves burning the brash in the absence of oxygen, a form 

of thermal decomposition.  

The end product is a fine grained, porous, absorbent and carbon-rich material used mainly as a soil 

improver but may have other applications in carbon sequestration, manufacturing and livestock 

feeds. 

 

8l – Conservation Grazing 

Conservation grazing has been a vital part of managing Nature Reserves across the landscape for 

decades. The practice mimics a naturalistic system in which large herbivores would intermittently 

graze over large areas. This type of extensive grazing by hardy traditional breeds of cattle creates 

optimal conditions to maintain and enhance the range of limestone grassland, scrub, woodland 

and wetland habitats present.  

Conservation grazing practices have been pioneered in Arnside & Silverdale, the methodology and 

results have been widely shared across the conservation sector. Use of no-fence collars to target 

grazing pressure at fine scale have been used on sites like Warton Crag to manage the mosaic of 

grassland, scrub and bracken for scare species of fritillary butterflies.  

 

Conservation Grazing herd, 

Gaitbarrows NNR 

Page 78



69 

 

Dynamic and successful partnership working is critical to enable delivery of the National Landscape 

Management Plan and to create a strong and resilient National Landscape Partnership. The National 

Landscape Team plays an essential role in this process: providing management and leadership; making 

things happen on the ground, translating vision and national policy into local action; stimulating 

collaboration and providing value for money by facilitating access to funding and resources.  

The primary purpose of designation is to conserve and enhance the natural beauty of the landscape. In 

pursuing the primary purpose account should be taken of the needs of agriculture, forestry, other rural 

industries and of the economic and social needs of local communities. Particular regard should be paid 

to promoting sustainable forms of social and economic development that in themselves conserve and 

enhance the environment. Recreation is not an objective of designation but the demand for recreation 

should be met so far as this is consistent with the conservation of natural beauty and the needs of 

agriculture, forestry and other uses. 

(Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty: A policy statement (Countryside Commission, CCP 356, 1991), page 5)  

The delivery of the primary purpose by the National Landscape partnership needs a clear, effective 

framework in which to function. 

 

 

 

S9 Governance & Ways of Working 

Facilitate and support a clear, effective framework for achieving the 

National Landscape statutory purpose 

 

Farmer and Land 

Manager Workshop 

Page 79



70 

 

Drivers for Change 

- New duty on relevant authorities to ‘seek to further’ the purpose of designated landscapes 

- Stretched resources within public bodies and environmental NGO partners emphasises the 

need for collaboration. Shared resources and responsibilities, especially in project delivery 

spreads the obligation to deliver and can achieve better outcomes 

- New opportunities to formalise existing partnerships and collaborative approaches to 

management through initiatives such as Landscape Recovery projects and the proposed 

creation of an Arnside & Silverdale National Nature Reserve 

- Changing audiences and ways of engaging has changed the presence and visibility of National 

Landscapes and National Parks within society. There is a need to establish the new National 

Landscape brand both nationally and locally  

- Recognition of the value and benefits that landscapes offer has developed, in particular the 

health and wellbeing value of improved access to the landscape. New partnerships and 

collaborations could help realise these benefits more widely  

Indicators of Success 

- Number of volunteer days supported in the Landscape, either directly by the NL Team or within 

partnership organisations National Trust, RSPB etc.  

- Number of research projects supported that contribute towards improved understanding of 

the Landscape and its special qualities  

Key Partners 

- Local authorities 

- Parish councils 

- Volunteers 

- Members of the Arnside & Silverdale National Landscape Executive Committee 

- Local Community Groups and Community Interest Companies  

- Environmental NGOs including National Trust, RSPB, The Wildlife Trusts etc. 

- Local schools, universities and academic institutions 

S9 Governance & Ways of Working 

Outcomes 

1) A coordinated approach to conservation and enhancement of the 

landscape, its natural beauty and special qualities 

2) Respectful, collaborative relationships between partnership 

organisations, landowners/managers, businesses, communities and 

individuals  

3) Open, transparent communication of the National Landscape 

Partnership’s work and opportunity for communities, residents and 

visitors to engage constructively in major decision making   

4) A unique and beautiful area where landscape and seascape character 

and the areas special qualities are well understood, valued, conserved 

and enhanced 

 

 

Page 80



71 

Governance & Ways of Working Actions 

9a Ensure relevant authorities, in exercising their functions seek to further the purpose of the 

National Landscape. 

  

9b Operate and fund a joint National Landscape Partnership bringing together local authorities, 

parish councils, stakeholders and representatives to take a co-ordinated, landscape scale 

approach to the conservation and enhancement of the National Landscape. 

  

9c Actively engage, contribute and collaborate in partnerships, groups and networks relevant to the 

landscape, both locally and nationally. Recognise the wide-reaching value of landscape with 

involvement and collaboration in environmental, historical, cultural, social, transport, health and 

wellbeing groups and networks. 

  

 

9d Support, champion and build capacity of community led organisations which directly support 

the conservation and enhancement of the landscape such as the Arnside & Silverdale Landscape 

Trust and Bittern Countryside Community Interest Company (CIC). 

 

9e Actively support volunteering within the landscape, ensure volunteering opportunities are 

available to people of all ages and abilities and recognise volunteering for its value to individual 

health and wellbeing.  

  

9f Engage and collaborate with statutory agencies, partners, stakeholders and communities in 

major decision making, plan making and consultation on matters that may affect the National 

Landscape. 

  

9g Continue to develop and practice a clear and consistent approach to communications and the 

provision of information for residents, communities and visitors about relevant work within the 

National Landscape. 

 

9h Support and collaborate with academic institutions, local special interest groups and skilled 

individuals engaged in the study and research of the natural, historic and social heritage of the 

National Landscape.  

  

9i Practice a multi-objective approach to planning and project design.  

 

9j Support and facilitate closer working and collaboration between conservation organisations 

operating within the landscape. Develop proposals for the creation of an Arnside and Silverdale 

National Nature Reserve. 

 

9a – S85 Duty 

The 2023 Levelling-up and Regeneration Act introduces important amendments to the 

Countryside and Rights of Way Act (CRoW), replacing and strengthening the section 85 duty on 

public bodies and statutory undertakers ‘to have regard to’ with ‘to seek to further the purpose of’ 

in reference to the s85 (1A) duty to ‘conserving and enhancing the natural beauty of the area. 

National Landscapes - Guidance for Local Planning Authorities: CRoW s.85 duty to 'seek to further the purposes'. 

(External link) 

 

Page 81

https://national-landscapes.org.uk/guidance-for-local-planning-authorities-on-crow-s-85-duty


72 

 

 

 

 

9b – The National Landscape Partnership 

As part of their statutory duties, the three responsible local authorities operate and manage a 

National Landscape Partnership, which aims to conserve, enhance and connect people to the area 

and is made up of the local authorities, statutory agencies, landowners, conservation 

organisations, local communities and interest groups, working together. Each partner nominates a 

representative to sit on the formal Executive Committee.   

A staff team is employed on behalf of the Partnership by Lancaster City Council, as host authority, 

to prepare and drive the implementation of the joint statutory Management Plan. 

 

9d – The Landscape Trust 

The Arnside & Silverdale Landscape Trust is a registered charity dedicated to conserving and 

enhancing the natural landscape of the designation and raising awareness of it. The Landscape 

Trust has almost 1000 members and is run entirely by volunteers.  

The Landscape Trust’s work spans the full breadth of landscape conservation, owning a network 

of small nature reserves, leading on conservation projects, running and supporting an extensive 

and varied events calendar and producing a range of books, leaflets and maps including the journal 

‘Keer to Kent’ with three editions each year. 

 

A&SNL volunteer litter pick, 

Carnforth Slag Tips 

Page 82



73 

 

A sustainable long-term approach is needed to secure funding for landscape conservation moving 

forward. The scale of investment required to meet national biodiversity and climate goals is significant 

and the funding provided by DEFRA is only a proportion of what will be needed.  

A short and medium-term focus on established funding mechanisms, including charitable grant 

funding and Agri-Environment Schemes for farmers, foresters and land managers will sit alongside 

exploring the new and innovative financing opportunities as they develop further. Involvement in 

partnerships that allow the Arnside and Silverdale area to be part of larger initiatives, such as Nature 

North and The National Landscape’s ‘Your Natural Partner’ programme is likely to attract greater levels 

of investment for the landscape in the future.   

Wider socio-economic conditions are making access to the landscape more difficult for some visitors. 

Basic costs associated with travel, activities and provision of facilities for visitors have risen. 

Disposable incomes have fallen with subsequent impacts on tourism and hospitality businesses in the 

area. There are significant and multiple benefits to health and well-being from the landscape, ensuring 

that people can still access these benefits requires ongoing support, both in terms of staff resource 

and direct funding.  

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

S10 Funding and Finance 

Increase capacity and resources for conserving and enhancing the 

landscape, and for connecting people to it. Explore new and emerging 

funding opportunities for the conservation of landscape and seascape 

National Landscapes staff 

site visit to Warton Crag LNR 

Page 83



74 

 

Drivers for Change 

- Increases in actual costs due to inflation. The funding required to maintain landscape assets in 

their current condition has increased in real terms 

- Socio-economic pressures and rising poverty have made access to the landscape more 

difficult, particularly for harder-to-reach audiences. Reductions in budgets for Environmental 

NGO partners, leading to less investment by charitable organisations which manage land for 

conservation  

- Changes to charitable grants and funding streams and increased competition for the funds 

available  

- New opportunities becoming available through new schemes and programmes.  

- Changes in Agri-Environment Scheme funding and the de-linking of agricultural subsidy 

payments with a move to a ‘public funds for public goods’ model. Developments in Biodiversity 

Net Gain (BNG) policy and opportunities to deliver wildlife conservation and habitat creation 

through the planning system  

- Green finance in its current form is focused on restoration of poor-quality wildlife habitat and 

does not fund the conservation of existing good quality habitat  

Indicators of Success 

- Amount of funding secured, either directly or indirectly by the wider partnership to fund work 

that contributes towards the conservation and enhancement of the landscape 

- Number of projects supported by the National Landscape Small Grants Fund  

Key Partners 

- Charitable funding organisations e.g. National Lottery 

- Local authorities – Lancaster City Council, Westmorland & Furness Council, Lancashire County 

Council 

- Parish councils 

- Environmental NGOs including National Trust, RSPB, The Wildlife Trusts etc. 

- Natural England 

- National Landscapes Association 

- Morecambe Bay Partnership  

- Arnside & Silverdale Landscape Trust 

 

S10 Funding & Finance 

Outcomes 

1) Long term security of sufficient funding for conserving and enhancing 

the landscape 

2) Increased staff resource and capacity within the National Landscape 

Partnership and partnership organisations  

 

Page 84



75 

Finance and Funding Actions 

10a Increase capacity within the National Landscape Partnership to include a dedicated finance and 

funding role, aimed at exploring innovative blue and green finance options, including larger scale, 

longer term bid funding if feasible. 

  

10b Effectively utilise and contribute to existing green finance networks and forums such as the 

National Landscapes Association ‘Your Natural Partner’ service and Nature North’s investable 

propositions project pipeline.  

  

10c Invest in and support the adoption of new sustainable technology, equipment and infrastructure 

to increase efficiency, reduce costs and reduce and mitigate the effects of climate change.  

 

10d Advise and support local communities, organisations and businesses to engage with and access 

relevant rural development and funding programmes. 

  

10e Support, facilitate and, if appropriate, lead on the development of funding bids that contribute 

towards the purpose of the designation. Seek funding through established funding bodies, 

focusing on those tailored towards National Landscapes and National Parks e.g. NLHF 

Landscape Connections, Landscape Recovery. 

  

10f Explore opportunities to further develop income through individual gifting schemes including 

targeted donations, crowd funding and sponsorship schemes. 

  

10g Administrate and deliver the Arnside & Silverdale National Landscape Grants Fund in 

partnership with the Arnside & Silverdale Landscape Trust. 

 

 

 

 

10b – National Landscapes Association ‘Your Natural Partner’ programme 

Your Natural Partner is the National Landscapes Association’s online showcase of nature recovery 

and social responsibility projects ready for corporate sponsorship or partnership. The Association 

brings together 46 National Landscapes spanning England and Wales to offer varied and scalable 

projects to meet the changing needs of nature, people and business. 

Your Natural Partner | Home.(External Link) 

Nature North  

Nature North is a partnership of statutory agencies, funding bodies, Environmental NGOs and 

others tasked with developing a strategic plan and large-scale conservation projects for a ‘Nature 

Positive Regional Economy’. Large scale multi-organisation projects so far include The Northern 

Forest and The Great North Bog. The partnership is currently working on a portfolio of investable 

projects for coasts and estuaries across Northern England. 

Home - Nature North (External Link) 

 

Page 85

https://www.yournaturalpartner.org.uk/
https://www.naturenorth.org.uk/


76 

Key Policy 

Protected Landscapes Targets and Outcomes Framework 

In this context, Protected Landscapes refers to National Landscapes and National Parks.  

The Protected Landscapes Targets and Outcomes Framework (PLTOF)19 are split into 3 themes, each 

with a series of associated targets and reportable indicators:  

- Thriving plants and wildlife 

- Mitigating and adapting to climate change  

- Enhancing Beauty, heritage and engagement with the natural environment 

Thriving Plants and Wildlife 

Target 1 - Restore or create more than 250,000 hectares of a range of wildlife-rich habitats within 

Protected Landscapes, outside protected sites by 2042 (from a 2022 baseline).  

NB. the 250k ha total will be split across the whole Protected Landscape network with the target 

hectarage for Arnside and Silverdale being a proportion of this, related to total area and existing area of 

priority habitats.  

Target 2 - Bring 80% of SSSIs within Protected Landscapes into favourable condition by 2042.   

Target 3 - For 60% of SSSIs within Protected Landscapes assessed as having ‘actions on track’ to 

achieve favourable condition by 31 January 2028.    

Target 4 - Continuing favourable management of all existing priority habitat already in favourable 

condition outside of SSSIs (from a 2022 baseline) and increasing to include all newly restored or 

created habitat through agri-environment schemes by 2042.   

Target 5 - Ensuring at least 65% to 80% of land managers adopt nature friendly farming on at least 

10% to 15% of their land by 2030.  

 

The following indicators will measure progress on the ‘thriving plants and wildlife’ targets:   

• The extent of wildlife rich habitat created or restored within Protected Landscapes, outside of 

protected sites   

• percentage of SSSIs within Protected Landscapes in favourable condition    

• percentage of SSSIs within Protected Landscapes assessed as having ‘actions on track’ to 

achieve favourable condition    

• extent of priority habitat within Protected Landscapes, outside of protected sites, in favourable 

management through agri-environment schemes   

• percentage of land managers adopting nature-friendly farming on a percentage of their land  

 

Mitigating and Adapting to Climate Change 

Target 6 - Reduce net greenhouse gas emissions in Protected Landscapes to net zero by 2050 relative 

to 1990 levels.  

Target 7 - Restore approximately 130,000 hectares of peat in Protected Landscapes by 2050.    

Target 8 - Increase tree canopy and woodland cover (combined) by 3% of total land area in Protected 

Landscapes by 2050 (from 2022 baseline).  

 

The following indicators will measure progress on the ‘mitigating and adapting to climate change’ 

targets:   

 
19 Protected Landscapes Targets and Outcomes Framework - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

Page 86

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/protected-landscapes-targets-and-outcomes-framework/protected-landscapes-targets-and-outcomes-framework


77 

• the level of greenhouse gas emissions within Protected Landscapes   

• extent of peat under restoration in Protected Landscapes   

• extent of tree canopy and woodland cover in Protected Landscapes  

Enhancing Beauty, heritage and engagement with the natural environment 

Target 9 - Improve and promote accessibility to and engagement with Protected Landscapes for all 

using existing metrics in our Access for All programme.    

Target 10 - Decrease the number of nationally designated heritage assets at risk in Protected 

Landscapes.  

 

The following indicators will measure progress on the ‘enhancing beauty, heritage and 

engagement’ targets:  

• improve and promote accessibility to and engagement with Protected Landscapes for all using 

existing metrics in our Access for All programme:    

• metres of accessible path as a percentage of total path   

• number of accessible toilets and rest stops   

• number of disability accessible parking spaces   

• number of accessible gates and gaps   

• number of visits and volunteer days facilitated by new equipment   

• number of schools engaged (primary and secondary) both inside and outside the Protected 

Landscape boundary   

• number of volunteer days   

• number of accessible or easy access routes for which wayfinding has been created or 

improved    

• policies in place to ensure Protected Landscapes are taking positive action to widen the 

diversity of their staff, boards and volunteers  

• number and percentage of nationally designated heritage assets in Protected Landscapes to be 

deemed at risk. To separately cover the categories of:    

• scheduled monuments    

• registered parks and gardens    

• registered battlefields    

• listed buildings (grade I or II*)   

• protected wreck sites  

 

 

   
 

Swift 

Hemp Agrimony 

Page 87



78 

International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN) 

The IUCN recognises UK National Landscapes as ‘Category V (5) Protected landscapes / seascapes’, 

defined as protected areas mainly managed for landscape and seascape conservation and recreation.  

The IUCN sets out 12 principles for management of these category V (5) areas;20 

Principle 1: Conserving landscape, biodiversity and cultural values are at the heart of the Category V 

protected area approach. 

Principle 2: The focus of management should be on the point of interaction between people and 

nature. 

Principle 3: People should be seen as stewards of the landscape. 

Principle 4: Management must be undertaken with and through local people, and mainly for and by 

them. 

Principle 5: Management should be based on co-operative approaches, such as co-management and 

multi-stakeholder equity. 

Principle 6: Effective management requires a supportive political and economic environment. 

Principle 7: Management of Category V protected areas should not only be concerned with protection 

but also enhancement. 

Principle 8: When there is an irreconcilable conflict between the objectives of management, priority 

should be given to retaining the special qualities of the area. 

Principle 9: Economic activities that do not need to take place within the Protected Landscape should 

be located outside it. 

Principle 10: Management should be business-like and of the highest professional standard. 

Principle 11: Management should be flexible and adaptive. 

Principle 12: The success of management should be measured in environmental and social terms. 

 

   
 

 
20 Management guidelines for IUCN category V protected areas : protected landscapes/seascapes | IUCN Library System 

Green Hairstreak Wood Anemone 

Page 88

https://portals.iucn.org/library/node/8170


79 

National Planning Policy Framework 2024 

The National Planning Policy framework (NPPF) Sets out Government planning policy and how policy 

should be applied.  

Areas most relevant to the landscape are: 

(189) Great weight should be given to conserving and enhancing landscape and scenic beauty in 

National Parks, the Broads and National Landscapes which have the highest status of protection in 

relation to these issues. The conservation and enhancement of wildlife and cultural heritage are also 

important considerations in these areas, and should be given great weight in National Parks and the 

Broads. The scale and extent of development within all these designated areas should be limited, while 

development within their setting should be sensitively located and designed to avoid or minimise 

adverse impacts on the designated areas. 

(190) When considering applications for development within National Parks, the Broads and National 

Landscapes, permission should be refused for major development other than in exceptional 

circumstances, and where it can be demonstrated that the development is in the public interest. 

Consideration of such applications should include an assessment of:  

a) the need for the development, including in terms of any national considerations, and the impact 

of permitting it, or refusing it, upon the local economy;  

b) the cost of, and scope for, developing outside the designated area, or meeting the need for it in 

some other way; and  

c) any detrimental effect on the environment, the landscape and recreational opportunities, and 

the extent to which that could be moderated. 

 

(192) To protect and enhance biodiversity and geodiversity, plans should:  

a) Identify, map and safeguard components of local wildlife-rich habitats and wider ecological 

networks, including the hierarchy of international, national and locally designated sites of 

importance for biodiversity68; wildlife corridors and stepping stones that connect them; and 

areas identified by national and local partnerships for habitat management, enhancement, 

restoration or creation; and  

b) promote the conservation, restoration and enhancement of priority habitats, ecological 

networks and the protection and recovery of priority species; and identify and pursue 

opportunities for securing measurable net gains for biodiversity. 

 

(193) When determining planning applications, local planning authorities should apply the following 

principles:  

a) if significant harm to biodiversity resulting from a development cannot be avoided (through 

locating on an alternative site with less harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last 

resort, compensated for, then planning permission should be refused;  

b) development on land within or outside a Site of Special Scientific Interest, and which is likely to 

have an adverse effect on it (either individually or in combination with other developments), 

should not normally be permitted. The only exception is where the benefits of the development 

in the location proposed clearly outweigh both its likely impact on the features of the site that 

make it of special scientific interest, and any broader impacts on the national network of Sites of 

Special Scientific Interest;  

Page 89



80 

c) development resulting in the loss or deterioration of irreplaceable habitats (such as ancient 

woodland and ancient or veteran trees) should be refused, unless there are wholly exceptional 

reasons70 and a suitable compensation strategy exists; and  

d) development whose primary objective is to conserve or enhance biodiversity should be 

supported; while opportunities to improve biodiversity in and around developments should be 

integrated as part of their design, especially where this can secure measurable net gains for 

biodiversity or enhance public access to nature where this is appropriate. 

 

 

 

 

Dallam Tower 

Deer Park 

Page 90



81 

Plan Monitoring 

The requirement to monitor against outcomes in integrated into each 5-year Plan. The ‘State of the 

National Landscape’ Report is the primary output of this monitoring and details performance against 

the indicators of success listed against each strategic objective.  

Reportable Indicators against Strategic Objectives 

Strategic 

Objective 

Indicators Mechanism Period 

S1 Landscape & 

Seascape 

Sky Quality Monitoring 

(SQM) surveys 

 

Point survey using SQM meter Every 3 years 

Number of projects 

delivered with the 

potential to mitigate or 

adapt to Climate Change 

 

Total number of projects with 

climate mitigation/adaptation 

potential including suitable habitat 

creation, emissions reduction or 

engagement initiatives 

  

Whole plan 

National Landscape 

Climate Change 

Adaptation Plan 

developed and adopted 

 

Development and adoption of 

Climate Change Adaptation Plan 

By 2028 

S2 Geodiversity Condition of Geological 

SSSIs 

 

SSSI condition monitoring 

undertaken by Natural England 

Every 6 years 

(varies by site) 

Condition of Local 

Geological Sites (LGS) 

LGS monitoring undertaken by 

Cumbria Geoconservation and/or 

GeoLancashire with support from 

Local Authority 

 

Every 6 years 

(varies by site) 

Development and 

adoption of a Local 

Geodiversity Action Plan 

 

Local Geodiversity Action Plan 

produced and adopted 

End of Plan 

period 

S3 Biodiversity Protected Landscape 

Targets and Outcomes 

Framework. Targets 1–8. 

 

See indicators listed in PLTOF 

section 

2030 

Positive results of the 

various ongoing 

biodiversity monitoring 

programmes specified 

within the Nature 

Recovery Plan 

 

See indicators listed within Nature 

Recovery plan monitoring section 

2030 

Relevant Lancashire and 

Cumbria Local Nature 

Recovery Strategy 

(LNRS) indicators 

LNRS indicators monitored by 

respective local authorities  

Every 5 years 

Page 91



82 

Strategic 

Objective 

Indicators Mechanism Period 

S4 Historic & 

Cultural Heritage 

Protected Landscape 

Targets and Outcomes 

Framework. Target 10 

 

See indicators listed in PLTOF 

section 

Whole Plan 

Number and condition of 

scheduled monuments 

and designated heritage 

assets 

 

Historic England Monitoring 

programme 

Varies by asset 

Number of non-

designated heritage 

assets (NHDA’s) 

 

Review and updates to Local 

Heritage Lists by relevant Local 

Authority Conservation Teams 

Varies  

Condition of 

Conservation Areas 

 

Review and updates to 

Conservation Area Appraisals by 

relevant Local Authority 

Conservation Teams 

 

Varies  

Number of Listed 

Building Consent 

applications/permissions 

 

Development Management 

reporting based on application 

type and outcome 

Whole Plan 

Extent of Historic 

Environment Record 

(HER) 

 

Review of HER data supplied by 

relevant County Data Centres 

Whole Plan 

Number/extent of Agri-

environment (AES) land 

management options 

targeting the historic 

environment 

 

Review of AES options in place and 

extent of options, complied by 

Natural England/Rural Payments 

Agency as part of Open Gov 

licence 

Whole Plan 

S5 Access, 

Enjoyment & 

Wellbeing 

Protected Landscapes 

Targets and Outcomes 

Framework (PLTOF) 

Target 9 

 

See indicators listed in PLTOF 

section 

2030 

Total length and 

condition of Public Rights 

of Way (PROW) network 

 

Review of PROW monitoring by 

relevant Local Authority Access 

Teams 

Whole Plan 

Website traffic 

 

Reported metrics from National 

Landscape Website host 

 

Annually 

Social media 

engagement 

 

Reported metrics from active 

National Landscape Social media 

platforms 

 

Annually 

Page 92



83 

Strategic 

Objective 

Indicators Mechanism Period 

S5 Access, 

Enjoyment & 

Wellbeing 

(continued) 

Number of Landscape-

related School sessions 

 

School sessions reporting and 

feedback from school visits 

Annually 

Number of public events Public events reporting, either 

directly or indirectly though 

partners such as The Landscape 

Trust 

Annually 

S6 Sustainable 

Economy, 

Tourism & 

Transport 

Visitor numbers at key 

attractions in the 

landscape 

 

Visitor numbers reporting from key 

attractions (ticket sales etc.) 

Annually 

Number and type of local 

services available 

 

Review of local services including 

Schools, Libraries, Grocery retail, 

Healthcare, Public Transport etc. 

 

Whole Plan 

Outcomes of the 

Silverdale Sustainable 

Transport Study 

 

Review of published study Whole Plan 

Number of tourism 

businesses operating 

 

Relevant local authority business 

reporting, Outcome of National 

Landscape Visitor Research (6d) 

Whole Plan 

Number and type of 

visitor accommodation 

operating in the 

landscape 

 

Relevant local authority business 

reporting, Outcome of National 

Landscape Visitor Research (6d) 

Whole Plan 

S7 Planning & 

Place Making 

Number of development 

management cases that 

make a positive 

contribution to the 

landscape 

 

Development management 

reporting based on application 

type and outcome 

Whole Plan 

Number (and proportion) 

of affordable housing 

permitted and built 

 

Development management 

reporting based on application 

type and outcome 

Whole Plan 

Number of static 

caravans, lodges, chalets 

and touring pitches 

 

Relevant local authority business 

reporting, Outcome of National 

Landscape visitor research (6d) 

Whole Plan 

Total distance of 

cables/wires 

undergrounded 

Electricity Northwest 

Undergrounding for Visual Amenity 

(UVA) project reporting 

 

Whole Plan 

 

Page 93



84 

Strategic 

Objective 

Indicators Mechanism Period 

S8 Farming, 

Forestry & Rural 

Land Use 

Protected Landscapes 

Targets and Outcomes 

Framework (PLTOF) 

Target 1-8 

 

See indicators listed in PLTOF 

section 

2030 

Uptake and coverage of 

Agri-Environment 

Schemes (AES), 

management options 

and capital works by 

type. 

 

Review of AES options in place and 

extent of options, compiled by 

Natural England/Rural Payments 

Agency as part of Open Gov 

licence 

Whole Plan 

Uptake and coverage of 

Farming in Protected 

Landscapes (FiPL) 

 

FiPL programme reporting 2025 – 2026  

Total value of AES and 

FiPL within the landscape 

 

Review of AES options in place and 

extent of options, complied by 

Natural England/Rural Payments 

Agency as part of Open Gov 

licence 

 

Whole Plan 

Number/type of livestock 

and land use  

 

DEFRA June Farm survey results Whole Plan 

Number of people 

employed within 

Agriculture.  

 

DEFRA June Farm survey results Whole Plan 

Number of farm and land 

management events 

 

FiPL programme reporting, direct 

reporting from partners such as 

NFU, Pastures4Life etc. 

 

Annually 

Total area under 

Conservation Grazing 

management 

 

Direct reporting from conservation 

graziers and Environmental NGO’s 

practicing conservation grazing 

management 

 

Whole Plan 

S9 Governance & 

Ways of Working 

Number of volunteer 

days supported in the 

landscape, either directly 

by the NL Team or within 

partnership 

organisations National 

Trust, RSPB etc.  

 

Volunteer activity reporting Annually 

Page 94



85 

Strategic 

Objective 

Indicators Mechanism Period 

S9 Governance & 

Ways of Working 

(continued) 

Number of research 

projects supported that 

contribute towards 

improved understanding 

of the landscape and its 

special qualities.  

 

Direct reports from educational 

institutions, review number of 

published/submitted research 

projects and papers  

Whole Plan 

S10 Funding & 

Finance 

Amount of funding 

secured, either directly 

or indirectly by the wider 

partnership to fund work 

that contributes towards 

the conservation and 

enhancement of the 

landscape. 

 

Partnership headline budget 

reporting, specific budget 

reporting related to large 

grants/charitable bid funding 

Annually 

Number of projects 

supported by the 

National Landscape 

Small Grants Fund.  

 

Small Grants Fund reporting Annually 

 

 

 

 

 

View of Morecambe 

Bay from shore at 

Jack Scout, 

Silverdale 

Page 95



86 

Supporting Documents 

Arnside & Silverdale State of The National Landscape Report 2024 

Arnside & Silverdale Nature Recovery Plan 2025 

Arnside & Silverdale Special Qualities Report 2025 

Arnside & Silverdale AONB Development Plan Document (DPD) 2019 

National Landscape Management Plan Strategic Environment Appraisal (SEA) 

National Landscape Management Plan Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) 

National Landscape Management Plan Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) 

2019-2024 Management Plan Policy and Actions Review 

2026-2031 Management Plan Public Engagement and Stakeholder Consultation reports 

Arnside & Silverdale AONB Landscape and Seascape Character Assessment 2015 

Lancashire Local Nature Recovery Strategy (2026) 

Cumbria Local Nature Recovery Strategy (2025) 

 

Key legislation & Policy (links) 

Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 

Levelling-up and Regeneration Act 2023 

Protected Landscapes Targets and Outcomes Framework  - GOV.UK 

Environment Act 2021 

Environmental Improvement Plan (EIP) 2025 - GOV.UK 

Countryside Act 1968 

Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 

Marine and Coastal Access Act 2009 

Flood and Water Management Act 2010 

Climate Change Act 2008 

Ancient Monuments and Archaeological Areas Act 1979 

The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 

National Planning Policy Framework - GOV.UK 

IUCN 

 

Page 96

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/37/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2023/55/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/protected-landscapes-targets-and-outcomes-framework
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/30/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/environmental-improvement-plan-2025/environmental-improvement-plan-eip-2025#foreword
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1968/41/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/16/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1981/69/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2009/23/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/29/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2008/27/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1979/46/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1012/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://iucn.org/


87 

Photograph & Image Credits 

 Page Credit 

1 Jarrod Sneyd 

2 Jarrod Sneyd 

4 Steve Ripley 

5 Jarrod Sneyd 

6 Jacob Phillips 

8 A&SNL 

9 Steve Ripley 

10 Steve Ripley 

11 Adam Donaldson 

12 Jarrod Sneyd 

13 A&SNL 

14 Feleena Taylor 

15 A&SNL 

16 A&SNL 

17 JL Park Photography 

20 Spencer Ross 

21 John Reaney, Tony Riden 

24 Tony Riden 

25 Jarrod Sneyd 

27 Jarrod Sneyd, A&SNL 

28 Jarrod Sneyd 

29 Jarrod Sneyd 

30 Jarrod Sneyd  

31 Jarrod Sneyd, A&SNL 

32 Jon Sparks 

33 Steve Ripley, Cliff Raby, 

34 A&SNL, Jarrod Sneyd 

35 A&SNL (Map) 

37 Adam Donaldson, Brian Smith, Barry Stacey 

40 Steve Ripley 

41 A&SNL, postcard unknown/uncredited (1920s) 

42 Historic England 

43 Art Image, A&SNL 

44 A&SNL, Feleena Taylor 

46 A&SNL 

48 A&SNL, Anne Wild 

49 Feleena Taylor 

52 Steve Ripley 

53 Bay Photographic 

54 Adam Donaldson 

56 Adam Donaldson, Barry Stacey 

58 Jarrod Sneyd 

59 Art Image 

60 A&SNL 

61 A&SNL 

64 Mike Warren, Jarrod Sneyd 

65 A&SNL, Barry Stacey 

66 A&SNL, Ella Riden 

68 Jarrod Sneyd 

69 A&SNL 

72 A&SNL 

73 A&SNL, Jarrod Sneyd 

77 Jarrod Sneyd 

78 Jarrod Sneyd 

80 Steve Ripley 

85 Jarrod Sneyd 

87 Jarrod Sneyd 

Bullfinch 

Page 97



CABINET  

Budget & Policy Framework 

2026/27 – 2030/31 

10 February 2026 

 
Report of Chief Finance Officer 

 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 
This report sets out the latest position in respect of the budget and policy framework and 
Cabinet’s proposed General Fund revenue budget for 2026/27 
 

Key Decision X Non-Key Decision  Referral from Cabinet 
Member 

 

Date of notice of forthcoming key decision 12th December 2025 

This report is public however the Appendices C1 and C2 are exempt by virtue of paragraphs 
2, 3 & 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION OF COUNCILLOR HAMILTON – COX 

 
That Cabinet recommends the following for approval to Budget Council 25 February 

 

(1) That the General Fund Revenue Budget of £27.373M for 2026/27 be 

approved, resulting in a Council Tax Requirement of £11.931M, excluding 

parish precepts, and a Band D basic City Council Tax rate of £272.20 

 

(2) That the supporting General Fund Revenue Budget proposals be 

 approved, as summarised at Appendices A, C, C1 and C2 

 

(3) That the budget transfer (virements and carry forwards) limits be 

approved as set out in Appendix E 

 

(4) That Cabinet authorises the use of the General Fund Unallocated 
Reserve to fund the £0.831M contribution required to the Lancashire 
Local Government Reorganisation Transition Fund 

 
(5) That Cabinet notes the Section 151 Officer’s advice regarding 

robustness of budget estimates, the adequacy of reserves and balances, 

specifically the advice that the minimum level of balances be retained at 

£5.0M, to provide for added uncertainty 
 

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Under the Constitution, Cabinet has responsibility for developing corporate planning 

proposals and a balanced budget for Council’s consideration. 
 

Page 98Agenda Item 8



1.2  The Council meeting on 28 January 2026 noted an update to Cabinet’s proposed revenue 
budget for 2026/27 and approved a City Council Tax increase of 2.99% together with a year-
on-year target of the maximum allowable under the Government’s local referendum 
thresholds for future years. 

 

1.3 This report sets out: 

• The impact of the reforms made to local government funding include business rates 
(Section 2) 

• Cabinets final General Fund Revenue Budget proposals for 2025/26 including the 
Operational and Strategic context in which the budget has been set (Section 3) 

• A summary of Council Tax as reflected in the Council’s Collection Fund. (Section 4) 

• The of the Council’s Reserves Provision and Balances and s151 Officers assessment 
of their adequacy. (Section 5) 

 
1.4 To provide an executive summary in relation to the above, the following analysis is provided 

which compares the projections considered by Council on 26 February 2025 against the 
latest projections provided for within this report :- 

 
Table 1 – Executive Summary 

 
 
As the table suggests, there is considerable movement within a few areas and these are 
discussed further within the relevant section of the report. 

 
 

2.0  LOCAL GOVERNMENT FUNDING & BUSINESS RATES 
 
 The Local Government Finance Settlement 
2.1 The government released the provisional multi-year local government finance settlement on 

17 December 2025, and the final is expected to be received on 9 February 2026 which is 
after the date this report was published.  No differences between the provisional and final 
settlements are expected, however should there be any, then alterations will be highlighted 
in the report to Budget Council on 25 February 2026. 

 

2.2 The settlement sets out simplified allocations for local authorities across England for the next 
three years, and incorporates an updated distribution of resources following the conclusion 
of the Fair Funding Review.  It incorporates changes to the business rates system and in 
whole, represents a major change in local government financing. 

 
2.3 Given all the changes, the effect of the local government settlement and the changes to the 

business rates system cannot be considered in isolation and the following table illustrates the 

overall financial impact. 

 

 

 

 

 

2026/27

Forecast

£'M

2026/27

Latest

£'M

Difference

Fav/(Adv)

£'M

Report 

Section

Finance Settlement (Final) (14.949) (15.797) 0.848 2

Prior Year Business Rates Surplus 0.000 0.693 (0.693) 2

General Fund Revenue 28.749 27.373 1.376 3

General Fund Revenue Budget Gap 2.633 0.000 2.633 3

Council Tax Income (12.015) (11.931) (0.084) 4

Prior Year Council Tax Surplus 0.000 (0.169) 0.169 4

Page 99



 Table 2 – Settlement allocations for Lancaster City Council 
 

 
 

 As table 2 shows, the settlement allocates £0.848M more resources in 2026/27 with further 

favourable and future years from Central Government than anticipated and this is favourable 

in context of the budget gap for the revenue budget.   

 
 Core Spending Power 
2.4 Core Spending Power (CSP) is a measure used by the Government to set out the resources 

available to a Council to fund service delivery. It combines certain grants payable to the 
Council together with estimates of Business Rates and Council Tax, these estimates are 
based on Government assumptions. CSP is used by the Government to make comparisons 
of the resources available to different Councils. As such, it is not necessarily the actual 
funding a Council will receive to fund service delivery. 

 

 Table 3 below displays the previous historic values of CSP, and shows the Council being 

almost entirely reliant on Council Tax and Business Rates with a small amount of income 

from central government grants to fund net expenditure. 
 
 Table 3: Core Spending Power (previously reported)  

 
 

 
The simplification of the settlement alongside has resulted in an overhaul of the elements 
used to calculate the overall CSP and as such it is difficult to compare the individual elements 
to previous years.  The following table illustrates the new method of calculation for 2026/27 
and the following two years.  
 
 

Page 100



 
 
Table 4: Core Spending Power 

 
 

 Further analysis of the provisional settlement is provided in the following table :- 
 

Table 5: Core Spending Power (Breakdown) 

 
 
2.5 Given the changes made the government issued a revised CSP figure for 2025/26 of 

£23.848M.  The total value of CSP for 2026/27 is £24.862M which is an increase of £1.014M, 
or 4.2%.  For information, this is in comparison to the average CSP for all Councils in England 
of 5.7%. 

 
 Business Rates 
2.6 The Council is required to submit its annual business rates return (NNDR1) to the 

Government by the end of January in which it estimates business rates income for 2026/27 

and the estimated deficit or surplus as at the end of 2025/26. 

 
2.7 The previously announced Government changes will come into effect from 1 April 2026 with 

regard to increasing the number of multipliers and introduction of new thresholds.  Business 
rates baselines have also been reset (incorporating growth). 

 
2.8 Previously, lower tier Council’s had a baseline position and were allowed to retain a 

proportion of any growth received above it.  With the continuation of the power stations the 
Council have always exceeded the baseline position and has benefitted from additional rates 
received.  For information the power stations have been included within the baseline figures. 

 
2.9 This system has now been replaced by the funding reforms and the government have offered 

100% protection on the baseline funding level in 2026/27.  This has allowed for more certainty 
in calculating the proportion of rates due to the Council. 

2026/27 2027/28 2028/29

£'M £'M £'M

Council Tax Requirement 12.051 12.574 13.120

Fair Funding Allocation : Baseline Funding Level 5.165 5.283 5.390

Fair Funding Allocation : Revenue Support Grant 6.031 5.986 5.910

Recovery Grant 0.603 0.603 0.603

Homelessness, Rough Sleeping and Domestic Abuse Grant 1.012 1.050 1.083

Grand Total 24.862 25.496 26.106

Page 101



 
2.10 Members will be aware of decommissioning plans for the Heysham 1 and Heysham 2 nuclear 

reactors which will have a significant impact on the Council’s finances. Currently the rateable 

value of the reactor’s accounts for a substantial proportion of the Council’s total rateable 

value. Central Government operates a “safety net” system to protect those Councils which 

see their year-on-year business rate income fall. 

 

The Council’s exposure is expected that it will inevitably fall into a safety net scenario and 

will need to rely on the Business Rates Retention Reserve (BRRR) to smooth operational 

shortfalls in the short term. This is currently expected to arise in 2028/29 in line with the 

current decommissioning date for Heysham 1 of March 2028.  EDF Energy have indicated 

that there may be some scope to extend generation and are keeping this under review being 

unable to provide any certainty at this stage. 

 

2.11 The Council receives rating income from renewable energy schemes within the district, 
largely in relation to Walney Sub-Station.  Although listed as £3.998M in details of the 
settlement, the revaluations taken place have increased the value of this income to £4.627M 
in 2026/27 (£4.004M for 2025/26).  A majority of the income currently falls outside of the main 
rate retention scheme, and so the Council will continue to retain the full benefit from it.  Whilst 
it is evident that this 100% disregard will continue into 2026/27, there is a risk of appeals plus 
also that the Government may discontinue this advantageous arrangement at some point in 
the future. 

 

2.12 The inherent risk associated with the NNDR1 is that the final outturn surplus or deficit position 
differs substantially from the estimate, and this has indeed been the case at the Council in 
recent years.  Members will recall that the BRRR is used to manage the impact of surpluses 
and deficits and also to manage fluctuations in income levels in order to provide budgetary 
stability and smooth out year on year peaks and troughs.  As part of the 2025/26 budget 
setting process, a contribution of £0.600M (2026/27) and £0.500M (2027/28) from the BRRR 
were included and these contributions have now been removed due to the reduced risk of 
lower levels of rates being received in those financial years. 

 
2.13 The Council is expected to repay prior year deficits to the collection fund account in respect 

of business rates.  This amount is currently valued at £0.693M and is to be funded by the 
BRRR in 2026/27 and therefore have no impact on the council tax requirement calculation in 
2026/27. 

 

 
 
3.0 REVENUE BUDGET 2026/27 
 
3.1 The General Fund Revenue Budget for 2026/27, is included at Appendix A, with detailed 

explanations for variances listed in Appendix B. With regard to Savings & Growth, Service 
summary information given at Appendix C and more detailed proposals in exempt 
Appendices C1&C2. The proposed budget is balanced and as noted above the proposed 
budget takes account of the Final Local Government Finance settlement. 

 
3.2 At its meeting on 26 February 2025 Council set its budget for 2025/26 and the base budget 

estimates for 2026/27 and future years. At the start of the budget setting process these “base” 
estimates are reviewed considering current circumstances and best information available 
and revised estimates produced before any saving, growth, or re-direction proposals are 
received. These estimates are under constant review during the budget setting process and 
often change as information comes forward. 

 
3.3 Initial Operational and Base Budget changes for 2026/27 were reported to Cabinet 2 

December and Council 17 December 2025. Since that reporting period further net changes 
have been required and all changes are now included in Appendix A. 

Page 102



 

3.4 To provide further analysis of the proposed balanced revenue budget and it’s financing the 

following Table 6 sets out the Council’s revenue expenditure and subsequent income 

streams. 

 

 

 Table 6 – Revenue Budget for 2026/27 

 

 
 

The above data confirms that, and shows the Council is now almost entirely reliant on 

Customer Fees & Charges, Other Incomes, Grants, Council Tax and Business Rates to meet 

the total expenditure proposed as part of this budget. 
 

 Budget Principles and Assumptions 
3.5  Within the revenue budget there are several principles and key assumptions underpinning 

the proposed revenue strategy. These are: 

Page 103



 
i.  Annually, a balanced revenue budget will be set with expenditure limited to the amount 

of available resources. 
ii.  No long-term use of balances to meet recurring baseline expenditure. 
iii.  Resources will be targeted to deliver corporate outcomes and value for money. Any 

additional investment and spending decisions will be made to reflect Council priorities 
and strategic commitments. 

 

3.6 Table 7 below, lists the major assumptions that have been made for the 2026/27 budget. 

 

Table 7: Major Assumptions within General Fund Revenue Budget 2026/27 

 
 

4.0  COUNCIL TAX 
 

4.1 Legislation requires that separate estimates be made for any Collection Fund surpluses or 
deficits on the Collection Fund relating to the Council Tax and Business Rates. 

 
4.2  The Council is expected to benefit from prior year surpluses to the collection fund account in 

respect of council tax.  This amount is currently valued at £0.185M and is included within the 

council tax requirement calculation in 2026/27. 

 
4.3 The Council Tax increase of 2.99% agreed by Council on 28 January 2026 means that the 

City element of Council Tax for a band D property will be £272.20 resulting in expected 
income of £11.931M for 2026/27.  This is a decrease of £0.084M on the position reported in 
February 2025. 

 

5.0  PROVISIONS, RESERVES & BALANCES  
 
5.1 Under current legislation the Section 151 Officer is required to give explicit advice to Council 

on the minimum level of reserves and balances.  
 
5.2 The minimum level should be set to enable the Council to meet the current and forecast 

financial pressures it faces in regard to the structural deficit as referenced for several years. 
It is against this back drop the 2026/27 assessments are made.  

 
Provisions 

5.3 The bad debt and insurance provisions have been reviewed and are considered adequate at 
this time.  

 

(2025/26) 2026/27

Council Tax Growth 2.99% 1.00%

Council Tax Increase 2.99% 2.99%

Council Tax Collection Rate 98.67% 98.67%

Fees & Charges 2.60% 3.80%

Inflation – Pay 2.50% 3.00%

Employer Pensions Contribution 16.30% 10.40%

Electricity 25p/kWh 24p/kwh

Gas 5p/kWh 3.5p/kwh

Inflation – Insurance 10.00% 10.00%

Other inflation 2.60% 3.80%

Interest Rate – investments 3.50% 4.00%

Interest Rate – new borrowing 3.90% 4.70%

Page 104



 For information the amount held in the bad debt provision as at 31 March 2025 was £3.237M 
and the annual contribution towards for 2026/27 is included in the draft budget as £0.250M.  
The amount held in the insurance provision was £0.691M as at 31 March 2025 and the annual 
contribution towards the provision for 2026/27 is zero due to it being assessed as adequate. 

 
Reserves & Balances 

5.4 Reserve levels and use of reserves are an important part of the budget framework. It is 
important that the Council maintains a healthy level of reserves in order to maintain financial 
resilience but balances this with the careful use of those reserves, usually on ‘one-off’ items 
in order to support corporate priority projects or emergency situations. 

 
Annual Assessment of Reserves Levels 

5.5  The Section 151 Officer’s annual review of the adequacy of reserve balances is a statutory 

requirement. Although usable revenue reserve levels have increased in the last two years, 

the Council still faces significant inescapable financial pressures. Continuing uncertainties in 

respect of Local Government Funding levels, pay and general inflation and other factors 

creating the cost of living as well as the results of the Council’s Fit for the Future process also 

remain. Taking all of these risks into account, the Section 151 Officer’s advice is that 

the minimum level of balances held in the General Fund should remain at £5M. 

 

5.6  The Section 151 Officer’s latest advice on the adequacy of balances is based on the following 

observations: 

 

• The General Fund Balance at 31/03/25 was £10.028M, Quarter 3 revenue budget 

monitoring forecasts an underspend of £1.271M in 2025/26.  During 2025/26 numerous 

further drawdowns on the reserve were made in line with the correct governance 

arrangements being in place.  Once confirmed as part of the closedown process, the 

final net position will be transferred to the unallocated reserves 

• Although the Council is continuing to identify future efficiencies and savings via the 

Outcomes Based Resourcing programme, the Council’s current Medium Term Financial 

Strategy (MTFS) suggests a structural budget gap in 2027/28 onwards which fluctuates 

between approximately £1.347M and £2.780M. If this is not closed, then balances will 

be required to make up the difference 

 

Table 8: General Fund Revenue Budget Gap 2026/27 – 2030/31 

 
 

Page 105



 

Table 9: Cumulative Deficit as Percentage of Revenue Budget 

 
 

5.7 The forecast gaps are structural in nature, meaning that the Council’s forecast spending 

exceeds the income it expects to receive, and this is compounded year on year. This position 

represents a significant challenge over the short and medium term.  

 

5.8 It should be noted that this forecast is based on a series of estimates and assumptions and 

 so is subject to change when more up to date information becomes available. However, it 

 provides Members with a clear view of the extent of the challenge facing the Council over the 

 coming years.  

 

5.9 In calculating the minimum level of General Fund balance, an assessment of the risks that 

give rise to unanticipated expenditure or loss of income has been made and these are shown 

in Table 10 below. 

 

Table 10: Risk Assessment 

 
 

5.10 The analysis shows that, in the event of a ‘Perfect Storm’ of risks happening all within the 

next year, there are sufficient balances to meet all these risks in the short term which would 

give the Council time to adapt in the longer term. 

 

5.11 The minimum level of balances will be kept under review as part of the MTFS and reported 

to Cabinet on a regular basis. 

 

5.12 The analysis shows that, in the unlikely event of a ‘Perfect Storm’ of risks happening all within 
the next year, there are sufficient balances to meet all these risks in the short term which 
would give the Council time to adapt in the longer term. 
 

5.13 The minimum level of balances will be kept under review as part of the MTFS and reported 
to Cabinet on a regular basis. 

 
 
 
 

2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31

£'M £'M £'M £'M £'M

Net Revenue Budget 27.373 30.391 30.327 32.271 32.342

Budget Gap (Incremental) 0.000 1.941 1.347 2.780 2.315

% of Net Revenue Budget (Incremental) 0% 6% 4% 9% 7%

Budget Gap (Cumulative) 0.000 1.941 3.288 6.068 8.383

% of Net Revenue Budget (Cumulative) 0% 6% 11% 19% 26%

Risk Symptom of Risk

Balance 

Required

£'M

Increased demand for services 3% increase in net revenue expenditure 0.820

Recession results in additional uncompensated 

reduction in fees and charges income than budget
5% reduction in major fees and charges income 1.000

Recession results in additional reduction in Council 

Tax collection rates than budget
5% reduction in collection rate 0.600

Natural disaster such as flood etc Additional unexpected expenditure 0.500

Additional uncertainty with respect to Cost of Living Additional unexpected expenditure 2.000

Aggregate overspend if all of the above risks were to happen 4.920

Page 106



Planned use of reserves and estimated reserve balances over the medium term 
5.14 The estimated levels of General Fund Unallocated and combined Earmarked reserves 

balances are shown in Appendix D with the impact of the inclusion of forecast overspends 
summarised in table 11 below. 

  
Table 11: Estimated Combined Level of Reserves (Available Reserves Only) 

 
 

5.15 This table highlights that whilst a structural deficit still prevails, the level of Councils reserves 

will diminish over the longer-term but are at a sustainable level throughout the period of the 

MTFS and the transfer to the new authority under local government reorganisation. 

 

Governance Arrangements on the Use of Reserves  

5.16 Given the continuing financial pressures and the need for the prudent use of reserves the 

following arrangements exist for the approval of reserves expenditure: 

 

• All applications will need to be supported by a bid document setting out how expenditure 
funded from Reserves will deliver corporate priorities with a clear costing statement 
schedule of specific outcome measures. Details of the bid proforma document is 
attached at Appendix E. 

• Reserve bids should be agreed by Portfolio Holder in consultation with relevant Chief 
Officer.  

• Once received bids will need to be formally agreed by the Leader of the Council, Chief 
Executive, Portfolio Holder for Finance and Resources, Monitoring Officer and the s151 
Officer before expenditure is authorised and can be incurred. 

 

5.17 These arrangements will be reviewed again as part of the annual revenue budget process. 

 

 

6.0 LOCAL GOVERNMENT REORGANISATION (LGR) 
 
6.1 To further reiterate the information reported to Cabinet and Council over the previous two 

months, the financial impact of LGR expected to be complex with very little information 
currently available.  The financial information which underpins the ongoing budget process 
has currently been prepared on a ‘business as usual’ basis.   

 
6.2 The Government is expected to lead a public consultation on the proposals early this year, 

with a preferred option selected in summer 2026. 
 
6.3 If approved, elections for shadow authorities could take place in May 2027, with the new 

councils taking over all services from 1 April 2028 (vesting day). 
 
6.4 Inevitably, this will have financial consequences for the Council however it is expected that 

partners will enter into the new authority in the best financial health that is possible, in order 
to maintain both financial and organisational stability. 

2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31

£'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M

Unallocated Reserve (10.338) (9.346) (9.281) (9.250) (9.250) (9.250)

Other Non-Ring Fenced Reserves (2.634) (1.325) (1.362) (1.398) (1.435) (1.471)

Business Rates Retention Reserve (12.790) (12.097) (12.097) (12.097) (12.097) (12.097)

Renewals Reserve (2.117) (2.249) (2.325) (2.461) (2.592) (2.716)

Forecast Cumulative Deficit Funded From 

Reserves
+0.000 +0.000 +1.941 +3.288 +6.068 +8.383

Projected Balance as at 31 March 2026-31 (27.879) (25.017) (23.124) (21.918) (19.306) (17.151)

Less Recomended Minimum Level of Balances +5.000 +5.000 +5.000 +5.000 +5.000 +5.000

Available Balances (22.879) (20.017) (18.124) (16.918) (14.306) (12.151)

Page 107



 
6.5 At the meeting of Lancashire Chief Executives on 8th January the options for the creation of 

a Lancashire Local Government Reorganisation Transition Fund was discussed.  The report 
agreed the following principles: 

 
a. An initial agreed total sum of £30M 
b. A split of 75% to Unitary Councils and 25% to District Councils meaning: 

i. £22.5M Unitary Contribution 
ii. £7.5M District Contribution 

 
Further to this the allocation options for the districts share has been agreed as based on Tax 
Base levels.  This means that the contribution level for Lancaster is to be £0.831M and it is 
recommended that this amount is funded from the general fund unallocated reserve. 

 
6.6 During the time from now until vesting day, further transitional costs falling upon the council 

will occur and these will need to be managed from within either the existing budget 
framework, the use of non-ringfenced reserves or by utilising capital receipts under the 
‘flexible use of capital receipts’ policy where transformation can be demonstrated. 

 
 
7.0 DETAILS OF CONSULTATION  
7.1 Cabinet’s initial budget proposals were presented for scrutiny to Budget and Performance 

Panel at its budget consultation meeting of 3 February 2026.  This meeting was open to 

members of the public and livestreaming was available. 

 

7.2 At the Budget and Performance Panel meeting, no observations were identified which require 

further clarification in the context of setting the budget. 

 

 
8.0 OPTIONS & OPTIONS ANALYSIS 

Revenue Budget 
8.1  Council may adjust its revenue budget proposals, so long as the overall budget for 2025/26 

balances and fits with the proposed Council Tax level. 
 
8.2 Other Budget Framework Matters (Reserves and Provisions) 

Given known commitments, risks, and Council Tax restrictions there is little flexibility in 
financial terms, but Council could consider different budget strategies to be appraised for 
future years, or alternative arrangements for approving the use of various reserves, or 
different virement and/or carry forward limits. Overall, however, previous arrangements have 
worked reasonably well, and so no other fundamental changes are proposed. 

 
8.3 Section 151 Officer’s Comments and Advice 

Council is required to note this formally in the minutes of the meeting; hence it is reflected in 
the recommendations. 

 
8.4 Depending on the nature of any alternative proposals put forward, Officers may need time 

to assess the risks and implications. This is to ensure that relevant considerations are 
taken into account, to support informed and lawful decision making. 

 
 
9.0 OFFICER PREFERRED OPTION (AND COMMENTS)  

Revenue Budget 2026/27 and Reserves Position 
9.1 To agree the recommendations as presented as the proposals to be put forward by Cabinet 

should fit with any external constraints and the budgetary framework already approved. The 
recommendations as set out meet these requirements; the detailed supporting budget 
proposals are then a matter for Members. 

 
 
 

Page 108



10.0 CONCLUSION 
10.1 This report addresses the actions required to complete the budget setting process for 

2026/27, and for updating the Council’s associated financial strategy. 
 
 

 

RELATIONSHIP TO POLICY FRAMEWORK 

The budget framework in general sets out a financial plan for achieving the Council’s corporate 
priorities and outcomes which incorporate the above cross cutting themes. Equalities impact 
assessments are undertaken for the relevant activities which are reflected in the budget. 
 

CONCLUSION OF IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

(including Diversity, Human Rights, Community Safety, Sustainability etc) 

The proposed budget incorporates measures to address the climate emergency and digital 

improvements as well as activities to address wellbeing, health, and community safety. 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

As set out in the report 

 

SECTION 151 OFFICER’S COMMENTS  

 

Robustness of Estimates and Adequacy of Council’s Reserves 

The Local Government Act 2003 places explicit requirements on the Section 151 Officer to report 

on the robustness of the estimates included in the budget and on the adequacy of the Council’s 

reserves. A summary of the Section 151 Officer’s advice to date is provided below for information, 

but it should be noted that some of this is provisional until Cabinet’s final budget proposals are 

confirmed.  

 

At Budget Council, Members will be recommended to note formally the advice of the s151 Officer. 

 

Provisions, Reserves and Balances 

Specific earmarked reserves and provisions are satisfactory at the levels currently proposed. 

Unallocated balances of £5M for General Fund are reasonable levels to safeguard the Councils 

overall financial position, given other measures and safeguards proposed. This level assessment 

is consistent with that noted by Council 26 February 2025 and it reflects the uncertainty around 

the current economic climate and sensitivity of some of the underlying savings and income levels 

within the budget. 

 

Robustness of Estimates 

A variety of exercises have been undertaken to establish a robust budget for the forthcoming year. 

These include: 

• producing a base budget, taking account of service commitments, pay and price increases 

and expected demand/activity levels as appropriate, and the consideration of key 

assumptions and risks such as levels of future Government funding for the pandemic and 

other areas. 

• reviewing the Council’s services and activities, making provision for expected changes. 

• reviewing the Council’s MTFS, together with other corporate monitoring information 

produced during the year. 

• undertaking a review of the Council’s borrowing needs to support capital investment, in line 

with the Prudential Code. 

 

Page 109



These measures ensure that, as far as is practical, the estimates and assumptions underpinning 

the base budget are robust. 

 

Affordability of Spending Plans 

In addition, the Section 151 Officer is responsible for ensuring that when setting and revising 

Prudential Indicators, including borrowing limits, all matters to be taken into account are reported 

to Council for consideration as part of the Treasury Management Framework. 

 

In considering affordability, the fundamental objective is to ensure that the Council’s capital 

investment remains within sustainable limits, having regard to the impact on Council Tax (for 

General Fund). Affordability is ultimately determined by judgements on what is ‘acceptable’ this 

will be influenced by public, political, and national influences. 

 

The factors that have been taken into account in considering capital investment plans include the 

following. 

• availability of capital resources, including capital grants, capital receipts, etc 

• existing commitments and planned service / priority changes  

• options appraisal arrangements and robust business cases for the chosen options 

• revenue consequences of any proposed capital schemes, including interest and debt 

repayment costs of any borrowing 

• future years’ revenue budget projections, and the scope to meet borrowing costs.  

• the likely level of government support for revenue generally 

• the extent to which other liabilities can be avoided, through investment decisions. 

 

In considering and balancing these factors, the capital proposals to date are based on levels of 

“prudential borrowing” or CFR over the period to 2030/31. The bulk of this relates to schemes to 

support delivery of the Council’s key Strategic Priorities and Outcomes such as Climate 

Emergency, Economic Prosperity and Regeneration and Housing as outlined in the Capital 

Programme. 

 

Like all Councils, Lancaster City faces increased financial pressures and uncertainty because of 

the impact of the ongoing cost of living crisis and the effect it has on significant areas of expenditure 

such as energy costs as well as general and pay inflation. The Council has a level of reserves and 

benefits from the significant green energy disregard, both of which offers a degree of protection 

from volatilities.  

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Legal Services have been consulted and have no further comments. 
 

MONITORING OFFICER’S COMMENTS 

The Monitoring Officer has been consulted and has no comments.  
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Appendix A General Fund Revenue Budget 2026-27 

Appendix B Variance Explanations 

Appendix C Savings & Growth Summary 

Appendix C1 Exempt 

Appendix C2 Exempt 

Appendix D Reserves Summary 

Appendix E Budget Transfers Virements Carry 

Forwards 

Contact Officer: Paul Thompson 
Telephone:  01524 582603 
E-mail: pthompson@lancaster.gov.uk 
Ref: N/A  

 

Page 110



Appendix A

2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

GF Revenue Budget/Forecast as at 26 February 2025 28,749 29,489 30,118 31,873 32,829

Base Budget Changes

Further Operational Changes

Pay Award 25/26 188 194 200 206 212

Pensions (Employer Contribution Reduction) (1,756) (1,744) (1,744) (1,767) (1,789)

Increase Staff Turnover (to £1M) (352) (352) (352) (352) (352)

Interest Payable (128) 43 33 33 43

Interest Receivable 18 72 36 38 38

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) (190) 15 26 17 (426)

Review of Reserves

- Renewals (reduction in contribution) (293) (293) (293) (293) (293)

- Business Rates Retention Reserve ¹ (693) 0 0 0 0

- Business Rates Retention Reserve ² 600 500 0 0 0

Review of Inflation Factors 37 61 71 60 (159)

Review of Corporate Property Programme 61 291 82 (12) (382)

Review of Asset & Compliance Programme (339) (135) (240) (161) (193)

Commercial Property Rental Income 382 43 (44) (44) (44)

Bed & Breakfast Expenditure (541) 0 0 0 0

Burrowbeck/Gateway Solar 200 200 200 200 200

Waste Collection pEPR Payment (367) (347) (326) (305) (305)

Food Waste (removal of savings target) 350 388 409 434 434

Garden Waste Charging Freeze 42 42 42 42 42

Williamson Park Net Income 143 143 143 143 143

Car Parking Pay & Display Income 250 250 250 250 250

Revenues Shared Service 60 60 60 60 60

ICT Cyber Security 114 114 114 114 114

Impact of Local Government Finance Settlement 848 854 859 864 864

Minor Variances 39 (36) 144 253 262

Latest Budgetary Position 27,422 29,852 29,788 31,653 31,548

Additional Budget Proposals:

Growth/(Savings) Proposals 403 398 281 291 302

Revenue Impact of Current Capital Programme Review (MRP & Interest) (615) (646) (503) (462) (319)

Revenue Impact of Capital Programme Growth (MRP & Interest) 163 829 1,106 1,135 1,158

Revenue Impact of Capital Programme Growth (Ongoing Revenue) 0 (42) (345) (346) (347)

        

General Fund Revenue Budget 27,373 30,391 30,327 32,271 32,342

Financed By:

Items included in latest provisional settlement

Revenue Support Grant 460 460 460 460 460

Fair Funding Assessment Baseline Funding Level (5,165) (5,283) (5,390) (5,498) (5,608)

Fair Funding Assessment Revenue Support Grant (6,031) (5,986) (5,910) (5,794) (5,680)

Recovery Grant (603) (603) (603) (603) (603)

Green Energy Disregard (4,627) (4,627) (4,627) (4,627) (4,627)

(15,966) (16,039) (16,070) (16,062) (16,058)

Prior Year Council Tax (Surplus)/Deficit (169)

Prior Year Business Rates (Surplus)/Deficit 693

Council Tax Requirement 11,931 14,352 14,257 16,209 16,284

11,931 12,411 12,910 13,429 13,969

Structural (Surplus)/Deficit 0 1,941 1,347 2,780 2,315

Incremental Deficit as Percentage of Net Revenue Budget 0% 6% 4% 9% 7%

Revenue Budget (Surplus)/Deficit as at 26 February 2025 2,633 4,699 4,513 5,480 0

Increase/(Decrease) (2,633) (2,758) (3,166) (2,700) 2,315

General Fund Revenue Budget Projections 2026/27 to 2030/31

For Consideration by Cabinet 10 February 2026

Post LGR Vesting Date

BUDGET PROJECTIONS

Estimated Council Tax Income -

(Increases based on 2.99% for 2026/27 then max allowable)

Page 111



  APPENDIX B 

BASE BUDGET CHANGES 

 

Pay Award 2025/26 +£0.188M 

As part of the 2025/26 budget setting process, an inflationary uplift of 2.5% was included to 

salaries across all services of the Council.  The National Employers offer of an increase of 

3.2% on all NJC pay points was agreed in July 2025.  Inevitably this places further strain on 

future year budgets and forecasts have been updated to reflect this altered base position. 

 

Pensions - Employer Contribution Reduction (-£1.756M) 

The current rate for employers is 16.3%.  Following discussions with the Lancashire County 

Pension Fund, the fund is performing well and the advice is to reduce future contributions to 

8.1%.  This is consistent with other districts across Lancashire. 

 

Increase Staff Turnover (-£0.352M) 

Staff turnover in recent years has previously been in excess of the provision made.  Typically 

it has been in excess of £1M so the provision has been increased to that level in order to 

help contribute to a balanced budget. 

 

Interest Payable (-£0.128M) 

As capital schemes expenditure slips into future years, the short-term need for the Council to 

borrow reduces and therefore interest payable on projected borrowing is reduced. 

 

Interest Receivable +£0.018M 

Linked with interest payable. Having higher cash balances allows for increased levels 

investable amounts subsequently resulting in more interest receivable. 

 

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) (-£0.190M) 

Following the Mid-Year Review of the Capital Programme approved by Council 24 

September 2025, the amount of MRP required has been adjusted to match the programme 

at that time. 

 

Review of Reserves 

 

Renewals (-£0.293M) 

The level of the renewals reserve is c.£2M and annual contributions were reviewed and 

deemed over-sufficient resulting in a reduction in contribution going forwards. 

 

Business Rates Retention Reserve¹ (-£0.693M) 

With regard to Business Rates, work has taken place to determine the forecast surplus or 

deficit for prior years and the latest projection is a £0.693M deficit relating to prior years.  

The Business Rates Retention Reserve (BRRR) is used to manage the impact of 

surpluses and deficits and also to manage fluctuations in income levels in order to 

provide budgetary stability and smooth out year on year peaks and troughs. 

 

Business Rates Retention Reserve² +£0.600M 

The reserves schedule approved February 2025 included a £0.600M contribution from 

the BRRR into general fund balances in relation to be a contingency amount in respect of 

Heysham Power Station.  As the closure of Heysham 1 has now been deferred then the 

contingency is not currently required at this time. 

 

Page 112



  APPENDIX B 

Review of Inflation Factors +£0.037M 

As part of every budget process, updated inflation factors are used to calculate future years 

budgets and included within the draft revenue budget.  The key factors used are highlighted 

within section 3.6 of this report. 

 

Review of Corporate Property Programme +£0.061M 

In 2025/26 the Council embarked on a multi-year programme of works to repair, maintain, 

replace and enhance its corporate assets to ensure that they are safe places.  During the 

first year a full review of the programme took place to provide a more realistic delivery model 

and subsequently individual projects have been slipped or reclassified as revenue 

expenditure when previously considered capital (and vice-versa). 

 

Review of Asset & Compliance Programme (-£0.339M) 

To address changes in government legislation surrounding the safe operation of buildings, 

the Council have previously included amounts in order to comply with the legislation.  Some 

examples include risk assessments, asbestos surveys, gas and electrical testing.  A full 

review of the budgets provided for took place in the current financial year leading to the 

savings identified. 

 

Commercial Property Rental Income +£0.382M 

The Council owns numerous commercial properties within the District and is currently 

experiencing a few vacancies which ultimately affects rental income levels and associated 

costs which need to be considered e.g. R&M and NNDR.  The main buildings affecting this 

are the vacant Moor Lane Mills and 17-21 Penny Street properties. 

 

Bed & Breakfast Expenditure (-£0.541M) 

Due to void properties on Mainway currently being available, these are being used to house 

homelessness people/families where appropriate.  This has resulted in the reduced use of 

high-costing temporary accommodation and provided less financial strain on the 

homelessness budget 

 

Burrowbeck/Gateway Solar +£0.200M 

With regard to both sites, the income projections have been lowered due to reduced export 

pricing and a provision for R&M has now been included. 

 

Waste Collection pEPR Payment (-£0.367M) 

The government have issued a revised grant allocation for 2026/27 and this has now been 

built into the base budget. 

 

Food Waste (removal of savings target) +£0.350M 

As part of establishing food waste budgets, a savings target was included to reduce the net 

cost of the scheme.  Upon review, it is too early to include any savings and subsequently the 

target has been reviewed.  This area will be monitored closely over the next 12 months and 

should any savings arise they will be highlighted within the quarterly monitoring process and 

considered for inclusion in future iterations of the revenue budget. 

 

Garden Waste Charging Freeze +£0.042M 

As part of the fees and charges review for 2026/27, Cabinet at it’s meeting of 13 January 

2025 proposed the freezing of garden waste charges for a period of one year.  The financial 

impact is the loss of assumed inflation included within the draft budget. 

 

Page 113



  APPENDIX B 

Williamson Park Net Income +£0.143M 

Following the closure and now demolition of the café, temporary arrangements are now in 

place within the park to provide food and beverages to the public.  However, income levels 

have naturally been affected and draft budgets have been updated to reflect this. 

 

Car Parking Pay & Display Income +£0.250M 

For 2025/26 Council approved the freezing of car parking charges for a period of one-year.  

Latest monitoring information suggests usage figures are down in financial terms and this 

has been factored into base budgets going forward alongside the loss of car parks at Castle 

(temporary) and Nelson Street (permanent). 

 

Revenues Shared Service +£0.060M 

The Council shares its Revenues Services with Preston City Council who are the managing 

partner for the two Councils.  Increases over established budgets (e.g. Salaries, system 

costs) has resulted in an increase to the management fee. 

 

ICT Cyber Security +£0.114M 

This operational increase is required to strengthen the response capability to a cyber incident 

through 24/7 protective monitoring and cyber insurance.  24/7 protective monitoring involves 

not just monitoring our network against threats but also having the ability to act against threats 

and take immediate action. 

 

Reversal of Items Now Included in Local Government Finance Settlement +£0.848M 

Removal of items previously budgeted for in the general fund that are now replaced with new 

elements which are to be held within the financing section of the account. 

 

Minor Variances +£0.039M 

Minor operational changes have been identified and these changes have been built into the 

latest projections. 

 

 

 

ADDITIONAL BUDGET PROPOSALS 

 

Growth/(Savings) Proposals +£0.403M 

Service summary information given at Appendix C and more detailed proposals in exempt 

Appendices C1 & C2. 

 

Revenue Impact of Current Capital Programme Review (MRP & Interest) (-£0.615M) 

A review of the current capital programme has taken place which includes underspends 

generated where appropriate and an up-to-date profile of when expenditure is likely to occur.  

This has led to MRP and Interest savings which are included within the revenue account. 

 

Revenue Impact of Capital Programme Growth (MRP & Interest) +£0.163M 

New projects have now been included within the draft capital programme which are not cost 

neutral to the Council. The associate revenue budgets for MRP and Interest have now been 

included within the revenue account.  Further details can be found within the ‘General Fund 

Capital Programme & Capital Strategy’ report, considered elsewhere on this agenda. 

 

 

Page 114



APPENDIX C

2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Environment & Place (54) (54) (53) (52) (51)

Planning & Climate Change (66) (66) (63) (61) (60)

Resources (32) (33) (35) (36) (37)

Sustainable Growth (35) (37) (40) (42) (44)

Total Savings (187) (190) (191) (191) (192)

Environment & Place 340 347 354 360 368

Governance 77 52 53 54 55

People & Policy 47 50 53 56 59

Planning & Climate Change 51 12 12 12 12

Sustainable Growth 75 127 0 0 0

Total Growth 590 588 472 482 494

Net (Savings)/Growth 403 398 281 291 302

Savings and Budget Proposals 2026/27 to 2030/31

S
A

V
IN

G
S

 P
R

O
P

O
S

A
L

S
G

R
O

W
T

H
Page 115



Document is Restricted

Page 116
By virtue of paragraph(s) 2, 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 117
By virtue of paragraph(s) 2, 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



APPENDIX D

31 March 

2026

From 

Revenue

To / (From) 

Capital
To Revenue

31 March 

2027

From 

Revenue

To / 

(From) 

Capital

To 

Revenue

31 March 

2028

From 

Revenue

To / 

(From) 

Capital

To 

Revenue

31 March 

2029
From Revenue

To / 

(From) 

Capital

To 

Revenue

31 March 

2030
From Revenue

To / 

(From) 

Capital

To 

Revenue

31 March 

2031

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Unallocated Balances (10,338,300) 0 0 992,600 (9,345,700) 0 0 64,400 (9,281,300) 0 0 31,200 (9,250,100) 0 0 0 (9,250,100) 0 0 0 (9,250,100)

Earmarked Reserves (Usable):

Amenity Improvements (29,000) (29,000) (29,000) (29,000) (29,000) (29,000)

Corporate Priorities (110,800) (110,800) (110,800) (110,800) (110,800) (110,800)

Capital Support (73,000) (73,000) (73,000) (73,000) (73,000) (73,000)

Corporate Property (1,626,400) 1,312,900 (313,500) (313,500) (313,500) (313,500) (313,500)

Covid 19 Support Reserve (9,700) (9,700) (9,700) (9,700) (9,700) (9,700)

Homelessness Support (110,800) (110,800) (110,800) (110,800) (110,800) (110,800)

Investment Property Maint (119,100) (119,100) (119,100) (119,100) (119,100) (119,100)

Invest to Save (105,300) (105,300) (105,300) (105,300) (105,300) (105,300)

Museums Acquisitions (49,700) (4,500) (54,200) (4,500) (58,700) (4,500) (63,200) (4,500) (67,700) (4,500) (72,200)

Restructure (400,000) (400,000) (400,000) (400,000) (400,000) (400,000)

SALC 3G Football Pitch 0 0 (32,000) (32,000) (32,000) (64,000) (32,000) (96,000) (32,000) (128,000)

Business Rates Retention (12,789,900) 693,000 (12,096,900) (12,096,900) (12,096,900) (12,096,900) (12,096,900)

Renewals Reserves (2,116,500) (220,400) 87,600 (2,249,300) (220,400) 38,000 107,000 (2,324,700) (220,400) 84,000 (2,461,100) (220,400) 90,000 (2,591,500) (220,400) 95,500 (2,716,400)

General Renewals (1,362,700) (24,400) 12,600 (1,374,500) (24,400) 57,000 (1,341,900) (24,400) 34,000 (1,332,300) (24,400) 40,000 (1,316,700) (24,400) 45,500 (1,295,600)

Salt Ayre Leisure Centre (355,700) (150,000) 50,000 (455,700) (150,000) 38,000 30,000 (537,700) (150,000) 30,000 (657,700) (150,000) 30,000 (777,700) (150,000) 30,000 (897,700)

Williamson Park (83,000) (18,000) 25,000 (76,000) (18,000) 20,000 (74,000) (18,000) 20,000 (72,000) (18,000) 20,000 (70,000) (18,000) 20,000 (68,000)

Car Parks (159,200) (12,000) (171,200) (12,000) (183,200) (12,000) (195,200) (12,000) (207,200) (12,000) (219,200)

Happy Mount Park (77,900) (14,000) (91,900) (14,000) (105,900) (14,000) (119,900) (14,000) (133,900) (14,000) (147,900)

Arnside & Silverdale AONB (78,000) (2,000) (80,000) (2,000) (82,000) (2,000) (84,000) (2,000) (86,000) (2,000) (88,000)

Total Earmarked Reserves (Usable) (17,540,200) (224,900) 0 2,093,500 (15,671,600) (256,900) 38,000 107,000 (15,783,500) (256,900) 0 84,000 (15,956,400) (256,900) 0 90,000 (16,123,300) (256,900) 0 95,500 (16,284,700)

Earmarked Reserves (Ringfenced):

Elections (107,300) (45,000) (152,300) (45,000) 180,000 (17,300) (45,000) (62,300) (45,000) (107,300) (45,000) (152,300)

Lancaster District Hardship Fund (600) (600) (600) (600) (600) (600)

Planning Fee Income 0 0 0 0 0 0

Revenue Grants Unapplied (118,800) 21,600 (97,200) 22,100 (75,100) (75,100) (75,100) (75,100)

S106 Commuted Sums - Open Spaces 0 0 0 0 0 0

S106 Commuted Sums - Affordable Housing (218,800) (218,800) (218,800) (218,800) (218,800) (218,800)

S106 Commuted Sums - Highways, Cycle 

Paths etc.
(1,514,600) (100,000) (1,614,600) (100,000) (1,714,600) (100,000) (1,814,600) (100,000) (1,914,600) (100,000) (2,014,600)

Welfare Reforms (324,900) (324,900) (324,900) (324,900) (324,900) (324,900)

Reserves Held in Perpetuity:

Graves Maintenance (22,200) (22,200) (22,200) (22,200) (22,200) (22,200)

Marsh Capital (47,700) (47,700) (47,700) (47,700) (47,700) (47,700)

Total Earmarked Reserves (Ringfenced) (2,354,900) (145,000) 0 21,600 (2,478,300) (145,000) 0 202,100 (2,421,200) (145,000) 0 0 (2,566,200) (145,000) 0 0 (2,711,200) (145,000) 0 0 (2,856,200)

Total Combined Reserves (30,233,400) (27,495,600) (27,486,000) (27,772,700) (28,084,600) (28,391,000)

Reserves Statement (Including Unallocated Balances)

P
age 147



 

 

 

APPENDIX E 
 

 

Budget Transfers (Virements, Carry Forwards & 
Reserves) 

2026/27 Limits  
 

Cabinet 10 February 2026 
 

 

 

1        Purpose and Scope 
 

1.1 Budget transfers (virements and carry forwards) enable the Cabinet and Chief Officers to 
manage budgets with a degree of flexibility within the overall policy framework determined by 
full Council, to optimise the use of resources and promote good financial management. 

 

1.2 Other detailed operational guidance will be provided to budget holders, but Council approval 
is required for the basic limits, as proposed below. 

 

2        Virements 
 

2.1     The term covers in-year transfers between budget headings. 
 

2.2 The Scheme of virement applies to revenue and capital budgets, and it allows only in-year, 
non-recurring budget adjustments. 

 

2.3 Virement must not increase the Council’s net budget; the first priority for any virements must 
be to address any expected budget overspendings. 

 

2.4 Chief Officers (or their nominated representatives) may approve virements up to any limit 
within the specific cost centres in their control (or the equivalent level as set out in the budget 
book), as long as the virement does not substantially change how the activity is to be delivered, 
or have adverse impact on performance.  For example, high staff turnover in a service area 
may result in an interim need to buy in additional external support or services.  This would 
require a virement from the salaries budget, into the relevant supplies & services budget, as 
long as the virement does not increase the overall net cost for the service area. 

 

 

2.5 With the agreement of the s151 Officer, Chief Officers (or their nominated representatives) 
may approve virements in budgets under their control, between cost centres (or the equivalent 
level as set out in the budget book), subject to the following limits: 

 

 

Delegated limit 2026/27 

Total virement on any expenditure heading in 
any one financial year must not exceed: 

£10,000 

Total virement on any income heading in any 
one financial year must not exceed: 

£10,000 

 

 

2.6 Proposed virements above these limits, that otherwise fall within the approved budget and 
policy framework, must be considered by Cabinet Members (relevant Individual Cabinet 
Member/s for any virements up to key decision threshold, and full Cabinet for virements above 
the key decision threshold).

Page 148



  APPENDIX E 

 

 

2.7     Virement is not possible where the impact would fall outside of the policy framework. 
 

3        Treatment of Year-end Balances 
 

3.1 At the end of each accounting year, actual expenditure or income for the year may well 
vary from that budgeted, for a number of reasons. For example, a particular project may 
not have progressed as originally planned, meaning that the budget shows an 
underspending but only because some expenditure will be incurred later, and will slip into 
the next year. Alternatively, a budget may show an apparent overspending, but only 
because a project is ahead of schedule, with costs being incurred earlier than expected. 

 

3.2 The following arrangements are proposed to help manage such situations.  Again, these 
are based on previous practices, drawing on experience and streamlining the decision-
making where appropriate. They apply to both revenue and capital budgets. 

 

Overspends 

Any overspending on any expenditure budget, or shortfall on any income budget, under the 
control of a Chief Officer (or their nominated representative) will be automatically carried 
forward to the following year as part of the closure of accounts process except where the 
relevant Chief Officer and the s151 Officer agree that it does not make operational sense to 
do so, or where the overspending is trifling in value. 

 

The s151 Officer will report to Cabinet on overspendings and their treatment as part of year- 
end reporting. Such reporting will also include the reasons for any overspends occurring 
and details of any actions taken to prevent the situation recurring, for Cabinet’s 
consideration and endorsement. 
 
Underspends 

As part of year-end reporting, Cabinet may approve the carry forward of underspendings 
on expenditure budgets, as requested by Chief Officers, subject to: 

 

-   the carry forward amount being used for the same purpose as budgeted; and 
 

- the total value of any such approved amounts being met within the approved budget 
framework. (In effect, this means  that  there  should  be  no  bottom-line  net 
overspending arising, as a result of approving carry forward requests.) 

 
 
4.0 Governance Arrangements on the Use of Reserves  

4.1 Given the continuing  financial pressures and the need for the prudent use of reserves the following 

arrangements exist for the approval of reserves expenditure: 

 

 All applications will need to be supported by a bid document setting out how expenditure funded 

from Reserves will deliver corporate priorities with a clear costing statement schedule of 

specific outcome measures. Details of the bid proforma document is attached at appendix A 

 Reserve bids should be agreed by Portfolio Holder in consultation with relevant Director.  

 Once received bids will need to be formally agreed by the Leader of the Council, Chief 

Executive, Portfolio Holder for Finance and Resources, Monitoring Officer and the s151 Officer 

before expenditure is authorised and can be incurred. 

 

4.2 These arrangements will be reviewed again as part of the annual revenue budget process 

Reserves Expenditure Monitoring 
4.3 The monitoring of reserves will be incorporated into the quarterly performance and financial 

monitoring reporting process.  

Page 149



  APPENDIX E 

Schedule of Earmarked Reserves 

Reserve Purpose of the Reserve 

Business Rates 
Retention 

To support the budget in the event that Business Rates Income does not reach budgeted levels or falls to Safety Net, due to 
fluctuations in appeals or other reductions in net income, and to hold any unbudgeted (surplus) rating income prior to use. 

Planning Income 
To hold surplus income generated as a result of the Government’s 20% increase in planning fee income. To be used to fund 
additional costs/growth relating to Planning functions (in line with any regulatory guidance).  

Capital Support To provide cover for any revenue costs arising through shortfalls in capital financing (i.e. from capital receipts).  

Elections To even out the cost of holding City Council elections every four years.  

Renewals 
To provide for the renewal (replacement or upgrade) of existing facilities and infrastructure needed for service delivery, such as 
vehicles, plant, and equipment.  

Amenity 
Improvements 

To provide public realm amenity improvements. 

Corporate Priorities 
To provide resources to help finance capacity / feasibility / review and other development work in support of the Council’s 
corporate priorities as adopted by Council in December 2023. 

Corporate Property 

To provide for feasibility studies, surveys and repair works to municipal buildings and facilities (in particular, for those that 
cannot be capitalised as part of the current works programme or are not otherwise budgeted for). In addition, to provide cover 
for any in-year rental shortfalls.  

Invest to Save To help finance any Invest to Save initiatives.  

Investment 
Property 
Maintenance 

A sinking fund to provide funds for future investment property maintenance 

Restructure 
To fund the costs associated with early termination of staff (in the interests of efficiency / redundancy) / Pay and Grading 
Review.  

Revenue Grants 
Unapplied 

Grants, usually for Government, which are provided for an expressed purpose. 

Lancaster District 
Hardship Fund 

To provide short term financial assistance for those in hardship and also address some of the reasons why people find 
themselves in acute financial hardship and provide discretionary support to prevent this. 

S106 Commuted 
Sums  

Three separate reserves to receive all sums paid to the Council from third parties for the maintenance of (1) open spaces 
adopted by the City Council (2) affordable housing schemes (3) other amenities such as cycle paths. 

Museums 
Acquisitions 

To acquire exhibition pieces for the City’s museums. 

Held in Perpetuity 
Two small reserves that have a specific purpose which are administered by the Council. These are Graves Maintenance and 
Marsh Capital 

 

P
age 150



  APPENDIX E 

 
Reserves Bid Document  

Description of 
Project 

 
 

Amount of 
Reserve Bid 

 

Reserve  

Strategy Link  

Corporate Project 
Link 

 

  

Type of 
Expenditure (and 
budget code)  

Amount Details 

   

   

   

   

   

Total   

Income   

Net Expenditure   

  
Action Plan  

What Who When 

 

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

 
 
 
Outcomes and Impacts arising from Project 

Measure Baseline Target 

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   
Has Social Value matrix 
been completed (attach 
to bid form)? 

YES / NO  

 
For Invest to Save 
projects has the financial 
yield return schedule 
been completed (attach 
to bid form) 
 

 
YES / NO 

 

Page 151



  APPENDIX E 

 

 
 
 

 

Project Officer Sign Off:  
  
Director Sign Off:  
Section 151 Officer Sign Off:  
 
Portfolio Holder Sign Off: 

 

Finance Portfolio Sign Off: 
 
Cabinet Minute (if app): 

 

  

Page 152



CABINET  

Capital Programme 2026/27 – 2035/36 

&  

Capital Strategy (Investing in the Future) 

10 February 2026 

 
Report of Chief Finance Officer 

 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 
To present Cabinet’s final budget proposals in order that the Council can approve a 

General Fund Capital Programme for 2026/27 to 2035/36, and a Capital Strategy 2026/27 as 

required by regulation.  

Key Decision X Non-Key Decision  Referral from Cabinet 
Member 

 

Date of notice of forthcoming key decision 12th December 2025 

 
RECOMMENDATION OF COUNCILLOR HAMILTON-COX 

 
1. That Cabinet recommends the following for approval to Budget Council: 

• the updated Capital Programme covering financial years 2026/27 to 2035/36 

• the Capital Strategy (Investing in the Future) 2026/27 

 

2. Delegated authority be given to the S151 officer, in consultation with Portfolio Holder 

for Finance & Property to amend changes in the prudential indicators should Cabinet 

or Full Council make any revisions to the Capital Programme 

 
 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 
1.1 Capital investment, via the Council’s reserves or borrowing, plays a key role in strategic 

projects and initiatives for the success of the Lancaster district, as well as transforming and 
optimising the Council’s services to its residents. 

 
1.2 The proposed Capital Programme and supporting Strategy, entitled ‘Investing in the Future’ 

and contained at Appendix B, sets out the relevant context and a proposed framework to 
support the Council’s approach to capital investment over the medium term. 

 
 
2.0 CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
2.1 The proposed net investment programme for General Fund for the period to 2035/36 is 

included at Appendix A and summarised in the table below.  

Page 153 Agenda Item 9



 
 
2.2 The current year’s net revised programme (2025/26) now stands at £16.121M. During the next 

10 years, a further gross investment of £74.990M is currently planned with external funding 
of £30.187M anticipated to support this investment, giving a total net programme from 
2026/27 to 2035/36 of £44.803M. 

 
2.3 Schemes classified as Under Development have had strategic outline business cases 

approved in principle by the Cabinet but cannot commence until full business cases have 
been considered and approved, first by the Capital Assurance Group (CAG), and then by 
Cabinet. In addition, depending on certain factors such as the complexity of the project, the 
level of investment required (c.£1.5M) etc the full business cases will be subject to 
independent 3rd party review, with the results forming part of the CAG and Cabinet 
submission. 

 

2.4 Two schemes included within the Schemes Under Development section of the Capital 
Programme, Canal Quarter and Redevelopment of the City are anticipated to receive external 
funding which will at least partially finance the costs of these works. Any shortfall in financing 
for these schemes plus all other projects currently in this section will need to be funded from 
borrowing. The business cases will need to demonstrate that income arising from the capital 
investment can cover all borrowing costs and deliver a positive return to the Council’s revenue 
budget. 

 

2.5 Overall the programme is balanced, allowing for a gross increase in the underlying need to 
borrow (known as the Capital Financing Requirement or CFR), over the five-year period to 
2030/31. The Council makes a revenue provision for the repayment of borrowing known as 
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) which reduces the CFR. 

 

2.6 In setting the capital programme the Council must have regard to affordability and the 
Treasury Management Strategy sets out through a series of prudential indicators the impact 
of the Council’s Capital Programme on its borrowing to ensure that all borrowing is affordable, 
prudent and sustainable. 

 

 

 
 

2025/26  2026/27  2027/28  2028/29  2029/30  2030/31 

£’M  £’M  £’M  £’M  £’M  £’M 

Approved 

Schemes 
16.121 5.561 0.628 3.978 1.163 2.364

Schemes 

Under Development
0.000 3.311 10.727 0.390 0.230 0.230

TOTAL 16.121 8.872 11.355 4.368 1.393 2.594

2031/32 2032/33 2033/34 2034/35 2035/36
Grand 

Total

£’M  £’M  £’M  £’M  £’M  £’M 

Approved 

Schemes 
6.429 4.994 2.181 2.227 0.050 29.575

Schemes 

Under Development
0.100 0.040 0.200 0.000 0.000 15.228

TOTAL 6.529 5.034 2.381 2.227 0.050 44.803

Page 154



3.0 CAPITAL STRATEGY 
3.1 The Council is required to adopt a Capital Strategy, and this is included as Appendix B.  It 

is an overarching document which sets the policy framework for the development, 
management, and monitoring of capital investment. It incorporates the Capital Programme, 
Asset Management Plan and Treasury Management Strategy. 

 
3.2 The strategy also sets out the proposed approach to risk management as well as the 

monitoring and evaluation of capital projects. Capital investment decisions will reflect the 
priorities included within the Council Plan: Strategic Priorities and supporting strategies.  

 
• Schemes to be added to the Capital Programme will be subject to a gateway process 

following completion of a capital bid which will be scored against criteria set to measure 
strategic, economic, financial, commercial and management criteria in accordance with 
the Treasury’s 5 case model. These will be reviewed by a corporate Capital Assurance 
Group comprising key Officers alongside the Finance Portfolio Holder and Chairs of 
Budget and Performance Panel and Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 

• Unless in an emergency, revisions to the Capital Programme will be restricted to 
October/ November committee cycle to align with the Treasury Management Mid-Year 
reporting schedule and prevent unnecessary or duplication of work. 

 

• The Capital Assurance Group (CAG) will also oversee capital financing in order to 
ascertain that all capital expenditure is affordable, prudent, and sustainable as set out 
in the Treasury Management Strategy. CAG’s terms of reference are provided at 
Appendix C. 

 
3.3 The Council recognises that it will play a pivotal role in key projects which will enable the district 

to thrive and grow. Further development of the Capital Programme may be needed over the next 
few years in order to properly encapsulate major economic development projects.  

 
 
4.0 OPTIONS AND OPTIONS ANALYSIS (INCLUDING RISK ASSESSMENT) 
4.1 Cabinet may put forward alternative proposals or amendments to the proposed Strategy 

ahead of consideration by Full Council. For capital, Council may adjust its capital investment 
and financing proposals taking account of spending commitments and priorities, but its 
proposals for 2026/27 must balance. 

 
4.2 Depending on the nature of any alternative proposals put forward, Officers may need time to 

assess the risks and implications.  This is to ensure that relevant considerations are taken 
into account, to support informed and lawful decision-making. 

 
 
5.0 OFFICER PREFERRED OPTION (AND COMMENTS)  
5.1  To consider the Capital Programme and Strategy as attached allowing for any amendments 

being made under delegated authority prior to referral to Council. 
 
 
6.0 CONCLUSION 
6.1 This report addresses the actions required to complete the budget setting process for its 

Capital Programme and Capital Strategy. 
 
6.2  If Cabinet, or Budget Council changes its Capital Programme from that which is proposed in 

this report then this would require a change in the prudential indicators which are part of the 
Treasury Management Strategy.  

 
 
 

Page 155



RELATIONSHIP TO POLICY FRAMEWORK 

The Council’s revenue and capital budgets should represent, in financial terms what the Council 
is seeking to achieve through its Policy Framework. 
 
The proposed capital programme and supporting strategy is part of the Council’s budget and 
policy framework, and fits into the Medium Term Financial Strategy 
 

CONCLUSION OF IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

(including Diversity, Human Rights, Community Safety, Sustainability etc) 

The proposed budget incorporates measures to address the climate emergency and digital 

improvements as well as activities to address wellbeing, health and community safety. 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. However, the proposed levels 

and areas of capital investments will require borrowing and other associated costs. Financial due 

diligence and assessment will ensure that all the appropriate costs are considered for each 

proposal. 

S151 OFFICER COMMENTS 

The s151 Officer has authored this report and his comments are reflected within  

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

The Council has the legal power to acquire, use and dispose of land principally under the Local 

Government Act 1972 and other Acts which give the Council powers to acquire land for a particular 

purpose. In accordance with section 120(1), Local Government Act 1972, the Council has the 

power to acquire any land where it is for the purposes of (a) any of its statutory functions or (b) for 

the benefit, improvement or development of its area.  

 

If the Council decides to dispose of land, there is a legal requirement to obtain best value (with 

very limited exceptions). 

 

Depending on the nature of the particular type of property concerned, there may be other statutory 
requirements or procedures to be undertaken before any acquisition, appropriation or disposal of 
land. 
 

MONITORING OFFICER’S COMMENTS 

Capital and Investment Strategies form part of the Budget Framework and their adoption is a 

function of Full Council. 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Appendix A: Capital Programme 2026-27 to 2035-36 

Appendix B: Capital Strategy - Investing in the Future  

Appendix C: CAG Terms of Reference 

 

Contact Officer: Paul Thompson 
Telephone:  01524 582603 
E-mail: pthompson@lancaster.gov.uk 
Ref: N/A  

 

Page 156



APPENDIX A

Service / Scheme
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Environment & Place
Vehicle Renewals 4,898,000 4,898,000 2,381,000 2,381,000 204,000 204,000 2,196,000 2,196,000 907,000 907,000 1,849,000 1,849,000
LTA Tennis Court Refurbishment 52,000 (52,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0
Playground The Roods - Warton 60,000 (60,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0
Winchester Field and Nature Area 118,000 (47,000) 71,000 0 0 0 0 0
Douglas Park Skate Park 91,000 91,000 0 0 0 0 0
Food Waste Strategy 1,462,000 (1,462,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0
Public Bins 500,000 500,000 0 0 0 0 0
Commercial Venue Improvements 150,000 150,000 0 0 0 0 0
Wheelie Bins 2,208,000 2,208,000 0 0 0 0 0
Capital Access Works 64,000 (64,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0
National Landscapes Core Capital 119,000 (119,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0
VMU Replacement Programme 0 60,000 60,000 38,000 38,000 37,000 37,000 28,000 28,000 48,000 48,000

Housing & Property
Disabled Facilities Grants 4,103,000 (4,103,000) 0 2,331,000 (2,331,000) 0 2,331,000 (2,331,000) 0 2,331,000 (2,331,000) 0 2,331,000 (2,331,000) 0 2,331,000 (2,331,000) 0
Home Improvement Agency Vehicles 40,000 (40,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0
UK Shared Prosperity Fund Lancs CVS Community Warm Hubs 38,000 (38,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0
1 Lodge Street Urgent Structural Repairs 300,000 300,000 52,000 52,000 0 0 0 0
Gateway Solar Array 750,000 750,000 0 0 0 0 0
Commercial & Corporate Property 609,000 609,000 723,000 723,000 30,000 30,000 559,000 559,000 52,000 52,000 0
White Lund Depot - Offices 272,000 272,000 0 0 0 0 0
King Street 50,000 50,000 550,000 (200,000) 350,000 0 0 0 0
LAHF 0 750,000 (416,000) 334,000 0 0 0 0

People & Policy
UKSPF External Projects 163,000 (163,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0
REPF External Projects 150,000 (150,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0

Planning & Climate Change
Burrow Beck Solar 3,653,000 3,653,000 0 0 0 0 0
Electric Vehicle Charging Hub 401,000 (401,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0
Property De-carbonisation Works 3,325,000 (1,892,000) 1,433,000 0 0 0 0 0
SALC -optimised solar farm, air source heating pumps & glazing 10,000 (10,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0
UK Shared Prosperity Fund Climate & Nature Strategy 12,000 (12,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0
UK Shared Prosperity Fund Local Area Energy Plan 95,000 (95,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0

Resources
ICT Systems, Infrastructure & Equipment 509,000 509,000 351,000 351,000 326,000 326,000 181,000 181,000 176,000 176,000 467,000 467,000
ICT Laptop Replacement & e-campus screens 22,000 22,000 0 0 0 0 0
ICT Nimble 252,000 252,000 0 0 0 0 0
Local Full Fibre Network (including Data Centre) 270,000 270,000 800,000 800,000 0 0 0 0
SALC Data Centre (Civils) 0 300,000 300,000 0 0 0 0

Sustainable Growth
Lancaster Heritage Action Zone 75,000 (11,000) 64,000 150,000 150,000 0 0 0 0
Caton Road Flood Relief Scheme 1,579,000 (1,579,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0
Centenary House Grant Funded Works 462,000 (462,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0
Lancaster Square Routes 21,000 (16,000) 5,000 0 0 0 0 0
Coastal Revival Fund - Morecambe Co-Op Building 8,000 (8,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0
City Museum Shop 14,000 14,000 0 0 0 0 0
Morecambe Sea Front Parapet Repair 0 60,000 60,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 0 0
Our Future Coast 367,000 (367,000) 0 85,000 (85,000) 0 0 0 0 0
Canal Quarter 0 0 0 975,000 975,000 0 0

Schemes Under Development
Canal Quarter 1,395,000 (1,395,000) 0 1,176,000 (1,176,000) 0 0 0 0 0
Car Parking Strategy 0 250,000 250,000 600,000 600,000 0 0 0
Parks & Open Spaces Improvement 0 871,000 871,000 0 0 0 0
Salt Ayre Asset Management Plan 0 0 1,267,000 1,267,000 0 0 0
Williamson Park Development 0 500,000 500,000 3,000,000 3,000,000 0 0 0
Hostile Vehicle Mitigation 0 0 250,000 250,000 0 0 0
Vehicle Maintenance Unit Building 0 0 2,100,000 2,100,000 0 0 0
SALC External Redevelopment 0 280,000 280,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 0 0 0
CCTV 0 350,000 350,000 0 0 0 0
Lancaster Parking Strategy 0 750,000 750,000 750,000 750,000 0 0 0
Eden Enabling Works 0 310,000 310,000 510,000 510,000 140,000 140,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000
Electech - LabWorks@Moor Mills 0 0 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 0 0
Redevelopment of the City Museum 0 0 0 0 1,980,000 (1,800,000) 180,000 1,980,000 (1,800,000) 180,000

GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME 28,667,000 (12,546,000) 16,121,000 13,080,000 (4,208,000) 8,872,000 13,686,000 (2,331,000) 11,355,000 6,699,000 (2,331,000) 4,368,000 5,524,000 (4,131,000) 1,393,000 6,725,000 (4,131,000) 2,594,000

Financing :
Capital Receipts 0 0 0 0 0 0
Direct Revenue Financing (31,000) (5,000) 0 0 0 0
Earmarked Reserves (131,000) 0 (38,000) 0 0 0

Increase/(Reduction) in Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) 15,959,000 8,867,000 11,317,000 4,368,000 1,393,000 2,594,000

General Fund Capital Programme 

2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31

Gross 
Budget

External 
Funding

External 
FundingN

e
t 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e

Gross 
Budget

External 
Funding N

e
t 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e

Gross 
Budget

External 
Funding N

e
t 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e

Gross 
Budget

External 
Funding N

e
t 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e

Gross 
Budget N

e
t 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e

Gross 
Budget

External 
Funding N

e
t 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e

P
age 157



Service / Scheme

Environment & Place
Vehicle Renewals
LTA Tennis Court Refurbishment
Playground The Roods - Warton
Winchester Field and Nature Area
Douglas Park Skate Park
Food Waste Strategy
Public Bins
Commercial Venue Improvements
Wheelie Bins
Capital Access Works
National Landscapes Core Capital
VMU Replacement Programme

Housing & Property
Disabled Facilities Grants 
Home Improvement Agency Vehicles
UK Shared Prosperity Fund Lancs CVS Community Warm Hubs
1 Lodge Street Urgent Structural Repairs
Gateway Solar Array
Commercial & Corporate Property
White Lund Depot - Offices
King Street
LAHF

People & Policy
UKSPF External Projects
REPF External Projects

Planning & Climate Change
Burrow Beck Solar
Electric Vehicle Charging Hub
Property De-carbonisation Works
SALC -optimised solar farm, air source heating pumps & glazing
UK Shared Prosperity Fund Climate & Nature Strategy
UK Shared Prosperity Fund Local Area Energy Plan

Resources
ICT Systems, Infrastructure & Equipment
ICT Laptop Replacement & e-campus screens
ICT Nimble
Local Full Fibre Network (including Data Centre)
SALC Data Centre (Civils)

Sustainable Growth
Lancaster Heritage Action Zone
Caton Road Flood Relief Scheme
Centenary House Grant Funded Works
Lancaster Square Routes
Coastal Revival Fund - Morecambe Co-Op Building
City Museum Shop
Morecambe Sea Front Parapet Repair
Our Future Coast
Canal Quarter

Schemes Under Development
Canal Quarter
Car Parking Strategy
Parks & Open Spaces Improvement
Salt Ayre Asset Management Plan
Williamson Park Development
Hostile Vehicle Mitigation
Vehicle Maintenance Unit Building
SALC External Redevelopment
CCTV
Lancaster Parking Strategy
Eden Enabling Works
Electech - LabWorks@Moor Mills 
Redevelopment of the City Museum

GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME

Financing :
Capital Receipts 
Direct Revenue Financing
Earmarked Reserves

Increase/(Reduction) in Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) 

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

5,942,000 5,942,000 4,804,000 4,804,000 1,602,000 1,602,000 1,569,000 1,569,000 0 21,454,000 0 21,454,000
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 38,000 38,000 3,000 3,000 50,000 50,000 302,000 0 302,000

2,331,000 (2,331,000) 0 2,331,000 (2,331,000) 0 2,331,000 (2,331,000) 0 2,331,000 (2,331,000) 0 2,331,000 (2,331,000) 0 23,310,000 (23,310,000) 0
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 52,000 0 52,000
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

159,000 159,000 0 207,000 207,000 376,000 376,000 0 2,106,000 0 2,106,000
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 550,000 (200,000) 350,000
0 0 0 0 0 750,000 (416,000) 334,000

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

328,000 328,000 190,000 190,000 334,000 334,000 279,000 279,000 0 2,632,000 0 2,632,000
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 800,000 0 800,000
0 0 0 0 0 300,000 0 300,000

0 0 0 0 0 150,000 0 150,000
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 120,000 0 120,000
0 0 0 0 0 85,000 (85,000) 0
0 0 0 0 0 975,000 0 975,000

0 0 0 0 0 1,176,000 (1,176,000) 0
0 0 0 0 0 850,000 0 850,000
0 0 0 0 0 871,000 0 871,000
0 0 0 0 0 1,267,000 0 1,267,000
0 0 0 0 0 3,500,000 0 3,500,000
0 0 0 0 0 250,000 0 250,000
0 0 0 0 0 2,100,000 0 2,100,000
0 0 0 0 0 2,280,000 0 2,280,000
0 0 200,000 200,000 0 0 550,000 0 550,000
0 0 0 0 0 1,500,000 0 1,500,000
0 0 0 0 0 1,060,000 0 1,060,000
0 0 0 0 0 500,000 0 500,000

1,100,000 (1,000,000) 100,000 440,000 (400,000) 40,000 0 0 0 5,500,000 (5,000,000) 500,000

9,860,000 (3,331,000) 6,529,000 7,765,000 (2,731,000) 5,034,000 4,712,000 (2,331,000) 2,381,000 4,558,000 (2,331,000) 2,227,000 2,381,000 (2,331,000) 50,000 74,990,000 (30,187,000) 44,803,000

0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 (5,000)
0 0 0 0 0 (38,000)

6,529,000 5,034,000 2,381,000 2,227,000 50,000 44,760,000

2031/32 2032/33 2033/34 2034/35
10 YEAR TOTAL 
(FROM 2026/27)2035/36

General Fund Capital Programme 

Gross 
Budget

T
o

ta
l 

N
e

t 
P

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

N
e

t 
P

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

Gross 
Budget

External 
Funding N

e
t 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e

T
o

ta
l 

G
ro

s
s

 
P

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

T
o

ta
l 

E
x

te
rn

a
l 

F
u

n
d

in
g

Gross 
Budget

External 
Funding N

e
t 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e

External 
Funding

External 
Funding N

e
t 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e

Gross 
Budget

External 
Funding N

e
t 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e

Gross 
Budget

P
age 158



 APPENDIX B 

 

Lancaster City Council 
 

Investing in the Future:  
Our Capital Investment 

Strategy  
 
 
 
 

This document represents the Councils Capital Strategy as defined by the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Prudential Code requirements. 

To be reviewed and approved annually by Council 

  

Page 159



Contents 
1.  Introduction 

Investing in the Future 
Sustainable, Strategic Investment 
Investment Models 
Housing Provision and the Housing Revenue Account 
Aims of the Strategy 

 
2. The Strategy: Four Investment Streams 

 A Sustainable District 
 An Inclusive and Prosperous Local Economy 
 Healthy and Happy Communities 
 A Co-Operative, Kind and Responsible Council 
 

3. Capital Investments Regulation & Guidance 
Revised CIPFA Treasury Management Code and Prudential Code 

 
4. Delivering the Strategy 

The Capital Investment Lifecycle 
Governance Arrangements 
Risk Management 
Monitoring and Evaluation 
Capacity, Skills and Professional Advice 

 
5.  Our Assets 

Asset Types 
Asset Management 
Valuations  

 
6.  Capital Expenditure 

Capital Programme 
Affordability & Financing 
Capital Investment Priorities & Compilation of Capital Bids 
Future Plans 

 
7. Treasury Management 

Governance & Scrutiny 
Investment 
Borrowing 

 

8. Commercial Activity 
Current Position 
Performance Monitoring 

  

Page 160



 

1. Introduction 
1.1. Investing in the Future 

The Council’s goals for the success of the Lancaster district’s people and environment are achieved through 
a broad range of different activities, characterised as: 

 Services: Regular ongoing activities such as Planning, Council Housing, Public Realm, and Public 
Protection. These services are generally funded by continuous ‘Revenue’ funding through the Council’s 
regular funding streams such as Council Tax and Business Rates. 

 Projects: One-off development activities in areas such as Regeneration, Housing, Carbon Zero or Culture 
& Heritage initiatives, which may complement or transform an existing service, or create new assets or 
capacity (such as land, property or cultural & social assets) for the district. Projects generally require a 
one-off ‘Capital’ funding allocation, often over a number of years. Capital funding will be sourced from 
external contributions and grants, bids, or joint arrangements with partners where possible. In some cases, 
capital funding may require use of the Council’s reserves, disposal proceeds or borrowing from an external 
source. 

 Asset Maintenance and Renewal: Where there is a known, long term need to regularly invest in an asset 
(e.g. regular vehicle fleet, planned reroofing, refurbishment cycles, ICT, or leisure equipment renewals etc), 
then these are presented initially as a project proposal, and then continue to make use of capital funding 
over a number of years. These may need periodic review or adjustment, and borrowing may be incurred 
to fund them. Because they either prolong, or add value to our assets, they are generally a capital funding 
allocation.  

 Review and Repurposing: The Council holds a substantial number of assets to deliver its wide range of 
services. Regular stock condition surveys will be undertaken and form the basis of the Council’s asset 
management plan. These will be used to inform future investment decisions to ensure best value is 
achieved. 

Capital investment funded through unsupported borrowing also has an impact on the Council’s revenue 
budget, through the requirement of a ‘Minimum Revenue Provision’ (MRP) to provide for repayments 
against borrowed funds. 

This strategy for the period 2026-2035 sets out a framework for how the Council wishes to invest in the future 
of the Lancaster district through ambitious, prudent use of capital funding, known as the Council’s ‘Capital 
Programme’.  

The strategy will be approved by Council each year at budget setting time, and any material changes will be 
presented to Council prior to implementation. 

1.2. Sustainable, Strategic Investment 

Capital expenditure must be carried out in a way that aligns with the Council’s future financial sustainability; 
whilst also contributing to strategic aspirations around the district’s environment, economy and communities, 
as expressed in the Council’s strategic priorities, summarised below.  

A range of investment proposals will be developed, contributing to each of the four priorities, as part of the 
Council’s corporate planning activity. This will ensure that the Council can respond to all opportunities for 
external investment and grant funding with viable, innovative and impactful schemes that are ready for 
implementation. 

Page 161



 

The Capital Investment Strategy is designed to support overall strategic goals by providing clear guidance 
and a route by which projects and activities can be proposed, developed, and ultimately delivered through 
the prioritisation and allocation of capital funds. This strategy will therefore be strongly linked with the 
Council’s wider framework of strategy and policy, including its: 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy 
 Asset Management Strategy 
 Homes Strategy 
 Climate Emergency and Carbon Zero initiatives 
 Regeneration and Economic Development activity 

1.3. Investment Models 

The strategy recognises that there are various ways in which the Council can use capital funding to achieve 
strategic goals. These may include shared investment with partners of good financial and reputational 
standing.  

Another route is for the Council to establish Local Authority Trading Companies (LATCos), which are entirely 
separate commercial entities able to independently access capital funding as part of their operations. The 
LATCo model also has the potential to create established, long-term income streams including commercial 
income. 

A LATCo is subject to its own governance and decision-making, as a wholly separate entity from the Council. 
This strategy does not set out the terms on which a LATCo may invest to generate a commercial return. 
However, it does recognise that the LATCo model may contribute to the achievement of the Council’s wider 
investment goals. As Lancaster’s existing LATCos are wholly owned by the Council, they are Assets of the 
Council, and we may choose to invest in them in order to grow their Asset value.  

Page 162



1.4. Housing Provision and the Housing Revenue Account 

The Council operates a separate funding stream for the provision of local authority housing, known as the 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA). It is a legal requirement for HRA funding to be ring-fenced for the sole 
purpose of housing provision.  

Maintaining and developing the Council’s housing provision requires a substantial HRA capital programme, 
which is largely funded by housing revenue. The HRA capital programme is delivered in line with the Council’s 
HRA Business Plan, and determined via the Council’s budget-setting process, with HRA matters considered 
separately from General Fund activities.  

Where HRA investments may contribute to the Council’s overall social, environmental and place-making 
ambitions, decision-making will recognise the statutory HRA ring-fencing requirements. 

1.5. Aims of the Strategy 

Maintaining a focus on the outcomes described in the Council’s strategic priorities (summarised above), the 
Capital Investment Strategy seeks to: 

 Define the process for proposing, developing and delivering projects which require capital funding, 
including the acquisition of land and property. 

 Provide a systematic structure for considering the risks, benefits and outcomes associated with capital 
investment. 

 Articulate the relevant governance, financial, and monitoring requirements to support capital investment 
proposals. 

 Support opportunities for investment through LATCos and co-investment with partner organisations. 

2. The Strategy: Four Investment Streams 

Investing in the future via the Council’s Capital Programme, will be achieved through four core Investment 
Streams. These will provide a structure within which the balance of the Capital Programme can be maintained 
in order to deliver against the widest range of strategic objectives.  

For each Stream, financial returns and impacts on the Council’s budget will be considered alongside a 
balanced scorecard which captures quantifiable measures in respect of broad economic, environmental, and 
social returns as defined by the Council’s strategic Priorities and Outcomes. Where there is a negative financial 
return or an overall cost to the Council, this will be acknowledged as a growth impact on the revenue budget. 

The four Streams, set out below, correspond to each of the Council’s Strategic Priorities in turn. 

1) A Sustainable District 

This includes schemes developed to deliver demonstrable reduction to carbon emissions in line with the 
Council’s goal of reaching net carbon zero by 2030, as well as other priority outcomes for climate change and 
the environment. Schemes may include, but are not limited to: 

 Installation of solar panels, 
 Investment in larger scale solar energy facilities, 
 Decarbonising heat and improving thermal efficiency, 
 Supporting agile working to reduce our carbon footprint, 
 The increased electrification of our vehicle fleet, 
 Climate resilience, 
 Resource efficiency. 

 
 

Page 163



2) An Inclusive and Prosperous Local Economy 

This includes schemes developed to provide regeneration benefits that meet the council’s inclusive and 
prosperous local economy priority.  

Schemes of this kind will assist the Council’s lead role in place-making, regeneration and economic 
development activity, and the improvement of the district’s town centres to improve economic performance 
and encourage future private sector investment. Investment in supporting the district’s rich creative and 
heritage assets will also benefit local businesses and residents both economically and culturally. 

The Council may use its own assets, such as public land and buildings, to achieve long-term socio-economic 
development in the district. This may also include the acquisition of land or property or other assets such as 
communications infrastructure. Any proposals to acquire land or property must be considered in accordance 
with the Prudential Framework as set out in the Council's Treasury Management Strategy. 

LATCo investment may be utilised to deliver a financial return from long-term rental income, business rates 
and council tax growth to underpin the investment / borrowing and to allow for additional mitigation of risk, 
whilst also delivering regeneration and placemaking objectives. Council land and property may be transferred 
to a LATCo to facilitate scheme delivery and to enable the LATCo to be signatory to planning agreements. 

The Council or LATCo may enter joint arrangements with commercial partners to share risks and rewards and 
to ensure that the council can benefit from relevant expertise and experience.  

3) Healthy and Happy Communities 

The Council’s capital investments have the potential to generate significant social returns in the district by 
increasing wellbeing and improving access to local culture, heritage and leisure. Costs associated with these 
investments will be balanced against the achievement of the Council’s wider goals for the wellbeing of its 
communities. Initiatives may include: 

 Loans to third parties  
 Investing in Social Capital 
 Re-use of council assets 
 Provision of additional, or enhanced housing outside or within the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 

Schemes developed to deliver improved housing in the district to the terms of the council’s Homes Strategy 
may include the development of new housing, as well as purchase of existing housing with a view to 
improvements in quality and management. Schemes developed through this aspect of the Stream may be 
delivered via a LATCo to enable a long-term revenue income stream. 

The council may also enter joint arrangements with commercial partners to share risks and rewards and to 
ensure that the council can benefit from relevant expertise and experience.  

4) A Co-Operative, Kind and Responsible Council 

Schemes and projects that sustain the day-to-day operational delivery of the Council’s services and so 
underpin a broad range of Council priorities. Such schemes may include upgrades of key information and 
communication systems.  

Transformation and ‘Invest to Save’ proposals provide one-off project funding to services to help services 
become more efficient and effective. These schemes may deliver a direct financial return through efficiencies 
and savings, or an indirect benefit through enhanced service provision in respect of the Council’s strategic 
goals. 

Capital investment in property may also be considered where it complies with the Capital Investment 
Regulations and Guidance and meets the Council’s priorities. – LATCos and other forms of special purpose 

Page 164



vehicle may also be established to generate income that can be invested in delivering Council priorities to 
reduce reliance on Council expenditure and therefore support the Council’s financial sustainability. 

3. Capital Investments Regulation & Guidance 

Alongside the Council’s strategic ambitions, the Local Government Act 2003 (the Act) and supporting 
regulations requires the Council to have regard to the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) Prudential Code, the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice (the Code) and 
Investment Guidance (the Guidance) issued by The Ministry of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 
(LUHC) to ensure that the Council’s capital investment plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable. 

Depending on the circumstances, the Council will fund acquisitions through grants, contributions or capital 
receipts; or by utilising borrowing, reserves, or a combination of both. It is worth noting that following the 
review of local authority borrowing from Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) it is no longer possible to utilise 
PWLB to fund investment for yield projects. 

HM Treasury has issued guidance to local authorities as to the appropriate use of PWLB. The guidance details 
the characteristics of projects that would be supported, set out as follows: 

 The project is addressing an economic or social market failure by providing services, facilities, or other 
amenities that are of value to local people and would not otherwise be provided by the private sector. 

 The local authority is making a significant investment in the asset beyond the purchase price: developing 
the assets to improve them and/or change their use, or otherwise making a significant financial 
investment. 

 The project involves or generates significant additional activity that would not otherwise happen without 
the local authority’s intervention, creating jobs and/or social or economic value. 

 While some parts of the project may generate rental income, these rents are recycled within the project 
or applied to related regeneration projects, rather than being applied to wider services. 

All capital schemes will follow the provisions of the Prudential Code, and where applicable other capital 
schemes will follow the DLUHC Investment Guidance. As a minimum the following will be kept under review: 

 Transparency and Democratic Accountability 
 Contribution  
 Proportionality 
 Prudential Indicators (Affordability & Sustainability) 
 Borrowing in Advance of Need 
 Capacity and Skills 

A LATCo can source capital borrowing to fund investment for a commercial return as part of its activities, 
Although, the rates of any borrowing incurred to fund these projects would ordinarily reflect the prevailing 
financial market conditions to address any associated internal and external risks so likely exceed those 
available directly to the Council. In addition, as a wholly owned company, the Council would be liable for any 
debt entered into by such a company and the financial statements of a LATCo are required to be consolidated 
into the Council’s annual statement of accounts. Any investments seeking a commercial return could be 
delivered via a LATCo and considered under the LATCo’s independent governance and decision-making 
structure.  

 

 

Page 165



3.1. Revised CIPFA Treasury Management Code and Prudential Code 

CIPFA published the revised codes on 20th December 2021. This Council has to have regard to these codes of 
practice when it prepares the Treasury Management Strategy Statement, and also related reports during the 
financial year, which are taken to Full Council for approval. The revised codes have the following implications:  

 a requirement for the Council to adopt a new debt liability benchmark treasury indicator to support 
the financing risk management of the capital financing requirement;  

 clarify what CIPFA expects a local authority to borrow for and what they do not view as appropriate. 
This will include the requirement to set a proportionate approach to commercial and service capital 
investment;  

 address ESG issues within the Capital Strategy;  

 require implementation of a policy to review commercial property, with a view to divest where 
appropriate;  

 create new Investment Practices to manage risks associated with non-treasury investment (similar to 
the current Treasury Management Practices);  

 ensure that any long term treasury investment is supported by a business model; 

 a requirement to effectively manage liquidity and longer term cash flow requirements;  

 amendment to Treasury Management Practice 1 to address ESG policy within the treasury 
management risk framework;  

 amendment to the knowledge and skills register for individuals involved in the treasury management 
function - to be proportionate to the size and complexity of the treasury management conducted by 
each council;  

 a new requirement to clarify reporting requirements for service and commercial investment, 
(especially where supported by borrowing/leverage).  

In addition, all investments and investment income must be attributed to one of the following three purposes:  

Treasury Management  

Arising from the organisation’s cash flows or treasury risk management activity, this type of investment 
represents balances which are only held until the cash is required for use.  Treasury investments may also 
arise from other treasury risk management activity which seeks to prudently manage the risks, costs or income 
relating to existing or forecast debt or treasury investments. 
 

Service delivery 

Investments held primarily and directly for the delivery of public services including housing, regeneration and 
local infrastructure. Returns on this category of investment which are funded by borrowing are permitted only 
in cases where the income is “either related to the financial viability of the project in question or otherwise 
incidental to the primary purpose”. 

 

 

 

Page 166



Commercial return 

Investments held primarily for financial return with no treasury management or direct service provision 
purpose. Risks on such investments should be proportionate to a council’s financial capacity – i.e., that 
‘plausible losses’ could be absorbed in budgets or reserves without unmanageable detriment to local services. 
An authority must not borrow to invest primarily for financial return. 

 

4. Delivering the Strategy 
4.  
4.1. The Capital Investment Lifecycle 

Capital investment schemes across the four Investment Streams must be considered, prioritised and evaluated 
in a consistent way, ensuring a clear rationale for investment including: 

 Strategic Fit: What is the proposal aiming to achieve, and how does this align with corporate priorities?  

 Financial: What are the financial circumstances for the project, e.g. is funding readily available and is it 
affordable? Will the proposal deliver a return in line with the targets established for each Investment 
Stream? 

 Legislation and Compliance: Is the proposal required in order to meet statutory or legislative 
requirements? 

 Risk: What risks are identified, and how will the proposal mitigate and manage these? 

 Project Management: How will the project be delivered in order to maximise its financial and social 
return in a timely way? 

To achieve a capital funding allocation as part of the Capital Programme, all proposals will be subject to a 
comprehensive Business Case development process in five stages, known as the ‘Capital Investment 
Lifecycle’. The process will be designed to fit with the Council’s corporate project management processes, to 
streamline the development and delivery of capital investment projects and allow for information to be shared 
and monitored consistently and effectively. Projects progressing through the stages will use the Council’s 
project management systems and processes.  

Stage 1: Inception 

Prior to officer time being spent on scoping a project, a discussion will take place between the relevant 
Cabinet portfolio holder and officers, ensuring that the project fits with the Council’s wider strategy before 
pursuing further development activity. The inception summary will provide advice on any capacity or funding 
associated with developing the project to Stage 2.  

Stage 2: Scoping the Scheme and Preparing the Strategic Outline Case (SOC)  

The purpose of this stage is to confirm the strategic context and provide a robust case for change. This stage 
will consider the strategic, economic, procurement, financial and management cases and include a financial 
analysis taking account of the targets set out for each Investment Stream. The SOC will also provide advice 
on the costs associated with developing the proposal to Stage 3. The SOC will be considered by the advisory 
Capital Assurance Group (CAG), which will provide comment to Cabinet and / or the relevant decision-making 
body. Approval of the SOC by Cabinet will confirm the project’s position in the longlist of ‘pipeline’ schemes 
for which a full business case will be produced. 

Stage 3: Full business case (FBC) 

Page 167



The purpose of this this stage is to propose a viable, feasible project. The FBC will  

 Recommend the most economically advantageous offer 
 Document any contractual arrangements  
 Confirm funding sources and / or requirements 
 Demonstrate compliance with the Prudential Framework and HM Treasury ‘Green Book’ investment 

appraisal guidance 
 Set out the detailed management arrangements, costs and plans for successful delivery and post 

evaluation.  

The FBC will be considered by CAG and Cabinet and / or the relevant decision-making body. Approval of the 
FBC by them will confirm the scheme’s inclusion within the Capital Programme. 

Stage 4: Implementation 

The business case should be used during the implementation stage as a reference point for monitoring 
implementation, and for logging any material changes that the Council is required to make. The project will 
follow performance reporting protocols which will ensure that project progress, impact on outcomes and 
financial performance is measured throughout the project and following its completion. 

Stage 5: Evaluation 

The business case and its supporting documentation should be used as the starting point for post-
implementation evaluation, both in terms of how well the project was delivered (project evaluation review) 
and whether it has delivered its projected benefits as planned (post implementation review) to the Council, 
in meeting strategic aims. 

4.2. Governance Arrangements 

All capital investment proposals must be subject to due diligence processes to ensure 

 Transparency 
 Democratic Accountability 
 Ethical Responsibility 
 Strategic Alignment 

As part of the Capital Investment Lifecycle, proposals will be subject to a governance framework including 
the following elements: 

Capital Assurance Group (CAG) 

An advisory working group comprising representation from Cabinet, Strategic Leadership Team, Overview & 
Scrutiny, Budget & Performance Panel, Council Business Committee and relevant specialist officers. CAG will 
consider SOCs and FBCs and make advisory recommendations to budget holders. Comments from individual 
members will be provided to Cabinet. CAG’s Terms of Reference can be found at Appendix B. 

Capital Investments Appraisal Group (CIAG) 

An officer group with relevant expertise from sustainable growth, housing & property, people & policy, and 
resources, supported by external expertise and resource as required. The group will consider all potential 
capital investments in the first instance, following approval from the relevant Cabinet portfolio holder. The 
group will develop proposals for consideration by CAG. Proposals will first be brought to CAG at Stage 2 (see 
above), accompanied by an SOC. SOCs approved by Cabinet will return to CAG at Stage 3, accompanied by 
an FBC. 

 

Page 168



 

Assets Group 

Aligned to the principles of the Council’s Fit for the Future project, the Assets Group is a temporary Officer 
and Member group hosted by Cabinet Portfolio Holder Finance & Resources and chaired by the Chief Officer 
Property and Housing. The group consists of various Council officers and is tasked with reviewing the 
Council’s entire asset base looking at a range of factors such as condition and associated costs of repair and 
maintenance, alternative use options including service delivery and commercial, as well as management issue 
such as rental income, debt levels, commercial market value. The group should report to CAG on its findings 
and any suggested courses of action. 

Cabinet 

Cabinet submits the annual Budget Framework to Council, including the Capital Investment Strategy and 
Capital Programme. It is responsible for consideration and decision-making on capital expenditure proposals 
within the Budget & Policy Framework and in line with the relevant guidance. Before officer time is spent on 
scoping a project, approval should be obtained from the relevant Cabinet portfolio holder. 

Overview & Scrutiny (O&S) 

Early involvement of the Chair of O&S in CAG meetings enables early scrutiny and added value through 
shaping of capital decision-making. This involvement does not remove or negate the right of O&S to call-in 
any decision made by Cabinet. 

Budget & Performance Panel (B&PP) 

The Panel will review the financial and operational performance of the Capital Investment Strategy as part of 
its Budget Framework scrutiny role. 

Council 

Full Council is responsible for approving the Capital Investment Strategy as part of the annual Budget 
Framework, including any material changes. Revisions to the Capital Programme and any associated financing 
requirements that are outside of the budget and policy framework may be presented for approval throughout 
the year. However, there is the expectation that this would be of limited application and only reflect urgent 
situations and given the need to amend various prudential code indicators and be aligned to the Treasury 
Management Report October/ November committee cycle  

A half yearly report on compliance with the prudential framework and investment guidance will be considered 
by Cabinet, Budget & Performance Panel and Council. 

4.3. Risk Management 

Effective risk management will allow the council to adapt rapidly to change and develop innovative responses 
to challenges and opportunities. The risk management cycle for capital projects incorporates risk 
identification, risk analysis, risk control and action planning and risk monitoring and review. 

All significant capital projects will comply with the council’s project management process which follows good 
practice in the management of risk. 

A full assessment of property risk will be carried out individually for each property acquisition proposal before 
entering any commitment. A further due diligence review will be undertaken in respect of a wide range of 
risk factors for all investment proposals which are taken forward. 

The Council’s asset portfolio will be risk managed through a regular, systematic asset challenge process which 
will review each asset’s performance, investment requirements and ongoing viability within the portfolio. This 

Page 169



process will be developed through a forthcoming Asset Management Strategy and managed through the 
Councils Fit for the Future Assets Group who will report into CAG. 

4.4. Monitoring and Evaluation 

Each capital proposal will set out targeted benefits aligned with the Council’s strategic priorities. The 
performance of each proposal during the implementation and evaluation stages will be monitored to provide 
assurance on the achievement of its strategic and financial objectives. 

The monitoring and evaluation process will include: 

 Delivering Our Priorities: Performance, Projects and Resources | The capital programme will be 
regularly evaluated as part of overall performance monitoring which incorporates financial, project and 
performance measures. This information is reported quarterly to Cabinet and B&PP. 

 Capital Investment Strategy Monitoring | As the strategy is key to delivering the Council’s strategic 
goals, regular progress against the Council’s Corporate Plan Priorities & Outcomes will take place to 
ensure resources are appropriately allocated. 

 LATCo Asset Monitoring | Investments made by a LATCo for a commercial return will be considered by 
the LATCo’s shareholder committee. The impact of the LATCo’s financial return on the Council’s financial 
position will be considered alongside other financial monitoring information. 

 Prudential Framework | A half-yearly report on prudential indicators demonstrating the Capital 
Programme’s ongoing prudence, affordability and sustainability will be considered by Council. 

4.5. Capacity, Skills and Professional Advice 

Guidance requires that elected members and officers involved in the investment decision-making process 
have appropriate capacity, skills and information to enable them to take informed decisions as to whether to 
approve a specific capital investment. In addition, it places a duty on the Council to ensure that advisors 
negotiating contracts on its behalf are aware of the core principles of the prudential framework and the 
regulatory regime in which the Council operates. This will be achieved by ensuring a proportionate and 
effective training programme, obtaining appropriate professional advice to inform the decision-making 
process and by ensuring that procurement arrangements provide relevant information to potential advisers 
of the specific principles, regulations and governance relevant to local government.  

The council will appoint specialist advisors to provide training to ensure that relevant officers and members 
have the required skills to make informed decisions and assess the associated risks. This training will take 
place before any investment decisions associated with the Capital Investment Strategy are considered, and 
on a regular basis, to ensure that Officers are engaged in continual professional development in relation to 
property investment activity; and that Members, as decision makers, have the skills, knowledge and relevant 
information to effectively assist the decision-making process. This will include training for new Members of 
the Council.  

Investing in land and properties to achieve business objectives and to generate returns is a specialist and 
potentially complex area. The Council employs professionally qualified and experienced staff in senior 
positions with responsibility for developing capital expenditure, borrowing and investment proposals. Where 
skills or capacity are lacking, the Council or LATCo will engage the services of professional property, legal and 
financial advisors, where appropriate, to access specialist skills and resources to inform the decision-making 
process associated with this Strategy. Ongoing measurement of the impact of investment decisions on 
borrowing and affordability through Prudential or other relevant indicators will ensure that the overall risk 
exposure remains within acceptable parameters. The Council currently uses MUFG (previously called Link 
Group), Treasury solutions as treasury management advisors. 

Page 170



5. Our Assets  

The Council has a range of assets which it utilises to deliver its wide range of services throughout the district. 
The total valuation of these at the start of the financial year 2025/26 was £346.57M. The main constituents of 
these assets are as follows 
 

 
 

Council Housing 
At the start of the financial year the Council held 3,602 dwellings in total within its Housing Revenue Account. 
These dwellings include 1, 2, 3 & 4 bedroomed, houses, bungalows, flats maisonettes and bedsits. 
 

 
 

Property Plant & Equipment 
These are assets which the Council predominately uses to deliver its services. These assets include Municipal 
Buildings, works depot, leisure centre and car parks. It also includes its refuse collection and vehicle fleet as 
well as various land holdings. The value of these assets at the start of 2025/26 financial year is provided in 
the table below 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Asset Type £'M
Council Housing & Other Assets 161.57
Property Plant & Equipment 127.72
Community Assets 8.69
Investment Property 39.07
Heritage Assets 9.52
Intangible Assets 0
Total 346.57

Bedsits 84
Houses & Bungalows 650
Flats & Maisonettes 547
Houses & Bungalows 469
Flats & Maisonettes 655
Houses & Bungalows 1,098
Flats & Maisonettes 8

4 or more bedroomed 
dwellings

91

3,602

Number and Type of Dwellings

1 Bedroom

2 Bedroom

3 Bedroom

Total Dwellings

Land & 
Buildings

Vehicles, Plant 
Furniture & 
Equipment

Infrastructure 
Assets

Surplus Assets
Assets Under 
Construction

Total

£'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M
79.13 11.56 34.18 1.93 0.93 127.72

Page 171



 

Investment Assets  
This type of Council asset is held primarily to generate income and comprise a mix of office and retail lets 
together with agricultural and commercial land and commercial buildings. Further detail in respect of the 
Council’s investment properties is given in section 8.  

 

 
 

Heritage Assets 
The Council’s heritage assets include over 80 pieces of civic regalia, its museums’ collections at the Maritime, 
Cottage and City museums in Lancaster, pieces of artwork, items of Gillow furniture and public artwork 
including the statue of Eric Morecambe on Morecambe promenade. 
 

Intangible Assets 
These comprise software and software licenses held for the Council’s key systems. 
 
Asset Management  
The key objectives of the Councils’ Asset Management Policy are to:  

 Provide the right buildings in the right place and at the right time and cost to meet the current 
and future aims, objectives, policies and plans of the Council. 
 

 Optimise and prioritise the level of investment in property assets to minimise maintenance 
backlog, improve fitness for purpose and optimise occupancy levels. 

 
 Maximise the value received from our non-operational commercial portfolio. 

 
 Continue to improve the environmental sustainability of the Council’s property portfolio. 

 
 Promote the innovative use of property by enabling urban regeneration and facilitating joint 

working with our partners and stakeholders. 
 

 Challenge the use of land and buildings held by the Council to minimise revenue expenditure and 
maximise the generation of capital receipts. 

 

Valuations 
The Council is required by accounting regulations to value its assets on a regular basis and currently values 
its General Fund assets on a rolling 3-year cycle. A revision to this guidance is expected to come into place 
from 2025/26 closedown which would see a move to a rolling 5-year cycle with indexation being applied in 
the interim years. We are currently speaking with our valuers and auditors to determine to how this will be 
applied and to identify suitable indices. 
 

Investment Asset Type £'M
Office 4.19
Retail 5.34
Agriculture & Allotments 0.03
Commercial Land 8.97
Commercial Building 11.67
Mixed Commercial 8.86
Total 39.07

Page 172



It is required to undertake a formal valuation of is HRA assets every 5 years in line with Department for 
Levelling Up Housing & Communities requirements. The last formal valuation was undertaken 1st April 2021. 
A desktop revaluation is undertaken for HRA assets in the intervening years to ensure that values are current. 
 
All valuations are performed “in house” by qualified valuers within the Council’s Property Services Team. The 
valuations are performed using appropriate stipulations as detailed by the Royal Institute of Chartered 
Surveyors (RICS) and presented in the Council's Statement of Accounts within accord of the Statement of 
Recommended Practice (SORP). 
 
The details of the assets are held and recorded in a variety of sources in order to meet the operational and 
management requirements of the Council. This enables a bespoke management system of operation so that 
maximum utilisation of the asset can be developed.  
Whilst services have bespoke arrangements for the assets held under their responsibility the Financial Services 
maintains the prime records that are used for the production of the Council's Statement of Accounts. These 
are reconciled on a regular basis to ensure accuracy and relevance. 
 

6. Capital Expenditure  

Capital Programme 
The Council plans gross expenditure, which excludes grants from other bodies of approximately £45.71M on 
General Fund and £27.79M on HRA capital schemes between 2026/27 – 2030/31. 
  

  
 

Financing & Affordability 
The Council’s Capital Programme is financed by a mixture of external grants, capital receipts generated from 
property and right to buy disposals, contributions from reserves and unsupported borrowing. The planned 
application of resources to capital projects is set out below: 
 

 
 

Gross Capital 
Expenditure 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31

Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M
General Fund 28.67 13.08 13.69 6.70 5.52 6.72 45.71

Housing Revenue 
Account (HRA)

8.07 6.23 7.57 5.19 4.58 4.22 27.79

Total 36.74 19.31 21.26 11.89 10.10 10.94 73.50

Total 
2026/27 

to 
2030/31

Financed by: 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31

Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M
Capital receipts -2.92 -1.73 -2.64 -0.09 -0.09 0.00 -4.55
Capital grants -13.2 -4.49 -2.6 -2.33 -4.13 -4.13 -17.68
Capital reserves -4.63 -4.22 -4.7 -5.1 -4.49 -4.22 -22.73
Revenue -0.03 -0.01 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 -0.01
Financing Total -20.78 -10.45 -9.94 -7.52 -8.71 -8.35 -44.97
Net financing 
need for the year

15.96 8.86 11.32 4.37 1.39 2.59 28.53

Total 
2026/27 

to 
2030/31

Page 173



This table shows a net need for financing the Capital Programme of £28.53M which would require the Council 
to undertake additional borrowing. Additional borrowing could be used only to finance capital expenditure 
in respect of General Fund and Housing Revenue Account.  
 
The Council sets its level of capital investment in line with the statutory requirements of prudence, 
affordability and sustainability as set out in the Prudential Code for Capital Finance issued by CIPFA. 
 
The Council assesses the affordability of the General Fund programme by looking at the financing costs of 
borrowing (interest and loan repayments) as a proportion of its net revenue stream. For general fund these 
are expected to increase over the life of the capital programme. The table below provides details of this key 
indicator  
 

 
 

This table shows that the cost of debt financing is estimated to be between 20.66% and 24.32% of the 
Council’s general fund net revenue budget between 2026/27 and 2030/31. 
 
The Housing Revenue Account capital programme has its prudence, affordability and sustainability set out in 
a thirty-year business plan. 
 
Further details on the impact of the Capital Programme on the Council’s borrowing are included below 
 

7. Treasury Management 

Treasury management deals with the management of cash flows resulting from the Council’s day-to-day 
operations. It ensures that the cash flows are adequately planned with cash being available when it is needed. 
Surplus monies are invested in low risk counterparties or instruments commensurate with the Council’s low 
risk appetite, providing adequate liquidity initially before considering investment return. 
 
The Treasury management service also covers the funding of the Council’s capital plans which provide a guide 
to the borrowing need of the Authority. 
 
Governance & Scrutiny 
The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy including its Prudential and Treasury indicators is approved 
annually by Full Council. Council also receives and approves a mid-year treasury management report which 
sets out in year progress of the treasury position and an annual treasury report which sets out how actual 
treasury operation compared to the estimates within the strategy. 
 
Both Cabinet and Budget and Performance Panel scrutinise the above reports before they are presented to 
and approved by Council. 
 
The Section 151 officer and his staff have delegated authority to make decisions in respect of detailed 
investment and borrowing acting in line with the framework set out in the treasury management strategy. 
 
 

2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

% % % % % %
General Fund 15.52 22.16 24.28 24.32 24.12 20.66
HRA 15.64 14.61 13.92 13.71 13.07 12.42

Page 174



Investment 
The Council’s investment strategy prioritises firstly security, secondly liquidity and then return. This maintains 
a firm focus on minimising risk rather than on maximising returns. 
  
The Treasury Management Strategy sets out the authority’s approach to managing investment risk in line 
with the following principles: 

 Using minimum acceptable credit criteria to generate a list of highly creditworthy counterparties, 
facilitate diversification and avoid concentration of risk 

 Defining the list of types of investment instruments that the treasury management team are 
authorised to use 

 Setting lending limits for each counterparty and transaction limits for each type of investment 
 Setting the limit for the amount of its investments which are invested for longer than 365 days at 

nil 
 Specifying that investments will only be placed with counterparties with a minimum sovereign 

rating of AAA (Fitch) 
 

The Council’s Investments at 31.12.2025 were: 
  

 
 

Borrowing 
As part of its treasury management activities the Council considers forward projections for borrowing to fund 
its capital expenditure plans working within the self-regulating framework of the Prudential Code for Capital 
Finance. 
 
The framework requires authorities to determine that capital expenditure and investment decisions are 
affordable, prudent and sustainable and to set limits on the amount they can afford to borrow in the context 
of wider capital planning. 
 
The Council’s underlying need to borrow is represented by its Capital Financing Requirement (CFR). The CFR 
is the total amount of capital expenditure (including that from prior years) that has not yet been paid for from 
either revenue of capital resources. 
 

 
 

Balance 31.12.2025 £'M Liquidity
Bank Accounts 0.46 Instant Access
Money Market Funds 17 Instant Access
Other Local Authorities 0 Instant Access
Money Market Funds 0 Fixed Term
Other Local Authorities 10 Fixed Term
Debt Management Office 2 Fixed Term
Total Investments 29.46

2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31

£'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M
CFR – Non-Housing 78.07 83.07 89.88 89.53 85.91 83.90
CFR – Housing 31.99 30.95 29.91 28.87 27.83 26.79

Total CFR 110.06 114.02 119.79 118.40 113.74 110.69

Estimate Estimate Estimate EstimateEstimate Estimate

Page 175



 
The authority currently maintains an under-borrowed position meaning that it uses cash backed reserves to 
defer the need to externally borrow for capital investment. Forecasting of cash backed reserves facilitates a 
long term view of the level of risk associated with borrowing internally. 
 
The table below shows the projection of external debt and internal borrowing using cash backed reserves: 

 

 
 

The council is required to “repay” an element of its General Fund CFR each year through a revenue charge, 
the minimum revenue provision (MRP). The Treasury Management Strategy sets out the MRP policy adopted 
by the authority. The Council also makes physical cash repayments on a loan taken out to purchase the 
authority’s housing stock in 2012 which are counted as MRP. 
 
The following table sets out how MRP will be used to repay the underlying debt: 
 

 
 

The Council sets an authorised limit for external debt. This represents a limit beyond which a local authority 
must not borrow unless prudential indicators have been renewed or amended. It also sets an operational 
boundary for external debt. This represents a limit that is based on the maximum external debt of the 
authority based on expectations. The expectation is that there would be no sustained breach of the 
operational boundary.  
 
The Treasury Management Strategy sets out the following operational boundary and authorised limit for 
borrowing: 
 

 
 

2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£M £M £M £M £M £M
Debt at 1 April 56.93 71.89 76.85 81.81 81.77 81.73
Expected change in 
Debt

14.96 4.96 4.96 -0.04 -0.04 -0.04

Actual gross debt 
at 31 March 

71.89 76.85 81.81 81.77 81.73 81.69

Under Borrowing -38.17 -37.17 -37.98 -36.63 -32.01 -29.00

113.74 110.69
The Capital 
Financing 
Requirement

110.06 114.02 119.79 118.40

2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M
General Fund MRP -2.70 -3.86 -4.51 -4.72 -5.01 -4.60
HRA MRP -1.05 -1.04 -1.04 -1.04 -1.04 -1.04
Total -3.75 -4.90 -5.55 -5.76 -6.05 -5.64

2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M
Operational Boundary 111.07 115.02 120.79 119.40 114.74 111.69
Authorised Limit 126.00 130.00 136.00 134.00 130.00 127.00

Page 176



8. Commercial Activity 

Current Position 
The Council’s existing investment property portfolio is comprised of a mix of office and retail lets together 
with agricultural and commercial land and commercial buildings as set out below: 
 
The majority of this portfolio has been accumulated by the Council over a number of years rather than actively 
acquired. Tenancy agreements are produced by the Council’s Estates Management Team in consultation with 
Legal Services and range from leases, licences and other agreements such as easements, wayleaves and rights 
of way 
 
The Council is obliged to obtain the best price it reasonably can for its commercial lets. Most properties have 
rents which are set based upon market conditions and comparable evidence to support the decision making 
process includes that from local agents, rents associated with other Council properties, recent transactions, 
inflation etc.   
 

Performance Monitoring  
Performance monitoring will be developed to ensure that investments are monitored on a routine and 
exception basis and will determine what performance measures will trigger an exception report so that full 
council is aware at the earliest opportunity of any material increase in risk or threat to ongoing yield. The 
Capital Strategy will be updated with this information in due course. 

Page 177



APPENDIX C 

 
Capital Assurance Group: Terms of Reference 
 
Role 

1. The Capital Assurance Group (CAG) is a Member and officer working group with a clear remit to be 
the Council’s advisory body on the Council’s Capital Investment Strategy. 
 

2. The Capital Investment Strategy has clear priority areas of work which although distinct from one 
another should be considered in an integrated manner when forming and delivering the Council’s 
capital programme and related areas. 
 

3. The types of Capital Investments which may be considered when forming the capital programme 
relate to the four priority areas of the Council Plan 2024-2027 and beyond. 
 

a) A Sustainable District. These include schemes to deliver demonstrable reduction to carbon 
emissions in line with the Council’s goal of reaching net carbon zero by 2030, such as 
installation of solar panels, or investment in larger scale solar energy facilities, as well as 
supporting agile working to reduce our carbon footprint, and the increased electrification of 
our vehicle fleet. Schemes which mitigate the effects of climate change may also be included.  

b) An Inclusive and Prosperous Local Economy. These include schemes to assist the 
Council’s lead role in place-making, regeneration and economic development activity, and the 
improvement of the District’s town centres to improve economic performance and encourage 
future private sector investment. Initiatives to use public land and buildings to achieve long-
term socio-economic development within the Lancaster District may also be included, as well 
as investment in supporting the district’s rich creative and heritage assets to benefit local 
businesses and residents both economically and culturally. 

c) Healthy and Happy Communities. These include schemes to generate significant social 
returns in the District, such as the development of new housing, purchasing of existing housing 
with a view to improvements in quality and management, investment loans to third parties and 
re-use of Council assets, along with improving access to local culture, heritage and leisure to 
increase wellbeing. 

d) A Co-operative, Kind and Responsible Council. These are investments that sustain the 
day-to-day operational delivery of the Councils services which underpin a broad range of 
Council priorities. Such schemes may include upgrades of key information and communication 
systems, as well as transformation and ‘Invest to Save’ proposals, which provide one-off 
project funding to help services become more efficient and effective 
 

Composition of CAG  
4. The group will consist of the following Members and officers. Where representatives are not able to 

attend, a suitable alternative will attend in their place. 
 

Standing Membership – 

• Chief Executive 

• Overview and Scrutiny Chair  
• Budget and Performance Panel Chair  

• Business Committee Chair 

• Cabinet Finance & Resources Portfolio Lead 

• Cabinet Corporate Services Portfolio Holder 

• Chief Officer – Housing & Property  

• Section 151 Officer  

• Governance Officer Lead 
 

Additional representation as and when required may include 

• Relevant Cabinet Portfolio Holders – as required by nature of the investment proposals 

• Relevant Chief Officer - as required by nature of the investment proposals 

• Relevant Lead Officers – as required by nature of the investment proposals 

• Capital Finance Officer Lead  

• Asset Management Officer Lead  

Page 178



APPENDIX C 
• Property Services Officer Lead  

• ICT Representation 

• Programme Manager 

• External Consultants 
 
Frequency and Format of Meetings 

5. The CAG will look to meet quarterly but may also meet on an ad-hoc basis as required as and when 
key proposals come forward. Routine meetings will be co-ordinated so that they inform monitoring 
processes to Cabinet and Budget and Performance Panel. The meetings will be held via Teams, 
unless the Chair agrees a face-to-face meeting would significantly improve meeting outcomes and 
provides reasonable notice. 
 

6. A forward plan of items to be considered on an annual cycle will be developed, and agendas with 
supporting briefing papers will be issued at least 3 working days before the meeting where practicable. 
Presentations delivered at meetings will be provided to Members in advance or otherwise included 
with meeting notes. The meeting notes will form part of briefings to Cabinet, and Members will be able 
to request particular points made in the meeting to be clearly placed within meeting notes to further 
enrich and inform decision-making. 

 
Remit 

7. CAG’s remit is to contribute to the development and oversight of the Council’s capital programme. 
This will include assessing initial proposals and business cases through to delivering the programme 
and assessing its effectiveness in respect of corporate priorities. 
 

8. With respect to Capital Investment Strategy 
a) To keep the Capital Investment Strategy document under review ensuring that it reflects the 

Council’s capital investment priorities and review the Strategy as part of the MTFS update. 
b) To ensure that the Capital Strategy is informed by and consistent with the Council Plan 2024-

2027 and associated strategies, and the Asset Management Plan. 
 

With respect to the Capital Programme 
c) To consider all strategic outline cases and full business cases for capital investment, in terms 

of strategic fit, financial and resource implications, risk, benefits, outcomes and legislation and 
compliance. To make advisory recommendations to budget holders and to provide comments 
on these matters from individual members to Cabinet, having regard to the scrutiny process.  

d) To check that the information available for projects is complete and sufficient to inform 
evidence-led and effective decision-making, and to identify areas where information may need 
to be strengthened to enable an informed decision to be made. 

e) To monitor the progress of each scheme within the capital programme in terms of progress to 
date, expenditure, and delivery of outcomes including those classified within the pipeline. 

f) To review all completed schemes with respect to outcomes and impact as well as lessons 
learned 

g) To monitor the resources available to support the Capital Programme and ensure that, at all 
times, it remains affordable, sustainable and prudent. 

h) To maintain the capital bid and scoring assessment framework, which captures quantifiable 
measures in respect of broad economic, environmental, and social returns as defined by our 
priority outcomes 

 
With respect to the Asset Management Plan 

i) Own and ensure the development of the Asset Management Plan and long-term property 
strategy, ensuring that it is line with Council Plan / MTFS objectives. 

j) To undertake annual review of property holding to ensure that all property is utilised 
appropriately and consider any capital expenditure/ receipt proposals associated with 
maintaining, updating, transferring, or disposing of property assets. 

 
Each of the above areas of work are covered by the Capital Strategy and Capital Investment Strategy, 
which are the Council’s overarching documents which aim to ensure that Council’s capital 
investments priorities reflect Council priorities and are supported by a long-term financing plan. 

 

Page 179



APPENDIX C 
Decision Making 

9. The CAG is a Member and Officer working group and as such is only advisory and does not have 
any formal decision-making authority. It will check whether the information being provided is 
sufficient to inform decision-making and, where appropriate, that the suitable project management 
documentation is available to support project delivery.  
 

10. Following consideration of each strategic outline case and business case, it may make 
recommendations to budget holders in relation to due diligence costs and other matters. It will 
provide any comments from individual members to Cabinet. It also ensures that necessary 
consultation is carried out with Cabinet, relevant Portfolio Holders, Management Board, and 
relevant Directors as part of the decision-making process.  
 

11. Any proposal that is outside the approved budget and policy framework will be referred to Cabinet 
or Council in accordance with the Constitution.  

 
The role of Scrutiny Committee Members 

12. The Chairs of both Budget & Performance Panel and Overview & Scrutiny form part of CAG. The 
early involvement of scrutiny at the pre-decision stage will allow them to add value by informing a 
decision rather than an after-the-event critique under the traditional process. This intention and their 
active involvement do not remove or negate the right to call in any decision made by Cabinet in this 
area. 

 
Key Outcomes 

10. The key outcomes from the CAG are: 
a) An effective Capital Investment Strategy aligned with relevant regulation and the priorities of the 

Council. 
b) An effective Capital Programme and investment projects pipeline optimising the capital 

investment resources within the Council Plan. 
c) Strategic property and asset management ensuring full optimisation of Council property assets, 

maximising income and return and reducing expenditure where possible but ensuring assets are 
well maintained. 

d) Enhanced long term planning of capital investment, better use and management of investments, 
assets (including property, infrastructure etc), and accountability. 

e) The integration of the Capital Investment Strategy in line with Council priorities as set out in the 
Core Plan 2030. 

 
 
 

Page 180



CABINET  

Treasury Management Strategy 

2026/27 

10 February 2026 

 
Report of Chief Finance Officer 

 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 
To present to Cabinet the draft Treasury Management Strategy and associated documents for 

2026/27 and to provide an opportunity for consideration and comment ahead of formal 

presentation to Full Council 25 February 2026 for approval 

Key Decision X Non-Key Decision  Referral from Cabinet 
Member 

 

Date of notice of forthcoming key decision 12th December 2025 

 
RECOMMENDATION OF COUNCILLOR HAMILTON - COX 

 
1. That Cabinet recommends for approval to Budget Council the Treasury Management 

Strategy 2026/27, Appendices A to C 

 

2. Delegated authority be given to the S151 Officer, in consultation with the Portfolio 

Holder for Finance & Property to amend changes in the prudential indicators should 

Cabinet or Full Council make any revisions to the Capital Programme  

 

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
1.1 The Code of Practice on Treasury Management (“the Code”) requires that a strategy outlining 

the expected treasury activity for the forthcoming 3 years be adopted, but that it be reviewed at 
least annually. It needs to reflect treasury policy and cover various forecasts and activities, to 
incorporate the Council’s spending and income plans with decisions about investing and 
borrowing. 

 
2.2 Cabinet are asked to consider the Treasury Management strategy and associated attachments 

in line with their Terms of Reference and, if satisfied, refer the strategy to Council for approval 
in accordance with the Constitution. 

 
 
2.0 TREASURY MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK 2026/27 
2.1 The Council’s Treasury Management Activities are regulated the CIPFA Code of Practice on 

Treasury Management (the Code) and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local 
Authorities (the Prudential Code) issued under the Local Government Act 2003. 

 
2.2 The Council is required to receive and approve, as a minimum, three main reports each year, 

which incorporate a variety of policies, estimates and actuals. During 2026/27 the minimum 
reporting requirements are that the Full Council should receive the following reports: 

• an annual treasury strategy in advance of the year (this report) 

• a mid-year (minimum) treasury update report  

• an annual review following the end of the year describing the activity compared to the 
strategy 

Page 181 Agenda Item 10



 
3.0  TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 
3.1 Treasury management activities represent the placement of residual cash held in the bank 

resulting from the authority’s day to day activities in relation to s12 Local Government Act 
investment powers. The Treasury Management Strategy, therefore, deals principally with 
investments and borrowing which are considered below. 

 
3.2 CIPFA published an updated Treasury Management (the Treasury Management in the Public 

Services Code of Practice and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes) and Prudential Code on 20 
December 2021. These apply with immediate effect, however, CIPFA has stated that there will 
be a soft introduction of the codes with any change to reporting requirements deferred until the 
2023/24 financial year. 

 
3.3 It should also be noted that the MHCLG has tightened up regulations around local authorities 

financing capital expenditure on investments in commercial projects for yield and has already 
closed access to all PWLB borrowing if such schemes are included in an authority’s capital 
programme. The new CIPFA codes have also adopted a similar set of restrictions to discourage 
further capital expenditure on commercial investments for yield. 

 
3.4  The proposed Strategy for 2026/27 to 2030/31 is set out at Appendix C. The document contains 

the necessary details to comply with both the Code and Government investment guidance. 
Responsibilities for treasury management are set out at Appendix A and the policy statement 
is presented at Appendix B. 

 
 
4.0 BORROWING ASPECTS OF THE STRATEGY 
 

Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) 
4.1 The Council’s CFR is simply the total amount of capital expenditure (including that from prior 

years) that has not yet been paid for from either revenue or capital resources. It is essentially 
a measure of the Council’s underlying need to borrow. Any capital expenditure, which has not 
immediately been paid for through a revenue or capital resource, will increase the CFR. Based 
on the draft capital programme the Council’s CFR is set to fluctuate from the current estimated 
2025/26 position of £110.06M rising to £119.79M in 2027/28 before reducing to £110.69M in 
2030/31, reflecting current planned levels of capital expenditure. 

 
4.2 The CFR does not increase indefinitely as a statutory annual charge to revenue known as 

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP), approximately reduces the borrowing need in line with 
each asset’s life. 

 
4.3 Based on the capital programme, the overall physical borrowing position of the Council is 

projected to increase over the next three to five years from its estimated current position of 
£71.89M to £81.81M (2027/28) as the Council looks to move forward with several ambitious 
schemes to enable delivery of its Strategic Priorities.  It is then forecast to decrease slightly to 
£81.69M (2030/31). 

 
4.5 Changes in the Council’s Capital Financing Requirement and forward borrowing projections 

are summarised in tables 1 and 2 below. 
 
  

Page 182



Table 1 Capital Financing Requirement  

 
 
Table 2 Borrowing Projections 

 
 

 
4.6 The Operational Boundary 
 This is the limit beyond which external debt is not normally expected to exceed. In most cases, 

this would be a similar figure to the CFR, but may be lower or higher depending on the levels 
of actual debt and the ability to fund under-borrowing by other cash resources. Changes to the 
operational boundary are included in table 3 below. 

 
 
Table 3 Operational Boundary 

 
 
4.7 The Authorised Limit for External Debt 
 This represents a control on the maximum level of borrowing and is a legal limit beyond which 

external debt is prohibited, and this limit needs to be set or revised by the full Council. It reflects 
the level of external debt which, while not desired, could be afforded in the short term, but is 

2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M

CFR – Non Housing 64.82 78.07 83.07 89.88 89.53 85.91 83.90

CFR – Housing 33.04 31.99 30.95 29.91 28.87 27.83 26.79

Total CFR 97.85 110.06 114.02 119.79 118.40 113.74 110.69

Movement in CFR

Non Housing 0.32 13.25 5.00 6.81 -0.35 -3.62 -2.01

Housing -1.05 -1.05 -1.04 -1.04 -1.04 -1.04 -1.04

Net Movement in CFR -0.73 12.21 3.96 5.77 -1.39 -4.66 -3.05

Net financing need for the year 

(above) re Non Housing
3.22 15.96 8.86 11.32 4.37 1.39 2.59

Less MRP/VRP and other 

financing movements

-3.95 -3.75 -4.90 -5.55 -5.76 -6.05 -5.64

Net Movement in CFR -0.73 12.21 3.96 5.77 -1.39 -4.66 -3.05

Movement in CFR represented by

Capital Financing 

Requirement

2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M

Debt at 1 April - PWLB & short

term actual

57.97 56.93 71.89 76.85 81.81 81.77 81.73

Debt  - estimated 0.00 15.00 5.00 5.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Expected change in Debt -1.04 -1.04 -1.04 -1.04 -1.04 -1.04 -1.04

Other long-term liabilities 

(OLTL)

0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Expected change in OLTL 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Actual gross debt at 31 March 56.93 71.89 76.85 81.81 81.77 81.73 81.69

The Capital Financing 

Requirement

97.85 110.06 114.02 119.79 118.40 113.74 110.69

(Under) / over borrowing -40.92 -38.17 -37.17 -37.98 -36.63 -32.01 -29.00

External Debt

2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M

Debt 98.00 110.07 114.02 119.79 118.40 113.74 110.69

Other Long Term Liabilities 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Total 98.00 111.07 115.02 120.79 119.40 114.74 111.69

Operational boundary

Page 183



not sustainable in the longer term. Changes to the authorised limit are included in table 4 
below. 

 

• This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 2003. 
The Government retains an option to control either the total of all councils’ plans, or those of a 
specific council, although this power has not yet been exercised. 

 

• Council will be asked to approve the following authorised limit for 2026/27 - £130.0M: 
 
Table 4 Authorised Limit 

 
 
4.8 Affordability Prudential Indicators 
 Prudential indicators are required to assess the affordability of the capital investment plans.   

These provide an indication of the impact of the capital investment plans on the Council’s 
overall finances.  

 
Table 5 Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream 

 
 
4.9 This indicator identifies the trend in the cost of capital (borrowing and other long term obligation 

costs net of investment income) against the net revenue stream. Benchmarking by the Local 
Government Association (2022) suggested a regional and national average of c.14% for the 
General Fund and so with potential percentage rates at around 25%, care and consideration 
must be taken with future capital investment. 

 

5.0 Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy 
5.1  Under Regulation 27 of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 

Regulations 2003, where the Authority has financed capital expenditure by borrowing it is 
required to make a provision each year through a revenue charge (MRP). 

 
5.2 Regulation 28 of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 

(Amendment) regulations 2008 require the Authority to calculate a prudent provision of MRP 
whilst having regard to the current MRP Guidance (2018). The broad aim of prudent provision 
is to ensure that the outstanding debt liability is repaid over a period that is reasonably 
commensurate with that over which the capital expenditure provides benefits. The Guidance 
gives four ready-made options for calculating MRP, but the Authority can use any other 
reasonable basis that it can justify as prudent. Following a review, the Council’s external 
advisors recommended a change to the MRP policy switching from the “Asset Life Method” to 
calculation using the annuity method using a weighted average useful life. This revision was 
formally approved by Council 22 February 2023. 

 
5.3 The MRP policy statement requires full Council approval in advance of each financial year 

although regulation does permit in year changes. Following a review of the MRP charges and 
methodology it is recommended that Council retains the annuity method of calculation 
approves the MRP Policy Statement as referred to within the Treasury Management Strategy 
Appendix C. 

 

2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M

Debt 114.00 125.00 129.00 135.00 133.00 129.00 126.00

Other Long Term Liabilities 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Total 114.00 126.00 130.00 136.00 134.00 130.00 127.00

Authorised limit

2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Non-HRA 16.20% 15.52% 22.01% 24.31% 24.25% 23.72% 20.66%

HRA 15.78% 15.64% 14.61% 13.92% 13.71% 13.07% 12.42%

% Ratio of Financing Costs to

Net Revenue Stream

Page 184



5.4 Table 4 below provides details of the Council’s estimates MRP charges, based on current 
capital and borrowing information. 

 
Table 6 Forecast MRP Charges  

 
 
6.0  OPTIONS & OPTIONS ANALYSIS 
6.1  Cabinet may put forward alternative proposals or amendments to the proposed Strategy ahead 

of consideration by Full Council, but these would have to be considered in light of legislative, 
professional, and economic factors, and importantly, any alternative views regarding the 
Council’s risk appetite. As such no further options analysis is available currently. 

 
6.2  Furthermore, the Strategy must fit with other aspects of Cabinet’s budget proposals, such as 

deposit interest estimates and underlying prudential borrowing assumptions, feeding into 
Prudential and Treasury Management Indicators. There are no options available regarding 
other components of the overall framework. 

 
7.0 OFFICER PREFERRED OPTION (AND COMMENTS)  
7.1  To approve the framework as attached, allowing for any amendments being made under 

delegated authority prior to referral to Council.  
 
 
8.0 CONCLUSION 
8.1 This report addresses the actions required to complete the budget setting process for Treasury 

Management, and for updating the Council’s associated financial strategy. This is based on the 
Council continuing to have a comparatively low risk appetite regarding the security and liquidity 
of investments particularly, but recognising that some flexibility should help improve returns, 
whilst still effectively mitigating risk. It is stressed that in terms of treasury activity, there is no 
risk-free approach. It is felt, however, that the measures set out above provide a fit for purpose 
framework within which to work, pending any update during the course of next year. 

 
8.2  If Cabinet, or Budget Council changes its Capital Programme from that which is proposed in this 

report then this would require a change in the prudential indicators which are part of the Treasury 
Management Strategy.  

 
 

RELATIONSHIP TO POLICY FRAMEWORK 

Treasury Management forms part of the Councils budget framework 

 

CONCLUSION OF IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

(including Diversity, Human Rights, Community Safety, Sustainability etc) 

Effective Treasury Management and use of the Councils’ resources is fundamental to the delivery 

of its priorities and outcomes 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

The Treasury Management Strategy is in support of achieving the borrowing cost and investment 

interest estimates included in the budget. 

 

2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31

Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M

MRP 2.703 3.872 4.505 4.718 5.016 4.601

Interest 1.294 1.857 2.658 2.727 2.750 2.791

Total 3.997 5.729 7.163 7.445 7.766 7.392

Page 185



S151 OFFICER COMMENTS 

The s151 Officer has authored this report and his comments are reflected within  

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Legal Services have been consulted and have no further comments 

 

MONITORING OFFICER’S COMMENTS 

The Monitoring Officer has been consulted and has no further comments 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Appendix A -  Council Responsibility 

Appendix B - TM Policy 

Appendix C  - Treasury Management Strategy 2026-27 

 

Contact Officer: Paul Thompson 
Telephone:  01524 582603 
E-mail: pthompson@lancaster.gov.uk 
Ref: N/A  

 
 
 

Page 186



Appendix A 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK DOCUMENTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

For consideration by Council 25 February 2026  
 

DOCUMENT RESPONSIBILITY 
 
CODE of PRACTICE 
 

 
To be adopted by Council (as updated 2021). 
 

POLICY STATEMENT The Code of Practice recommends a specific form of words to be 
used, to set out the Council's objectives within the Policy Statement 
for its Treasury Management activities.  It is the responsibility of 
Council to approve this document and then note it each year 
thereafter if unchanged.  This reflects the revised code issued in 
2021. 
 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT 
STRATEGY 

The Strategy document breaks down the Policy Statement into 
detailed activities and sets out the objectives and expected market 
forecasts for the coming year. This also contains all the elements 
of an Investment Strategy as set out in the Government guidance; 
it is the responsibility of Council to approve this document, following 
referral from Cabinet. 
 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT 
INDICATORS  

These are included within the Strategy Statement as part of the 
framework within which treasury activities will be undertaken. It is 
the responsibility of Council to approve these limits. 
 

INVESTMENT STRATEGY  The Investment Strategy is included within the Treasury 
Management Strategy. It states which types of investments the 
Council may use for the prudent management of its treasury 
balances during the financial year. Under existing guidance, the 
Secretary of State recommends that the Strategy should be 
approved by Council. 
 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT 
PRACTICES  

These are documents that set out the procedures that are in place 
for the Treasury Management function within the Council. The main 
principles were approved by Cabinet following initial adoption of the 
Code of Practice; they include: 

 . TMP 1: Risk management 
TMP 2: Performance measurement. 
TMP 3: Decision-making and analysis. 
TMP 4: Approved instruments, methods & techniques. 
TMP 5: Organisation, clarity and segregation of responsibilities, 
 and dealing arrangements. 
TMP 6: Reporting requirements & management information 
 requirements. 
TMP 7: Budgeting, accounting & audit. 

 TMP 8: Cash & cash flow management. 
  TMP 9: Money laundering.  
 TMP 10: Staff training & qualifications. 
 TMP 11: Use of external service providers. 
 TMP 12: Corporate governance. 

 
 It is the Section 151 Officer’s’ responsibility to maintain detailed 

working documents and to ensure their compliance with the main 
principles.   
 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS The Financial Regulations must contain four specific clauses.  
These are substantially unchanged in the 2021 Code; it is the 
Section 151 Officer’s responsibility to ensure their inclusion. 

 

Page 187



Appendix B 

LANCASTER CITY COUNCIL 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT POLICY STATEMENT 
 

For consideration by Council 
25 February 2026 

 
 

This reflects the revised CIPFA Treasury Management Code of 
Practice (Code updated in 2021).  

 
 
 

1. This organisation defines its treasury management activities as: 
 

“The management of the authority’s investments and cash flows, its banking, 
money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the 
risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum 
performance consistent with those risks”. 

 
 
2. This organisation regards the successful identification, monitoring, and 

control of risk to be the prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its 
treasury management activities will be measured. Accordingly, the 
analysis and reporting of treasury management activities will focus on their 
risk implications for the organisation and any financial instruments entered 
into to manage these risks. 

 
 

3. This organisation acknowledges that effective treasury management will 
provide support towards the achievement of its business and service 
objectives. It is therefore committed to the principles of achieving value for 
money in treasury management, and to employing suitable 
comprehensive performance measurement techniques, within the context 
of effective risk management. 

 
 

Page 188



Appendix C 

 

Treasury Management Strategy 2026/27 to 2030/31 
For Consideration by Council 25 February 2026 

INTRODUCTION 

1.1 Background 

The Council is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly means that income to be 
raised during the year will meet expenditure to be incurred, after allowing for any changes in 
reserves and balances. Part of the treasury management operation is to ensure that the 
associated cash flow is adequately planned, with cash being available when it is needed. Surplus 
monies are invested in low-risk counterparties or instruments commensurate with the Council’s 
low risk appetite, providing adequate liquidity initially before considering investment return. 

The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the Council’s 
capital plans. These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of the Council, essentially 
the longer-term cash flow planning to ensure that the Council can meet its capital spending 
obligations. This management of longer-term cash may involve arranging long or short-term loans 
or using longer-term cash flow surpluses. On occasion, when it is prudent and economic, any 
debt previously drawn may be restructured to meet risk or cost objectives.  

The contribution the treasury management function makes to the Council is critical, as the balance 
of debt and investment operations ensure liquidity or the ability to meet spending commitments 
as they fall due, either on day-to-day revenue or for larger capital projects. The treasury 
operations will see a balance of the interest costs of debt and the investment income arising from 
cash deposits affecting the available budget. Since cash balances generally result from reserves 
and balances, it is paramount to ensure adequate security of the sums invested, as a loss of 
principal will in effect result in a loss to the General Fund Balance. 

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) defines treasury 
management as: 

“The management of the local authority’s investments and cash flows, its banking, money market 
and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with those activities; 
and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.” 

Whilst any commercial initiatives or loans to third parties will impact on the treasury function, these 
activities are generally classed as non-treasury activities (arising usually from capital expenditure) 
and are separate from the day-to-day treasury management activities. 

1.2 Reporting Requirements 

Capital Strategy 
 
The CIPFA 2021 Prudential and Treasury Management Codes require all local authorities to 
prepare a capital strategy report, which will provide the following:  

 a high-level long-term overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury 
management activity contribute to the provision of services 

 an overview of how the associated risk is managed 

 the implications for future financial sustainability 

 

Page 189



 

 

The aim of this capital strategy is to ensure that all elected members on the full council fully 
understand the overall long-term policy objectives and resulting capital strategy requirements, 
governance procedures and risk appetite. 

Treasury Management Reporting 
The Council is required to receive and approve, as a minimum, three main reports each year, 
which incorporate a variety of policies, estimates and actuals.  
 

a. Prudential and treasury indicators and treasury strategy (this report) – The first, 
and most important report is forward looking and covers: 
the capital plans (including prudential indicators); 

a minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy (how residual capital expenditure is 
charged to revenue over time); 

the Treasury Management Strategy (how the investments and borrowings are to be 
organised) including treasury indicators; and  

an Annual Investment Strategy (the parameters on how investments are to be 
managed). 

 
b. A mid-year treasury management report – This will update Members with the 

progress of the treasury position, amending prudential indicators as necessary, and 
whether any policies require revision. In addition, the Authority will provide quarterly 
update reports. 

 
c. An annual treasury report – This is a backward-looking review document and 

provides details of a selection of actual prudential and treasury indicators and actual 
treasury operations compared to the estimates within the strategy. 

 
Scrutiny – The above reports are required to be adequately considered and scrutinised before 
being presented to Full Council. This is undertaken by Cabinet and the Budget and Performance 
Panel. 
 
Quarterly reports – In addition to the three major reports detailed above, quarterly reporting (end 
of June/end of December) is also required. However, these additional reports do not have to be 
reported to Full Council / Board but do require to be adequately scrutinised. This role is 
undertaken by Budget & Performance Panel.  

1.3 Treasury Management Strategy for 2026/27 

The strategy for 2026/27 covers two main areas: 
 
Capital Issues 

 the capital expenditure plans and the associated prudential indicators; 

 the minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy. 

Treasury Management Issues 
 the current treasury position; 

 treasury indicators which limit the treasury risk and activities of the Council; 

 prospects for interest rates; 

 the borrowing strategy; 

 policy on borrowing in advance of need; 

 debt rescheduling; 

Page 190



 

 

 the investment strategy; 

 creditworthiness policy; and 

 policy on use of external service providers. 

 

These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, DLUHC (now 
MHCLG) Investment Guidance; DLUHC (now MHCLG) MRP Guidance, the CIPFA Prudential 
Code, and the CIPFA Treasury Management Code. 

 

1.4 Training 

The CIPFA Treasury Management Code requires the responsible officer to ensure that Members 
with responsibility for treasury management receive adequate training in treasury management. 
This especially applies to Members responsible for scrutiny.  

Furthermore, pages 47 and 48 of the Code state that they expect “all organisations to have a 
formal and comprehensive knowledge and skills or training policy for the effective acquisition and 
retention of treasury management knowledge and skills for those responsible for management, 
delivery, governance and decision making. 

The scale and nature of this will depend on the size and complexity of the organisation’s treasury 
management needs. Organisations should consider how to assess whether treasury 
management staff and board/council members have the required knowledge and skills to 
undertake their roles and whether they have been able to maintain those skills and keep them up 
to date.  

As a minimum, authorities should carry out the following to monitor and review knowledge and 
skills:  

 Record attendance at training and ensure action is taken where poor attendance is 
identified.  

 Prepare tailored learning plans for treasury management officers and board/council 
members.  

 Require treasury management officers and board/council members to undertake self-
assessment against the required competencies (as set out in the schedule that may be 
adopted by the organisation).  

 Have regular communication with officers and board/council members, encouraging them 
to highlight training needs on an ongoing basis.” 

 

In further support of the revised training requirements, CIPFA’s Better Governance Forum and 
Treasury Management Network have produced a ‘self-assessment by members responsible for 
the scrutiny of treasury management’, which is available from the CIPFA website to download. 

A member training session is currently being prepared and is to be delivered before the end of 
April. All incoming councillors receive mandatory local government finance training and ad hoc 
training has been provided as required throughout 2025/26. 

A formal record of the training received by officers central to the Treasury function will be 
maintained by the Accountancy Services Manager. Similarly, a formal record of the treasury 
management/capital finance training received by members will also be maintained by the Chief 
Resources & S151 Officer. 

The training needs of treasury management Officers are periodically reviewed.  

 

Page 191



 

 

1.5 Treasury Management Consultants 

The Council uses MUFG Corporate Markets as its external treasury management advisors. 

The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions remains with the 
organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not placed upon external service 
providers. All decisions will be undertaken with regards to all available information, including, but 
not solely, our treasury advisers. 

It also recognises that there is value in employing external providers of treasury management 
services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and resources. The Council will ensure that 
the terms of their appointment and the methods by which their value will be assessed are properly 
agreed and documented, and subject to regular review.  

 

2 CAPITAL PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2026/27 – 2030/31 

The Council’s capital expenditure plans are the key driver of treasury management activity. The 
plans are reflected in various prudential indicators which are designed to assist members’ 
overview and confirm capital expenditure plans are prudent, affordable and sustainable. 

2.1 Capital Expenditure and Financing 

This prudential indicator is a summary of the Council’s capital expenditure plans, both those 
agreed previously, and those forming part of this budget cycle. 

 
The table below provides that summary, showing how the plans are being financed by capital or 
revenue resources. Any shortfall of resources results in an underlying borrowing or financing 
need. 
 

 

2.2 The Council’s Borrowing Need (the Capital Financing Requirement) 

The second prudential indicator is the Council’s Capital Financing Requirement (CFR). The CFR 
is simply the total amount of capital expenditure (including that from prior years) that has not yet 
been paid for from either revenue or capital resources. It is essentially a measure of the Council’s 
indebtedness and so its underlying need to borrow. Any capital expenditure, which has not 
immediately been paid for through a revenue or capital resource, will increase the CFR.  
 
The CFR does not increase indefinitely. This is because the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP), 
which is a statutory annual charge to revenue, broadly reduces the indebtedness in line with each 
asset’s life so charges the economic consumption of capital assets as they are used. 
 

Capital expenditure 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M

General Fund 8.83 28.67 13.08 13.69 6.70 5.52 6.72
Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA)

6.39 8.07 6.23 7.57 5.19 4.58 4.22

Total 15.22 36.74 19.31 21.26 11.89 10.10 10.94
Financed by:
Capital receipts -1.67 -2.92 -1.73 -2.64 -0.09 -0.09 0.00
Capital grants -5.46 -13.20 -4.49 -2.60 -2.33 -4.13 -4.13
Capital reserves -4.77 -4.63 -4.22 -4.70 -5.10 -4.49 -4.22
Revenue -0.10 -0.03 -0.01 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Net financing need for the 
year

3.22 15.96 8.86 11.32 4.37 1.39 2.59

Page 192



 

 

The CFR includes any other long-term liabilities (e.g. finance leases). Whilst these increase the 
CFR, and therefore the Council’s borrowing requirement, these types of schemes include a 
borrowing facility and so the Council is not required to separately borrow for these schemes. 
Changes to IFRS 16 which applied from 2024/25 saw the Council reclassify 2 leases as finance 
leases which are included within the CFR. 
 
Members are asked to approve the CFR projections below: 

 

2.3 Liability Benchmark 

The Council is required to estimate and measure the Liability Benchmark (LB) for the forthcoming 
financial year and the following two financial years, as a minimum.  

There are four components to the LB: - 

1. Existing loan debt outstanding: the Council’s existing loans that are still outstanding in 
future years.  

2. Loans CFR: this is calculated in accordance with the loans CFR definition in the 
Prudential Code and projected into the future based on approved prudential borrowing 
and planned MRP.  

3. Net loans requirement: this will show the Council’s gross loan debt less treasury 
management investments at the last financial year-end, projected into the future and 
based on its approved prudential borrowing, planned MRP and any other major cash flows 
forecast.  

4. Liability benchmark (or gross loans requirement): this equals net loans requirement plus 
short-term liquidity allowance. 

The Council’s liability benchmark presented as a chart of the above four balances is shown below: 

2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M
CFR – Non Housing 64.82 78.07 83.07 89.88 89.53 85.91 83.90
CFR – Housing 33.04 31.99 30.95 29.91 28.87 27.83 26.79
Total CFR 97.85 110.06 114.02 119.79 118.40 113.74 110.69
Movement in CFR
Non Housing 0.32 13.25 5.00 6.81 -0.35 -3.62 -2.01
Housing -1.05 -1.05 -1.04 -1.04 -1.04 -1.04 -1.04
Net Movement in CFR -0.73 12.21 3.96 5.77 -1.39 -4.66 -3.05

Net financing need for the year 
(above) re Non Housing

3.22 15.96 8.86 11.32 4.37 1.39 2.59

Less MRP/VRP and other 
financing movements

-3.95 -3.75 -4.90 -5.55 -5.76 -6.05 -5.64

Net Movement in CFR -0.73 12.21 3.96 5.77 -1.39 -4.66 -3.05

Movement in CFR represented by

Capital Financing 
Requirement

Page 193



 

 

 

 

Any years where actual loans are less than the benchmark indicate a future borrowing 
requirement; any years where actual loans outstanding exceed the benchmark represent an 
overborrowed position, which will result in excess cash requiring investment. 

During 2026/27, forecast levels of funds available for treasury investments are falling in line with 
cash flow forecasts and as overall levels of General Fund and HRA reserves decrease. 

There is, therefore, a need to borrow to cover the net loans requirement. Given PWLB interest 
rates at present, temporary borrowing from other local authorities will be utilised until PWLB rates 
reduce.  

It is intended that the gap between the net loans requirement and the liability benchmark (gross 
loans requirement) will be covered by day-to-day working cashflow surpluses. 

2.4 Core Funds and Expected Investment Balances  

The application of resources (capital receipts, reserves etc.) to either finance capital expenditure 
or other budget decisions to support the revenue budget will have an ongoing impact on 
investments, unless resources are supplemented each year from new sources (e.g. asset sales). 
The following table provides estimates of the year end balances for each resource and anticipated 
year end cash flow balances from other day to day activities: 

 

 Year End Resources 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M
Fund balances / reserves 32.30 32.36 30.36 30.20 30.64 31.74 33.97
Capital receipts 4.08 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Provisions 4.21 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00
Total core funds 40.59 37.36 35.36 35.20 35.64 36.74 38.97
Working capital* 14.32 15.00 15.00 15.00 15.00 15.00 15.00

Under/over borrowing** -40.93 -38.17 -37.17 -37.98 -36.63 -32.01 -29.00
Expected investments 13.98 14.19 13.19 12.22 14.01 19.73 24.97

Page 194



 

 

 
*Working capital balances shown are estimated year end; these may be higher mid-year 

2.5 Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy Statement  

Under Regulation 27 of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 
Regulations 2003, where the Authority has financed capital expenditure by borrowing it is required 
to make a provision each year through a revenue charge (MRP). The 2003 Regulations have 
been further amended with full effect from April 2025 to expressly provide that in determining a 
prudent provision local authorities cannot exclude any amount of CFR from its calculation, unless 
by an exception set out in statute. 

The Council is required to calculate a prudent provision of MRP which ensures that the 
outstanding debt liability is repaid over a period that is reasonably commensurate with that over 
which the capital expenditure provides benefits. The MRP Guidance (2024) gives four ready-
made options for calculating MRP, the Council can use a mix of these options if it considers it 
appropriate to do so.  

The Government considers that the methods of making prudent provision include the options set 
out in the statutory guidance. However, this does not rule out or otherwise preclude an authority 
from using an alternative method should it decide that is more appropriate. Any method used is 
subject to the conditions in paragraphs 61 to 65 of the guidance as far as these are relevant. 

It is recommended that Council approves the following MRP Policy Statement.  

 Supported borrowing incurred before 1st April 2008 will apply the Asset Life Method using 
an annuity method over 60 years. 

 Unsupported borrowing will be subject to MRP using the Asset Life Method, which will be 
charged over a period which is reasonably commensurate with the average estimated 
useful life of the assets. An annuity method will be applied for the MRP calculation. 

 Unsupported borrowing on vehicles will be subject to MRP using the Asset Life Method, 
which will be charged over a period which is reasonably commensurate with the estimated 
useful life of the vehicles. An annuity method will be applied for the MRP calculation. 

 The interest rate applied to the annuity calculations will reflect the market conditions at the 
time. For the current financial year, the interest rate used will be the Authority’s weighted 
average borrowing rate. 

 MRP will commence in the financial year following the one in which the expenditure was 
incurred, or in the year after the asset becomes operational.  

 MRP in respect of unsupported borrowing taken to meet expenditure, which is treated as 
capital expenditure by virtue of either a capitalisation direction or regulations, will be 
determined in accordance with the asset life method as recommended by the MRP 
guidance. 

 MRP in respect of assets acquired under PFI or Finance Leases will be charged at a rate 
equal to the principal element of the annual lease rental for the year in question. 

 MRP Overpayments - The MRP Guidance allows that any charges made in excess of the 
statutory MRP, i.e. voluntary revenue provision (VRP) or overpayments, can be reclaimed 
in later years if deemed necessary or prudent. In order for these sums to be reclaimed for 
use in the budget, this policy must disclose the cumulative overpayment made each year. 
The VRP overpayments up to 31st March 2025 are £16.181M of which £13.533M relates 
to HRA and £2.648M relates to General Fund. 

 On an annual basis the Section 151 officer shall review the level of MRP to be charged, 
to determine if this is at a level which is considered prudent based on the Authority’s 
circumstances at that time, taking into account medium / long term financial plans, current 

Page 195



 

 

budgetary pressures, and current and future capital expenditure plans. Dependant on this 
review the Section 151 officer will adjust the annual MRP charge by making VRP or 
reclaiming previous VRP. The amount of MRP charged shall not be less than zero in any 
financial year. 

2.6 Affordability Prudential Indicators 

The previous sections cover the overall capital and control of borrowing prudential indicators, but 
within this framework prudential indicators are required to assess the affordability of the capital 
investment plans. These provide an indication of the impact of the capital investment plans on the 
Council’s overall finances. Members are asked to approve the following indicators: 

Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream 

This indicator identifies the trend in the cost of capital (borrowing and other long term obligation 
costs net of investment income) against the net revenue stream. 
 

 
 
The estimates of financing costs include current commitments and the proposals in this budget 
report. 
 

3 BORROWING 

The capital expenditure plans set out in Section 2 provide details of the service activity of the 
Council. The treasury management function ensures that the Council’s cash is organised in 
accordance with the relevant professional codes, so that sufficient cash is available to meet this 
service activity and the Council’s capital strategy. This will involve both the organisation of the 
cash flow and, where capital plans require, the organisation of appropriate borrowing facilities. 
The strategy covers the relevant treasury / prudential indicators, the current and projected debt 
positions and the annual investment strategy. 

3.1 Current Portfolio Position 

The overall treasury management portfolio as at 31.03.25 and for the position as at 31.12.25 are 
shown below for both borrowing and investments 

2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Non-HRA 16.20% 15.52% 22.16% 24.28% 24.32% 24.12% 20.66%
HRA 15.78% 15.64% 14.61% 13.92% 13.71% 13.07% 12.42%

% Ratio of Financing Costs to
Net Revenue Stream

Page 196



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Actual  1.4.25
Actual  
1.4.25

Closing  
31.12.25

Closing 
31.12.2025

£ £

Treasury Investments £'000 % £'000 %

Call Accounts

Natwest (Cash Manager Plus) 1,719 10.53 292 1.00

Money Market Funds
Aberdeen Life Investments 6,000 36.77 6,000 20.48

BlackRock Gov 0 0.00 0 0.00

BlackRock 1st 2,600 15.93 0 0.00

Goldman Sachs 0 0.00 0 0.00

Insight 0 0.00 5,000 17.07

LGIM 6,000 36.77 6,000 20.48

Fixed Term Deposits

DMADF 0 0.00 2,000 6.83

North Tyneside Council 0 0.00 5,000 17.07

London Borough of Barking & Dagenham 0 0.00 5,000 17.07

Total treasury investments 16,319 100.00 29,292 100.00

Treasury external borrowing

PWLB 56,918 100.00 56,398 100.00

Total external borrowing 56,918 100.00 56,398 100.00

Net treasury investments/(borrowing) (40,599) (27,106)

Page 197



 

 

The Council’s forward projections for borrowing are summarised below. The table shows the 
actual external debt, against the underlying capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing 
Requirement or CFR), highlighting any over or under borrowing.  

 

Within the range of prudential indicators there are several key indicators to ensure that the Council 
operates its activities within well-defined limits. One of these is that the Council needs to ensure 
that its gross debt does not, except in the short-term, exceed the total of the CFR in the preceding 
year plus the estimates of any additional CFR for 2026/27 and the following two financial years. 
This allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future years but ensures that borrowing 
is not undertaken for revenue or speculative purposes.  

The Chief Officer Resources & Section 151 Officer reports that the Council complied with this 
prudential indicator in the current year and does not envisage difficulties for the future. This view 
takes account of current commitments, existing plans, and the proposals in the budget report.  

3.2 Treasury Indicators: Limits to Borrowing Activity 

The Operational Boundary 

This is the limit beyond which external debt is not normally expected to exceed. In most cases, 
this would be a similar figure to the CFR but may be lower or higher depending on the levels of 
actual debt and the ability to fund under-borrowing by other cash resources. 

 
 

The Authorised Limit for External Debt 

This is a key prudential indicator and represents a control on the maximum level of borrowing. 
This represents a legal limit beyond which external debt is prohibited, and this limit needs to be 
set or revised by the Full Council. It reflects the level of external debt which, while not desired, 
could be afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in the longer term.  

2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M

Debt at 1 April - PWLB & short
term actual

57.97 56.93 71.89 76.85 81.81 81.77 81.73

Debt  - estimated 0.00 15.00 5.00 5.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Expected change in Debt -1.04 -1.04 -1.04 -1.04 -1.04 -1.04 -1.04

Other long-term liabilities 
(OLTL)

0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Expected change in OLTL 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Actual gross debt at 31 March 56.93 71.89 76.85 81.81 81.77 81.73 81.69

The Capital Financing 
Requirement

97.85 110.06 114.02 119.79 118.40 113.74 110.69

(Under) / over borrowing -40.92 -38.17 -37.17 -37.98 -36.63 -32.01 -29.00

External Debt

2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M
Debt 98.00 110.07 114.02 119.79 118.40 113.74 110.69
Other Long Term Liabilities 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Total 98.00 111.07 115.02 120.79 119.40 114.74 111.69

Operational boundary

Page 198



 

 

This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 2003. The 
Government retains an option to control either the total of all councils’ plans, or those of a specific 
council, although this power has not yet been exercised. 

Council is asked to approve the following Authorised Limit: 

 

3.3 Prospects for Interest Rates 

The Council has appointed MUFG Corporate Markets as its treasury advisor and part of their 
service is to assist the Council to formulate a view on interest rates. MUFG Corporate Markets 
provided forecasts on 22 December 2025. These are forecasts for Bank rate, average earnings 
and PWLB certainty rates, gilt yields plus 80 bps: 

 

 
 
 
Additional notes by MUFG Corporate Markets on this forecast table: - 
 

 Our last interest rate forecast update was undertaken on 11 August.  Since then, a 
combination of tepid growth (0.2% q/q GDP for Q2 and 0.1% q/q GDP for Q3), falling 
inflation (currently CPI is 3.2%), and a November Budget that will place more pressure 
on the majority of households’ income, has provided an opportunity for the Bank of 
England’s Monetary Policy Committee to further reduce Bank Rate from 4% to 3.75% 
on 18 December. 

 Surprisingly, to most market commentators, the recent steep fall in CPI inflation in one 
month from 3.6% to 3.2% did not persuade most “dissenters” from the November vote 
(Lombardelli, Greene, Mann and Pill) to switch to the rate-cutting side of the Committee.  
Instead, it was left to Bank Governor, Andrew Bailey, to use his deciding vote to force 
a rate cut through by the slimmest of margins, 5-4. 

 Given the wafer-thin majority for a rate cut it was not unexpected to hear that although 
rates would continue on a “gradual downward path”, suggesting a further rate cut or 
cuts in the offing, MPC members want to assess incoming evidence on labour market 
activity and wage growth.  Indeed, with annual wage growth still over 4.5%, the MPC 
reiterated that the case for further rate cuts would be “a closer call”, and Governor 
Bailey observed there is “limited space as Bank Rate approaches a neutral level”.  

 Accordingly, the MUFG Corporate Markets forecast has been revised to price in a rate 
cut in Q2 2026 to 3.5%, likely to take place in the wake of a significant fall in the CPI 
inflation reading from 3% in March to 2% in April (as forecast by Capital Economics), 
followed by a short lull through the summer whilst more data is garnered, and then a 
further rate cut to 3.25% in Q4. 

 As in August, nonetheless, threats to that central scenario abound.  What if wage 
increases remain stubbornly high?  There are, after all, several sectors of the domestic 

2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M
Debt 114.00 125.00 129.00 135.00 133.00 129.00 126.00
Other Long Term Liabilities 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Total 114.00 126.00 130.00 136.00 134.00 130.00 127.00

Authorised limit

Page 199



 

 

economy, including social care provision and the building/construction industries, 
where staff shortages remain severe.  Moreover, by May 2026, following the local 
elections, we will have a better handle on whether or not the Starmer/Reeves team is 
going to see out the current Parliament or whether they face a Leadership challenge 
from within their own party  If so, how will gilt markets react to these variables…and will 
there be additional geo-political factors to also bake in, particularly the Fed’s monetary 
policy decisions in 2026 and the ongoing battle to lower rates whilst inflation remains 
close to 3%.    

 Accordingly, our updated central forecast is made with several hefty caveats.  We are 
confident, as we have been for some time, that our forecast for Bank Rate and the 5-
year PWLB Certainty Rate is robust, and we have marginally brought forward the timing 
of the next rate cut(s).  But for the 10-, 25- and 50-years part of the curve, the level of 
gilt issuance, and the timing of its placement, will be integral to achieving a benign 
trading environment.  That is not a “given”, and additionally, the inflation outlook and 
political factors domestically and, crucially, in the US, are also likely to hold sway.  
Matters should be clearer by June in the UK, but the US mid-term elections are 
scheduled for November. 

 Our revised PWLB rate forecasts are based on the Certainty Rate (the standard rate 
minus 20 bps) which has been accessible to most authorities since 1 November 2012.  
Please note, the lower Housing Revenue Account (HRA) PWLB rate started on 15 June 
2023 for those authorities with an HRA (standard rate minus 60 bps) and is set to 
prevail until at least the end of March 2026.  Hopefully, there will be a further extension 
to this discounted rate announced in January. 

 Money market yield forecasts are based on expected average earnings by local 
authorities for 3 to 12 months. 

 
Gilt Yields and PWLB rates 

The overall longer-run trend is for gilt yields and PWLB rates to fall back over the timeline of our 
forecasts, but the risks to our forecasts are generally to the upsides. Our target borrowing rates 
are set two years forward (as we expect rates to fall back) and the current PWLB (certainty) 
borrowing rates are set out below: - 

 

PWLB debt Current borrowing 
rate as at 22.12.25 

p.m. 

% 

Target borrowing rate now 

(end of Q4 2027) 

% 

Target borrowing rate previous 

(end of Q4 2027) 

% 

5 years 4.81 4.10 4.20 

10 years 5.39 4.70 4.70 

25 years 6.01 5.30 5.30 

50 years 5.78 5.10 5.10 

 

Borrowing advice: Our long-term (beyond 10 years) forecast for Bank Rate remains at 
3.5%. As all PWLB certainty rates are still above this level, borrowing strategies will need 
to be reviewed in that context. Overall, better value can be obtained at the shorter end of 
the curve (<5 years PWLB maturity/<10 years PWLB EIP) and short-dated fixed LA to LA 
monies should also be considered. Temporary borrowing rates will, generally, fall in line 
with Bank Rate cuts. 

 

Page 200



 

 

3.4 Borrowing Strategy 

The Council is currently maintaining an under-borrowed position. This means that the capital 
borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement), has not been fully funded with loan debt as 
cash supporting the Council’s provisions, reserves, balances and working capital has been used 
as a temporary measure. This strategy is prudent as medium and longer dated borrowing rates 
are expected to fall from their current levels, albeit only once prevailing inflation concerns are 
addressed by restrictive near-term monetary policy. That is, Bank Rate remains relatively elevated 
in 2026 even if further rate cuts arise. 

Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution will be adopted with 
the 2026/2 treasury operations. The Section 151 Officer, under delegated powers will monitor 
interest rates in financial markets and adopt a pragmatic approach to changing circumstances: 

 if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp FALL in borrowing rates then 
borrowing would be postponed. 

 if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper in RISE borrowing rates than 
that currently forecast, fixed rate funding would be drawn whilst interest rates are lower than 
they are projected to be in the next few years. 

Any decisions will be reported to Cabinet at the next available opportunity. 

 

3.5 Maturity Structure of Borrowing 

 
These gross limits are set to reduce the Council’s exposure to large, fixed rate sums falling due 
for refinancing and are required for upper and lower limits. 

The Council is asked to approve the following indicators and limits: 

 

3.6 Policy on Borrowing in Advance of Need 

The Council will not borrow more than or in advance of its needs purely in order to profit from the 
investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision to borrow in advance will be within forward 
approved Capital Financing Requirement estimates, and will be considered carefully to ensure 
that value for money can be demonstrated and that the Council can ensure the security of such 
funds.  

Maturity structure of fixed 
interest rate borrowing 
2025/26

£'M % Lower Upper

Under 12 months 1.04 1.86% 0.00 100.00%
12 months and within 24 
months

1.04 1.86% 0.00 100.00%

24 months and within 5 years 3.12 5.59% 0.00 100.00%

5 years and within 10 years 5.21 9.32% 0.00 100.00%

10 years and within 20 years 6.26 11.20% 0.00 100.00%

20 years and within 30 years 39.20 70.16% 0.00 100.00%

30 years and within 40 years 0.00 0.00% 0.00 100.00%

Page 201



 

 

3.7 Debt Rescheduling 

Rescheduling of current borrowing in our debt portfolio may be considered whilst premature 
redemption rates remain elevated but only if there is surplus cash available to facilitate any 
repayment, or rebalancing of the portfolio to provide more certainty is considered appropriate. 
 
If rescheduling was done it would be reported to Cabinet at the earliest meeting following its 
action. 
  

3.8 New Financial Institutions as a Source of Borrowing and Types of Borrowing 

Currently the PWLB Certainty Rate is set at gilts +80 basis points. However, consideration may still 
need to be given to sourcing funding from the following sources for the following reasons: 
 
 Local authorities – primarily shorter dated maturities out to 3 years or so are generally still cheaper 

than the Certainty Rate. 
 Financial institutions – primarily insurance companies and pension funds but also some banks, and 

sometimes out of forward dates where the objective is to avoid a “cost of carry” or to achieve 
refinancing certainty over the next few years). 

 The UK National Wealth Fund (previously the UK Infrastructure Bank) 
 
Our advisors will keep us informed as to the relative merits of each of these alternative funding 
sources. 
 

4 ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY 

4.1 Investment Policy – Management of Risk 

The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) and CIPFA have 
extended the meaning of ‘investments’ to include both financial and non-financial investments. 
This report deals solely with financial investments, (as managed by the treasury management 
team). Non-financial investments, essentially the purchase of income yielding assets, are covered 
in the Capital Strategy (a separate report). 

Council’s investment policy has regard to the following: 

 MHCLG’s Guidance on Local Government Investments (“the Guidance”) 

 CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral 
Guidance Notes 2021 (“the Code”) 

 CIPFA Treasury Management Guidance Notes 2021 

The Council’s investment priorities will be security first, liquidity second and then yeild (return). 

The Council will aim to achieve the optimum return (yield) on its investments commensurate with 
proper levels of security and liquidity and with the Council’s risk appetite.  

In the current economic climate, it is considered appropriate to maintain a degree of liquidity to 
cover cash flow needs but also to consider “laddering” investments for periods up to 12 months 
with high credit rated financial institutions, whilst investment rates remain elevated, as well as 
wider range fund options. 

The above guidance from MHCLG and CIPFA place a high priority on the management of risk. 
This authority has adopted a prudent approach to managing risk and defines its risk appetite by 
the following means: 

Page 202



 

 

1. Minimum acceptable credit criteria are applied in order to generate a list of highly 
creditworthy counterparties. This also enables diversification and thus avoidance of 
concentration risk. The key ratings used to monitor counterparties are the short-term and 
long-term ratings 

2. Other Information: ratings will not be the sole determinant of the quality of an institution; 
it is important to continually assess and monitor the financial sector on both a micro and 
macro basis and in relation to the economic and political environments in which 
institutions operate. The assessment will also take account of information that reflects the 
opinion of the markets. To achieve this the council will engage with its advisors to maintian 
a monitor on market pricing such as “credit default swaps” and overlay that information 
on top of the credit ratings 

3. Other information sources used will include the financial press, share price and other 
such information pertaining to the banking sector in order to establish the most robust 
scrutiny process on the suitability of potential investment counterparties 

4. The authority has defined the list of types of investment instruments that the treasury 
management team are authorised to use. There are two lists in annex B2 under the 
categories of ‘specified’ and ‘non-specified’ investments 

 Specified investments are those with a high level of credit quality and subject to 
a maturity limit of one year or have less than a year left to run to maturity, if 
originally they were classified as being non-specified investments solely due to 
the maturity period exceeding one year. 

 Non-specified investments are those with less high credit quality, may be for 
periods in excess of one year, and/or more complex instruments which require 
greater consideration by members and officers before being authorised for use. 

5. Non-specified investments limit. The Council has determined that it will limit the 
maximum total exposure to non-specified investments as being 20% of the total 
investment portfolio 

6. Lending limits (amounts and maturity) for each counterparty will be set through applying 
the matrix table in paragraph 4.2 

7. Transaction limits are set for each type of investment in 4.2 

8. The Council will set a limit for the amount of its investments which are invested for longer 
than 365 days (see paragraph 4.4) 

9. Investments will only be placed with counterparties from countries with a specified 
minimum sovereign rating (see paragraph 4.3) 

10. The Council has engaged external consultants (see paragraph 1.5), to provided expert 
advice on how to optimise an appropriate balance of security, liquidity and yield, given 
the risk appetite of this authority in the context of the expected level of cash balances and 
need for liquidity throughout the year 

11. All investments will be denominated in sterling 

12. As a result of the change in accounting standards under IFRS9, the authority will consider 
the implications of investment instruments which could result in an adverse movement in 
the value of the amount invested and resultant charges at the end of the year to the 
General Fund. 

 

The Council will also pursue value for money in treasury management and will monitor the yield 
from investment income against appropriate benchmarks for investment performance. Regular 
monitoring of investment performance will be carried out during the year. 

Page 203



 

 

Changes in risk management policy from last year 

The above criteria are unchanged from last year 

4.2 Creditworthiness Policy  

This Council will apply the creditworthiness service provided by the MUFG Corporate Markets. 
This service employs a sophisticated modelling approach utilising credit ratings from the three 
main credit rating agencies - Fitch, Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s. The credit ratings of 
counterparties are supplemented with the following overlays:  

1. credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies; 

2. Credit Default Swap (CDS) spreads to give early warning of likely changes in credit 
ratings; 

3. sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most creditworthy countries. 

This modelling approach combines credit ratings and any assigned Watches and Outlooks in a 
weighted scoring system which is then combined with an overlay of CDS spreads. The end 
product is a series of colour coded bands which indicate the relative creditworthiness of 
counterparties. These colour codes are used by the Council to determine the suggested duration 
for investments. The Council will, therefore, use counterparties within the following durational 
bands:  

 Yellow (Y) – up to but less than 1 year 

 Dark pink (Pi1) liquid – Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit score of 1.25  

 Light pink (Pi2) liquid – Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit score of 1.5 

 Purple (P) – up to but less than 1 year  

 Blue (B) – up to but less than 1 year (only applies to nationalised or part- nationalised UK 
Banks) 

 Orange (O) – up to but less than 1 year 

 Red (R) – 6 months 

 Green (G) – 100 days  

 No colour (N/C) – not to be used 

The MUFG Corporate Markets creditworthiness service uses a wider array of information other 
than just primary ratings and by using a risk weighted scoring system, it does not give undue 
preponderance to just one agency’s ratings. 

Typically, the minimum credit ratings criteria that the Council use will be a short-term rating (Fitch 
or equivalents) of F1 and a long-term rating of A-. There may be occasions when the counterparty 
ratings from one rating agency are marginally lower than these ratings but may still be used. In 
these instances, consideration will be given to the whole range of ratings available, or other topical 
market information, to support their use. 

All credit ratings will be monitored daily. The Council is alerted to changes to ratings of all three 
agencies through its use of the MUFG Corporate Markets creditworthiness service.  

 If a downgrade results in the counterparty / investment scheme no longer meeting the 
Council’s minimum criteria, its further use as a new investment will be withdrawn 
immediately. 

 In addition to the use of credit ratings the Council will be advised of information in 
movements in credit default swap spreads against the iTraxx European Senior financials 
benchmark and other market data on a daily basis via its Passport website, provided 

Page 204



 

 

exclusively to it by MUFG Corporate Markets. Extreme market movements may result in 
downgrade of an institution or removal from the Council’s lending list. 

Sole reliance will not be placed on the use of this external service. In addition, the Council will 
also use market data and market information, as well as information on any external support for 
banks to help its decision-making process. 

 

 

 
* the yellow colour category includes UK Government debt, or its equivalent, money market funds 
and collateralised deposits where the collateral is UK Government debt –see Annex B2. 

  

Colour 
(and long-
term rating 

where 
applicable) 

Money  Time  

Limit Limit 

Banks /UK Govt. backed instruments* yellow £12m  ≤1 year  

Banks  purple £6m  ≤1 year  

Banks  orange £12m ≤1 year 

Banks – part nationalised blue £12m ≤1 year 

Banks  red £12m ≤6 mths 

Banks  green £3m ≤100 days 

Banks  No colour 
Not to be 

used 
  

Limit 3 category – Council’s banker 
(for non-specified investments) 

n/a £1.5m 1 day 

DMADF 
UK 

sovereign 
rating 

unlimited 
≤6 

months 

Local authorities n/a £12m ≤1 year 

  Fund 
rating** 

Money 
and/or % 

Time  

Limit Limit 

Money Market Funds CNAV AAA £6m liquid 

Money Market Funds LVNAV AAA £6m liquid 

Money Market Funds VNAV AAA £6m liquid 
Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a 
credit score of 1.25  

 Dark pink / 
AAA 

£6m liquid 

Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a 
credit score of 1.5  

Light pink / 
AAA 

£6m liquid 

 

Page 205



 

 

** “fund” ratings are different to individual counterparty ratings, coming under either specific 
“MMF” or “Bond Fund” rating criteria. 

Creditworthiness 

Significant levels of downgrades to Short- and Long-Term credit ratings have not materialised 
since the crisis in March 2020. In the main, where they did change, any alterations were limited 
to Outlooks. Nonetheless, when setting minimum sovereign debt ratings, the Council will not set 
a minimum rating for the UK. 

CDS prices 

Although bank CDS prices (these are market indicators of credit risk) spiked upwards during the 
days of the Truss/Kwarteng government in the autumn 2022, they have returned to more average 
levels since then. However, sentiment can easily shift, so it will remain important to undertake 
continual monitoring of all aspects of risk and return in the current circumstances. MUFG 
Corporate Markets monitor CDS prices as part of their creditworthiness service to local authorities 
and the Council has access to this information via its MUFG Corporate Markets-provided Passport 
portal. 

4.3 Limits 

Due care will be taken to consider the exposure of the Council’s total investment portfolio to non-
specified investments, countries, groups and sectors 

a) Non-specified treasury management investment limit. The Council has determined 
that it will limit the maximum total exposure of treasury management investments to non-
specified treasury management investments as being 20% of the total treasury 
management investment portfolio. 

b) Country limit. The Council has determined that it will only use approved counterparties 
from the UK and from countries with a minimum sovereign credit rating of AA- from Fitch 
(or equivalent). The list of countries that qualify using this credit criteria as at the date of 
this report are shown in Appendix 5.6. This list will be added to, or deducted from, by 
Officers should ratings change in accordance with this policy. 

4.4 Investment Strategy 

In-house Funds: Investments will be made with reference to the core balance and cash flow 
requirements and the outlook for short-term interest rates (i.e. rates for investments up to 12 
months). Greater returns are usually obtainable by investing for longer periods. The current shape 
of the yield curve suggests that rates can be expected to fall throughout 2026, but only if the CPI 
measure of inflation maintains a downwards trend towards the Bank of England’s 2% target.  
Rates may be cut quicker than expected if the economy stagnates. 

Accordingly, while most cash balances are required in order to manage the ups and downs of 
cash flow, where cash sums can be reliably identified that could be invested for longer periods 
the value to be obtained from longer-term investments will be carefully assessed. 
 
Investment Returns Expectations 

The current forecast shown in paragraph 3.3, includes a forecast for Bank Rate to fall to a low of 
3.25% in 2026. 

The suggested budgeted investment earnings rates for returns on investments placed for periods 
up to about three months during each financial year were updated on 22 December 2025 and are 
as follows: 

 2025/26 (residual) 3.80% 
 2026/27 3.40% 

Page 206



 

 

 2027/28 3.30% 
 2028/29 3.30% 
 2029/30 3.50% 
 Years 6-10  3.50% 

Caution must be exercised in respect of all interest rate forecasts. 

Investment treasury indicator and limit - the total principal funds invested for greater than 365 
days. These limits are set with regard to the Council’s liquidity requirements and to reduce the 
need for early sale of an investment and are based on the availability of funds after each year-
end. 

 

Council is asked to approve the following treasury indicator and limit:  

 

4.5 End of year investment report 

At the end of the financial year, the Council will report on its investment activity as part of its 
Annual Treasury Report. 

 

Maximum principal sums 
invested > 365 days 

2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31

Nil
Principal sums invested > 365 
days

Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

Page 207



 

 

ANNEX B1 
Treasury Management Glossary of Terms 

 
 Annuity – method of repaying a loan where the payment amount remains uniform throughout the life 

of the loan, therefore the split varies such that the proportion of the payment relating to the principal 
increases as the amount of interest decreases. 
 

 CIPFA – the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy, is the professional body for 
accountants working in Local Government and other public sector organisations, also the standard 
setting organisation for Local Government Finance. 
 

 Call account – instant access deposit account. 
 

 Counterparty – an institution (e.g. a bank) with whom a borrowing or investment transaction is made. 
 

 Credit Rating – is an opinion on the creditworthiness of an institution, based on judgements about the 
future status of that institution. It is based on any information available regarding the institution: 
published results, Shareholders’ reports, reports from trading partners, and also an analysis of the 
environment in which the institution operates (e.g. its home economy, and its market sector). The main 
rating agencies are Fitch, Standard and Poor’s, and Moody’s. They currently analyse credit worthiness 
under four headings (but see changes referred to in the strategy): 
 

 Short Term Rating – the perceived ability of the organisation to meet its obligations in the short term, 
this will be based on measures of liquidity. 
 

 Long Term Rating – the ability of the organisation to repay its debts in the long term, based on 
opinions regarding future stability, e.g. its exposure to ‘risky’ markets. 
 

 Individual/Financial Strength Rating – a measure of an institution’s soundness on a stand-alone 
basis based on its structure, past performance and credit profile. 
 

 Legal Support Rating – a view of the likelihood, in the case of a financial institution failing, that its 
obligations would be met, in whole or part, by its shareholders, central bank, or national government. 
 
The rating agencies constantly monitor information received regarding financial institutions and 
will amend the credit ratings assigned as necessary. 

 DMADF and the DMO – The DMADF is the ‘Debt Management Account Deposit Facility’; this is 
highly secure fixed term deposit account with the Debt Management Office (DMO), part of Her 
Majesty’s Treasury. 
 

 EIP – Equal Instalments of Principal, a type of loan where each payment includes an equal 
amount in respect of loan principal, therefore the interest due with each payment reduces as the 
principal is eroded, and so the total amount reduces with each instalment. 
 

 Gilts – the name given to bonds issued by the U K Government. Gilts are issued bearing interest at a 
specified rate; however, they are then traded on the markets like shares and their value rises or falls 
accordingly. The Yield on a gilt is the interest paid divided by the Market Value of that gilt. 
E.g. a 30-year gilt is issued in 1994 at £1, bearing interest of 8%. In 1999 the market value of the gilt is 
£1.45. The yield on that gilt is calculated as 8%/1.45 = 5.5%.  
See also PWLB. 
 

Page 208



 

 

 Liquidity – Relates to the amount of readily available or short-term investment money which can be 
used for either day to day or unforeseen expenses. For example, Call Accounts allow instant daily 
access to invested funds.  
 

 Maturity – Type of loan where only payments of interest are made during the life of the loan, with the 
total amount of principal falling due at the end of the loan period. 
 

 Money Market Fund (MMF) – Type of investment where the Council purchases a share of a cash 
fund that makes short term deposits with a broad range of high-quality counterparties. These are highly 
regulated in terms of average length of deposit and counterparty quality, to ensure AAA rated status. 
As from 21 July 2018 there will be three structural options for existing money market funds – Public 
Debt Constant Net Asset Value (CNAV), Low Volatility Net Asset Value (LVNAV) and Variable Net 
Asset Value (VNAV) 

 
 MUFG Corporate Markets – MUFG Corporate Markets are the City Council’s Treasury Management 

advisors. They provide advice on borrowing strategy, investment strategy, and vetting of investment 
counterparties, in addition to ad hoc guidance throughout the year. 
 

 Policy and Strategy Documents – documents required by the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management in Local Authorities. These set out the framework for treasury management operations 
during the year. 
  

 Public Works Loans Board (PWLB) – a central government agency providing long and short term 
loans to Local Authorities. Rates are set daily at a margin over the Gilt yield (see Gilts above). Loans 
may be taken at fixed or variable rates and as Annuity, Maturity, or EIP loans (see separate definitions) 
over periods of up to fifty years. Financing is also available from the money markets, however because 
of its nature the PWLB is generally able to offer better terms. 
 

 SONIA (Sterling Overnight Index Average) – this reflects the average of the interest rates that banks 
pay to borrow sterling overnight from other financial institutions and other institutional investors. It is 
used as a replacement for LIBOR (and LIBID calculations), the publication of which ceased at the close 
of 2021. 
 

 Yield – see Gilts 
 
Members may also wish to make reference to The Councillor’s Guide to Local Government Finance. 
  

Page 209



 

 

ANNEX B2 
 

A variety of investment instruments will be used, subject to the credit quality of the institution, and 
depending on the type of investment made it will fall into one of the above categories. 
 
The criteria, time limits and monetary limits applying to institutions or investment vehicles are: 
 

*SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: All such investments will be sterling denominated, with maturities up 
to maximum of 1 year, meeting the quality criteria as applicable. 
 
**NON-SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: These are any investments which do not meet the specified 
investment criteria. A maximum of up to 20% ** will be held in aggregate in relevant non-specified 
investments (as at the trade date of investing). 

 Minimum credit 
criteria / colour band

Max % of 
counterparty limit - 
*Specified

Max % of 
counterparty limit – 
**Non -Specified

Max. maturity period

DMADF – UK Government N/A 100% N/A 6 months

UK Government gilts UK sovereign rating 100% N/A 1 year

UK Government Treasury blls UK sovereign rating 100% N/A 1 year

Bonds issued by multilateral 
development banks

AAA 100% N/A 6 months

Money Market Funds CNAV AAA 100% N/A Liquid

Money Market Funds LVNAV AAA 100% N/A Liquid

Money Market Funds VNAV AAA 100% N/A Liquid
Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds 
with a credit score of 1.25 

AAA 100% N/A Liquid

Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds 
with a credit score of 1.5  

AAA 100% N/A Liquid

Local authorities N/A 100% N/A 1 year

Yellow 100% 20% Up to 1 year

Purple 100% 20% Up to 1 year

Blue 100% N/A Up to 1 year

Orange 100% 20% Up to 1 year

Red 100% 20% Up to 6 Months

Green 100% 20% Up to 100 days

No Colour 0% 0% Not for use

Yellow 20% 0% Up to 1 year

Purple 20% 0% Up to 1 year

Blue 20% 0% Up to 1 year

Orange 20% 0% Up to 1 year

Red 0% 0% Up to 6 Months

Green 0% 0% Up to 100 days

No Colour 0% 0% Not for use

Term deposits with banks and 
building societies

Certificates of Deposit and 
corporate bonds with banks and 
building societies

Page 210



 

 

ANNEX B3 

Background information on credit ratings 
 
Credit ratings are an important part of the Authority’s investment strategy. The information below 
summarises some of the key features of credit ratings and why they are important. 
 
What is a Credit Rating? 
A credit rating is: 
 An independent assessment of an organisation; 
 It gauges the likelihood of getting money back on the terms it was invested; 
 It is a statement of opinion, not statement of fact; 
 They help to measure the risk associated with investing with a counterparty; 
 
Who Provides / Uses Credit Ratings? 
There are three main ratings agencies, all of which are used in the Authority’s treasury strategy. 
 Fitch 
 Moody’s Investor Services 
 Standard & Poor’s 
 
The ratings supplied by these agencies are used by a broad range of institutions to help with investment 
decisions, these include: 
 
– Local Authorities; 
– Other non-financial institutional investors; 
– Financial institutions; 
– Regulators; 
– Central Banks; 
 
Rating Criteria 
There are many different types of rating supplied by the agencies. The key ones used by the Authority 
are ratings to indicate the likelihood of getting money back on terms invested. These can be split into 
two main categories: 
 
– ‘Short Term’ ratings for time horizons of 12 months or less. These may be considered as the most 
important for local authorities. 
 
– ‘Long Term’ ratings for time horizons of over 12 months. These may be considered as less important 
in the current climate. 
 
In addition, the agencies issue sovereign, individual and support ratings which will also feed into the 
investment strategy. 
 
Rating Scales (Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s) 
The table below shows how some of the higher graded short- and long-term ratings compare across 
the agencies; the top line represents the highest grade possible. (There are other ratings that go much 
lower than those shown below, and ratings for other elements). 
 

Short Term Long Term 
Fitch Moody’s S&P Fitch Moody’s S&P 
F1+ P-1 A-1+ AAA Aaa AAA 
F1 P-1 A-1 AA Aa2 AA 
F2 P-2 A-2 A A2 A 

 

Page 211



CABINET  

Medium Term Financial Strategy 

2026/27 – 2030/31 

10 February 2026 

 
Report of Chief Finance Officer 

 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 
To provide an update on the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) forecasts for 

2026/27 to 2030/31  

Key Decision  Non-Key Decision X Referral from Cabinet 
Member 

 

Date of notice of forthcoming key decision  

 
RECOMMENDATION OF COUNCILLOR HAMILTON-COX 

 
1. That Cabinet  

 

(1) Considers the draft future years budget estimates as set out in the report as the 

latest information available. 

 

(2) Agrees that the update be referred on to Council 25 February 2026 for 

information. A final consolidated medium term financial strategy will be agreed 

by the s151 officer in consultation with the portfolio holder before being 

presented to Full Council in March. 

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
1.1 The previous reports on this agenda considered the annual process for setting the Council’s 

revenue and capital budgets for 2026/27. This report sets out the context in which future 
decisions on resource allocation and budgeting will be taken.  

 
1.2 The Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) sets out how Lancaster City Council will 

manage its finances to deliver against its corporate priorities, whilst protecting its financial 
standing and responding to the many challenges it faces.  A final consolidated medium term 
financial strategy will be agreed by the s151 officer in consultation with the portfolio holder 
before being presented to Full Council in March. This will in turn inform the future budget 
setting process.  

 
 

2.0  LOCAL GOVERNMENT FUNDING & BUSINESS RATES 
 
 The Local Government Finance Settlement 
2.1 The government released the provisional multi-year local government finance settlement on 

17 December 2025, and the final is expected to be received on 9 February 2026 which is 
after the date this report was published.  No differences between the provisional and final 
settlements are expected however should there be any, then alterations will be highlighted 
in the report to Budget Council on 25 February 2026. 

 
2.2 The settlement sets out simplified allocations for local authorities across England for the next 

three years, and incorporates an updated distribution of resources following the conclusion 

Page 212Agenda Item 11



of the Fair Funding Review.  It incorporates changes to the business rates system and in 
whole, represents a major change in local government financing. 

 
2.3 Given all the changes, the effect of the local government settlement and the changes to the 

business rates system cannot be considered in isolation and the following table illustrates the 

overall financial impact. 

 

 Table 1 – Settlement allocations for Lancaster City Council 
 

 
 

 As table 2 shows, the settlement allocates £0.848M more resources in 2026/27 with further 

favourable and future years from Central Government than anticipated and this is favourable 

in context of the budget gap for the revenue budget.   

 
 Core Spending Power 
2.4 Core Spending Power (CSP) is a measure used by the Government to set out the resources 

available to a Council to fund service delivery. It combines certain grants payable to the 
Council together with estimates of Business Rates and Council Tax, these estimates are 
based on Government assumptions. CSP is used by the Government to make comparisons 
of the resources available to different Councils. As such, it is not necessarily the actual 
funding a Council will receive to fund service delivery. 

 

 Table 2 below displays the previous historic values of CSP, and shows the Council being 

almost entirely reliant on Council Tax and Business Rates with a small amount of income 

from central government grants to fund net expenditure. 
 
 Table 2: Core Spending Power (previously reported)  

 

Page 213



 
 
The simplification of the settlement alongside has resulted in an overhaul of the elements 
used to calculate the overall CSP and as such it is difficult to compare the individual elements 
to previous years.  The following table illustrates the new method of calculation for 2026/27 
and the following two years.  
 
Table 3: Core Spending Power 

 
 

 Further analysis of the provisional settlement is provided in the following table :- 
 

Table 4: Core Spending Power (Breakdown) 

 
 
2.5 Given the changes made the government issued a revised CSP figure for 2025/26 of 

£23.848M.  The total value of CSP for 2026/27 is £24.862M which is an increase of £1.014M, 
or 4.2%.  For information, this is in comparison to the average CSP for all Councils in England 
of 5.7%. 

 
 Business Rates 
2.6 The Council is required to submit its annual business rates return (NNDR1) to the 

Government by the end of January in which it estimates business rates income for 2026/27 

and the estimated deficit or surplus as at the end of 2025/26. 

 
2.7 The previously announced Government changes will come into effect from 1 April 2026 with 

regard to increasing the number of multipliers and introduction of new thresholds.  Business 
rates baselines have also been reset (incorporating growth). 

 
2.8 Previously, lower tier Council’s had a baseline position and were allowed to retain a 

2026/27 2027/28 2028/29

£'M £'M £'M

Council Tax Requirement 12.051 12.574 13.120

Fair Funding Allocation : Baseline Funding Level 5.165 5.283 5.390

Fair Funding Allocation : Revenue Support Grant 6.031 5.986 5.910

Recovery Grant 0.603 0.603 0.603

Homelessness, Rough Sleeping and Domestic Abuse Grant 1.012 1.050 1.083

Grand Total 24.862 25.496 26.106

Page 214



proportion of any growth received above it.  With the continuation of the power stations the 
Council have always exceeded the baseline position and has benefitted from additional rates 
received.  For information the power stations have been included within the baseline figures. 

 
2.9 This system has now been replaced by the funding reforms and the government have offered 

100% protection on the baseline funding level in 2026/27.  This has allowed for more certainty 
in calculating the proportion of rates due to the Council. 

 
2.10 Members will be aware of decommissioning plans for the Heysham 1 and Heysham 2 nuclear 

reactors which will have a significant impact on the Council’s finances. Currently the rateable 

value of the reactor’s accounts for a substantial proportion of the Council’s total rateable 

value. Central Government operates a “safety net” system to protect those Councils which 

see their year-on-year business rate income fall. 

 

The Council’s exposure is expected that it will inevitably fall into a safety net scenario and 

will need to rely on the Business Rates Retention Reserve (BRRR) to smooth operational 

shortfalls in the short term. This is currently expected to arise in 2028/29 in line with the 

current decommissioning date for Heysham 1 of March 2028.  EDF Energy have indicated 

that there may be some scope to extend generation and are keeping this under review being 

unable to provide any certainty at this stage. 

 

2.11 The Council receives rating income from renewable energy schemes within the district, 
largely in relation to Walney Sub-Station.  Although listed as £3.998M in details of the 
settlement, the revaluations taken place have increased the value of this income to £4.627M 
in 2026/27 (£4.004M for 2025/26).  A majority of the income currently falls outside of the main 
rate retention scheme, and so the Council will continue to retain the full benefit from it.  Whilst 
it is evident that this 100% disregard will continue into 2026/27, there is a risk of appeals plus 
also that the Government may discontinue this advantageous arrangement at some point in 
the future. 

 

2.12 The inherent risk associated with the NNDR1 is that the final outturn surplus or deficit position 
differs substantially from the estimate, and this has indeed been the case at the Council in 
recent years.  Members will recall that the BRRR is used to manage the impact of surpluses 
and deficits and also to manage fluctuations in income levels in order to provide budgetary 
stability and smooth out year on year peaks and troughs.  As part of the 2025/26 budget 
setting process, a contribution of £0.600M (2026/27) and £0.500M (2027/28) from the BRRR 
were included and these contributions have now been removed due to the reduced risk of 
lower levels of rates being received in those financial years. 

 
2.13 The Council is expected to repay prior year deficits to the collection fund account in respect 

of business rates.  This amount is currently valued at £0.693M and is to be funded by the 
BRRR in 2026/27 and therefore have no impact on the council tax requirement calculation in 
2026/27. 

 

 
 
3.0 COUNCIL TAX 

 
 Council Tax 

3.1 Council tax is a primary source of the Council’s funding and is calculated by multiplying the 

tax base by the number of eligible residential properties (expressed in band D equivalents), 

and the level of the district council precept which is determined each year. Growth in 

housing numbers inevitably increases the taxbase and, therefore, Council Tax income. 

 

Page 215



3.2 The tax base for 2026/27 has been calculated as 43,833 Band D equivalent properties after 

allowing for a collection rate of 98.68%, the same as in previous years.  This equates to an 

increase in the tax base from 43,702 (0.3%) in 2025/26.   

From 2026/27 1% growth in the Tax base has been used for forecasting purposes. 

 

3.3 The Council recognises the impact that Council Tax has on its residents and will always 

take their ability to pay into consideration when setting Council Tax levels.  It provides a 

100% Local Council Tax Support Scheme. However, the Council should adopt an approach 

where local sources of funding are maximised as far as is reasonably practicable to do so. 

 

3.4 Government’s referendum criteria limits increases in the Council’s element of Council Tax 

to 3% or £5, whichever is greater. For the purposes of forecasting, it has been assumed 

that the Council will increase council tax by 2.99%, the maximum allowed, before triggering 

a referendum in each of the next three years. 

 

3.5 The table below sets out Council Tax forecasts for the next five years including a sensitivity 

analysis showing the potential impact on council tax yield of different scenarios. 

 

 Table 5: Council Tax Forecasts 

 
 

Actual

2025/26

Forecast

2026/27

Forecast

2027/28

Forecast

2028/29

Forecast

2029/30

Forecast

2030/31

Council Tax Band D 2.99% increase £264.30 £272.20 £280.34 £288.72 £297.35 £306.24

Council Tax Band D (£5 increase) £264.30 £269.30 £274.30 £279.30 £284.30 £289.30

Tax base (1% growth from 2026/27) 43,702 43,833 44,271 44,714 45,161 45,613

Council Tax Income (based on 2.99%) £10,610,019 £11,931,343 £12,410,932 £12,909,826 £13,428,623 £13,968,525

Previous MTFS £12,015,000 £12,498,000 £13,000,000 £13,522,000 £14,066,000

Difference Increase or (Decrease) -£83,657 -£87,068 -£90,174 -£93,377 -£97,475

Scenario 1 – No increase in Council tax 

over period of MTFS 
-£429,938 -£797,175 -£1,182,090 -£1,585,948 -£2,010,484

Scenario 2 – Council Tax Band D (£5 

increase)
-£210,773 -£354,465 -£511,380 -£682,728 -£870,159

Scenario 3 – 1.5% increase in tax base 

growth & 2.99% increase from 2026/27)
-£83,657 -£25,673 £37,729 £106,740 £180,897

Page 216



3.6  The Council is expected to benefit from prior year surpluses to the collection fund account in 

respect of council tax.  This amount is currently valued at £0.169M and is included within the 

council tax requirement calculation in 2026/27. 

 

 

4.0 GENERAL FUND PROJECTIONS 
4.1 Table 6 below outlines the current forecast budgetary position for 2026/27 to 2030/31  
 
 Table 6: General Fund Revenue Projections 2026/27 to 2030/31 

 
 

4.2 The table shows that, despite of the work undertaken by Officers and Members to balance 
the budget for 2026/27, the Council’s current MTFS suggests a structural budget gap in 
2027/28 onwards which fluctuates between approximately £1.347M and £2.780M. If this is 
not closed, then balances will be required to make up the difference. 

 
 
 Budget Principles and Assumptions 
4.3  Within the revenue budget there are several principles and key assumptions underpinning 

the proposed revenue strategy. These are: 
 

i.  Annually, a balanced revenue budget will be set with expenditure limited to the amount 
of available resources 

ii.  No long-term use of balances to meet recurring baseline expenditure 
iii.  Resources will be targeted to deliver corporate outcomes and value for money. Any 

additional investment and spending decisions will be made to reflect Council priorities 
and strategic commitments 

 

4.4 Table 7 below, lists the major assumptions that have been made within the MTFS. 

 

 

 

 

2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31

£'M £'M £'M £'M £'M

Revenue Budget  Forecast as at 26 February 2025 28.749 29.489 30.118 31.873 32.829

Base Budget Changes

Operational Base Budget Changes (0.419) 1.253 0.555 0.683 (0.356)

Pensions (Employer Contribution Reduction) (1.756) (1.744) (1.744) (1.767) (1.789)

Reversal of Items Now Included in Local Government Finance Settlement 0.848 0.854 0.859 0.864 0.864

27.422 29.852 29.788 31.653 31.548

Additional Budget Proposals

Savings Proposals (0.187) (0.190) (0.191) (0.191) (0.192)

Growth Proposals 0.590 0.588 0.472 0.482 0.494

Revenue Impact Current Capital Programme Review (MRP & Interest) (0.615) (0.646) (0.503) (0.462) (0.319)

Revenue Impact of Capital Programme Growth (MRP, Interest & Revenue) 0.163 0.787 0.761 0.789 0.811

(0.049) 0.539 0.539 0.618 0.794

General Fund Revenue Budget 27.373 30.391 30.327 32.271 32.342

Core Funding

Reversal of RSG Replaced by Local Government Finance Settlement 0.460 0.460 0.460 0.460 0.460

Fair Funding Assessment Baseline Funding Level (5.165) (5.283) (5.390) (5.498) (5.608)

Fair Funding Assessment Revenue Support Grant (6.031) (5.986) (5.910) (5.794) (5.680)

Recovery Grant (0.603) (0.603) (0.603) (0.603) (0.603)

Green Energy Disregard (4.627) (4.627) (4.627) (4.627) (4.627)

Prior Year Council Tax (Surplus)/Deficit (0.169)

Prior Year Business Rates (Surplus)/Deficit 0.693

Council Tax Requirement 11.931 14.352 14.257 16.209 16.284

Estimated Council Tax Income

(Increase Based on 2.99% for 2026/27 then maximum allowable (11.931) (12.411) (12.910) (13.429) (13.969)

Resulting Base Budget (Surplus)/ Deficit 0.000 1.941 1.347 2.780 2.315

Page 217



 

 

 
Table 7: 5 Year MTFS Planning Assumptions 

 
 

 Savings and Growth Proposals 
4.5 The budget savings or growth proposals, relate to several areas where actions are being 

undertaken by the Council and are incorporated within the MTFS. Some of the key areas are 
summarised by Service in the table below, with more information included within the Budget 
and Policy Framework General Fund Revenue Budget 2026/27 item on the agenda. 

 
 Table 8: Directorate Summary Savings & Growth Proposals 

  
 
4.6 As part of the Council’s quarterly monitoring process (Delivering our Priorities), progress by 

Budget Holders against these targets will be monitored and reported to Members via Cabinet 
and Budget & Performance Panel. 

 
 Revenue Impact of Capital Programme Budget Process & Review 
4.7 Cabinet and Strategic Leadership Team have considered new schemes for inclusion in the 

Capital Programme via the submission of strategic outline followed by full business cases 

during the budget process. The Council’s previous Capital Programme has also been 

reviewed with a view to repositioning and reprofiling several capital schemes. This has 

altered the impact that capital projects have on revenue due to Minimum Revenue Provision 

(MRP) and interest costs, whilst some schemes will generate ongoing revenue implications. 

Details of the movement of estimated additional expenditure or savings since the 

programmes mid-year review approved 24 September 2025 are detailed in the table below: 

 

Table 9: Revenue Impact of Capital Programme Budget Process & Review 

2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31

Council Tax Base Growth 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00%

Council Tax Increase 2.99% 2.99% 2.99% 2.99% 2.99%

Council Tax Collection Rate 98.67% 98.67% 98.67% 98.67% 98.67%

Fees & Charges 3.80% 2.20% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00%

Pay Award 3.00% 3.00% 3.00% 3.00% 3.00%

Employer Pensions Contribution 10.40% 10.40% 10.40% 10.40% 10.40%

Electricity 24p/kwh -9.81% -4.38% -6.79% -17.61%

Gas 3.5p/kwh 2.20% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00%

Other inflation 3.80% 2.20% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00%

Interest Rate – investments 4.00% 3.25% 3.00% 3.00% 3.00%

Interest Rate – new borrowing 4.70% 4.30% 4.30% 4.30% 4.30%

2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31

£'M £'M £'M £'M £'M

Environment & Place 0.286 0.293 0.301 0.308 0.317

Governance 0.077 0.052 0.053 0.054 0.055

People & Policy 0.047 0.050 0.053 0.056 0.059

Planning & Climate Change (0.015) (0.054) (0.051) (0.049) (0.048)

Resources (0.032) (0.033) (0.035) (0.036) (0.037)

Sustainable Growth 0.040 0.090 (0.040) (0.042) (0.044)

Total (Savings)/Growth 0.403 0.398 0.281 0.291 0.302

Page 218



  
 

 

5.0 CAPITAL INVESTMENT AND FINANCING 

 

Capital Investment 

5.1 Through its capital programme the Council plans net investment of £28.582M between 

2026/27 and 2030/31 with a further £16.221M currently planned up to 2035/36. This 

investment will support the delivery of its key Strategic Priorities and Outcomes such as 

Climate Emergency, Housing and Regeneration as well as investing in existing property, 

facilities, and equipment to deliver services, or to meet legislative requirements. 

 

5.2 The current programme is split between approved schemes, that is those which have a fully 

formed business case in line with Treasury Green Book requirements, and those still under 

development for which a provision has been made whilst work is undertaken to fully work up 

schemes. Schemes classified as Under Development have had strategic outline business 

cases approved in principle by Cabinet but cannot commence until full business cases have 

been considered and approved, first by the Capital Assurance Group, and then by Cabinet. 

 

5.3 Schemes which are in this section of the Capital Programme which will require significant 

capital expenditures and borrowing will need a business case to demonstrate that income 

arising from the capital investment can cover all borrowing costs and delivering a positive 

return to the Council’s revenue budget. 

 

5.5 Summary details of the current 5-year capital programme are given at table 10 below, with 

the total in the final column referring to 2026/27 to 2030/31 only. 

 

  Table 10: Capital Programme 

 
 

Capital Financing 

5.6 The Council’s Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) is simply the total amount of capital 

expenditure (including that from prior years) that has not yet been paid for from either revenue 

or capital resources. It is essentially a measure of the Council’s underlying need to borrow. 

Any capital expenditure, which has not immediately been paid for through a revenue or 

capital resource, will increase the CFR. Based on the draft capital programme the Council’s 

CFR is set to increase from the current estimated 2025/26 position of £110.07M to £114.02M 

in 2026/27. It is expected to increase further in 2027/28 to £119.79M before decreasing from 

2028/29 to £118.40M.  

2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31

£'M £'M £'M £'M £'M

Current Capital Programme Review (MRP & Interest) (0.615) (0.646) (0.503) (0.462) (0.319)

Capital Programme Growth (MRP & Interest) 0.163 0.829 1.106 1.135 1.158

Capital Programme Growth (Ongoing Revenue) 0.000 (0.042) (0.345) (0.346) (0.347)

Total Impact (0.452) 0.141 0.258 0.327 0.492

2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31 Total

£'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M

Approved Schemes

Environment & Place 7.918 2.441 0.242 2.233 0.935 1.897 7.748

Housing & Property 1.981 1.459 0.030 0.559 0.052 - 2.100

Planning & Climate Change 5.086 0.000 - - - - 0.000

Resources 1.053 1.451 0.326 0.181 0.176 0.467 2.601

Sustainable Growth 0.083 0.210 0.030 1.005 - - 1.245

Schemes Under Development - 3.311 10.727 0.390 0.230 0.230 14.888

Total Net Capital Programme 16.121 8.872 11.355 4.368 1.393 2.594 28.582

Page 219



 

Table 11: Capital Financing Requirement  

 
 

5.7 Based on the capital programme, the overall physical borrowing position of the Council is 

projected to increase by £24.88M over the next three years from its estimated current position 

of £56.93M to £81.80M at the end of 2028/29 in order to finance the Council’s capital 

ambitions. It is then forecast to reduce slightly year on year reflecting repayments of the HRA 

self-financing loan. See table 12 below.  

 

Table 12: Forecast Borrowing Position  

 
 

5.8 This level of borrowing is assessed for affordability, sustainability, and prudence in line with 

the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy and requires annual approval by Council 

following consultation with Budget & Performance Panel. Council will be asked to formally 

approve the annual Treasury Management Strategy. 

 

5.9 The Council is required to repay an element of the accumulated General Fund CFR 
 each year through a revenue charge known as the minimum revenue provision (MRP) 
 together with the interest charges associated with the borrowing. Council is asked to formally 
 approve the MRP policy annually as part of the Treasury Management Strategy.  
 
5.10 Tables 13 and 14 provide forecast levels of annual capital financing charges and their 

respective proportion of the revenue budget. 
 
 

2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M

CFR – Non Housing 64.82 78.07 83.07 89.88 89.53 85.91 83.9

CFR – Housing 33.04 32.00 30.95 29.91 28.87 27.83 26.79

Total CFR 97.86 110.07 114.02 119.79 118.40 113.74 110.69

Movement in CFR

Non Housing 0.32 13.25 5.00 6.81 -0.35 -3.62 -2.01

Housing -1.05 -1.04 -1.05 -1.04 -1.04 -1.04 -1.04

Net Movement in CFR -0.73 12.21 3.95 5.77 -1.39 -4.66 -3.05

Net financing need for the year 

(above) re Non Housing
3.22 15.96 8.87 11.32 4.37 1.39 2.59

Less MRP/VRP and other 

financing movements

-3.95 -3.75 -4.92 -5.55 -5.76 -6.05 -5.64

Net Movement in CFR -0.73 12.21 3.95 5.77 -1.39 -4.66 -3.05

Movement in CFR represented by

2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M

Debt at 1 April 57.97 56.93 71.89 76.85 81.80 81.76 81.72

Expected Change in Debt -1.04 13.96 3.96 3.96 -1.04 -1.04 -1.04

Other long-term liabilities 

(OLTL)
0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Expected change in OLTL 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Actual gross debt at 31 

March 
56.93 71.89 76.85 81.80 81.76 81.72 81.68

The Capital Financing 

Requirement
97.85 110.07 114.02 119.79 118.40 113.74 110.69

(Under) / over borrowing -40.93 -38.18 -37.17 -37.99 -36.64 -32.02 -29.01

External Debt

Page 220



Table 13: Revenue Impact of Capital Decisions 

 
 

Table 14: Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream  

 
 

5.11 As can be seen based on current General Fund capital programme and accompanying 

borrowing estimates, debt financing costs within the General Fund are set to increase to just 

under a quarter of the Council’s annual net revenue budget. Levels will, therefore, need to 

be closely monitored and the impact on affordability of new capital schemes carefully 

considered as part of the business case assessment and governance processes. Estimates 

within the HRA are currently seen to decrease as the borrowing undertaken as part of HRA 

self-financing is repaid.  

 

5.12 The financing of capital projects can be from a variety of sources, such as external grants, 

the use of reserves, and the application of capital receipts. A significant workstream for the 

Asset Working Group is to review and realign the Council’s existing asset base to identify 

those assets which no longer met the Council’s objectives and may be able to generate a 

capital receipt. However, the process does provide a priority order for the use of capital 

receipts. Firstly, to fund transformation costs, that is costs that are associated with service 

transformation and delivery of efficiencies. Secondly, investment to reduce costs, which is 

not necessarily investing in a new asset; and given the levels of current financing costs, 

giving consideration to financing existing short life assets such as ICT and vehicles to reduce 

the MRP burden on the General Fund. Finally, the use of receipts to fund other schemes 

within the Capital Programme. 

 

 

6.0 THE SHORT & MEDIUM-TERM BUDGET GAP  

6.1 Government funding and income forecasts covered previously within this report, together 

with the budget expenditure, savings and income estimates that have been calculated as 

part of the 2026/27 revenue budget process provide an updated forecast of the budget gaps 

over the next five years. This is shown below in the graph and Table 15 below:- 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31

Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M

MRP 2.703 3.872 4.505 4.718 5.016 4.601

Interest 1.294 1.899 2.646 2.731 2.772 2.921

Total Impact 3.997 5.771 7.151 7.449 7.788 7.522

2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

% % % % % % %

General Fund 16.20 15.52 22.16 24.28 24.32 24.12 20.66

HRA 15.78 15.64 14.61 13.92 13.71 13.07 12.42

Page 221



Table 15: General Fund Revenue Budget Gap 2026/27 – 2030/31 

 
 

Table 16: Cumulative Deficit as Percentage of Revenue Budget 

 
 

6.2 The forecast gaps are structural in nature, meaning that the Council’s forecast spending 

exceeds the income it expects to receive, and this is compounded year on year. This position 

represents a significant challenge over the short and medium term.  

 

6.3 It should be noted that this forecast is based on a series of estimates and assumptions and 

 so is subject to change when more up to date information becomes available. However, it 

 provides Members with a clear view of the extent of the challenge facing the Council over the 

 coming years. 

 

 

7.0 PROVISIONS, RESERVES AND BALANCES 

7.1 A Council’s reserves are an essential part of good financial management. They help 
 the Council to cope with unpredictable financial pressures and plan for future spending 
 commitments. The level, purpose and planned use of reserves are important factors for the 
 Council as part of the MTFS. 
 
7.2 Councils generally hold two types of reserves, “Unallocated” to meet short term unexpected 

cost pressures or income reductions and “Earmarked”. The latter can be held to provide for 
some future anticipated expenditure for identified projects, particularly in respect of corporate 
priorities or address specific risks. They may also provide up-front funding for measures 
which specifically result in future efficiencies, cost savings or increased income, or to hold 

Page 222



funding from other bodies (mainly Central Government), for specified purposes. 
 
7.3 By their nature reserves are finite and, within the existing statutory and regulatory 

 framework, it is the responsibility of the s151 Officer to advise the Council about the 
 level of reserves that it should hold and to ensure that there are clear protocols for their 
 establishment and use. In accordance with the s151 Officers advice the minimum level of 
General Fund unallocated reserve is £5M. 

 
7.4 The graph and Table 17 below provide details of our current forecast level of General Fund 

Balances including the impact of funding the forecast deficit from this reserve. 
 

 
 
 Table 18: Estimated Level of General Fund Unallocated Reserves 

 
 

7.5 The graph and Table 19 below provide details of our current forecast level of all available 
Council reserves. The analysis excludes a number of essentially ring-fenced reserves such 
as s106, reserves held in perpetuity, revenue grants unapplied & elections.  It does include 
reserves such as Business Retention and Renewals Reserves.  

 
7.6 The Business Rates Retention Reserve is a mandated reserve, its purpose is to manage the 

risk of fluctuations in business rates income, including changes in the Council’s appeals 
provision and movements in forecast prior year surpluses or deficits. Whilst the transfers can 
be made to the general fund it is required to be maintained at a prudent level to manage the 
risks with business rates and not to support ongoing budget deficits. On this basis the graph 
below is used to underline the seriousness of the current situation against the Council’s entire 
resource not only the general fund. 

 

2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31

£'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M

Balance as at 1 April 2025-30 (10.028) (10.338) (9.345) (7.340) (5.962) (3.182)

In Year allocations 0.961 0.993 0.064 0.031 0.000 0.000

Forecast (Under)/Overspend (1.271) 0.000 1.941 1.347 2.780 2.315

Projected Balance as at 31 March 2026-31 (10.338) (9.345) (7.340) (5.962) (3.182) (0.867)

Page 223



  
 
 
Table 19: Estimated Combined Level of Reserves 

(excluding Ringfenced Reserves, S106 Reserves & Reserves Held in Perpetuity etc) 

 
 

7.7 This table highlights that whilst a structural deficit still prevails, the level of Councils reserves 

will diminish over the longer-term but are at a sustainable level throughout the period of the 

MTFS and the transfer to the new authority under local government reorganisation. 

 

 
8.0 LOCAL GOVERNMENT REORGANISATION (LGR) 
 
8.1 To further reiterate the information reported to Cabinet and Council over the previous two 

months, the financial impact of LGR expected to be complex with very little information 
currently available.  The financial information which underpins the ongoing budget process 
has currently been prepared on a ‘business as usual’ basis.   

 
8.2 The Government is expected to lead a public consultation on the proposals early this year, 

with a preferred option selected in summer 2026. 
 

£27.879M

£25.017M

£23.124M
£21.918M

£19.306M

£17.151M

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031

1st April 20XY

Combined Level of Reserves
(excluding S106 Reserves & Reserves Held in Perpetuity etc.)

2026/27 - 2030/31

Projected reserve level

Minimum reserve level

2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31

£'M £'M £'M £'M £'M £'M

Unallocated Reserve (10.338) (9.346) (9.281) (9.250) (9.250) (9.250)

Other Non-Ring Fenced Reserves (2.634) (1.325) (1.362) (1.398) (1.435) (1.471)

Business Rates Retention Reserve (12.790) (12.097) (12.097) (12.097) (12.097) (12.097)

Renewals Reserve (2.117) (2.249) (2.325) (2.461) (2.592) (2.716)

Forecast Cumulative Deficit Funded From 

Reserves
+0.000 +0.000 +1.941 +3.288 +6.068 +8.383

Projected Balance as at 31 March 2026-31 (27.879) (25.017) (23.124) (21.918) (19.306) (17.151)

Less Recomended Minimum Level of Balances +5.000 +5.000 +5.000 +5.000 +5.000 +5.000

Available Balances (22.879) (20.017) (18.124) (16.918) (14.306) (12.151)

Page 224



8.3 If approved, elections for shadow authorities could take place in May 2027, with the new 
councils taking over all services from 1 April 2028 (vesting day). 

 
8.4 Inevitably, this will have financial consequences for the Council however it is expected that 

partners will enter into the new authority in the best financial health that is possible, in order 
to maintain both financial and organisational stability. 

 
8.5 At the meeting of Lancashire Chief Executives on 8th January the options for the creation of 

a Lancashire Local Government Reorganisation Transition Fund was discussed.  The report 
agreed the following principles: 

 
a. An initial agreed total sum of £30M 
b. A split of 75% to Unitary Councils and 25% to District Councils meaning: 

i. £22.5M Unitary Contribution 
ii. £7.5M District Contribution 

 
Further to this the allocation options for the districts share has been agreed as based on Tax 
Base levels.  This means that the contribution level for Lancaster is to be £0.831M and it is 
recommended that this amount is funded from the general fund unallocated reserve. 

 
8.6 During the time from now until vesting day, further transitional costs falling upon the council 

will occur and these will need to be managed from within either the existing budget 
framework, the use of non-ringfenced reserves or by utilising capital receipts under the 
‘flexible use of capital receipts’ policy where transformation can be demonstrated. 
 

 

9.0 DETAILS OF CONSULTATION  
9.1 As this paper is for noting only no formal consultation has been undertaken.    
 
 
10.0 OPTIONS AND OPTIONS ANALYSIS (INCLUDING RISK ASSESSMENT) 
10.1 The risks to the Council are contained throughout the report and as the report is for 
 noting, no alternative proposals have been put forward. 
 

 

11.0 CONCLUSION 
11.1 Whilst delivering a balanced budget for 2026/27, the Council continues to face 

unprecedented levels of financial and economic uncertainty.  This hampers the degree of 
confidence with which forecasts can be made and inevitably some key estimates and 
assumptions are likely to change in the coming months. 

 
11.2 The future key challenge surrounding Local Government Reorganisation should not be 

underestimated and the Council must position itself in the best financial health that is 
possible, in order to maintain both financial and organisational stability. 

  
 

 

RELATIONSHIP TO POLICY FRAMEWORK 

Performance, project, and resource monitoring provides a link between the Council Plan and 

operational achievement, by providing regular updates on the impact of operational initiatives 

against strategic aims. 

 

CONCLUSION OF IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

(including Diversity, Human Rights, Community Safety, Sustainability etc) 

None identified at this stage  

Page 225



FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

As set out in the report 

 

S151 OFFICER COMMENTS 

The s151 Officer has authored this report and his views are reflected within. 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Legal Services have been consulted and have no further comments. 
 

MONITORING OFFICER’S COMMENTS 

The Monitoring Officer has been consulted and has no further comments. 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 

 

Contact Officer: Paul Thompson 
Telephone:  01524 582603 
E-mail: pthompson@lancaster.gov.uk 
Ref: N/A  

 
 

Page 226



   

 

   

 

 
 

CABINET  

 
 

Housing Revenue Account and Capital Programme 
10 February 2026 

 
Report of Chief Officer for Housing & Property and the 

Chief Officer Resources (Section 151 Officer) 
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
To seek Cabinet decisions on Council Housing rent setting proposals and HRA revenue and 
capital budget proposals. 
 

Key Decision X Non-Key Decision  Referral from Cabinet 
Member 

 

Date of notice of forthcoming 
key decision 

12th December 2025 

This report is public 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS OF Councillor Jackson 

 
(1) That for existing council housing tenancies rents will increase by 4.8% (CPI 

+ 1%) from 6th April 2026 in accordance with statutory requirements. 
 

(2) That for new council housing tenancies starting within 2026/27 from 6th April 
onwards, rent flexibility will be applied where applicable, being 5% above 
‘formula rent’1 for general needs housing and 10% above ‘formula rent’ for 
supported housing, in line with statutory flexibilities2.  Where rent flexibility is 
not applicable, rents will be set at ‘formula rent’ on re-let. 

 
(3) That garage rents be increased at CPI +1% in line with dwelling rents. 

 
(4) That the minimum level of HRA unallocated balances be retained at 

£750,000 from 01 April 2026, and that the full Statement on Reserves and 

 
1 The principle of reletting properties within year at ‘formula rent’ is in line with previous years. This 

applies to properties whose rent has not already achieved the government’s ‘formula rent’ – a 

calculation to produce a social rent based on local conditions and circumstances. The fact that the 

average rent increase between 2025/26 and 2026/27 is not exactly 4.8% is explained by the fact that 

some properties within year increase to ‘formula rent’ and therefore increase the figures used for 

comparison. 
2 Within the rent policy statement on rents for social housing, councils can charge social rents at 5% 

above the formula rent as calculated by the rent restructuring formula. If an authority opts to apply the 

flexibility, it can only be applied at re-let, so does not directly affect any current tenants. Lancaster City 

Council does not currently apply this flexibility, but in doing so, recognises the significant additional 

investment, required across the housing stock 

Page 227 Agenda Item 12



   

 

   

 

Balances as set out at Appendix E be endorsed and referred on to Budget 
Council for approval. 
 

(5) That a delegated decision to approve the tender of three programmes of work 
 (over £200K and key decisions over £250K) during 2026/27 can be made by 
 the Chief Executive (as per 7.4 below) and in line with procurement rules. 
 
(6) That subject to the above, the resulting Housing Revenue Account budget for 
 2026/27 onwards, as set out at Appendix A, together with the resulting Capital 
  Programme as set out at Appendix C, be referred on to Budget Council for 
 approval. 

 

1. Introduction  

1.1 The Council is required under statutory provisions to maintain a separate ring-
fenced account for the provision of local authority housing, known as the 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA).  This covers the maintenance and 
management of the Council’s housing stock. 

1.2 This report sets out the rent setting policy and the latest position with regards 
to the HRA 30-year Business Plan, covering both revenue and capital 
budgets, and the associated level of reserves and balances.  It seeks 
approval for rent levels and various other budget matters, with referral on to 
Budget Council as appropriate. 

1.3 It can be noted that within the context of ring-fencing the HRA has a role to 
play in support of wider Council priorities, contributing to and facilitating 
projects across the district to support the wider ambitions of the council. The 
HRA does pay into the Council’s General Fund through contribution to 
support services and corporate commitments use and receives payment back 
to reflect Public Realm services delivered on Council Housing estates to non-
Council residents, as well as relevant management contributions.  Whilst the 
outcome of Local Government Reorganisation is yet unknown, it will be 
expected that the Council continues to support our tenants and provide 
decent homes throughout the transition period in line with regulatory 
requirements. 

1.4 Council housing provides decent, secure homes that are affordable to 
households on low to modest incomes.  Across the country, though, many 
HRA Councils find themselves in a precarious financial position, struggling to 
maintain existing homes, alongside meeting the huge new demands to 
improve homes and the services provided to residents under new 
government, regulator and ombudsman requirements with no additional 
funding available3.  As such Lancaster City Council joined over 100 other 
Councils in signing the ‘Securing the Future of Council Housing’ report4 
commissioned by Southwark Council in 2024, setting out a practical, long-
term plan for government to support the much needed improvements and 

 
3 According to the most recent government Social Rent Convergence consultation: How to implement 

Social Rent convergence - GOV.UK reports: In aggregate across all 162 Local Authority Registered 

Providers (LARPs) with Housing Revenue Accounts, spending has exceeded turnover in 4 of the past 5 

years, leading to a corresponding decrease in aggregate reserves as they are used to cover the shortfall 

in the ring fenced account (July 2025). 

NB: The Council has received new burdens funding of around £16K per annum since 2023 in the 

implementation of Tenant Satisfaction Measure data collection, and £19K in 2025 to support with the 

work around Residential Personal Emergency Evacuation Plans for residents who require them.  
4 Securing the Future of Council Housing 

Page 228

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fconsultations%2Fhow-to-implement-social-rent-convergence%2Fhow-to-implement-social-rent-convergence&data=05%7C02%7CAKipling%40lancaster.gov.uk%7C687a17b589f543cf03fc08ddda39d471%7C61b49b2822c14c9b883070288744880e%7C0%7C0%7C638906664090747164%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=gJkVRd1BWVDXFWCNYt%2BA0qaak2d4fMJEmZXLZPCxpbA%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fconsultations%2Fhow-to-implement-social-rent-convergence%2Fhow-to-implement-social-rent-convergence&data=05%7C02%7CAKipling%40lancaster.gov.uk%7C687a17b589f543cf03fc08ddda39d471%7C61b49b2822c14c9b883070288744880e%7C0%7C0%7C638906664090747164%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=gJkVRd1BWVDXFWCNYt%2BA0qaak2d4fMJEmZXLZPCxpbA%3D&reserved=0
https://www.southwark.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2024-10/Securing-the-Future-of-Council-Housing.pdf


   

 

   

 

growth of Council Housing, and is a key member of the newly formed 
Association of Directors of Housing which seeks to share information and 
lobby government on the state of Housing Revenue Accounts and wider 
housing matters. 

1.5 Over the past few years the Council has sought to meet these increasing 
demands including, for example, through fire remediation and other 
compliance improvements; increased support for tenants; an increased focus 
on housing health and safety including improvements to damp and mould 
reporting and removal; specialist community safety services; increased tenant 
engagement and through increased provision of a face-to-face community 
presence in preparation for the new regulatory regime. This is whilst 
continuing to seek to maintain stock decency and address both the Council’s 
and government’s ambitions of increasing social housing. A key focus over 
the coming 12 months will be to develop our response to the Competence 
and Conduct standard5 which comes into force towards the end of 2026 as 
another new requirement placed upon housing providers.   

1.6 It should be noted that within a number of financial years since the HRA self-
financing settlement of 2012 the ability of the Council to raise rents in line with 
inflation has been restricted. For four years between 2016/17 and 2019/20 a 
government mandated rent reduction of 1% year-on-year was imposed. In 
addition, for the financial year 2023/24 the maximum rent increase was 
capped by the government at 7% for existing tenants, falling short of inflation 
which was running at 10.1% in Sept 2022 – the figure which would normally 
be used for the purpose of rent setting for the following April. These 
restrictions have removed tens of millions of pounds from the life of the HRA 
30-year business plan.  Over the summer of 2025 the government consulted 
on the implementation of rent convergence6, on the basis of either £1 or £2 
per week, whilst the outcome of this was expected to be announced during 
the Autumn 2025 statement, this was delayed until 28th January 2026)  The 
commitment from Government has been that rent convergence can be 
implemented but not until 2027 at £1pw, followed by £2pw from 2028 
onwards, therefore leaving rents to continue to fall further behind over this 
period.  Nonetheless, even at the higher £2pw this increase falls short to 
support the requirements placed upon housing providers and investment 
needed in stock currently. 

1.7 The chart below, using year-end figures from 2024/25, gives an indication of 
how income received by the Housing Service is spent. For every pound of 
income, we have seen an increase to a more proactive approach to our work 
with around forty per cent of tenant’s money contributing to planned and 
major repairs; a quarter is spent on responsive repairs; and the remaining 
third funds staff and management, interest and loan payments, and other 
costs.7 

 

 
5 Competence and Conduct Standard for social housing: government response - GOV.UK 
6 How to implement Social Rent convergence - GOV.UK 
7 For clarity, ‘Staff and Management’ refers to costs including employees, premises, supplies and 

services (software, subscriptions, bank charges etc), support services (internal recharges) and transport 

(officer travel expenses).  

Page 229

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/competence-and-conduct-standard-for-social-housing-consultation/outcome/competence-and-conduct-standard-for-social-housing-government-response
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/how-to-implement-social-rent-convergence/how-to-implement-social-rent-convergence


   

 

   

 

 

 

 

2. Achievements and Challenges 2025/26 

2.1. Key achievements: 

• The Housing Support Team continued to support council tenants to 

sustain successful tenancies by, for example: 

o Securing an additional £667,458.10 in income through the three 

quarters of the year through benefit and other income 

maximisation work 

o Carrying out 245 Tenancy Health Checks, so far this year  

o 100% of supported tenancies remained active after 12 months. 

• Plans to redevelop a number of existing garage sites for small scale 

Council Housing development has taken another step forward with the 

successful award of MHCLG grant for Hastings Road to get the Council to 

a start on site position alongside funded support from the Council 

Housebuilding Support Service.   

• The Council Housing Income Management Team has continued to deliver 

sector leading performance, supporting tenants to successfully manage 

their rent accounts and sustain tenancies. Key achievements include: 

o Maintaining excellent performance around current tenant rent 

arrears 

o Providing 46 new tenants with furniture packages to help sustain 

their accommodation.) 

• Mandatory Tenant Satisfaction Measures (TSM) survey carried out, 

showing improvements in satisfaction across the majority of survey 

questions compared to the previous 12 months. Whilst satisfaction has 

dropped slightly down 1% on last year – it remains 4% higher than the 

previous year.  Whilst four measures are now well placed at over 80% 

satisfaction (Safe Home, Repairs in the last 12 months, Kept Informed, 

and Treating residents fairly and with respect).  Overall benchmarking our 

Responsive /
routine repairs

Planned / Major
repairs

Interest / loan
payments

Other
Staff and

management

23/24 31 33 17 2 17

24/25 25 39 15 4 17

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

P
en

ce
 in

 t
h

e 
p

o
u

n
d

Where we spend your money

Where does your money go (Pence in the Pound)

23/24 24/25

Page 230



   

 

   

 

results is likely to place Lancaster City Council in the top 25% of local 

authorities nationally. 

• Full in-house planned and responsive repairs service delivered, projecting 

an estimated 12,000 repairs completed across the year, around 100 

kitchens replaced on a planned programme, and delivery of wider planned 

and capital programmes of works contracted out.  

• Implementation of Awaab Law requirements in October 2025 improving 

our handling and reporting of damp and mould cases. 

• High levels of compliance and reassurance against all key areas (gas, 

electrical, water, asbestos, fire, lifts, smoke and CO detection).  

• Reviews and updates of a range of service policies and strategies, to be 

found on the Council Housing web pages8, including review of our 

Tenancy Strategy and the development of a new Vulnerability Policy. 

• Continued development and delivery of programmes of works which 

deliver in line with the Council’s climate emergency ambitions (see section 

3 below). The Council secured £797,893 match funding from 

government’s Warm Homes programme – improving the energy efficiency 

of c100 council homes raising to EPC C over the next three years. 

• Successfully implemented the rehousing policy of residents residing within 

Bridge House, whilst simultaneously undertaking repair / corrective work 

to the outside of the building ensuring its safety prior to decommissioning. 

• Development of a Skills and Training Development Strategy in preparation 

for the Competence and Conduct Standard later in 2026. 

• Tenant-led scrutiny panel continues to go from strength to strength – in 
the past 12 months a review of block cleaning followed by a report and 
recommendations has been completed, the group have now commenced 
a review of the voids process completed by the Council9.  

• Wide range of community engagement activities supported including 
residents’ groups; summer community fun day; litter picks; garden 
competition; community gardens, skip days; Independent Living Scheme 
trips to Fleetwood, the Lakes and Blackpool, Christmas gatherings; and 
consultation events.  

2.2. The strategic direction of the housing service continues to be delivered in 
response to: 

• Wider Council priorities, 

• The Regulator for Social Housing 

• The Housing Ombudsman’s requirements 

• Changing legislation and anticipated changing legislation 

2.3. Significant challenges are being faced by the housing service in the context 
of the current and changing landscape around social housing regulation.  
Expectations on service delivery continues to increase coupled with a 
challenging financial picture. Of particular note linked to regulation is: 

• The introduction of Tenant Satisfaction Measures during 2023/24.  
This year is the third year of data collection – see 2.1 above.  The 
results and a formal action plan are reported annually to the 
Regulator of Social Housing10.   

 
8 www.lancaster.gov.uk/housing/council-housing/about-us/our-policies  
9 www.lancaster.gov.uk/housing/council-housing/my-neighbourhood/tenants-voice/scrutiny-panel 
10 Information about the Tenant Satisfaction Measures, our collection method and results can be found 

at www.lancaster.gov.uk/housing/council-housing/about-us/tenant-satisfaction  

Page 231

http://www.lancaster.gov.uk/housing/council-housing/about-us/our-policies
http://www.lancaster.gov.uk/housing/council-housing/my-neighbourhood/tenants-voice/scrutiny-panel
http://www.lancaster.gov.uk/housing/council-housing/about-us/tenant-satisfaction


   

 

   

 

• The mandatory registration of high-rise buildings was completed in 

2023 with safety case files compiled at the end of March 2024 – call-

in of these files from the Building Safety Regulator is awaited. 

• Ofsted-style inspections from the Regulator of Social Housing were 

introduced from April 2024, on a four-yearly cycle for all landlords11.  

As at the time of writing Lancaster City Council has just commenced 

discussion with the Regulator around our inaugural inspection.   

• A renewed focus on the customer complaints process through the 

introduction of a joint complaints code between the Housing 

Ombudsman and the Local Government and Social Care 

Ombudsman, including a mandatory submission of self-assessments 

and annual reports12.  

• Housing Ombudsman Spotlight reports into poor sector performance 

and accompanying self-assessments.  

• Awaab’s Law13 was introduced on 27th October 2025 – mandating 

housing providers to deal with reports of damp and mould within 

prescribed formats and timescales.  The further extension of this into 

other Housing Health and Safety Rating System hazards is expected 

later this year.   

• Since 1st December 2025 new social housing tenancies are required 

to have a 5-yearly electrical inspection completed with transitional 

arrangements for tenancies from before this date.  As of the end of 

2025, 99.97% of our homes and 100% of our communal areas meet 

the required standards. 

Looking ahead: 

• From 6th April 2026 – the Council will be required to implement 

Residential Personal Emergency Evacuation Plans (RPEEPS)14 for 

relevant residents in specified buildings. 

• From October 2026 – the Competence and Conduct Standard15 will 

be implemented – driving increased professionalisation of the sector, 

including mandatory qualifications for certain staff.  Further details on 

how this will be implemented by the Regulator of Social Housing is 

awaited.   

• Throughout the second half of 2025, MHCLG consulted on Minimum 

Energy Efficiency Standards (MEES)16 in the social rented sector, 

focussing on requiring all homes to reach minimum EPC ‘C’ by 2030, 

this was confirmed in MHCLG’s policy statement at the end of 

January 2026.  More information on what we are doing to meet this 

target can be found in Section 3 below. 

 
11 Regulatory judgements and enforcement notices - GOV.UK 
12 More information about how we handle complaints and our performance can be found here: 

www.lancaster.gov.uk/housing/council-housing/about-us/performance/complaint-handling-perfomance  
13 Awaab’s Law: Guidance for social landlords - GOV.UK 
14 Residential PEEPs: Factsheet - GOV.UK 
15 Competence and Conduct Standard for social housing: government response - GOV.UK 
16 Improving the Energy Efficiency of Socially Rented Homes in England - GOV.UK 

Page 232

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulatory-judgements-and-regulatory-notices
http://www.lancaster.gov.uk/housing/council-housing/about-us/performance/complaint-handling-perfomance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/awaabs-law-guidance-for-social-landlords
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/residential-personal-emergency-evacuation-plans-residential-peeps/residential-peeps-factsheet
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/competence-and-conduct-standard-for-social-housing-consultation/outcome/competence-and-conduct-standard-for-social-housing-government-response
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/improving-the-energy-efficiency-of-socially-rented-homes-in-england/improving-the-energy-efficiency-of-socially-rented-homes-in-england


   

 

   

 

• During the same period, MHCLG also consulted on and confirmed 

changes to a reformed Decent Homes Standard17 from 2035, further 

details of this are not yet known. 

The service will continue to keep abreast of forth-coming changes and 
plan accordingly. 

2.4.  In line with the above, expected key strategic priorities for 2026/27 are: 

 

Priority  
  

   

A sustainable 
district  

• Continued investment across the council’s housing stock - 

see section 3 below.  

• Continued work towards improved energy efficiency within all 

homes by 2030 (all properties to meet minimum of EPC C 

standard – unless specifically exempt), supported through 

funding bids where available.  

• Delivery of new energy efficient units of accommodation on 

Hastings Road. 

An inclusive and 
prosperous local 
economy  
   

• Provision of apprenticeship opportunities for local residents 

and seek opportunities to promote housing career pathways 

to local young residents, both through us and our 

contractors.  

• Use of local suppliers within procurement rules (and where 

appropriate): for lower value contracts, use of local suppliers 

is guaranteed; for higher value contacts, on occasions where 

local supplier does not offer the required expertise and value 

for money, successful contractors must explicitly evidence 

social value in contract submissions.  

• Seeking funds through government to invest in and increase 

our stock.  

• Creation of service agreement between Council Housing and 

Public Realm to ensure delivery of grounds maintenance and 

other public realm services in line with tenant priorities – 

including improved transparency for tenants around this 

service delivery. 

Happy and healthy 
communities  
   

• Supporting the work and continued development of resident 

scrutiny groups and Tenant Voice, co-creating opportunities 

for residents to contribute meaningfully to service 

development and the decision-making process.  

• TPAS accreditation – to ensure delivery of resident 

engagement adheres to best practice and is responsive to 

regulatory requirements around customer focus and the 

‘Tenant Voice’.  

• Continued development and delivery of services in line with 

regulatory requirements and the specific outcomes of the 

Consumer Standards.  

 
17 Consultation on a reformed Decent Homes Standard for social and privately rented homes - 

GOV.UK 

Page 233

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/consultation-on-a-reformed-decent-homes-standard-for-social-and-privately-rented-homes
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/consultation-on-a-reformed-decent-homes-standard-for-social-and-privately-rented-homes


   

 

   

 

• Continued focus on reporting, recording, and remedial 

actions in line with Awaab’s Law, ensuring adherence to 

Government requirements around timescales and other 

requirements to address problems, ensuring our residents 

live in damp and mould free homes.  

• Continued support of the tenant Building Safety Group and 

Building Safety Strategies to ensure the safety of residents in 

communal apartment blocks.  

• Continued investment in our housing stock ensuring homes 

are safe and hazard free. 

• Development of asset management programmes across 

housing stock following stock condition survey’s – ensuring 

data is kept up to date.  

• Facilitating (and funding) community specific, community led 

projects where possible. 

• Continue to develop and improve the way the service 

manages ASB and nuisance, and community safety more 

generally, across all housing stock. 

• Continue to develop and improve the way the Council 

delivers and reports on its block cleaning approach. 

• Developing a smaller, stronger neighbourhood approach to 

housing management. 

 

A co-operative, 
kind and 
responsible council  
   

• Continued preparation for a forthcoming inspection from the 

Regulator of Social Housing. 

• Investing and developing in our staff – with a focus on the 

forthcoming Competence and Conduct Standard 

• ‘Place-based’ working helping tenants to create sustainable 

groups and an ability to deliver initiatives supported by – not 

led by – the housing service. Recognising that local people 

are best placed to understand the issues in their 

neighbourhood, including through the extension and further 

roll out of neighbourhood community plans.  

• Implementation of phase 1 delivery of comprehensive new 

housing management IT systems.  

• Working with and listening to resident groups about what’s 

important to them, whilst supporting and encouraging others 

to be established.   

• Embedding the Tenant Voice Strategy across the service, to 

ensure commitment to service wide service delivery in line 

with tenant needs and expectations. 

• Ensuring Housing Ombudsman self-assessments are kept 

up to date. 

• Ensuring residents have opportunity to raise complaints and 

that the service listens, takes action, learns and shares 

information. 

• Review opportunities to undertake tenant census. 

• Focussed attention on triangulation of performance data and 

outputs from this. 

Page 234



   

 

   

 

• Deliver against our Tenant Satisfaction Measure action plan. 

• Be mindful of and support on-going Local Government 

Reorganisation approach, whilst ensuring tenants are at the 

heart of future delivery. 

 

3. The Council Housing Response to the Climate Emergency 

 

3.1. Council Housing has continued its programme of carbon reduction, energy 
efficiency measures and upgrades during 2025/26.  

Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) Band C Housing Stock 
The Council is in year 5 of an 8-year programme of ‘fabric first’ led energy 
improvement works across our Council stock.  Our aim is to raise the energy 
performance rating of all Council Housing properties to a minimum ‘C’ rating 
by 2030 in line with Government requirements. This year the Council has 
secured £797,893 Warms Homes match funding to improve energy efficiency 
in circa 100 properties. This follows recent improvements to c130 properties 
using Social Housing Decarb Fund and LAD funding.    
 
Currently the Council reports around 790 properties as below the EPC ‘C’ 
target – although the Council is keeping a close eye on legislative changes 
coming through Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards (MEES)18 including 
anticipated amendments to EPC calculations which will likely result in homes 
requiring reassessment and / or falling below the SAP rating figure to achieve 
EPC ‘C’.  The Council will continue to provide ongoing and additional 
improvements through the range of measures listed below, as well as 
ongoing support for those who live in properties which fall below the ‘C’ rating.  
 
Void property, energy retrofit improvements 
We will continue our major void programme which includes a significant 
energy performance retrofit component, following a fabric first rationale 
installing insulation and efficiency measures. We will build on the successful 
strategy this year and aim to return all Void properties for re-letting at a 
minimum ‘C’ rating and take all opportunity to exceed this standard.  In 
2025/26 we have completed 74 major voids so far. 
 
Government decarbonisation scheme 
Through 2025/26, the Council has continued delivery of energy improvement 
measures using external funding: 

• The Social Housing Decarb Fund Wave 2.1 programme was 

concluded. This has added matched co-funding of approximately 

£700k throughout the total duration of the project to our existing 

capital programme for energy efficiency works.  This funding enabled 

us to fit: 

o 65 homes with Solar Panels 

o 20 homes with External Wall Insulation 

o 2 homes with Cavity Wall Insultation 

o 8 homes with Internal Wall Insulation 

o 18 homes with High Heat Retention Storage Heaters 

 
18 www.gov.uk/government/consultations/improving-the-energy-efficiency-of-socially-rented-homes-

in-england  

Page 235

http://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/improving-the-energy-efficiency-of-socially-rented-homes-in-england
http://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/improving-the-energy-efficiency-of-socially-rented-homes-in-england


   

 

   

 

o 1 home with Low Energy Lighting 

o 18 homes with Lithium-ion batteries 

o 4 homes with Room in Roof insulation 

o Improved windows to 2 homes 

o Improved doors to 4 homes 

• Successfully secured £797,893 match Government funding of Warm 

Homes monies through the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 

consortia to improve c100 homes over the next three years. 

Whole House Improvement programme 
2025/26 will see delivery of at least 15 whole house improvements delivering 
significant improvement in energy performance to a current ‘C’ EPC rating, 
which equates to a potential 25% reduction in annual carbon emissions and 
lower bills for tenants.  

 
This project will continue but with increased funding through 2026/27, 
addressing low performing properties picked up through the void property 
process, in recognition of the challenging properties conditions the team is 
seeing when properties become void.  
 
Loft Insulation 
The minimum standard for loft insulation is to achieve at least 300mm. 
2025/26 has seen phase 2 of the Ryelands roofing programme completed in 
addition, top-ups are completed through void maintenance, ensuring that all 
new tenancies achieve the 300mm standard.  
 
Learning from energy improvements, insulation work will include sloping 
soffits and lagging exposed pipework and water storage, future proofing 
against pipe bursts we have experienced during the recent episodes of very 
cold weather.  
 
BRE heat loss modelling calculates that 25% of heat energy is lost through 
roofs, which demonstrates the contribution of this low cost but effective 
energy saving insulation measure to our carbon reduction strategy.  
 
Solar Panel Installations  
Installations to 65 properties were completed through funding from Social 
Housing Decarb Fund Wave 2.1 programme referred to above. The Energy 
Support Officer continues to ensure there is strong tenant engagement with 
the project. Connection to the ORSIS system enables remote monitoring and 
information to help tenants adapt to the new technology and achieve the 
maximum benefit from the installation. Through work alongside the Councils 
Climate Change Team, funding for a 10Kwh battery storage unit on one 
property as part of a research project was also secured.  

  
Gas Partnership, boiler replacement programme 
We will continue with the boiler renewal programme to replace aged and 
inefficient gas boilers with state of art energy efficient modern gas appliances 
providing cost effective instantaneous hot water. This provides more efficient 
heating with improved control, and affords a higher-level thermal comfort for 
tenants, with reduced carbon emissions.  
 
During 2025/26 a total of at least 189 ‘A’ rated gas boilers will be installed by 
our gas partner EMCOR. 

Page 236



   

 

   

 

   
Energy Support Officer 
The energy crisis affects all households but is adversely impacting our low 
income and vulnerable tenants.   
 
The energy support service seeks to support all new tenancies providing 
energy advice and managing a busy referral service for any existing tenants 
who would like support and advice, alongside managing works and tenant 
relations within government match-funded projects. Within the first 9 months 
of the year over 230 home visits have been completed to provide invaluable 
energy related advice to council tenants.  Support includes: 

• Information around usage of storage and water heaters 

• In home demonstrations 

• Telephone support for grant applications 

• Tariff support and advice 

• Boiler temperature and thermostat resets 

• Referrals to specialist advisors at Green Rose, LEAP and Citizens 

Advice Bureau supporting with incorrect tariffs, misbilling and 

incorrect day/night rate assignments 

• Referrals to the Energy Ombudsman for incorrect billing 

• Utility account set-ups 

• Support with debt write offs 

• Benefit entitlement checks 

Collaboration with Strathclyde University 
The Council is participating in an innovative research collaboration with 
Strathclyde University, funded by the Centre for Net Zero – High Density 
Buildings.  To date four households have engaged with the project locally with 
each household receiving a 10 or 15 kWh battery alongside ORSIS 
monitoring, enabling the collection of real-time performance data, alongside 
Vericon digital monitoring collecting data on: 

• Boiler usage 

• Solar Panel generation 

• Carbon dioxide levels 

• Humidity levels 

• Internal temperatures 

The research will enable the Council to evaluate the effectiveness of real-time 
digital monitoring in identifying conditions associated with damp and mould.  
This approach could then be rolled out across the Council housing stock to 
support the investigation and management of damp and mould cases, 
strengthening compliance with the requirements of Awaab’s Law. 
 
Property Conversions / new properties 
We have adopted an EPC ‘A’ rating as the benchmark for all new properties 
and ground up conversions and will take all affordable opportunities to exceed 
this standard and to incorporate low carbon and renewable technologies. 
 
As a tangible demonstration of our commitment to new low carbon housing, 
this is the standard for any future developments. This year we have 
completed four new units of Independent Living Accommodation at Alder 
Grove which utilise highly energy efficient modular construction and have 
achieved EPC ‘A’.   

Page 237



   

 

   

 

 
Electrification of Repairs and Maintenance Service (RMS) fleet vehicles 
 
Currently 61% of the RMS fleet19 are now electric, with charging points 
provision having been created at White Lund Depot and Heaton House, 
Lancaster and an increased number of charging points across the district are 
now provided through the work of the Council’s Energy and Sustainability 
Team.  
 

4. Rent Setting 

4.1. As a registered provider of social housing the Council adheres to the 
Regulator of Social Housing’s ‘Rent Standard.’ Housing rents are set in line 
with the Government’s Rent Policy Statement. 

4.2. For the financial year 2026/27, the Regulator of Social Housing has 
confirmed that the Council has the freedom to increase rent by a maximum of 
CPI+1% (CPI is the Consumer Price Index). Following the outcome of the 
Government’s consultation process with the provision of a longer-term (10 
year) settlement, +1% has also been included through to 2035/36. For rent 
setting purposes for 2026/27, the September 2025 CPI figure of 3.8% is 
used, with forecast CPI of 2.0% used thereafter (being the target set by 
Government for the Bank of England’s Monetary Policy Committee).  
Following the outcome of the Government’s consultation20 – Rent 
Convergence will not be applied in 2026/27 and has not been incorporated 
into the figures presented. 

4.3. As set out in the recommendations, through the provisions laid out in the 
Policy Statement on Rents for Social Housing21, it is proposed that from 
2026/27, for the first time the Council will go beyond ‘formula rent’22 for new 
tenancies upon relet through the application of rent flexibility, being 5% 
above ‘formula rent’ on general needs properties and 10% above ‘formula 
rent’ on supported housing (including independent living housing), in light of 
the significant additional investment needed across housing stock. 

4.4. All Council rents are ‘social rent’ and sit well below the Local Housing 
Allocation (LHA) rate; this rate defines the maximum amount that can be paid 
in Housing Benefit (HB) or through the housing element of Universal Credit 
(UC).23  We estimate that around 80% of tenants are in receipt of some form 
of HB or UC, in addition to this, those tenants who receive any proportion of 
help with their housing costs through HB or UC should also have some 
entitlement to the Council’s council tax support scheme. 

4.5. Rental income is the main funding source for the HRA and there are factors 
that will influence the outturn position: 

 

 
19 Calculated on figures across the fleet within the whole of the Housing and Property service. 
20 Outcome to consultations on future social housing rent policy and Social Rent convergence - 

GOV.UK 
21 Policy statement on rents for social housing - GOV.UK 
22 Formula rent for a property is calculated based on relative property values, relative local earnings, 

and property size (no. of bedrooms), in line with annual guidance produced by the Regulator of Social 

Housing. 
23 It is estimated that around 80% of tenants are in receipt of full or partial HB or UC – due to the 

housing element of UC being paid directly to tenants it is not fully clear the exact number. 

Page 238

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/how-to-implement-social-rent-convergence/outcome/outcome-to-consultations-on-future-social-housing-rent-policy-and-social-rent-convergence
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/how-to-implement-social-rent-convergence/outcome/outcome-to-consultations-on-future-social-housing-rent-policy-and-social-rent-convergence
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/direction-on-the-rent-standard-from-1-april-2020/policy-statement-on-rents-for-social-housing


   

 

   

 

• Void levels and re-let times (equating to void rent loss/uncollectable 
rent)24  In addition, changes to Council Tax rules on empty homes came 
into effect from 1st April 2024 meaning a 200% rate on homes empty for 
more than 12 months. This impacts the HRA in relation to long term voids 
empty as a result of regeneration projects.  

• Right to Buy (decrease in housing stock); as at Q3 a total of 40 Right-To-
Buy completions have taken place in 2025/26. These sales have 
generated gross proceeds of £3.1M, of which a proportion is due to HM 
Treasury (unless we re-invest as retained (“1-4-1”) receipts, as described 
below at 10.8) with the balance being reinvested in housing stock through 
the capital programme. Further to the recent changes to the RTB 
scheme, estimates assume 10 completions in 2026/27 with 3 completions 
per year thereafter.25 

For further details about risk factors see Appendix F.  

4.6. Therefore, in line with government policy Cabinet is now advised to set 
average council rents for current tenants as follows26:- 

This is nearly half of the average within the private rented sector locally 
which has an average rent of £181pw (ONS data).  Whilst in 2024/25 – 
available data from governments national dataset on social housing lettings 
indicates that Lancaster remains affordable and lower than the median 
across the country which is £113pw (this figure includes council and housing 
association homes, General Needs and Supported Housing). 

4.7  For new tenants applying formula rent plus an additional 5% (general needs) 
or 

10% (supported housing) flexibility, average rents would be27:  

 

 
24 Empty homes are currently relet within target times, which minimises void rent loss, however major 

voids (those which require significant works, including renewal or replacement of major elements) and 

properties subject to planned capital projects (such as the Mainway project) have a negative impact on 

void rent loss. 
25 Recent changes to legislation have seen RTB discounts reduce for applicants. Prior to this change we 

experienced a large number of applications which have then followed through to completion within 

2025/26, with 40 already completed this year so far and 7 currently working through the system. 

Despite the change in legislation a small number of applications (11 since December 2024) have 

continued to be received since the changes came into force (4 of which have subsequently been 

withdrawn / refused).  Additionally housing providers are required to write to tenants every 5 years to 

inform them of their right to purchase their home and therefore some further increases in the short-term 

have been built into budget assumptions.     

26 Note that the figures are presented on a 52-week basis. 

Note: Specific rents vary depending on property type / area / size: for general needs between £70.01 

(for a bedsit at Mainway) and £150.37 (for a 3-bedroom adapted bungalow in Lancaster), and for 

Independent Living between £72.65 for a bedsit at Beck View and £116.58 for a two-bed flat at 

Artlebeck Close. 
27 Note that the figures are presented on a 52-week basis. 

Property Type 2025/26 2026/27 

General £93.91 £98.79 

Independent Living and 
Supported 

£89.01 £93.95 

Page 239



   

 

   

 

 

4.8 The Council recognises that it is important that council homes are kept as  

affordable as possible.  However, due to increasing costs, new requirements  

and costs of maintaining our stock (as outlined within the report), it is  

important that the additional revenue is secured and in advance of rent 
convergence decisions.  The table below indicates income differences 
through the different approaches28. 

 

 General Needs Independent 
Living and 
Supported 

Combined 

Potential 
additional 
income moving 
to formula 

£89,117.60 £17,501.12 £106,618.72 

Potential 
additional 
income 
including rent 
flexibility 

£135,697.54 £46,609.47 £182,307.01 

Difference 
between rent 
flexibility and 
formula29 

£46,579.94 £29,108.35 £75,688.29 

 

The additional income (£75,688.29) over a full year is equivalent to: 

• 2 x Customer Service Advisors, or 

• 17 new roofs, or 

• 22 void turnaround costs. 

 

 
28 This information is based on the following assumptions: 71% of 310 re-lets, split 164 relets for 

general needs and 56 relets for independent living / supported.  The total figures are also based on a full 

year’s income whereas re-lets occur throughout the year. 
29 For budget setting purposes income indicated from this line has not been included within the budget 

presented. 

Property Type General Needs 
Independent Living 

and Supported  

 2026/27 2026/27 

Actual (existing (tenants) £98.79 
 

£93.95 
 

Formula (re-lets) £109.24 £99.96 

Rent flexibility 5% (General 
Needs), 10% (Independent 
Living and Supported) 

£114.70 £109.96 

Page 240



   

 

   

 

5. Other Charges  

5.1. For certain dwellings service charges are applied in addition to the rent 
charge to cover the cost of specific services. These include (but are not 
limited to) elements such as maintenance costs, cleaning, energy use within 
communal areas, communal boiler replacements, staffing costs within 
Independent Living Schemes, and CCTV.  

5.2. Service charges are set to ensure they are sufficient to cover the cost of 
service provision, and that they are reasonable and transparent. Service 
charge elements are affected each year by variance in actual costs (such as 
energy provision, changes to service contracts, salary costs and cost of 
materials) and also a range of inflationary factors (General Inflationary Index, 
Building Cost Information Service (BCIS)). Costs of service provision have 
been reviewed for 2026/27. 

5.3. As per the Social Housing Regulations the Council should endeavour to keep 
increases for service charges within the limit on rent changes, of CPI (as at 
September in the previous year) + 1 percentage point (or 4.8% in 2026/27), 
to help keep charges affordable.30 However, it is recognised that service 
charges fluctuate significantly from year to year and that the requirement to 
contain increases within CPI+1% should be interpreted on a medium- or 
long-term basis31. 

5.4. For 2026/27 across all housing stock average service charges will see a 
marginal increase of 0.5%.32  Within this average is a variation between 
charges applied to Independent Living (0.5% increase) and General Needs 
(0.4% increase). Average service charge costs can be seen in the table 
below. 

 

  2025/26 2026/2733 

Avg weekly service charge per dwelling 
(General Needs) 

£10.72 £10.76 

Avg weekly service charge per dwelling 
(Independent Living)  

£50.14 £50.39 

Combined avg weekly service charge (total 
weekly service charge divided by total 
number of dwellings)  

£26.50 £26.54 

 

The changes is service charge are factored based on changes with costs 
mostly associated with: door entry systems, gas and electricity to communal 
blocks, CCTV, repairs and maintenance to communal areas, and staffing 
costs. 

5.5. It is estimated that around 80% of council tenants are in receipt of either 
Housing Benefit (HB) or Universal Credit (UC). Most service chargeable 
elements are HB/UC eligible; the exceptions being individual heating costs, 
and the monitoring of alarms within independent living or community alarmed 
properties. 

5.6. With regard to garage rents, it is recommended that garage rents be 

 

30 Source: Policy statement on rents for social housing – Dec 2022 

31 Source: National Housing Federation Briefing on Rent Standard 2020 - Jan 2020 
32 Subject to further fluctuations in cost of service delivery 
33 For the purposes of rent and service charge setting 2026/27 is a 52-week year (with service charges 

collected over 48 weeks).  

Page 241



   

 

   

 

increased by CPI +1% in line with dwelling rents. Benchmarking indicates 
that previous rent freezes (between 2020/21 and 2024/25) have brought 
rents more in line with other providers as intended, that occupancy rates are 
stable, and rent increases are now appropriate to ensure required 
maintenance of garages.   

6. Revenue Expenditure 

6.1. The future years’ estimates for 2026/27 alongside the following four financial 
years have been prepared as part of this budget setting process.  The 
differences between the budget approved last year and the draft revenue 
budget as prepared are illustrated in the variance analysis supplied at 
Appendix B. 

6.2. The key areas are listed as follows: -  

• Salary costs are now forecast to be around £126K lower than previously 
estimated, due to changes in employer pension contributions, see section 
6.4. 

• Additional costs of £256K relating to the implementation of new housing 
management software, funded by a one-off transfer to the ICT and 
Systems Improvement Reserve. 

• Self-financing loan principal of £1,041K to be repaid via Major Repairs 

Reserve, see section 6.5. 

• Depreciation charge increase of around £490K, see section 6.6.   

6.3. The table below lists the major assumptions that have been made for the 
2026/27 budget. 

 2026/27 

Fees & Charges 3.80% 

Inflation – Pay 3.00% 

Employer Pensions Contribution 8.10% 

Inflation – General (Minor Cost Centres) 3.80% 

Inflation – Insurance 10.00% 

Electricity 24p/kwh 

Gas 3.5p/kwh 

Interest Rate - Investments 4.00% 

 

6.4. The current rate for employer’s pension contributions is 16.3%.  Following 
discussions with the Lancashire County Pension Fund, the fund is performing 
well and the advice is to reduce future contributions to 8.1%.  This is consistent 
with other districts across Lancashire. 

6.5. Further to consultation with technical experts and external audit, utilisation of 

the Major Repairs Reserve to fund the HRA self-financing loan principal 

repayment has now been taken built into the estimates presented.  This was 

previously funded by an appropriation from the revenue account, and therefore 

the change reduces pressure on unallocated balances. 

6.6. Following work being carried out to review varying aspects of the calculation of 

depreciation, the current projections are based on latest quinquennial 

valuations and the application of an existing use value - social housing (EUV-

Page 242



   

 

   

 

SH) adjustment factor of 35% of market value.  As provided for within the Stock 

Valuation for Resource Accounting guidance issued in November 2016, the 

s151 Officer has exercised his discretion in varying the adjustment factor from 

the recommended 40% for the North West region.  This decision will be subject 

to external audit. 

6.7. In summation, the 2026/27 revenue budget projected surplus is £526K, which 
is £237K higher than the previously projected £289K reported in February 
2025. The revised projection is largely due to the points described above (see 
section 6.2), notably a reduction in employer pension contributions, additional 
costs relating to the implementation of new housing management software, 
funding of the self-financing loan principal from the Major Repairs Reserve and 
an increase in depreciation charges. 

 

7. Capital Expenditure  

7.1. The ten-year capital programme is included at Appendix C. 

7.2. The key changes to the programme from last year’s reported position are 
included at Appendix D. 

7.3. Future years’ capital expenditure needs to be informed by the completion and 
analysis of a full stock condition survey – to date around 86% of properties 
have been surveyed. Whilst expenditure within 2026/27 reflects the priority 
areas coming from that survey, further refinement of capital expenditure is 
required and will be reflected in subsequent years’ capital programmes in due 
course.  None the less information gained already suggests that over £60M of 
investment in our homes is needed over the next 10 years and demonstrates 
the requirement to ensure rental income is maximised. 

7.4. Certain programmes of work (value over £200K and key decisions over 
£250K) will be advised during 2026/27 and it was confirmed that the Chief 
Executive be delegated to approve tender of these contracts as per 
procurement rules. Chief Executive sign off will be sought on a case-by-case 
basis. Key decision notices will be provided where required.  

The programmes of work will be:  

• Reroofing to various flat blocks on the Greaves and Hala Estates, and 
in the City Centre 

• Smoke alarm installations on a 10-year rolling programme 

• Whole House Major Voids works and refurbishment. 

7.5. The capital programme includes some provision for cyclical programmes of 
work on Mainway. Work is underway to define the scale and nature of this in 
the context of the ongoing Mainway regeneration project. 

7.6. Newly introduced for 2026/27, the HRA now has a development pool for 
capital schemes and projects supported in principle, but that required further 
development (including the preparation of a full business case), scrutiny and 
approval before they can progress.  Due to the nature of the schemes 
considered during this budget-setting process, and their dependence on 
having adequate capital resources available without a requirement for the 
council to borrow, they have not been incorporated into the estimates but are 
presented in aggregate at the base of Appendix C, for memorandum only.  
The route for approval will be via the normal governance route including 
agreement from the Capital Assurance Group prior to consideration by 
Cabinet, whilst ensuring that sufficient funding resources are in place,  Should 
the schemes require borrowing and the business case supports the 
repayment of such borrowing, then any impact on the council’s Treasury 

Page 243



   

 

   

 

Management Strategy will need to be considered on an ongoing basis prior to 
approval. 

 

8. Future Developments 

8.1. The City Council continues to have ambitions for the development of its own 
new affordable / social rented homes which it is seeking to progress in line with 
the new Social and Affordable Housing Programme. The Council has also 
successfully secured consultancy support alongside some grant support from 
the Council Housingbuilding Support Service (CHoSS).  The focus for the next 
twelve months will seek: 

• To go out to tender and appoint a developer to deliver new social  
affordable housing on Skerton School site.   

• Depending on the outcome of the tender appoint a developer for the 
next phase for bringing new housing across the Mainway site. 

• Achieve a start on site for 4 x new units of housing on Hastings Road. 

• With the support of CHoSS, bringing forward a positive planning 
application on Dorrington Road for c.8 new units of accommodation on 
a current garage site. 

• Work alongside a Registered Provider to secure new housing on a key 
development through a turn-key approach utilising Right-to-Buy 
receipts. 

 

9. Provisions, Reserves and Balances 

9.1. After reviewing the Housing Revenue Account and General Fund in 
comparative terms and considering the key issues, assumptions and risks 
underlying the budget projections, the Section 151 Officer advises maintaining 
the minimum level of HRA Balances at £750K from 01 April 2026 to support the 
budget forecasts, as part of the overall medium term financial planning for the 
HRA. 

9.2. In calculating the minimum level of HRA Balances, an assessment of the risks 
that give rise to unanticipated expenditure or loss of income has been made 
and these are shown in the table below. 

Risk Symptom of Risk 

Balance 
Required 

£M 

Increased Demand for Services  
1% Increase in Net Revenue 
Expenditure  

0.150 

Recession results in additional reduction 
in Rental Income 

2% Reduction in Income 0.350 

Natural Disaster such as Flood etc 
Additional Unexpected 
Expenditure 

0.150 

Additional Uncertainty with Respect of 
the Cost Of Living 

Additional Unexpected 
Expenditure 

0.100 

Aggregate Overspend if all of the above risks were to happen 0.750 

 

9.3. Draft statements on all reserves are attached at Appendix E(i) and Appendix 

Page 244



   

 

   

 

E(ii).  Levels are viewed as adequate for the period covered and Cabinet is 
asked to endorse this information, with the Statement being referred on to 
Council as part of the HRA budget proposals. 

 

10. Business Planning & Future Risks  

10.1. Taking account of the work that has been done to date, the following table 
sets out the latest position for the business plan, represented by the level of 
unallocated balances and the Business Support Reserve (BSR).  It compares 
the position back in February 2025 to projections as at February this year. 

 

30 Year Business Plan: Business Support Reserve and Unallocated Balances 

 

 
2025/26 

£’000 

2026/27 

£’000 

2027/28 

£’000 

2028/29 

£’000 

2029/30 

£’000 

2030/31 

£’000 

30 Year 
Cumulative 

Total     
£’000 

Business Support 
Reserve 

119 119 119 119 119 119 119 

Unallocated Balances 103 391 1,021 1,439 2,228 3,447 128,516 

Projections as at 
February 2025 

222 510 1,140 1,558 2,347 3,566 128,635 

Business Support 190 190 190 190 190 190 190 

Unallocated Balances 770 1,296 875 802 1,369 3,085 174,857 

Projections as at 
February 2026 

960 1,486 1,065 992 1,559 3,275 175,047 

Overall Movement 
(Adverse) / 
Favourable 

738 976 (75) (566) (788) (291) 46,412 

Page 245



   

 

   

 

 

10.2. The unallocated balance is currently £804K, £54K above the recommended 
minimum level.  The balances shown above are now based on 2025/26’s 
Quarter 3 projected outturns, as presented in the Delivering Our Priorities 
report elsewhere on this agenda.  Based on current assumptions, at no point 
within the 30-year business plan do they breach the £750K lower limit as 
detailed in section 9.1. 

10.3. The Business Support Reserve has a current unallocated balance of £190K.  
Additional earmarked reserves exist (see Appendix E(i) for more details). 
These reserves are earmarked for specific purposes, but not formally ring 
fenced. 

10.4. The increase in the projected balance at the end of the 30-year business plan 
is largely due to the year-on-year impact of the higher than previously assumed 
rent increase for 2026/27, with an additional 1% above CPI increase now being 
included in assumptions through to 2035/36, in line with the recent Government 
Policy Statement on a 10-year settlement. 

10.5. As previously discussed, in line with the Regulator of Social Housing’s 
guidance, rents have been set at CPI+1%.  Largely due to fluctuations in CPI, 
partly off-set by high levels of Right to Buy sales, 2026/27’s rental income from 
dwellings is now forecast to be approximately £85K higher than estimated in 
the previous budget report.  It has been assumed that increases will revert to 
CPI only from 2036/37 (forecast at 2.0%, being the target set by Government 
for the Bank of England’s Monetary Policy Committee), but the risks 
surrounding these assumptions must be appreciated and the magnitude of 
impact of a small change within this area understood. 

10.6. Due to the changes to the calculation of depreciation charge referred to 
above, along with the utilisation of the Major Repairs Reserve to fund the HRA 
self-financing loan principal repayment, the currently proposed capital 
programme requires additional contributions from revenue to the Major Repairs 
Reserve.  It is estimated that £93K of useable capital receipts and £28K within 

Page 246



   

 

   

 

the Major Repairs Reserve be held by 31 March 2030.  This will be reviewed 
when the profile of future capital spend is prepared, following further refinement 
of subsequent years’ capital programmes. 

10.7. It is also worth noting that as at 1 April 2025, £1,441K of Retained Right to 
Buy (“1-4-1”) receipts were held, to be used for increasing housing stock.  It is 
anticipated that of this balance, £795K will be used to fund ad-hoc acquisitions 
with the proposed Capital Programme as Appendix C also including the 
acquisition of new build units on a turn-key approach.  Following changes 
made by Government, our “1-4-1” balance will continue to replenish, dependent 
on future RTB sales. 

10.8. The Section 151 Officer is required to undertake a formal review of general 
reserve levels. In assessing the adequacy of such balances, the Chief Officer – 
Resources takes account of the strategic, operational and financial risks facing 
the authority. The effectiveness of internal financial and other controls are also 
taken into account; assurance on these can be taken from the respective 
formal Statements and external assessments. Consideration has also been 
given to the specific risks and assumptions underlying the HRA as set out in 
Appendix F. 

 

11. Options and Options Analysis (including risk assessment) 

11.1. The options with regards to rent setting are set out under section 4, the 
maximum permitted increase being CPI+1% for current tenants, with flexibility 
of an additional 5% / 10% above formula rent for new tenancies.  By applying 
this increase, it allows for a budget that can deliver on the Council’s and 
Governments ambitions on improving housing standards and addressing the 
climate change emergency, whilst adhering to the Rent Standard and wider 
legislative requirements. 

11.2. In relation to garage rents, it is recommended that an increase in line with 
dwelling rent increases is appropriate and will support maintenance 
requirements without adversely impacting occupancy levels. 

11.3. With regard to the revenue budget generally, Cabinet could consider other 
proposals that may influence spending in current and future years, as long as 
their financing is considered and addressed and coherent with the legislative 
and regulatory requirements of a Registered Provider. 

11.4. The options available in respect of the minimum level of HRA balances are to 
retain the level at £750K in line with the advice of the Section 151 Officer, or 
adopt a different level. Should Members choose not to accept the advice on 
the level of balances, then this should be recorded formally in the minutes of 
the meeting and it could have implications for the Council’s financial standing, 
as assessed by its external auditor. 

11.5. The options available in respect of the Capital Programme are: 

i) To approve the programme in full, with the financing as set out; 

ii) To incorporate other increases or reductions to the programme, with 
appropriate sources of funding being identified. 

11.6. Any risks attached to the above would depend on measures Members 
proposed, and their impact on the council housing service and its tenants.  As 
such, a full options analysis could only be undertaken once any alternative 
proposals are known, and Officers may require more time in order to do this. 

 

 Option 1: 
Set housing and garage rent levels as 

Option 2: 
To propose alternatives to those 

Page 247



   

 

   

 

set out in this report, and approve the 
provisions, reserves and balances 
position (and their use); the revenue 
budgets and capital programme 

outlined in Section 11 above 

Advantages 
Increased rental income supports the 
Council to deliver against its 
Regulatory requirements and 
ensuring homes are safe and decent.   

Unknown 

Disadvantages 
Increased rent levels for tenants, and 
new tenants. 
 

Would require further options 
analysis. 

Risks / 
Mitigation 

The HRA budget set out in this report 
is sustainable in the long term. The 
risks associated with Option 1 are 
outlined in Appendix F – Risks and 
Assumptions. 
 
 

Impact on housing service and 
council housing tenants unknown.  
Potential for housing service to fall 
foul of legislative and regulatory 
requirements, leading to unlimited 
fines and being ‘named and shamed’ 
by government.  

12. Officer Preferred Option (and comments) 

12.1. Option 1: Set housing and garage rent levels as set out in this report and 
approve the provisions, reserves and balances position (and their use); the 
revenue budgets and capital programme, as set out and refer onto full 
Council. 

12.2. The budget headlines were presented to the Tenants Voice meeting of 29th 
January 2026 who were broadly in agreement with the proposals described, 
including the rent increase and understood the rationale for such.  There was, 
however, a range of debate which should be noted including: 

• Residents were keen to understand how we would seek to increase 
housing stock – replacing homes lost through Right-to-Buy 

• Residents also noted that they did not want to see their rent money 
being offset to repair homes though tenant damage and wanted to 
understand the re-charge process in such instances.    

• Officers committed to providing details of planned maintenance and 
capital programmes be presented to a future meeting of the Tenant 
Voice. 

12.3. The budget headlines and the wider context of housing finances were also 
presented and discussed at the Council Housing Advisory Group (CHAG) on 
29th January 2026, who were supportive and understood the financial 
challenges and requirements faced within the HRA.  Residents were keen 
that within their new rent letters that they saw the difference in what they had 
paid before as a comparator. 

 

13. Conclusion 

13.1. The report highlights challenges faced within the current economic climate, 
particularly in the context of the increased regulatory and legislative 
requirements being placed on the social housing sector.  

13.2. The longer-term financial forecasts contain numerous estimates and 
assumptions, and the service remains attuned to the risks contained within 
Appendix F, and in particular the impacts of further legislative and regulatory 
change which could affect business planning within the HRA.   

13.3. The Council’s Housing Service remains ambitious, while continuing to operate 

Page 248



   

 

   

 

a sensible but forward-looking approach, seeking to meet Regulatory 
requirements and deliver safe and decent homes. 

 

RELATIONSHIP TO POLICY FRAMEWORK 
 
The budget represents, in financial terms, what the Council is seeking to achieve through its 
approved Housing Strategy in relation to council housing.   
 

CONCLUSION OF IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
(including Health & Safety, Equality & Diversity, Human Rights, Community Safety, HR, 
Sustainability and Rural Proofing) 
The proposals set out in the report will have positive impacts on residents within Council 
Housing dwellings specifically climate change, wellbeing / social value, health and safety 
and community safety as outlined below.  There is no significant detrimental impact on 
equality on specific groups.  See Appendix G – Equality Impact Assessment.   

Climate: as per section 3, the report outlines a number of positive climate related impacts 
resulting from the HRA budgeting process. Also, see Appendix G for additional positive 
impacts. 

Wellbeing & Social Value: positive impacts identified. See appendix G for details. 

Health and Safety: the Council Housing dedicated Compliance Team focusses on monitoring 
and maintaining compliance against core areas of legislation within council dwellings 
specifically gas, electrical, legionella, lifts, asbestos, fire, smoke and CO2 detection and fire 
door testing.  The dedicated budget around this work supports compliance.  Compliance 
against all areas remains strong. 

Community Safety: The approach to a dedicated ASB provision for Council Housing tenants 
and continued engagement and review of ASB provision with Resolve will see a positive 
impact for local residents. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  
Rent setting is subject to statutory requirements. Officers must ensure that rent setting is 
done in accordance with relevant statutory requirements.  
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

As set out in the report. 

OTHER RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

Human Resources: 

None identified 

Information Services: 

None identified 

Property: 

None identified 

Open Spaces: 

None identified 
 

Page 249



   

 

   

 

S.151 OFFICER’S COMMENTS 

Like all councils, Lancaster City is experiencing increased financial pressures and heightened 

uncertainty as a result of the ongoing cost of living crisis. This situation has had a significant 

impact on key areas of expenditure. The challenges are especially acute within the Housing 

Revenue Account (HRA), which has faced rising costs, sustained high demand for services, 

and a reduction in income due to the effective capping of rent increases. 

 

In response to these pressures, substantial work has been carried out throughout the year to 

preserve the integrity of the HRA and to maintain an appropriate level of reserves. This 

includes specific efforts to address the increase in the depreciation charge by applying a 35% 

Existing Use Value – Social Housing discount. In addition, actions have been taken to repay 

self-financing loan principal amounts using the Major Repairs Reserve. Both represent 

substantial changes in approach from previous years, resulting in material changes and will 

be subject to review by the Council’s External Auditor. 

 

The Local Government Act 2003 imposes clear obligations on the Section 151 Officer to 

provide an annual report regarding the strength of the estimates contained within the Council’s 

budget, as well as the adequacy of the Council’s reserves. This statutory duty ensures that 

the financial planning and resilience of the Council are subject to robust and regular scrutiny. 

In practice, the recommendation of a minimum level of unallocated reserves serves as an 

early indicator that the Council may be encountering financial pressures. Should the reserves 

approach or fall below this threshold, it signals the need for prompt action to address any 

deterioration in the Council’s financial position. 

 

For the 2026/27 financial year, the Section 151 Officer has established a minimum level of 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) unallocated balances at £0.750 million. This benchmark is 

intended to safeguard the integrity of the HRA and provide a buffer against unforeseen 

financial challenges. 

 

MONITORING OFFICER’S COMMENTS 

The Monitoring Officer has been consulted and has no further comments to add. 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

See Appendices A-G 

Contact Officer: Jo Wilkinson 
Telephone:  01524 582762 
E-mail: jowilkinson@lancaster.gov.uk 
Ref: HRA Budget Report 

 

Page 250



APPENDIX A

2026/27 

Budget

2027/28 

Forecast

2028/29 

Forecast

2029/30 

Forecast

2030/31 

Forecast

£ £ £ £ £

INCOME

Rental Income - Council Housing (17,562,300) (18,204,600) (18,237,000) (18,828,800) (19,486,400)

Rental Income - Other (Shops and Garages etc.) (295,600) (302,300) (309,100) (316,100) (323,300)

Charges for Services & Facilities (2,550,500) (2,592,900) (2,640,000) (2,685,400) (2,730,500)

Grant Income (17,700) (17,700) (17,700) (17,700) (17,700)

Contributions from General Fund (112,900) (115,500) (117,700) (120,000) (122,200)

Total Income (20,539,000) (21,233,000) (21,321,500) (21,968,000) (22,680,100)

EXPENDITURE

Repairs & Maintenance 6,688,800 7,037,900 7,154,500 7,165,600 7,341,800

Supervision & Management 5,552,200 6,265,300 5,448,400 6,057,000 5,698,300

Rents, Rates & Insurance 661,000 706,100 751,300 796,400 841,500

Contribution to Provision for Bad and Doubtful Debts 172,200 173,200 174,200 175,400 176,700

Depreciation & Impairment of Fixed Assets 5,264,200 5,264,200 5,264,200 5,264,200 5,264,200

Debt Management Costs 0 0 0 0 0

Total Expenditure 18,338,400 19,446,700 18,792,600 19,458,600 19,322,500

NET COST OF HRA SERVICES (2,200,600) (1,786,300) (2,528,900) (2,509,400) (3,357,600)

(Gain)/Loss on disposal of non-current assets 0 0 0 0 0

Interest Payable & Similar Charges 1,568,200 1,528,200 1,487,800 1,447,200 1,406,100

Interest & Investment Income (50,100) (33,300) (33,300) (33,300) (33,300)

Pensions Interest Costs & Expected Return on Pensions Assets 0 0 0 0 0

Capital Grants and Contributions Receivable 0 0 0 0 0

Premiums & Discounts from Earlier Debt Rescheduling 0 0 0 0 0

(SURPLUS) / DEFICIT FOR THE YEAR (682,500) (291,400) (1,074,400) (1,095,500) (1,984,800)

Self Financing Debt Repayment 0 0 0 0 0

Net Charges made for Retirement Benefits 0 0 0 0 0

Adjustments to reverse out Notional Charges included above 0 0 0 0 30,000

Transfer to/(from) Earmarked Reserves - for Revenue Purposes 156,900 273,100 269,400 263,600 238,100

Capital Expenditure funded from Major Repairs Reserve 0 438,600 878,300 265,300 0

Transfer from Earmarked Reserves - for Capital Purposes 0 0 0 0 (30,000)

Financing of Capital Expenditure from Earmarked Reserves 0 0 0 0 30,000

TOTAL (SURPLUS) / DEFICIT FOR THE YEAR (525,600) 420,300 73,300 (566,600) (1,716,700)

Housing Revenue Account Balance brought forward (770,100) (1,295,700) (875,400) (802,100) (1,368,700)

HRA BALANCE CARRIED FORWARD (1,295,700) (875,400) (802,100) (1,368,700) (3,085,400)

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT BUDGET
For Consideration by Cabinet 10 February 2026

Note: The shaded items relate directly to financing the capital programme, and comprise depreciation on Council Dwellings, grants and

contributions, use of the Major Repairs Reserve and specific Earmarked Reserves.

Page 251



APPENDIX B

£ £

ORIGINAL BUDGET 0

EXPENDITURE

Employees

Reduction in employer's superannuation contributions from 2026/27 125,500

125,500

Premises

Repairs & Maintenance - net increase in revenue repair costs due to void 

properties, off-set by reduction in employer's superannuation 

contributions and continuing restriction of rota painting to communal 

areas, funded from reserves

(11,700)

Council Tax - increased liability for long term void properties due to major 

voids and capital projects

(68,000)

(79,700)

Supplies & Services

Software - additional software costs including Total Repairs (35,600)

External Assurance - review of performance against consumer standards (31,100)

ICT - additional costs relating to implementation of new housing 

management software costs funded by one-off contribution to ICT reserve

(256,000)

Provision for doubtful debts - revised estimates for required revenue 

contribution

(17,400)

(340,100)

INCOME

Rents (Dwellings) - future years CPI + 1.0% (CPI at September 2025 

3.8%)

85,000

Service Charges Flats - reduction in income including heating charges (90,800)

(5,800)

FINANCING

Increase in Depreciation Charge (EUV-SH 35%) (489,500)

(489,500)

APPROPRIATIONS

Earmarked Reserves appropriations - works to be funded from Planned 

Maintenance reserves

25,000

Capital Repayment of Debt appropriations - self-financing loan principal to 

be repaid via Major Repairs Reserve

1,041,400

1,066,400

Other Net Service Variances (39,800)

IN YEAR VARIANCES 237,000

Previously Agreed Contribution (From) / To Unallocated Reserve 288,600

REVISED CONTRIBUTION (FROM) / TO UNALLOCATED RESERVE 525,600

*Variances shown as (adverse) / favourable

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT VARIANCE ANALYSIS

2026/27

Page 252



APPENDIX C

2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31 2031/32 2032/33 2033/34 2034/35 2035/36 TOTAL

Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

EXPENDITURE

Adaptations 300         300         300         300         300         300         300         300         300         300         3,000          

Energy Efficiency/Boiler Replacement 1,666      1,658      1,213      1,099      910         790         790         790         790         790         10,496        

Internal Refurbishment 1,078      1,097      1,135      1,135      936         946         936         945         945         936         10,089        

External Refurbishment 270         130         400         130         192         759         288         -          -          369         2,538          

Environmental Improvements 260         260         220         220         250         140         140         140         140         110         1,880          

Re-roofing/Window Renewals 527         1,024      1,423      744         686         -          1,256      1,288      1,288      641         8,877          

Rewiring 88            90            90            90            88            90            88            90            90            88            892             

Lift Replacements -          -          -          -          -          -          -          -          -          50            50               

Fire Precaution Works 500         250         200         200         200         200         200         200         200         200         2,350          

Housing Renewal and Renovation 1,290      507         207         657         657         657         207         207         207         207         4,803          

Acquisitions 250         2,250      -          -          -          -          -          -          -          -          2,500          

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 6,229 7,566 5,188 4,575 4,219 3,882 4,205 3,960 3,960 3,691 47,475        

FINANCING

Capital Receipts 1,731      2,638      93            93            -          -          -          -          -          -          4,555          

Contributions 281         273         -          -          -          -          -          -          -          -          554             

Earmarked Reserves -          -          -          -          30            30            30            30            30            30            180             

Major Repairs Reserve 4,217      4,655      5,095      4,482      4,189      3,852      4,175      3,930      3,930      3,661      42,186        

TOTAL FINANCING 6,229 7,566 5,188 4,575 4,219 3,882 4,205 3,960 3,960 3,691 47,475        

SHORTFALL/(SURPLUS) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31 2031/32 2032/33 2033/34 2034/35 2035/36 TOTAL

MEMORANDUM ONLY: Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

SUBJECT TO FINANCING AND FURTHER APPROVAL

Development Pool 829         3,657      1,048      -          -          -          -          -          -          -          5,534          

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 829 3,657 1,048 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,534          

Council Housing 10 Year Capital Programme
For Consideration by Cabinet 10 February 2026

P
age 253



APPENDIX D

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT CAPITAL PROGRAMME - KEY CHANGES

2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31 2031/32 2032/33 2033/34 2034/35

Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

PREVIOUSLY APPROVED CAPITAL PROGRAMME 4,445 4,693 4,538 4,195 3,969 3,862 4,185 3,940 3,940

Adaptions 

No change to programme 

Energy Efficiency/Boiler Replacement

Storage Heater programme extension +120 +120 +120 +120 +120

Works funded by Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund grant +281 +273

Internal Refurbishment 

No change to programme 

External Refurbishment

External Door and Window Replacement programme changes +130 +400 +130

Environmental Improvements

Environmental Improvement programme changes +110 +110 +110

Re-Roofing/Window Renewals

No change to programme 

Rewiring 

No change to programme 

Lift Replacements

No change to programme 

Fire Precaution Works 

Fire Risk Assessment Actions +250

Smoke / Heat Detector programme changes +100 +100 +20 +20 +20 +20 +20 +20 +20

Housing Renewal and Renovation 

Renewals and Renovations  +543

Property Conversions +240

Acquisitions

New Build Acquisitions +250 +2,250

Minor Variances +0 +0 +0 +0 +0 +0 +0 +0 +0

REVISED CAPITAL PROGRAMME 6,229 7,566 5,188 4,575 4,219 3,882 4,205 3,960 3,960

P
age 254



APPENDIX E(i)

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT - RESERVES AND PROVISIONS STATEMENT 

For Consideration by Cabinet 10 February 2026

To Capital To Revenue To Capital To Revenue To Capital To Revenue To Capital To Revenue To Capital To Revenue To Capital To Revenue

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

HRA General Balances          803,700 26,700 (60,300) 770,100 525,600 1,295,700 (420,300) 875,400 (73,300) 802,100 566,600 1,368,700 1,716,700 3,085,400

Earmarked Reserves:

Business Support Reserve 389,500 (200,000) 189,500 189,500 189,500 189,500 189,500 189,500

Major Repairs Reserve 281,000 5,264,200 (5,545,200) 5,264,200 (5,264,200) 5,702,800 (5,702,800) 6,142,500 (6,142,500) 5,529,500 (5,529,500) 5,264,200 (5,236,500) 27,700

Flats - Planned Maintenance 283,400 (177,600) 105,800 33,000 (47,900) 90,900 33,000 (22,900) 101,000 33,000 (22,900) 111,100 33,000 (22,900) 121,200 33,000 (30,000) (22,900) 101,300

ICT and Systems Improvement 721,900 (649,400) 72,500 256,000 (328,500)

Sheltered - Equipment     275,700 47,900 (75,100) 248,500 75,400 (42,100) 281,800 74,700 (20,400) 336,100 72,900 (17,000) 392,000 71,800 (18,400) 445,400 72,300 (16,000) 501,700

Sheltered - Planned Maintenance 371,700 95,500 (105,300) 361,900 150,900 (15,300) 497,500 149,300 (15,300) 631,500 145,800 (15,300) 762,000 143,600 (15,300) 890,300 144,700 (15,300) 1,019,700

Sheltered Support Grant Maintenance 328,400 47,900 376,300 75,400 451,700 74,700 526,400 72,900 599,300 71,800 671,100 72,300 743,400

Total Earmarked Reserves 2,651,600 5,455,500 (5,545,200) (1,207,400) 1,354,500 5,854,900 (5,264,200) (433,800) 1,511,400 6,034,500 (5,702,800) (58,600) 1,784,500 6,467,100 (6,142,500) (55,200) 2,053,900 5,849,700 (5,529,500) (56,600) 2,317,500 5,586,500 (5,266,500) (54,200) 2,583,300

Capital Receipts: RTB sales RTB sales RTB sales RTB sales RTB sales RTB sales

RTB capital receipts (Authority share) 2,048,900 1,539,000 (2,121,900) 1,466,000 310,000 (1,481,300) 294,700 93,000 (387,700) 93,000 (93,000) 93,000 (93,000) 93,000 93,000

1-4-1 retained receipts (Treasury share) 1,440,700 1,539,000 (794,900) 2,184,800 310,000 (250,000) 2,244,800 93,000 (2,250,000) 87,800 93,000 180,800 93,000 273,800 93,000 366,800

Total Capital Receipts 3,489,600 3,078,000 (2,916,800) 3,650,800 620,000 (1,731,300) 2,539,500 186,000 (2,637,700) 87,800 186,000 (93,000) 180,800 186,000 (93,000) 273,800 186,000 459,800

Balance 

as at 

31/03/31

To the 

Reserve 

from 

Revenue

From the Reserve To the 

Reserve 

from 

Revenue

From the Reserve To the 

Reserve 

from 

Revenue

From the Reserve To the 

Reserve 

from 

Revenue

From the Reserve To the 

Reserve 

from 

Revenue

Balance 

as at 

31/03/28

Contributions

Balance 

as at 

31/03/29

Contributions

Balance 

as at 

31/03/30

Contributions

From the Reserve To the 

Reserve 

from 

Revenue

From the Reserve

Balance 

as at 

31/03/25

Contributions

Balance 

as at 

31/03/26

Contributions

Balance 

as at 

31/03/27

Contributions

P
age 255



 Appendix E(ii) - RESERVES AND PROVISIONS - For Consideration by Cabinet on 10 February 2026         
  
 

 Reason for/purpose  How & when it be used Management 
& control 

Reviewed Recommendations 
 

Capital Reserves      

Major Repairs Reserve 
(MRR)  

Set up following the 
introduction of 
Resource Accounting in 
the HRA.  Credited with 
the amount of 
depreciation charged to 
the HRA and topped up 
with additional funds 
required to finance the 
capital programme in-
year. 

Use of reserve to be 
determined and reported by 
the Chief Finance Officer (or 
nominated representative). 
 
Can be applied to capital 
improvements to HRA 
housing stock (specifically 
excluding demolition) and, 
additionally from 1st April 
2004, repayment of HRA 
debt and credit liabilities 
(including premia on early 
repayment of PWLB loans). 
 

Housing & 
Property / 
Resources 

Budget & 
Outturn 

To provide in-year funding 
for the capital programme 
as budgeted 
 

Business Support 
Reserve (BSR) 

Established to provide 
support to additional 
business plan 
commitments and 
planned investment 
opportunities.   

Use of the reserve to be 
approved by Cabinet. 
 
Contributions to the reserve 
to be approved annually as 
part of the budget. 

Housing & 
Property / 
Resources 

Budget & 
Outturn 

Retain as budgeted, noting 
that the first call will be to 
support the business plan 

Revenue Reserves      

Flats – Planned 
Maintenance Reserve 

Established to smooth 
the costs of major 
revenue and capital 
works to flats funded 
from Service Charges.   

Contributions from Service 
Charges made to this 
reserve, together with 
additional appropriations in 
lieu of interest. 
 
Reserve to be applied to 
major works to communal 
facilities in flats. 
 

Housing & 
Property / 
Resources 

Budget & 
Outturn 

Retain as budgeted 

  

P
age 256



 Appendix E(ii) - RESERVES AND PROVISIONS - For Consideration by Cabinet on 10 February 2026         
  
 

 Reason for/purpose  How & when it be used Management 
& control 

Reviewed Recommendations 
 

Revenue Reserves      

ICT & Systems 
Improvement Reserve  

Established to fund future 
ICT systems and 
equipment replacement. 

To be applied to future 
replacements and system / 
process improvements. 

Housing & 
Property / 
Resources 

 

Budget & 
Outturn 

Retain as budgeted 

Sheltered Equipment 
Reserve 

Established to fund 
purchases of equipment 
for Sheltered schemes 
funded from Service 
Charges. 

Contributions from Service 
Charges made to this 
reserve, together with 
additional appropriations in 
lieu of interest. 
Reserve to be applied to 
purchases of equipment for 
common area services for 
Sheltered schemes. 
 

Housing & 
Property / 
Resources 

Budget & 
Outturn 

Retain as budgeted 

Sheltered – Planned 
Maintenance 

Established to smooth 
the costs of major 
revenue and capital 
works to flats funded 
from Service Charges 

Contributions from Service 
Charges made to this 
reserve, together with 
additional appropriations in 
lieu of interest. 
Reserve to be applied to 
major works to communal 
facilities in Sheltered 
schemes. 
 

Housing & 
Property / 
Resources 

Budget & 
Outturn 

Retain as budgeted 

Sheltered – Support 
Grant Maintenance 

Established to fund 
purchases of equipment 
for Sheltered schemes 
funded from Service 
Charges but classed as 
Support Costs under 
County Guidelines. 

Contributions from Service 
Charges made to this 
reserve, together with 
additional appropriations in 
lieu of interest. 
Reserve to be applied to 
major works to communal 
facilities in Sheltered 
schemes. 
 

Housing & 
Property / 
Resources 

Budget & 
Outturn 

Retain as budgeted 

 
  

P
age 257



 Appendix E(ii) - RESERVES AND PROVISIONS - For Consideration by Cabinet on 10 February 2026         
  
Use of all reserves with the exception of the BSR and MRR to be approved by the Chief Officer with responsibility for Housing, in consultation 
with the Chief Finance Officer (or nominated representative) and reported to Cabinet, primarily as part of normal monitoring, budgeting and 
outturn reporting arrangements.   

 
 Reason for/purpose  How & when it be used Management 

& control 
Reviewe

d 
Recommendations 

 

Provisions      

Bad Debts This provision is used 
to provide cover for all 
Housing Revenue 
Account bad and 
doubtful debts. 

Contributions are 
determined at budget 
setting and outturn, based 
on assessment of the level 
of debt outstanding. Write 
offs are charged against the 
provision during the year. 

Resources Budget 
& 

Outturn 

As reflected in the report 

 
The Bad Debt provision will be applied by the Chief Finance Officer (or nominated representative) and reported to Cabinet, primarily as part of 
normal monitoring, budgeting and outturn reporting arrangements.  

P
age 258



APPENDIX F 

2026/27 BUDGET 
HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT – RISKS & ASSUMPTIONS 
FOR CONSIDERATION BY CABINET 10 FEBRUARY 2026 

JO TO REVIEW 
 

 

Risk area Details 

Self-financing Under Part VI of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 a local 
authority has a duty to keep a HRA as a ring-fenced account and has a duty 
to ensure that it does not go into deficit. 

To deliver this, robust business and financial planning arrangements are 
maintained, including the production of a 30-year business plan. 
Assumptions around factors such as rent setting and inflation factors are 
built into this. 

Cost of service 
delivery in current 
climate 

Ongoing risks exist in relation to external impacts on the cost-of-service 
delivery. The impact of inflation, for example, resulting in increased costs to 
the service through cost of materials, contracts, and other building costs; the 
volatility of energy costs, to both tenants and to the council; and pay increases 
for example.  

Rent Policy As a Registered Provider of Social Housing the Council adheres to the 
Regulator of Social Housing’s ‘Rent Standard’. Rents are set in line with the 
Government’s ‘Rent Statement’.  

2026/27 has seen the Government commit to a longer-term approach with 
a ten-year rent settlement at CPI+1% as the maximum rent increase 
permissible. Within the Council’s 30-year business plan it is currently 
assumed that CPI + 1% (equaling 3%) will be in place for years 2-10, with 2% 
in subsequent years in line with corporate assumptions about inflation.  

It should be recognised that future government policy in this area can have 
a significant impact on rent and therefore income levels.   

Government guidance will be kept under review to ensure any future 
assumptions about rental income are accurately informing business 
planning.  

Government have also committed to rent convergence of an additional £1pw 
in 2027/28 and £2pw thereafter, however this has not been included within 
current year’s budget forecast assumptions. 

An internal audit was completed at the end of 2024/25 into 2025/26 
confirming rent setting process robustness, a number of actions are yet to 
be implemented which were on hold awaiting the outcome of government 
consultations on rent setting. 

It may be prudent for internal audit to review the rent setting approach again 
within another 12 months taking into account changes included within this 
report. 

Income Recovery Rental income is the main source of income for the housing service. The 
impact of tenant debt and reduced income (through rent and other housing-
related charges) on business planning is recognized as a key risk to the 
delivery of housing services and the sustainability of financial planning.  

Page 259



APPENDIX F 

Wider cost-of-living issues such as increased energy costs create financial 
pressures for tenants and present a risk to assumed income. Income 
Management within the housing service is externally accredited by the 
Housing Quality Network (HQN) and delivers best practice across many areas 
of tenant debt.  

Void (empty home) levels create additional rent loss. Fast, efficient 
turnaround of void properties, to reduce void rent loss, remains a priority. 

Supportive, proactive, and data driven service delivery in this area continues 
to protect income streams as much as possible and promote successful 
tenancies. This service area is monitored weekly to ensure the risk is 
managed and is reported on as a corporate KPI.  

Recharges such as rechargeable repairs continue to be reviewed as a priority 
area of work as well as effective schedule of rate setting for RMS to ensure 
appropriate cost recovery. 

Debt recovery is being reviewed across the Council by internal audit 
throughout 2026. 
 

Reduced demand Reduced demand for council housing within the district would pose a threat 
to rental income. Overall demand for all types of council housing stock is 
currently high.  Following the re-registration of applications during 2024/25 
with the implementation of a new system went live the Council has c1,500 
residents now registered for re-housing.  In 2025 – the Council approved its 
new Allocations Policy, outlining how it intends to let properties. 

The potential for ‘difficult to let’ schemes, areas, or property types to 
undermine demand is monitored, with strategic planning in place to mitigate 
any specific issues. 

Stock reduction The rate of Right to Buy (RTB) sales has historically been relatively low 
compared to historic levels of sales; however, in the last twelve months the 
Council has seen a significant spike with 40 completions within the first three 
quarters of the year, following the rush for applications in the run up to right-
to-buy discount changes.  Moving forward the budget planning process had 
assumed 10 Right to Buy Sales in 2026/27 and 3 per year thereafter. 

Any sales lead to future projected rental income levels being reduced. As 
many costs are fixed, this results in an adverse impact on the revenue 
position. Recent government changes mean that the previously returned HM 
treasure share of RTB receipts can be retained for five years to help support 
replenishment of our social housing with the balance being re-invested in 
housing stock through the capital programme.  

To offset the loss of homes through RTB the Council continue to explore 
avenues for development, delivering recent conversions of former scheme 
manager accommodation into one-bed units, delivery of specialist adapted 
and older persons housing units, and scoping other sites and opportunities 
to realise a ‘pipeline’ of potential development. 

Additional capital 
requirements 

Legislation, changes in health and safety standards, or the discovery of 
previously unknown defects create the potential for additional capital 
expenditure requirements.  

In response to the Building Safety Act (2022) and Fire Safety Act (2021) a 
thorough review of all compliance (gas, electric, asbestos, legionella, lifts, 
fire, smoke and carbon monoxide detection) activities began during 2021/22. 

Page 260



APPENDIX F 

Increased capital and revenue investment continues to be committed to this 
area.  The City Council is keeping abreast of anticipated forthcoming changes 
from future requirements within Awaabs Law, Minimum Energy Efficiency 
Standards (2030) and a revised Decent Homes standard (2035).  

Commitment to a ten-year programme of energy efficiency improvements 
and upgrades across all housing stock remains in place, in response to the 
Council’s declared climate emergency and in preparation for Minimum 
Energy Efficiency Standards, where possible match funding requests with 
government have been successful / submitted.  

Asset management planning remains vital to identify the investment needs 
across all housing stock and inform the programmes.  Much of the City 
Council’s stock is ageing, which poses further risk. Requirements to maintain 
stock decency are reflected in the 30-year HRA Business Plan, although over 
the next ten years it is likely to face a short fall in funds available as outlined 
within the budget report.  Details of a revised Decent Homes Standard are 
not yet known and therefore costs have not yet been factored in but will 
undoubtedly put additional pressure on the Housing Revenue Account. 
Completion of a full stock condition survey informs asset management 
planning moving forward – currently at 86% completion, with plans to 
increase this moving forward through additional in-house capacity as well as 
funding available to outsource those required and review on a periodic basis.  

For future development works to provide new affordable homes, including 
Skerton School and garage site developments, project work remains ongoing 
to define the options available, although funding has not been provided – 
except for grant awarded from the Council Housebuilding Support Service 
for bringing forward Hastings Road (4 units). To deliver these projects will 
likely require borrowing against the HRA and will be subject to the council 
decision-making process.   

Service Resilience A number of external factors (weather events, etc.) remain as financial and 
practical risks to delivery of the housing service. The service participates 
actively in the Council’s resilience activities and planning and has developed 
robust processes to mitigate such risk.  

Provision and maintenance of IT represents an additional risk to service 
resilience. Support and maintenance of current IT infrastructure to deliver 
current systems remains a risk. Recent upgrades, along with in-house 
training around infrastructure, currently mitigate this risk, although with 
major infrastructure becoming end-of-life the successful delivery of a 
reserve-funded multi-year full ICT replacement project is underway with 
completion of phase 1 planned for Autumn 2026. 

Effect of 
legislation/ 
regulation 

Implications of new (or changes to existing) legislation / regulation can 
present challenges and are monitored and reflected in service review, 
budget setting where practicable and improvement planning.  

The Social Housing Regulation Act 2023, the refresh of associated regulatory 
standards, and the increased scope of the Housing Ombudsman Service 
represent the most significant overhaul of the social housing sector for over 
a decade.  

New powers granted to the Regulator of Social Housing demand a greater 
tenant focus within service delivery, with particular focus on the security, 

Page 261



APPENDIX F 

safety and condition of social homes and the ability of residents to 
meaningfully influence service delivery and decision making.  

From April 2024 the regulator has embarked on a programme of ‘Ofsted-
style’ inspections for social housing providers, it is now known that Lancaster 
City Council will have its inspection within the first half of 2026.  

The new regulation raises the required standards within social housing and 
creates the conditions for significant practical and reputational risk. Since 
2021/22 the HRA budget has incorporated costs in response to this, 
investment in compliance work being chief among them, and continues to 
be responsive to the requirements of the Social Housing Regulation Act and 
associated guidance through operational service delivery and strategic 
action planning.  

Key staff attend sector body meetings to keep abreast of regulatory changes. 

Future 
Developments 

The City Council continues to have ambitions for the development of its own 
new affordable / social rented homes, which it is seeking to progress. 
Developments will be subject to the council’s decision-making process and are 
referenced in the ‘Additional Capital Requirements’ section above.  

Data integrity To meet strategic objectives and keep tenants safe, strong oversight of risks 
and appropriate controls to manage them is needed. This is not possible 
without up-to-date and comprehensive data, covering all assets and liabilities 
(asset management through stock condition surveys), the safety and quality 
of tenants’ homes (including health and safety compliance), tenant complaints 
and the status of repairs and maintenance work.   
 
Through the introduction of the new ICT system data will be able to be more 
effectively managed and in preparation discussions are underway to conduct 
a ‘tenant census’ so up to date tenant information can be included and to help 
the council better understand the diverse needs of tenants  
 

  

Page 262



Equality Impact Assessment 

1 
  Top Tip:  Have a read of the “An easy guide for staff who need to complete an Equality Impact Assessment” 

This online equality impact assessment should: 
An equality impact assessment should take place when considering doing something in a new 

way.  Please submit your completed EIA as an appendix to your committee report.  Please 

remember that this will be a public document – do not use jargon or abbreviations. 

                                              ` 

Service   

Title of policy, service, function, project or strategy 

 

Type of policy, service, function, project or strategy: Existing ☒ New/Proposed ☐     

Lead Officer      

People involved with completing the EIA 

 

Step 1.1: Make sure you have clear aims and objectives 
Q1. What is the aim of your policy, service, function, project or strategy? 

 

Q2. 

Who is intended to benefit? Who will it have a detrimental effect on and how? 

 
 

Step 1.2: Collecting your information 
Q3. Using existing data (if available) and thinking about each group below, does, or could, the 
policy, service, function, project or strategy have a negative impact on the groups below? 
 

Housing and Property 

HRA Budget Report - Rent Setting 

Jo Wilkinson 

David Holme 

To set council housing rents in line with current regulation, and in order to complete the HRA 
budgeting process which sets out ambitions for the housing service over the short and medium 
term. The proposed rent increase for 2026/27 is 4.8% (CPI + 1% - in line with Government rent 
setting policy). 

The setting of council housing rents, and the budgeting process which derives from it, affects 
council tenants and other residents within the district. The aims of the housing service involve 
tenancy, estate, and asset management, but also an investment in communities and 
neighbourhoods and the delivery of social value. Prudent rent setting underpins this. The 
potential for a detrimental impact exists as an increase in rent will put pressure on those 
individuals in, or at risk of, financial hardship, particularly in the context of current widely 
understood cost-of-living pressures. It should be noted that rent levels (set at 'social rent') will 
remain well below both market rent and 'affordable rent' (80% of market) and well below the 
Local Housing Allowance (LHA) level for the district: the LHA is the maximum amount payable 
through Housing Benefit or the housing element of Universal Credit. Where tenants are at risk of 
detriment the Council's in-house Income Management Team takes a pro active, supportive 
approach to preventing rent arrears and promoting financial inclusion through money advice, 
referrals for support, and assistance in maximising income (through benefit claims, or advice on 
management of other debts, for example). The Income Management Team is Housing Quality 
Network (HQN) accredited and delivers a best practice approach in this area. The team also works 
closely with internal colleagues and external partner organisations to support tenants and 
tenancy success generally: internally the Housing Support Team, the Energy Support Officer and 
the Independent Living Team provide dedicated support to those who need it. 

Page 263



Equality Impact Assessment 

2 
  Top Tip:  Have a read of the “An easy guide for staff who need to complete an Equality Impact Assessment” 

Group Negative Positive/No 
Impact 

Unclear 

Age ☐ ☒ ☐ 
Disability ☐ ☒ ☐ 

Faith, religion or belief ☐ ☒ ☐ 

Gender including marriage, pregnancy and maternity ☐ ☒ ☐ 

Gender reassignment ☐ ☒ ☐ 

Race ☐ ☒ ☐ 

Sexual orientation including civic partnerships ☐ ☒ ☐ 

Other socially excluded groups such as carers, areas of 
deprivation 

☐ ☒ ☐ 

Rural communities ☐ ☒ ☐ 

 
Step 1.3 – Is there a need to consult! 

Q4. Who have you consulted with? If you haven’t consulted yet please list who you are going to 
consult with?  Please give examples of how you have or are going to consult with specific groups 
of communities 

 

 
Step 1.4 – Assessing the impact 
Q5. Using the existing data and the assessment in questions 3 what does it tell you, is there an 
impact on some groups in the community?  

 
Step 1.5 – What are the differences? 
Q6. If you are either directly or indirectly discriminating, how are you going to change this or 
mitigate the negative impact? 

 

 

Q7.  
Do 
you 

need any more information/evidence eg statistic, consultation.  If so how do you plan to address 
this? 

Tenants have been consulted through Tenant Voice and the Council Housing Advisory Group at the 
end of January 2026.  Information on this is considered within the body of the report. 

Age:  No significant impact directly related to this group 

Disability:  No significant impact directly related to this group 

Faith, Religion or Belief:  No significant impact directly related to this group 

Gender including Marriage, Pregnancy and Maternity:  No significant impact directly related 
to this group 

Gender Reassignment:  No significant impact directly related to this group 

Race:  No significant impact directly related to this group 

Sexual Orientation including Civic Partnership:  No significant impact directly related to this 
group 

Rural Communities:  No significant impact directly related to this group 

No areas of discrimination based on protected characteristics have been identified. Individuals in 
challenging financial circumstances are at risk of indirect discrimination as outlined in Q2 above, 
but this is not linked to any specficic chracteristics outlined in Q5 above. Mitigation of this risk is 
outlined in Q2: tenancy health checks, and monitoring of rent accounts and related financial 
circumstances of tenants will allow a support and assistance to be provided as required. 

Page 264



Equality Impact Assessment 

3 
  Top Tip:  Have a read of the “An easy guide for staff who need to complete an Equality Impact Assessment” 

 

 
Step 1.6 – Make a recommendation based on steps 1.1 to 1.5  
 
Q8.  If you are in a position to make a recommendation to change or introduce the policy, service, 
function, project or strategy, clearly show how it was decided on. 

 

 

Q9. 
If 

you are not in a position to go ahead, what actions are you going to take? 
 

 

Q10. Where necessary, how do you plan to monitor the impact and effectiveness of this change or 
decision? 

 

 

 

No. 

The Equality Impact Assessment concludes no adverse impact on individuals on the basis of a 
protected characteristic as above. However, it is noted that all individuals and groups, regardless 
of protected characteristics, may be adversely impacted by a rent increase. As per Q2, above, 
where individuals are adversely affected there is mitigation in place.  

N/A 

Continuous weekly monitoring of rent accounts takes place to highlight areas of negative impact. 
A programme of pre-tenancy assessment, tenancy health checks, tenancy audits, advice, and 
support is in place to identify those at risk of detriment prior to tenancy commencement. 

Page 265



 
 

CABINET  

 
Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy 2026-27 

10 February 2026 

 
Report of Chief Finance Officer 

 
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

Statutory guidance from the Department for Levelling Up, Homes and Communities (DLUHC) 
and the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) enables local authorities 
to make flexible use of capital receipts to fund projects which are likely to generate savings to 
the authority and / or other public bodies. 
 
To make use of this provision, authorities must submit to the Secretary of State a Flexible Use 
of Capital Receipts Strategy setting out how the provision will be applied in the next financial 
year. 
 
This report proposes a Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy for 2026-27 to complement the 
ongoing Council’s commitment to financial sustainability. 
 

This report is public. 

 
 

RECOMMENDATION OF COUNCILLOR HAMILTON-COX 
 
(1) That Cabinet recommends the approval by Full Council on 25 February 2026 of the Flexible 

Use of Capital Receipts Strategy 2026/27 set out in this report, in accordance with the 
relevant statutory guidance.  
 

 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 
1.1 All Councils are limited in their ability to utilise capital receipts, usually arising from the disposal 

proceeds from the sale of fixed assets. Statutory guidance issued under section 15(1) of the 
Local Government Act 2003 by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(as amended) generally precludes capital receipts being used to fund revenue expenditure 
and requires them to be applied to either fund capital expenditure or repay debt. The Act also 
requires local authorities to have regard to other guidance as issued or directed by the 
Secretary of State – this currently includes the following guidance issued by the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy [CIPFA]:  

 
• The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities; and 
• The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting. 

 

1.2 The Government’s Spending Review 2015 included a relaxation of these regulations allowing 
the use of capital receipts for a limited period, between 2016/17 and 2018/19, to fund revenue 
expenditure “that is designed to generate ongoing revenue savings in the delivery of 
public services and/or transform service delivery to reduce costs or improve the 
quality-of-service delivery in future years”. This announcement was implemented by the 
issuing of regulations in March 2016. The period over which these amended regulations 
applied has continued to be extended.  

Page 266Agenda Item 13



 

1.3 This was extended in an amended direction in December 2017 by a further three years up to 
and including 2021/22 to allow the continued flexible use of capital receipts for the above 
purposes. Updated statutory guidance was issued by DLUHC (now MHCLG) in August 2022 
which extended the scheme for the financial years 2022/23, 2023/24 and 2024/25.  

 
1.4 In November 2024, the Local Government Finance Policy Statement announced the extension 

of flexible use of capital receipts to 2030, to give local authorities the continued freedom to 
use capital receipts from the sale of their own assets to help fund the revenue costs of 
transformation projects and release savings. Further updated statutory guidance was issued 
by MHCLG in May 2025 which extended the scheme for the financial years 2025/26, 2026/27, 
2027/28, 2028/29 and 2029/30. 

 
 

2.0 THE GUIDANCE / DIRECTIVE 
2.1 The guidance on the use of capital receipts flexibility was issued by the Secretary of State 

under section 15(1) of the Local Government Act 2003, and authorities are therefore required 
to have regard to it. The Guidance specified that: 

 

• Local authorities will only be able to use capital receipts from the sale of property, plant 
and equipment received in the years in which this flexibility is offered. They may not use 
their existing stock of capital receipts to finance the revenue costs of reform.  

 

• Local authorities cannot borrow to finance the revenue costs of the service reforms.  
 

• It is a condition of the Secretary of State’s direction that the flexible use of capital receipts 
in accordance with the direction only applies to capital receipts which have been received 
in the years to which the direction applies. 

 

• The expenditure for which the flexibility can be applied should be the up-front (set up or 
implementation) costs that will generate future ongoing savings and/or transform service 
delivery to reduce costs or to improve the quality-of-service delivery in future years. The 
ongoing revenue costs of the new processes or arrangements cannot be classified as 
qualifying expenditure. 

 

• The key determining criteria to use when deciding whether expenditure can be funded by 
the new capital receipts flexibility is that it is forecast to generate ongoing savings to an 
authority’s, or several authorities,’ and/or to another public sector body’s net service 
expenditure net service expenditure. 

 

• In using the flexibility, the Council will have due regard to the requirements of the 
Prudential Code, the CIPFA Local Authority Accounting Code of Practice and the current 
edition of the Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice. 

 
 
3.0 REQUIREMENTS FOR THE STRATEGY 
3.1 The guidance requires that authorities wishing to make use of this provision must submit their 

Strategy to the Secretary of State ahead of each financial year in which the provision is to be 
used; but that no approval or response is required from the Secretary of State for the Strategy 
to be implemented. Should Full Council approve the proposed Strategy, it will be submitted to 
the Secretary of State via the DELTA system. 

 
3.2 The Strategy must as a minimum set out the projects which plan to make use of the provision, 

along with their projected savings and / or service transformation and a summary of the impact 
on the authority’s Prudential Indicators for the forthcoming year and subsequent years. This 
information is set out in in sections 7 and 8. 

 
3.3 The Strategy should also review use of any provision in previous years and report on the 

Page 267



 
 

savings and / or transformation achieved through use of the provision so far. Any benefits 
arising from this Strategy will be reported in subsequent years, this is set out in section 9. 

 
3.4 The Strategy can be updated at any time during the financial year and re-submitted to the 

Secretary of State. Authorities must not exceed the amounts stated in their Strategy without 
first submitting an updated Strategy to the Secretary of State. 

 
3.5 The Strategy must be made available to the public free of charge. This report, which is public, 

sets out Lancaster City Council’s Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy for 2026-27 in 
fulfilment of the above requirements. 

 
4.0 MONITORING AND UPDATING THE STRATEGY 
4.1 It is intended that the flexibility will be used to support the actions arising from the Outcomes-

Based Resourcing/ Fit for the Future process. The legitimacy of the use of capital receipts will 
be determined by the Section 151 Officer to ensure eligibility and compliance with the 
requirements set out by the Secretary of State. Progress on delivery of the programme, 
including financial implications and the realisation of benefits, will be reported through 
Delivering Our Priorities quarterly monitoring via Cabinet and Budget & Performance Panel.  

 
4.2 The Strategy may be updated within the financial year. Any updates will be proposed to 

Cabinet and then Council via a report, which subject to approval would then be submitted to 
the Secretary of State. 

 
4.3  Adoption of the Strategy does not necessarily oblige the Council to utilise capital receipts and 

initiatives may still be financed in whole or in part from other sources, e.g., revenue budgets.   
This recognises that not all capital receipts may be realised and that decisions need to be 
taken in the context of the Council’s overall revenue and capital financing position. 

 
4.4 Inclusion in the Strategy also does not constitute approval to progress a project. 
 
 
5.0 WHICH CAPITAL RECEIPTS ARE ELIGIBLE? 
5.1 The guidance sets out the criteria by which capital receipts are eligible for flexible use, 

summarised in the below excerpt from the guidance: 
  
 “…a qualifying disposal is an asset sale made within the period for which the direction applies, 

by the local authority to an entity outside the local authority’s group structure… 
 

The intent of this condition is that capital receipts which are to be used by authorities under 
the flexibilities afforded by the direction should be from genuine disposals of assets by the 
authority. Where an authority retains some control of the assets, directly or indirectly, and 
retains exposure to the risks and rewards from those assets, the disposal does not give rise 
to a capital receipt that can be used in accordance with the direction.” 

 
5.2 It should be noted that the flexibility excludes Right-To-Buy capital receipts. It should also be 

noted that the Council’s budget process has assumed that forecast capital receipts have not 
been relied upon to fund any future expenditure. 

 
5.3 Forecast capital receipts from 2026/27 onwards have not been factored into the Council’s 

Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) by way of either reducing debt or financing capital 
expenditure. The use of these receipts under this flexibility will, therefore, have no effect on 
the Council’s Prudential Indicators. 

 
 
6.0 WHICH EXPENDITURE IS ELIGIBLE? 
6.1 The guidance also sets out the criteria by which expenditure would be considered eligible for 

flexible use of capital receipts. The guidance summarises as follows: 
 

Page 268



“Qualifying expenditure is expenditure on any project that is designed to generate ongoing 
revenue savings in the delivery of public services and/or transform service delivery to reduce 
costs and/or transform service delivery in a way that reduces costs or demand for services in 
future years for any of the public sector delivery partners. 

 
Set up and implementation costs of any new processes or arrangements can be classified as 
qualifying expenditure. The ongoing revenue costs of the new processes or arrangements 
cannot be classified as qualifying expenditure. In addition, one off costs, such as banking 
savings against temporary increases in costs/pay cannot be classified as qualifying 
expenditure.” 

 
 
6.2 The guidance provides a range of examples of expenditure which could be considered eligible, 

although the list is intended to be neither prescriptive nor exhaustive; based on the principles 
above, it is intended for each individual authority to consider whether a project should be 
eligible under the provision. The examples from the guidance are summarised below: 

 

• Sharing back-office and administrative services with one or more other council or public 
sector bodies. 

• Investment in service reform feasibility work, e.g., setting up pilot schemes. 

• Collaboration between local authorities and central government departments to free up 
land for economic use. 

• Funding the cost-of-service reconfiguration, restructuring or rationalisation where this 
leads to ongoing efficiency savings or service transformation. 

• Driving a digital approach to the delivery of more efficient public services and how the 
public interacts with constituent authorities where possible. 

• Aggregating procurement on common goods and services where possible, either as part 
of local arrangements or using Crown Commercial Services or regional procurement hubs 
or Professional Buying Organisations. 

• Improving systems and processes to tackle fraud and corruption in line with the Local 
Government Fraud and Corruption Strategy – this could include an element of staff 
training. 

• Setting up commercial or alternative delivery models to deliver services more efficiently 
and bring in revenue (for example, through selling services to others); and 

• Integrating public facing services across two or more public sector bodies (for example 
children’s social care or trading standards) to generate savings or to transform service 
delivery. 

 
 
7.0 THE COUNCIL’S PROPOSALS 2026/27 

7.1 The Council intends to use its capital receipts flexibility to fund or part fund future 
transformation costs whilst successfully delivering priority outcomes for the Lancaster district.  
Achieving long-term sustainability of finance and resources remains a priority. 

 
7.2 Within the revenue budget proposals for 2026/27 there are a number of savings and 

workstreams which underpin the corporate programmes listed in table 1 below. These 
programmes cover a wide range of areas such as the review of service operating models 
exploring opportunities around the increased use digital technologies and income generation.  

 
Table 1: Corporate Proposals for 2026/27 

Page 269



 
 

 
 
7.3 Whilst these broad proposals are underpinned by a number of individual areas of which many 

are in their infancy and yet to be full costed. However, with all change programmes there will 
be a need for upfront investment in areas that will deliver capacity and objectivity.  

 
7.4 The use of capital receipts to fund local government reorganisation reflects the tension 

between short-term transition costs and long-term efficiency gains.  While such flexibility can 
support structural reform without immediate pressure on revenue budgets, it also raises 
concerns about the erosion of public assets and the sustainability of local authority finances. 

 
 The government has allowed temporary flexibility to fund transitional costs relating to local 

government reorganisation.  These costs are not quantifiable at this point in time but as they 
become apparent they will be highlighted within future monitoring reports. 

 
7.5 As has been noted within both the Council’s Medium Term Financial Capital Investment 

Strategies, the way the Council manages its assets will also play a significant part in not only 
delivering its services to its resident but also identify opportunities to fund transformation and 
also its wider capital programme.  

 
7.6 A significant amount of work has been undertaken by Officers to identify suitable assets and 

table 2 provides summary details of the class of assets currently being marketed by the 
Council or where a sale is progressing. 

 
Table 2: Assets for Disposal 

 
 
7.7 It should be noted that whilst no further Capital Receipts are currently expected in 2025/26 

there is a sale in progress totalling £0.067M that is expecting to complete after 31st March 

Service Levels & 

Efficiency

Revisions and rationalisation of levels of service offering 

efficiency measures, increased commercialisation and 

review of income streams

TBC TBC

Digitialisation

Improvements to residents access reliable advice, 

consistent information, and efficient Council services 

Reduce failure demand and help the Council meet high 

volume, routine transactions in a cost-effective manner.

Review the functionality and costs of each ICT system 

with the objective of maximising the use of the 

functionality available and reducing the total number of 

systems used.

TBC TBC

Alternative Delivery 

Models

& Partnerships

Shared service savings, opportunities, contract reviews 

& alternative options for achieving outcomes, including 

Local Government Reorganisation

TBC TBC

Project Description

Estimated

Investment/ 

Cost

Projected 

Savings

£'M

Strategic Asset 

Management 

Improved asset management planning, asset usage 

reviews, potential disposals, optimising use of 

operational assets and prospects for energy and carbon 

reduction measures.

TBC TBC

Assets Currently Marketed

Expected Capital 

Receipt 2026/27

£'M

Investment Properties 0.000

Other Land & Buildings 0.067

Estimated Value of Applicable Capital Receipts 0.067

Page 270



2026. Furthermore, there is a balance of Capital Receipts from 2024/25 of £0.593M and 
2025/26 of £0.911M which have not yet been utilised which could be flexibly applied in 2026/27 
taking the balance of receipts available up to £1.604M in 2026/27. 

 
 
8.0 IMPACT ON PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS  
8.1 As referenced in paragraph 5.3, forecast capital receipts from 2026/27 onwards have not been 

factored into the Council’s Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) by way of either reducing 
debt or financing capital expenditure. The use of these receipts under this flexibility will, 
therefore, have no effect on the Council’s Prudential Indicators. 

 

9.0 MONITORING OF THE 2025/26 STRATEGY  
9.1 The directive requires that progress against the strategy is reported and table 3 below 

summaries the level of savings identified as part of the 2025/26 budget process, with 
progress reported on a quarterly basis to Cabinet and B&PP as part the standard Delivering 
our Priorities quarterly reporting cycle. 

 
 Table 3: Savings Monitoring 

 

 
 
 To date £0.024M of the £0.051M (47%) of the savings identified within the 2025/26 budget 

are expected to be achieved. 
 
9.2 The Council expects to receive £0.911M of associated capital receipts which would be 

available to cover any eligible expenditure. Table 4 below summaries the associated eligible 
costs, capital receipts received and the overall impact on the Councils General Fund. 

 

 Table 4: Eligible Costs and Capital Receipts 

  
 

Service Levels & 

Efficiency

Revisions and rationalisation of levels of 

service offered efficiency measures and 

review of income streams

0.036 0.024 0.012

Alternative 

Delivery Models 

& Partnerships

Shared service savings, opportunities, 

contract reviews & alternative options for 

achieving outcomes

0.015 0 0.015

0.051 0.024 0.027Total

Project Description

Estimated 

Savings

£'M

Actual

Savings

£'M

Variance

£'M

Elibible Costs Incurred 2025/26 £'M

Statutory Redundancy 0.000

Pension Strain 0.000

Total Eligible Costs 0.000

Capital Receipts Received April to December 2025/26 £'M

Land at Scotforth 0.030

Grants Clawed Back 0.011

Sale of 4 Dalton Square 0.280

Sale of 67-71 Market Steet / 1-5B King Street 0.590

Expected Capital Receipts Q4 0.000

Total Expected Capital Receipts 0.911

Impact on the Council's General Fund 0.911

Page 271



 
 

9.3 At this juncture, no capital receipts are expected to be utilised within 2025/26 and the full 
amount of expected receipts received in 2025/26 will be available for any future utilisation. 

 
  
10.0 DETAILS OF CONSULTATION 
10.1 The Council has undertaken substantial consultation including public briefings and a survey 

in establishing its overall budget proposals for 2026-27 onwards. This Strategy contributes to 
the delivery of those proposals by making use of the financial flexibility available to the 
Council in implementing its future goals. 

 
 
11.0 OPTIONS AND OPTIONS ANALYSIS (including risk assessment) 

Option 1: Adopt the Strategy 

Advantages 
The Council will be able to make use of the Flexible Capital Receipts provision in delivering 
transformation. 
 

Disadvantages 
None identified from this report. 

 

Risks 
Capital receipts, savings and transformation benefits may not be realised as anticipated in the 
Strategy; the associated risks will be mitigated through its delivery of future programmes.  
 

Option 2: Do not adopt the Strategy 

Advantages 
None identified from this report. 

 

Disadvantages 
The Council will be unable to consider funding savings initiatives and service transformation 
through use of capital receipts, and may therefore be unable to achieve the savings, outcomes 
and benefits anticipated from these projects. 

 

Risks 
Not adopting a Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy at this point would severely constrain 
the Council’s ability to deliver the transformation challenge ahead. 
 

 
 
13.0 OFFICER PREFERRED OPTION  
13.1 The officer preferred option is Option 1, to enable the Council to make use of the Flexible 

Capital Receipts provision in supporting its savings and service transformation initiatives over 
the coming years. 

 
 
14.0 CONCLUSION 
14.1 This report, if approved, will enable the council to use capital receipts to fund savings and 

service transformation initiatives. Failure to adopt a Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy 
will severely constrain the council’s ability to pursue these initiatives. 

 
 

RELATIONSHIP TO POLICY FRAMEWORK 
If adopted, the Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy would form part of the council’s Policy 
Framework. From a strategic perspective, enabling the use of capital receipts to deliver savings 
and service transformation initiatives will give the council scope to pursue its wider transformation 
challenges with greater flexibility and effectiveness. 
 

Page 272



CONCLUSION OF IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
(including Diversity, Human Rights, Community Safety, Sustainability etc) 
 
No direct impact arising from this report. All initiatives supported by flexible use of capital receipts 
will be considered for their impact as appropriate. 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
As outlined in the report, forecast capital receipts generated during the year will be used flexibly 
in compliance with the requirements of the Secretary of State to support projected savings 
identified. Use will be determined by the s151 officer to ensure both eligibility and the impact on 
the Council’s overall revenue and capital financing position. 
 

SECTION 151 OFFICER’S COMMENTS 
The s151 Officer has authored this report and his comments are reflected within it. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
The Local Government Act 2003 (“the Act”), section 15(1) requires a local authority “… to have 
regard (a) to such guidance as the Secretary of State may issue, and (b) to such other guidance 
as the Secretary of State may by regulations specify …  
 
”. Two codes of practice issued by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) contain guidance on capital receipts and local authority accounting that complement the 
Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) guidance. These publications 
are:  

• The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities  

• The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting  
 
Local authorities are required to have regard to the current edition of The Prudential Code for 
Capital Finance in Local Authorities by regulation 2 of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and 
Accounting) (England) Regulations 2003 and to the Local Authority Accounting Code as proper 
practices for preparing accounts under section 21(2) of the Act. 
 

MONITORING OFFICER’S COMMENTS 
The Monitoring Officer has been consulted and has no further comments to add. 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Contact Officer: Paul Thompson 
Telephone:  01524 582603 
E-mail: pthompson@lancaster.gov.uk 
Ref: N/A  

 
 

Page 273



 

CABINET  

 
Delivering Our Priorities: Q3 2025/26 

10 February 2026 
 

Report of Chief Executive & s151 Officer 
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

To provide members with an update on financial performance during the first three quarters of 
2025/26 (April – December 2025). 
 

Key Decision N Non-Key Decision  Referral from Cabinet 
Member 

 

Date of notice of forthcoming 
key decision 

N/A 

This report is public  

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS OF COUNCILLOR HAMILTON-COX 
 
That Cabinet  

(1) Consider the update on financial performance for Quarter 3 2025/26. 
 
 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 

 
1.1  The primary purpose of this report is to present information relating to the Council’s financial 

performance for the period April-December 2025, which can be found within the 
appendices. 

 
 
2.0 FINANCIAL MONITORING  
 
2.1 The 2025/26 Budget and Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 2025-2030 approved by 

Council in February 2025 set a balanced budget for the year based on the assumptions 
made at that time.  

 
2.2 All portfolios are required to examine their revenue budgets and meet with their budget 

holders regularly and reports are submitted to Cabinet and Budget & Performance Panel 
for review. To enable Portfolio Holders to meet this requirement, Financial Services 
continually reviews and refreshes how it presents the Council’s corporate monitoring 
information, with the Quarter 3 information distributed members of both committees on 31 
January 2026. 

 
2.3 In an attempt to aid understanding Members should note that where projected variances 

values are presented with brackets ( ) this reflects a negative, or adverse movement from 
the budgeted position. Conversely, projected variances accompanied with a + sign 
represents a positive, or favourable movement from the budgeted position. 

 The following financial appendices accompany the financial monitoring section of this 
report. 

 
 Appendix A:  General Fund Service Analysis 
 Appendix B: General Fund Subjective Analysis 

Page 274Agenda Item 14



 Appendix C: HRA Service Analysis 
 Appendix D: General Fund Capital Projects 
 Appendix E: HRA Capital Projects 
 Appendix F: Reserves Projected Outturn 
 Appendix G: Approved Savings Monitoring  
 Appendix H: Service Analysis 
 Appendix I: Aged Debt Summary By Service 
 Appendix J: Treasury Management Quarterly Update 
 
2.4 It should also be noted that projected outturn figures are monitored against the working 

budget and not the original budget within this report.  The working budget includes 
approved virements and in-year budget adjustments.  This reduces a number of variances 
in respect of items such as ‘grossing-up’ of grant income/expenditure and the movement of 
employees to different costs centres which is especially needed during times of service 
restructuring.  It provides a more accurate up-to date forecast and eliminates the need for 
duplicate reporting at service and subjective levels. 

 
 
3.0 SALARY PROJECTIONS  
 
3.1 Salary expenditure is one of the largest areas of expenditure in the Council and the latest 

budgeted pay bill for direct employee expenses is £33.572M (£26.772M General Fund, 
£6.800M HRA). 

 
3.2 As part of the 2025/26 budget setting process, an inflationary uplift of 2.5% was included to 

salaries across all services of the Council.  The National Employers latest offer of an 
increase of 3.2% on all NJC pay points was agreed in July 2025.   
 
For the purposes of the projected outturn calculations used within this report, the agreed 
offer of 3.2% has been included.  For information, additional annual costs in the region of 
£0.228M (£0.182M General Fund, £0.046M HRA) have been forecasted. 
 

3.3 The latest salary position is detailed in the table below. 
 

Table 1 Quarter 3 Financial Monitoring – Salary Monitoring 
 

 
 
As the above table demonstrates, the council salary related position as a whole (including 
the additional pay award, agency and consultancy costs) is expected to be underspent by 
+£0.538M (£0.279M General Fund, £0.259M HRA).  It should be noted that this now 
includes the full removal of the ‘Provision for Staff Turnover’ as the consideration of current 
vacant posts has now been projected to the end of the year. 
 

 
 
 
 

 

Salaries

Variance

£'000

Pay

Award

£'000

Agency

Variance

£'000

Other

Variance

£'000

Total

Variance

£'000

General Fund

Environment & Place 274 (89) (189) 0 (4)

Governance 107 (12) (57) 0 +38

Housing & Property 348 (28) (66) (167) +87

People & Policy 55 (11) (8) 0 +36

Planning & Climate Change 462 (18) 0 (45) +399

Resources 253 (15) (8) (69) +161

Sustainable Growth 209 (10) 0 11 +210

Provision for Staff Turnover (648) 0 0 0 (648)

TOTAL FAVOURABLE VARIANCE 1,060 (183) (328) (270) +279

Housing Revenue Account

Housing & Property 335 (46) (85) 76 +280

Provision for Staff Turnover (21) 0 0 0 (21)

TOTAL FAVOURABLE VARIANCE 314 (46) (85) 76 +259

Page 275



4.0 OUTCOMES BASED RESOURCING  
 
4.1 As part of the 2025/26 budget setting process, Members approved savings and budget  

proposals to save the Council £0.025M in 2025/26.  The process to implement these 
savings is now underway and Appendix G details the progress of each proposal. 

 
 
5.0 COMMERCIAL & CORPORATE PROPERTY REVIEW  
 
5.1 Following a review of the Council’s commercial and corporate property portfolio, Members 

approved an ongoing programme of capital and revenue works over the next ten years to 
initially address the immediate issues whilst formulating an ongoing strategy to maintain the 
asset portfolio.   This was included as part of the 2025/26 budget setting process and year 
one (2025/26) included a base budget amount of £1.541M which once adjusted for inflation 
amounted to £1.426M for specific work and £0.150M for project management costs. 

 
5.2 Since budgetary approval was gained, an ongoing review of works required has been taking 

place.  This review has highlighted changes required which mainly fall into the following 
categories:- 
 

• Additional works identified including these industrial style roofs 

• Deletions / removal of works for properties subject to further review 

• Acceleration of works originally scheduled for future years 

• Slippage of works to later years 

• Movement between capital and revenue expenditure. 
 
Usually, this will affect the net position of the Council in terms of net under or overspend 
being presented.  However, due to the required reprofiling of expenditure across future 
financial years identified within the review, the consolidated underspend will be transferred 
into the Corporate Property Reserve. 
 
In order to assist in providing a clearer financial position for services going forward, the 
connected financial budgetary positions have been removed from individual service lines 
reported within section 6 of this report and associated appendices.  This is a differing 
approach to that taken within the quarter 1 report where they we included within service 
totals. 

 
5.3 The following table outlines the latest position of the project. 
 

Table 2 Quarter 3 Financial Monitoring – Corporate Property Review 
 

 
 

The review of the programme of works has been included within the draft estimates as part 

Original

Budget

2025/26

£'000

Working

Budget

2025/26

£'000

Q3

Actual

2025/26

£'000

Projected

Outturn

2025/26

£'000

Projected

Variance

2025/26

£'000

Environment & Place

Hospitality & Events Management 13 0 0 0 0

Parks & Open Spaces 5 0 0 0 0

Salt Ayre Leisure Centre 395 0 0 0 0

Service Support 159 0 1 0 0

Williamson Park 75 0 5 0 0

Housing & Property

Commercial Land & Properties 142 31 0 33 (2)

Facilities Management 51 50 39 75 (25)

Municipal Buildings 505 70 0 5 +65

Other Land & Buildings 80 0 0 0 0

Sustainable Growth

Markets 1 0 0 0 0

Other Items

Contribution to Reserve 0 1,275 0 1,313 (38)

Total Revenue 1,426 1,426 45 1,426 0

Page 276



of the ongoing 2026/27 budget process. 
 
 
6.0 GENERAL FUND SUMMARY POSITION 
 
6.1  Quarter 3 (Q3) monitoring covers the period for April – December 2025. At the end of Q3 

(December 2025) a year end underspend of £1.271M is projected against the Council’s 
approved original net revenue budget of £27.201M. 

 
6.2 A summary of the Q3 revenue position for the main service accounts of the Council is set 

out in table 3 below with commentary on significant variances provided in the following 
paragraphs. 

 
 

Table 3 Quarter 3 Financial Monitoring – Service Analysis 
 

  
 
 Environment & Place (-£0.436M) Adverse 
6.3 Significant budget variances : -  

• Pay award (-£0.089M) 

• General staff turnover savings +£0.085M due to vacancies across the service offset 

by overspend within waste collection due sickness levels plus the collection of 

recycling boxes now being delivered in-house 

• Asset and Compliance Review (-£0.149M) 

• Energy savings across service +£0.051M 

• Vehicle hire costs (-£0.160M) within waste collection due to vehicles being off-road 

for repair as they approach renewal offset by R&M savings +£0.110M and fuel savings 

due to price +£0.042M 

• Environmental Protection savings relating to EPA authorisation fees and air quality 

monitoring +£0.036M 

• Rental income to concessions on promenade not budgeted for +£0.033M 

• Income from interment and memorial fees (-£0.056M) 

• Income shortfalls at SALC, including Spa, Swimming and Café (-£0.252M) partially 

offset by reduction in stock purchases +£0.044M and staffing contained within the 

general turnover savings above 

• Income shortfall relating to trade waste (-£0.080M) which is marginally below the  

previous years outturn and loss of custom due to not being able to make food waste 

collections 

• Waste Collection savings including sale of old recycling boxes, other sales and 

reduced requirement for equipment and tools +£0.076M 

Provisional

Outturn

2024/25

£'000

Original

Budget

2025/26

£'000

Working

Budget

2025/26

£'000

Q3

Actual

2025/26

£'000

Projected

Outturn

2025/26

£'000

Projected

Variance

2025/26

£'000

Environment & Place 8,105 8,240 8,240 5,402 8,320 (80)

Governance 1,708 1,707 1,707 1,530 1,834 (127)

Housing & Property 1,605 3,536 3,536 (1,306) 2,862 +674

People & Policy 2,454 2,432 2,432 1,756 2,429 +3

Planning & Climate Change 2,004 2,274 2,274 1,497 1,927 +347

Resources 4,710 5,084 5,084 1,855 5,003 +81

Sustainable Growth (1,306) (978) (978) 433 (871) (107)

Corporate Accounts 1,838 (87) (87) 247 877 (964)

Other Items 5,661 4,810 4,810 (5,269) 3,366 +1,444

Sub Total 26,779 27,018 27,018 6,145 25,747 +1,271

Net Recharges to Housing Revenue Account (1,026) (1,026) (1,026) (1,026) (1,026) 0

RMS Capital Charges (now Housing Revenue Account) (200) (218) (218) 702 (218) 0

Corporate Property Review (Revenue) 0 1,427 152 46 114 +38

Corporate Property Review (Appropriation) 0 0 1,275 0 1,313 (38)

Revenue Reserve funded items (Revenue) 3,185 456 2,360 986 2,256 +104

Revenue Reserve funded items (Appropriation) (3,134) (456) (2,360) 0 (2,256) (104)

Sub Total (1,175) 183 183 708 183 0

General Fund Revenue Budget 25,604 27,201 27,201 6,853 25,930 +1,271

Financing Income (14,676) (15,651) (15,651) 11,067 (15,920) +269

Council Tax Requirement 10,928 11,550 11,550 17,920 10,010 +1,540

Page 277



• Waste collection Pack UK grant (part) not budgeted for +£0.356M 

• Income shortfall relating Williamson Park Café and Shop due to closure of buildings 

(-£0.227M) partially offset by reduction in stock purchases +£0.094M 

 

 Governance (-£0.127M) Adverse 
6.4 Significant budget variances : -  

• Pay award (-£0.012M) 

• Agency cover within service for two key posts (-£0.057M) offset by vacant post 

savings within service +£0.107M 

• Potential City Council by-election not included within budget (-£0.025M) 

• Reduced Legal Fee income (-£0.087M) plus a further (-£0.018M) fees due to 

specialist advice required 

• Street Trading Consent scheme not yet commenced (-£0.020M) 

 
 Housing & Property +£0.674M Favourable 
6.5 Significant budget variances : -  

• Pay award (-£0.028M) 

• General staff turnover savings, net of agency services +£0.115M 

• Reduction in rent income due to commercial property lease changes (-£0.325M)  

• Additional rent income due to ongoing lease negotiations +£0.387M, partly offset by 

increase in provision for bad debts (see Corporate Accounts) 

• Net additional business rates on void units (-£0.297M) 

• Reduction in B&B expenditure in line with quality assurance of placements and 

utilisation of Council voids +£0.741M 

• Asset and Compliance Review +£0.169M 

• Removal of utilities savings target due to delays in recruitment (-£0.037M) 

 
 People & Policy +£0.003M Favourable 
6.6 Significant budget variances: -  

• Pay award (-£0.011M) 

• General staff turnover savings, net of agency services +£0.047M 

• Net impact of Morecambe VIC premises being empty (-£0.035M) 

 
 Planning & Climate Change +£0.347M Favourable 
6.7 Significant budget variances: - 

• Pay award (-£0.018M) 

• Vacancies particularly within Planning Advice & Control.  A small restructure is being 

explored to attract more applicants +£0.417M 

• Legal costs (-£0.031M) relating to formal and high court actions 

• Reduced demand for pre-application advice particularly for the higher value, larger 

developments (-£0.035M) 

 
 Resources +£0.081M Favourable 
6.8 Significant budget variances: - 

• Pay award (-£0.015M) 

• Salary savings +£0.176M including key accountancy and ICT vacancies 

• Consultancy fees for Mainway scheme (-£0.049M) 

• Increased shared service management fees for Revenues (-£0.040M) 
 
 Sustainable Growth (-£0.107M) Adverse 
6.9 Significant budget variances: - 

• Pay award (-£0.010M) 

• Salary savings +£0.220M which includes 5 vacant Engineer posts and a reduction in 
post hours 

Page 278



• Reduced income levels at Morecambe Market partially due to less stall holders (-

£0.057M) 

• Revaluation of VAT classification at Morecambe Market resulting in 4 year VAT 

adjustments (-£0.229M) 

• Off-street parking R&M and software costs (-£0.029M) 

• Off-street parking pay and display income (-£0.050M) 

• Christmas decorations upgrade/repairs not complete +£0.024M 

• Bridge repairs delayed start due to consultancy engagement, likely to start 2026/27 

+£0.041M 

 
 Corporate Accounts (-£0.964M) Adverse 
6.10 Significant budget variances: - 

• The provision for staff turnover target (-£0.648M) is held within Corporate Services 
whilst the additional costs/savings generated are attributed to the individual service 
lines. The council salary related position within the general fund (including the 
additional pay award, agency and consultancy costs) is expected to be underspent 
by +£0.279M 

• Provision for Bad Debts is anticipated to increase by (-£0.290M) due to ongoing lease 
negotiations (see Housing & Property) 

• Costs for works relating to oil spill incident February 2025 (-£0.046M) 

• Recovery of costs for works in default relating to incident at Supa Skips December 
2023 +£0.034M 

 
Other Items +£1.444M Favourable 

6.11 Significant budget variances: - 

• The removal of an annual contribution to the renewals reserve following a review of 
reserve levels +£0.293M 

• The new borrowing in 2024/25 was not incurred as anticipated largely due to 
significant levels of slippage on schemes in the capital programme leading to higher 
levels of cash balances. Further borrowing anticipated in 2025/26 is not expected until 
later in the year +£0.240M 

• Interest rates have remained higher than the 3.5% forecast in September 2024 due 
to inflationary pressures. Also cash balances have been higher than forecast largely 
due to slippage on schemes in the capital programme +£0.689M 

• Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) savings arising due to slippage of schemes in 
the Capital Programme during 2024/25 and the use of capital receipts to finance short 
life assets in 2024/25 +£0.221M 

 
6.11 Appendix A: General Fund Service Analysis (Q3) set out the above information in more 

detail and provides summary percentage variations for variances +/- £0.030M. Appendix H 
provides additional analysis across individual service areas. 

 
6.12 The revenue position provided within table 3 above is analysed across the Council’s 

subjective headings and is set out in table 4 below. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 279



Table 4 Quarter 3 Financial Monitoring – Subjective Analysis 
 

 
 
6.13 Appendix B: General Fund Subjective Analysis covers this information in more detail. 
 
 
7.0 HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT SUMMARY POSITION 
 
7.1 As at the end of Q3, a year end overspend against budget of (-£0.060M) is projected.  A 

summary of the Q3 revenue position for the HRA is set out in table 5 below.  
 
 Table 5 Quarter 3 Financial Monitoring – HRA Service Analysis 
 

 
 
7.2 Significant budget variances: - 

• Pay award (-£0.046M) 

• General staff turnover savings, net of agency services +£0.288M 

• Additional repairs costs relating to defending and settling disrepair claims (-£0.250M) 

• Higher numbers and complex void properties (-£0.118M) 

• Decant costs relating to damp & mould and asbestos removal (-£0.070M) 

• Revised costs relating to fire at Bronte House (-£0.040M) 

• Additional rent loss from voids due to ongoing capital projects and high levels of Right 
to Buy sales (-£0.262M) 

• Additional council tax on re-lets due to major voids and capital projects (-£0.152M) 

• Additional admin fees re high levels of Right to Buy sales +£0.039M 

• Removal of in-year contribution to Flats Planned Maintenance reserve +£0.033M 

• Decrease in contribution to bad debt provision +£0.086M 

• Additional depreciation charge based on latest valuations, applying EUV-SH of 35% 
(-£0.490M) 

• Funding repayment of loan principal via Major Repairs Reserve +£1.041M 

Provisional

Outturn

2024/25

£'000

Original

Budget

2025/26

£'000

Working

Budget

2025/26

£'000

Q3

Actual

2025/26

£'000

Projected

Outturn

2025/26

£'000

Projected

Variance

2025/26

£'000

Employees 24,967 27,219 27,350 19,778 26,800 +550

Premises Related Exp 5,634 5,960 5,971 4,069 5,995 (24)

Transport Related Exp 1,661 1,720 1,721 1,305 1,730 (9)

Supplies and Services 16,743 14,609 18,082 11,669 17,124 +958

Transfer Payments 25,186 21,977 21,977 12,778 21,977 0

Support Services 217 142 173 54 160 +13

Capital Charges 0 17 17 0 17 0

Capital Financing Costs 1,146 1,535 1,535 1,382 1,295 +240

Appropriations 8,858 4,515 4,515 0 4,001 +514

Income (57,633) (50,376) (54,023) (44,890) (53,352) (671)

Capital Financing Inc 0 (300) (300) 0 0 (300)

Sub Total 26,779 27,018 27,018 6,145 25,747 +1,271

Net Recharges to Housing Revenue Account (1,026) (1,026) (1,026) (1,026) (1,026) 0

RMS Capital Charges (now Housing Revenue Account) (200) (218) (218) 702 (218) 0

Corporate Property Review (Revenue) 0 1,427 152 46 114 +38

Corporate Property Review (Appropriation) 0 0 1,275 0 1,313 (38)

Revenue Reserve funded items (Revenue) 3,185 456 2,360 986 2,256 +104

Revenue Reserve funded items (Appropriation) (3,134) (456) (2,360) 0 (2,256) (104)

Sub Total (1,175) 183 183 708 183 0

General Fund Revenue Budget 25,604 27,201 27,201 6,853 25,930 +1,271

Financing Income (14,676) (15,651) (15,651) 11,067 (15,920) +269

Council Tax Requirement 10,928 11,550 11,550 17,920 10,010 +1,540

Provisional

Outturn

2024/25

£'000

Original

Budget

2025/26

£'000

Working

Budget

2025/26

£'000

Q3

Actual

2025/26

£'000

Projected

Outturn

2025/26

£'000

Projected

Variance

2025/26

£'000

Policy & Management 2,495 3,071 3,279 2,024 3,248 +31

Repairs & Maintenance 7,048 6,704 6,734 4,637 7,023 (289)

Welfare Services (241) (238) (238) (196) (180) (58)

Special Services 221 253 277 244 311 (34)

Miscellaneous Expenses 1,380 1,158 1,158 863 1,205 (47)

Income Account (18,919) (18,255) (18,255) (11,555) (17,947) (308)

Capital Charges (1,373) 7,424 7,424 0 6,872 +552

Appropriations 8,872 (634) (896) 0 (989) +93

Sub Total (517) (517) (517) (3,983) (457) (60)

Net Recharges to General Fund 517 517 517 517 517 0

Housing Revenue Account Budget 0 0 0 (3,466) 60 (60)

Page 280



 
7.3 Appendix C: Housing Revenue Account Service Analysis covers this information in more 

detail and provides summary percentage variations for variances +/- £30K.  
 
7.4 Following work being carried out to review varying aspects of the calculation of depreciation, 

the current projection is based on latest quinquennial valuations and the application of an 
existing use value - social housing (EUV-SH) adjustment factor of 35% of market value.  As 
provided for within the Stock Valuation for Resource Accounting guidance issued in 
November 2016, the s151 Officer has exercised his discretion in varying the adjustment 
factor from the recommended 40% for the North West region.  This decision will be subject 
to external audit. 

 
 
8.0 CAPITAL PROJECTS (General Fund & HRA) 
 
8.1 At Q3 a year end variance against budget of +£5.255M (General Fund +£5.171M, HRA 

+£0.084M) is projected. Summary details for both the General Fund and HRA are set out 
in table 6 below.  

 
Table 6 Quarter 3 Financial Monitoring – Capital Projects 
 

 
 

 
8.2 The forecast underspending against budget relates to both General Fund and HRA. The 

table above highlights the slippage and accelerated expenditure, which is anticipated to be 
included in the 2026/27 budget process. Once accounted for, the following differences 
represent the latest position of any forecast under/(over)spends :-  

 

• Environment and Place: +£0.015M underspend due to cost of public bins being less 

than previously forecast 

• Housing & Property: -£0.008M overspend due to final valuation for works carried out at 

Mellishaw Park. 

• Planning & Climate Change: A forecast underspend of +£0.533M relating to Burrow 

Beck Solar Farm due to the preparatory works carried out to ensure the contractor 

received a cleared site for construction and economies of scale achieved by using the 

same contractor for these works and works on the Gateway Solare Array. 

• Sustainable Growth: +£0.012M due to delays to City Museum Shop as listed building 

consent is required. It is anticipated this will likely need to slip into 2026/27 as part of 

closedown; +£0.019M is likely to slip at yearend due to timings of Lancaster Square 

Routes project 

Original

Budget

2025/26

£'000

Working

Budget

2025/26

£'000

Q3

Actual

2025/26

£'000

Projected

Outturn

2025/26

£'000

Projected

Variance

2025/26

£'000

Slippage/

(Accelerated

Expenditure)

£'000

General Fund

Environment & Place 10,404 8,122 (8) 7,812 +310 295

Housing & Property 3,005 3,391 (2,171) 1,989 +1,402 1,410

People & Policy 0 0 0 0 0 0

Planning & Climate Change 5,933 6,986 1,443 5,086 +1,900 1,900

Resources 792 1,853 471 1,053 +800 800

Sustainable Growth 730 811 (4,610) 52 +759 728

Other Items 0 0 (78) 0 0 0

GENERAL FUND - TOTAL 20,864 21,163 (4,953) 15,992 5,171 5,133

Housing Revenue Account

Adaptations 300 300 213 300 0 0

Energy Efficiency / Boiler Replacement 1,501 1,834 829 1,834 0 0

Internal Refurbishment 1,078 1,078 739 928 +150 0

External Refurbishment 637 855 233 855 0 0

Environmental Improvements 500 500 214 406 +94 0

Re-roofing / Window Renewals 595 693 111 693 0 0

Rewiring 88 128 60 122 +6 0

Lift Replacement 0 42 47 47 (5) 0

Fire Precaution Works 210 335 209 468 (133) 0

Housing Renewal & Renovation 957 939 692 967 (28) 0

Acquisitions 250 795 136 795 0 0

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT - TOTAL 6,116 7,499 3,483 7,415 84 0

GRAND TOTAL 26,980 28,662 (1,470) 23,407 +5,255 +5,133

Page 281



8.3 With regard to the overall projected favourable variance on the HRA Capital Programme of 
+£0.084M, this is largely due to a projected underspends of +£0.150M on internal 
refurbishment works and +£0.094M on Environmental improvements, off-set by additional 
fire precaution works (-£0.133M) and additional cost of conversions and redevelopment 
projects including Alder Grove (-£0.028M). 

 
8.4 Appendix D General Fund Capital Projects and Appendix E HRA Capital Projects provide 

further information and summary commentary. 
 
 
9.0 RESERVES 
 
9.1 The Council’s General Fund unallocated balances are projected to be £10.338M. This takes 

account of the projected net overspend reported here.  Overall, the combined level of 
reserves is forecast to be £30.234M. Table 7 Quarter 3 Financial Monitoring – General Fund 
Reserves provides summary details for both Unallocated and Earmarked Reserves.    

 
 Table 7 Quarter 3 Financial Monitoring – General Fund Reserves 
 

 
 
 
9.2 The increase in usage of balances since the budget was approved include :- 

• The inclusion of slippage (-£1.244M) as detailed within the Provisional Outturn report 

which was considered by Cabinet on 31 July 2025 

• Funding for a new fuel tank at White Lund Depot (-£0.025M) 

• Installation and setup costs relating to the Love Clean Streets app (-£0.028M) 

• Hostile vehicle mitigation for organised events (-£0.025M) 

• The installation of the temporary catering offer at Williamson Park and demolition of 

the café building, plus feasibility works and park lighting (-£0.200M) 

• Parking ANPR for Lancaster City Centre (-£0.032M) 

• Car parking strategy feasibility works (-£0.118M) 

• Additional Microsoft licenses to enable all staff access the council network (-£0.024M) 

• Cyber response security (-£0.078M) 

• Consultancy works in relation to commercial properties (-£0.035M) 

• Contribution to the proposed skate park at Douglas Park (-£0.031M) 

• The demolition of the gravity tower at Salt Ayre Leisure Centre (-£0.018M) 

• City Museum support work required before a development phase application to the 

National Heritage Lottery Fund (NHLF) can be made (-£0.095M) 

• New equipment required at The Storey (-£0.012M) 

9.3 Following restatement of the opening balances, the Council’s Housing Revenue Account 
unallocated balances are projected to be £0.770M. This takes account of the projected net 
overspend reported here.  Overall, the combined level of usable reserves is forecast to be 
£2.125M. Table 8 Quarter 2 Financial Monitoring – Housing Revenue Account Reserves 
provides summary details for both Unallocated and Earmarked Reserves. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

31 March 

2025
From Revenue

To / (From) 

Capital
To Revenue

31 March 

2026

31 March 

2025
From Revenue

To / (From) 

Capital
To Revenue

31 March 

2026

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Unallocated Balances (8,189,200) (820,000) 0 316,500 (8,692,700) (10,027,832) (2,091,000) 0 1,780,498 (10,338,334)

Total Earmarked Reserves 

(Usable)
(15,186,400) (626,200) 38,000 82,700 (15,691,900) (16,163,943) (1,645,800) 0 269,400 (17,540,343)

Total Earmarked Reserves 

(Ringfenced)
(2,245,300) (145,000) 71,000 19,200 (2,300,100) (2,547,210) (145,000) 131,000 206,300 (2,354,910)

Total Combined Reserves (25,620,900) (1,591,200) 109,000 418,400 (26,684,700) (28,738,985) (3,881,800) 131,000 2,256,198 (30,233,587)

Page 282



 Table 8 Quarter 3 Financial Monitoring – Housing Revenue Account Reserves 
 

 
 
9.4 The decision to fund the HRA self-financing payment from the Major Repairs Reserve 

(MRR) has now been taken, backdated to 2024/25 and reflected in the financial figures now 
presented.  This has led to the restatement of opening balances and the HRA unallocated 
reserve being projected to be in surplus (and above the recommended minimum level).  As 
stated in 7.4 above, following work being carried out to review varying aspects of the 
calculation of depreciation, the current projections are now calculated using a reduced 
existing use value - social housing (EUV-SH) adjustment factor of 35% of market value 
(from 40%). Although the projected net financial position is much improved since Q2, the 
financial health of the HRA will remain under close review, and work will continue to monitor 
areas of expenditure known to be under pressure. 

 
9.5 Appendix F: Reserves Projected Outturn provides further detailed analysis for both funds.   
 
9.6 The Council’s reserves are used to manage pressures such as the cost of living crisis and 

also support the work to address the underlying structural deficit through the OBR process. 
As a result, they are fundamental to ensuring the financial sustainability of the Council as it 
deals with these pressures and will be kept under review by Officers and Members.   

 
 
10.0  COLLECTION FUND 
 
 Business Rates 
10.1 At the Autumn Budget on 30th October 2024 the Chancellor announced that from 2026/27, 

existing Business Rate Relief for retail, hospitality or leisure (RHL) properties would be 
replaced by a lower rate multiplier set at 5p below the national multipliers. They also 
announced a higher multiplier that would apply to the most valuable properties (those with 
RVs of £500,000 and above) set at 2.8p above the national standard multiplier meaning the 
system will expand to 5 multipliers from 2026/27. 

 
This is happening at the same time as the 2026 revaluation which sees the Valuation Office 
update the rateable values of all businesses. 

 
At the Autum Budget on 26th November 2025 the Chancellor announced that the following 
multipliers that would apply for 2026/27: 

 
• Small multiplier - 43.2p falling from 49.9p in 2025-26 

• Standard multiplier - 48.0p falling from 55.5p in 2025-26 

• Small RHL multiplier - 38.2p 

• Standard RHL multiplier - 43.0p  

• High Value multiplier - 50.8p 

 
The Chancellor also announced at the budget on 26th November 2025 that the government 
would provide a package of reliefs to support businesses. 
 
For 2026/27, this includes: 
 

• Transitional Relief – To support ratepayers facing large bill increases at the 
revaluation the government is introducing a redesigned Transitional Relief scheme 
worth £3.2 billion. 

• Transitional Relief Supplement – a 1p supplement to the relevant tax rate for 

31 March 

2025

From 

Revenue

To / (From) 

Capital
To Revenue

31 March 

2026

31 March 

2025

From 

Revenue

To / (From) 

Capital
To Revenue

31 March 

2026

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

HRA Unallocated Balances (76,000) (26,700) 0 0 (102,700) (803,700) (26,700) 60,300 (770,100)

Total Earmarked Reserves (2,671,800) (5,057,900) 4,774,700 944,000 (2,011,000) (2,651,600) (5,455,500) 5,545,200 1,207,400 (1,354,500)

Total Combined Reserves (2,747,800) (5,084,600) 4,774,700 944,000 (2,113,700) (3,455,300) (5,482,200) 5,545,200 1,267,700 (2,124,600)

<-----  ORIGINAL BUDGET -----> <----- PROJECTED OUTTURN ----->

Page 283



ratepayers who do not receive Transitional Relief or the Supporting Small Business 
scheme to partially fund Transitional Relief. This will apply for one year from 1 April 
2026. 

• 2026 Supporting Small Business Scheme (SSB relief) – bill increases for 
businesses losing some or all of their small business rates relief or rural rate relief will 
be capped at the higher of £800 or the relevant transitional relief caps from 1 April 2026. 
The 2026 SSB relief scheme has been expanded to ratepayers losing their RHL relief. 
The government has also announced a one-year extension of the 2023 Supporting 
Small Business scheme from 1 April 2026. This support is applied before changes in 
other reliefs and local supplements. 

• 100% relief for Eligible Electric Vehicle Charging Points and Electric Vehicle only 
forecourts (EVCP relief) – a ten-year 100% business rates relief for EVCPs separately 
assessed by the VOA and Electric Vehicle-only forecourts to ensure that they face no 
business rates liability. 

• Extending the Small Business Rates Relief (SBRR) grace-period from one to 
three years – meaning businesses will now remain eligible for SBRR on their first 
property for three years after expanding into a second property. 

 
Local authorities will be expected to use their discretionary relief powers (under section 47 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 as amended) to grant the EVCP and SSB reliefs 
in line with the relevant eligibility criteria. Authorities will be compensated for the cost of 
granting these reliefs via a section 31 grant from government. No new legislation will be 
required to deliver these schemes. 

 
On 27th January 2026 the Government made a further announcement that in 2026/27, 
eligible pubs and live music venues will benefit from a 15% business rates relief on top of 
the support above announced at Budget 2025. Their bills will be frozen in real terms for a 
further 2 years. 
 
Local authorities will be fully compensated for the loss of income associated with granting 
the pubs and live music venues relief and the government will fund the associated new 
burdens, including the administrative and software costs of implementation. 

 
10.2 The collection rate for Business Rates is currently 79.6%, which is ahead of the profiled 

target of 78.3%.  The annual target is 98.0%. 
 
10.3 Business rates monitoring to the end of quarter 3 predicts a favourable in year variance of 

+£0.267M. This relates to a lower Levy payment than forecast in budget projections 
+£0.419M and a change in section 31 grants payable for the current year of (-£0.151M). 
Additionally, there is a forecast year end deficit of (-£0.693M) which will be recognised in 
2026/27, however this will be fully funded from the Business Rates Retention Reserve 
(BRRR). 

 
10.4 With regard to 2026/27, the proposed business rates reset will take place from 1st April and 

this will affect the collection fund in a number of ways :- 
 

• A revised business rates baseline which is the amount that we are expected to 

collect as an Authority 

• A revised baseline funding level which is the funding need as determined by the 

government 

• A revised ‘safety net’ scheme which offers Council’s more certainty in the business 

rates due to base their future year projections on 

• Changes to the tariff payable by the Authority and S31 grants due to the Authority 

The overall effect of the above is expected to provide more certainty in business rates due 
to the Council for the forthcoming 3 three years with the added security of the safety net 
position. These figures are currently still provisional however, no detrimental financial 
impact is expected. 

 
 

Page 284



 Council Tax 
10.5 The current collection rate for Council Tax is 80.8% which is behind the profiled target of 

83.8%. The annual target is 95.0%. The number of Local Council Tax Support claimants at 
Q3 is 9,233. 

 
 
11.0  WRITE OFFS 
 
11.1 Appendix I details the ‘Aged Debt Summary by Service’.  Note that the analysis does not 

include any debtors relating to collection fund, housing benefit and HRA housing rents 
income. 

 
11.2 Table 9 below provides details of the debts have been written off by the Council’s Revenues 

and Benefits service in relation to Council Tax, Business Rates and Housing Benefits 
Overpayments. 

 
 Table 9: Write Offs 

  
  
11.3 The write-off of other sundry debts in excess of £500 must be approved by the Chief Officer 

(Resources), in consultation with the Chief Officer (Governance).  The value of these debts 
written-off in quarter 3 (including those under £500) is £19,981. 

 
11.4 Debts are deemed non recoverable after all reasonable recovery steps have been taken 

and can be written off in accordance with the Council’s Debt Management Policy in a 
number of circumstances such as unable to trace, uneconomical to pursue, insolvency as 
well as imprisonment and death. 

 
 
12.0  TREASURY MANAGEMENT 
 
12.1 Appendix J gives a quarterly update in respect of treasury management activities and the 

most recent economic prospects. 
 
12.2 The average level of funds available for investment to the end of quarter 3 was £31.92M.  

In terms of performance against external benchmarks the return on investment at the end 
of the period was a follows: 

 
7 day SONIA                – 4.14% 
Lancaster City Council – 4.01% 
 
Details of investment holdings are set out in Appendix J.  

 
12.3 No new borrowing was undertaken during quarter 3. Balance sheet projections indicate that 

further borrowing may still be required during this financial year. However, there is still 
potential for further slippage within the Capital Programme and uncertain large cashflows 
relating to external projects make this difficult to quantify with certainty and the actual 
amount of borrowing may be lower. Should borrowing be required, it is anticipated to be 
temporary borrowing.  The ultimate timing will depend on exact working capital cashflows 
in the run up to year end which are kept under close review.  These will continue to be 
monitored in the forthcoming financial year. 

 
 
12.4 The Council has operated within the treasury and prudential indicators set out in its Treasury 

Management Strategy Statement for 2025/26.  Appendix J gives an update in respect of 
prudential indicators showing the current forecast for the year against estimate. 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total

Council Tax 239,172 454,898 241,991 936,061

Business Rates 209,793 199,776 3,078 412,647

Housing Benefit Overpayments 6,999 2,844 1,917 11,760

Housing Rents (HRA) 12,522 20,129 9,321 41,972

Total 468,486 677,647 256,307 0 1,402,440

Page 285



 
 

RELATIONSHIP TO POLICY FRAMEWORK 
Performance, project and resource monitoring provides a link between the Council plan and 
operational achievement by providing regular updates on the impact of operational initiatives 
against strategic aims. 
 

CONCLUSION OF IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
(including Health & Safety, Equality & Diversity, Human Rights, Community Safety, HR, 
Sustainability and Rural Proofing) 

None directly identifiable, due to the high level nature of this report. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

There are no legal implications directly arising. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

As set out in the report. 

OTHER RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

Human Resources / Information Services / Property / Open Spaces: 

References and any related implications are contained within the report and related 
appendices. 

SECTION 151 OFFICER’S COMMENTS 

The report has been written by the Section 151 Officer.  

MONITORING OFFICER’S COMMENTS 

The Monitoring Officer has been consulted and has no further comments. 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

None. 

Contact Officers:  Paul Thompson 
Chief Finance Officer & s151 Officer    
Telephone:  01524 582603 
E-mail: pthompson@lancaster.gov.uk 
Ref:  

 
 

Page 286

mailto:aclarke@lancaster.gov.uk


APPENDIX A

QUARTER 3 FINANCIAL REVENUE MONITORING - GENERAL FUND SERVICE ANALYSIS 2025/26

Provisional

Outturn

2024/25

£'000

Original

Budget

2025/26

£'000

Budget

Amendments

2025/26

£'000

Working

Budget

2025/26

£'000

Q3

Actual

2025/26

£'000

Projected

Outturn

2025/26

£'000

Projected

Variance

2025/26

£'000

Variance

+/- £30K

%

Services

ASNL and Nature Reserves 104 113 0 113 (8) 113 0

Environmental Protection 276 455 0 455 116 351 104 +23%

Fleet Management (4) (9) 0 (9) 61 21 (30) (333%)

Food Safety 389 512 0 512 345 476 36 +7%

Hospitality & Events Management 330 223 0 223 154 262 (39) (17%)

Parks & Open Spaces 1,381 1,532 0 1,532 1,251 1,430 102 +7%

Pest Control (36) (12) 0 (12) (24) (13) 1

Salt Ayre Leisure Centre 239 636 0 636 517 768 (132) (21%)

Service Support 670 565 0 565 621 732 (167) (30%)

Street Cleaning 1,784 1,923 0 1,923 1,397 1,857 66 +3%

Streetscape 52 73 0 73 37 70 3

Trade Refuse (787) (818) 0 (818) (947) (731) (87) (11%)

Waste Collection 3,239 2,608 0 2,608 1,456 2,315 293 +11%

Williamson Park 468 439 0 439 426 669 (230) (52%)

Democratic Support & Elections 1,044 1,087 0 1,087 881 1,079 8

Legal Services 742 665 0 665 693 790 (125) (19%)

Licensing (78) (45) 0 (45) (44) (35) (10)

Commercial Land & Properties (1,696) (1,364) 4 (1,360) (549) (1,137) (223) (16%)

Customer Services 539 608 0 608 475 614 (6)

Facilities Management 593 623 0 623 484 622 1

GF Housing Schemes (39) (13) 0 (13) (49) (54) 41 +315%

Municipal Buildings 664 694 0 694 497 725 (31) (4%)

Other Land & Buildings 42 42 0 42 56 65 (23)

Private Sector Housing 616 1,565 0 1,565 (3,008) 832 733 +47%

Property Group 777 1,244 (4) 1,240 702 1,050 190 +15%

Public Health Services 109 137 0 137 86 145 (8)

Repairs & Maintenance 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Communications 0 230 0 230 118 213 17

Community Connectors 166 0 0 0 0 0 0

Emergency Planning & CSP 99 117 0 117 66 117 0

Exec Support 196 197 0 197 160 198 (1)

Health & Safety 74 67 3 70 43 73 (3)

HR & OD 1,193 855 0 855 609 842 13

Marketing 226 242 5 247 194 290 (43) (17%)

Policy and Partnerships 0 285 (8) 277 140 220 57 +21%

Projects & Performance 168 118 0 118 90 120 (2)

VCFS 300 321 0 321 310 321 0

Visitor Information Centres 32 0 0 0 26 35 (35)

DM - Building Control 172 270 0 270 109 256 14

DM - Planning 644 822 0 822 595 591 231 +28%

Energy and Sustainability 294 210 0 210 233 213 (3)

Planning & Housing Strategy 894 972 0 972 560 867 105 +11%

CCTV 66 62 0 62 83 81 (19)

Finance 1,455 1,679 0 1,679 1,105 1,618 61 +4%

ICT 1,557 1,789 0 1,789 1,311 1,737 52 +3%

Internal Audit 219 172 0 172 149 172 0

Revenues & Benefits 1,413 1,382 0 1,382 (793) 1,395 (13)

Economic Development & Culture 220 226 0 226 109 226 0

Markets (77) (54) 0 (54) (51) 276 (330) (611%)

Museums 493 490 0 490 330 482 8

Parking (2,700) (2,733) 0 (2,733) (1,790) (2,661) (72) (3%)

Regeneration 483 546 0 546 1,720 526 20

Strategic Projects & Engineers 275 547 0 547 115 280 267 +49%

19,280 22,295 0 22,295 11,167 21,504 791 +4%

Corporate Services

Corporate Accounts Corporate Accounts 1,838 (87) 0 (87) 247 877 (964) (1108%)

Contributions from Reserves 4,517 1,520 0 1,520 0 1,176 344 +23%

Government Grants (1,334) (774) 0 (774) (721) (774) 0

Interest Payable 1,145 1,534 0 1,534 1,382 1,294 240 +16%

Interest Receivable (1,302) (465) 0 (465) (5,930) (1,155) 690 +148%

Minimum Revenue Provision 2,912 2,924 0 2,924 0 2,703 221 +8%

Notional Charges (55) 0 0 0 0 0 0

Pandemic Support 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Revenue Funding of Capital (222) 71 0 71 0 122 (51) (72%)

Capital Funding of Revenue 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

UKSPF 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

7,499 4,723 0 4,723 (5,022) 4,243 480 +10%

Net Recharges to Housing Revenue Account (1,026) (1,026) 0 (1,026) (1,026) (1,026) 0

RMS Capital Charges (now Housing Revenue Account) (200) (218) 0 (218) 702 (218) 0

Corporate Property Review (Revenue) 0 1,427 (1,275) 152 46 114 38 +25%

Corporate Property Review (Appropriation) 0 0 1,275 1,275 0 1,313 (38) (3%)

Revenue Reserve funded items included in above analysis (Revenue) 3,185 456 1,904 2,360 986 2,256 104 +4%

Revenue Reserve funded items included in above analysis (Appropriation) (3,134) (456) (1,904) (2,360) 0 (2,256) (104) (4%)

General Fund Revenue Budget 25,604 27,201 0 27,201 6,853 25,930 1,271 +5%

Core Funding : Revenue Support Grant (433) (460) 0 (460) (346) (460) 0

Additional New Homes Bonus 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Supplementary Government Grants 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Prior Year Council Tax Surplus 141 (280) 0 (280) 0 (280) 0

Net Business Rates Income (14,384) (14,911) 0 (14,911) 11,413 (15,180) 269 +2%

Council Tax Requirement 10,928 11,550 0 11,550 17,920 10,010 1,540 +13%

Notes:

1. Income is expressed as a negative figure in brackets

2. Expenditure is expressed as a positive figure

3. Projected Variances are expressed as negative ( ) for adverse and positive + for favourable

Other Items

Sustainable Growth

Resources

Planning & Climate Change

Environment & Place

Governance

Housing & Property

People & Policy

Page 287



APPENDIX B

QUARTER 3 FINANCIAL REVENUE MONITORING - GENERAL FUND SUBJECTIVE ANALYSIS 2025/26

Provisional

Outturn

2024/25

£'000

Original

Budget

2025/26

£'000

Budget

Amendments

2025/26

£'000

Working

Budget

2025/26

£'000

Q3

Actual

2025/26

£'000

Projected

Outturn

2025/26

£'000

Projected

Variance

2025/26

£'000

Variance

+/- £30K

%

Direct Employee Expenses 23,446 26,393 109 26,502 18,899 25,628 874 +3%

Indirect Employee Expenses 1,521 826 22 848 879 1,172 (324) (38%)

Cleaning and Domestic Supplies 182 177 (4) 173 143 186 (13)

Energy Costs 1,477 1,556 0 1,556 770 1,376 180 +12%

Fixtures and Fittings 0 1 0 1 1 1 0

Grounds Maintenance Costs 59 62 7 69 16 59 10

Operational Bldgs Allocation 301 352 0 352 112 181 171 +49%

Other Premises Costs 0 (37) 0 (37) 0 0 (37) (100%)

Premises Insurance 341 373 0 373 366 368 5

Rates 1,533 1,407 0 1,407 1,524 1,707 (300) (21%)

Rents 84 66 0 66 63 62 4

Repair and Maintenance 1,176 1,524 8 1,532 656 1,488 44 +3%

Water Services 481 479 0 479 418 567 (88) (18%)

Car Allowances 15 8 1 9 10 10 (1)

Contract Hire Operating Leases 41 16 0 16 160 192 (176) (1100%)

Direct Transport Costs 1,507 1,582 0 1,582 1,042 1,428 154 +10%

Other Transport Costs 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Public Transport 8 20 0 20 7 14 6

Transport Insurance 90 94 0 94 86 86 8

Catering 37 58 0 58 28 58 0

Clothing Uniform and Laundry 145 101 0 101 89 112 (11)

Communications and Computing 1,677 1,737 30 1,767 1,601 1,829 (62) (4%)

Contribution to Provisions 1,147 250 0 250 0 540 (290) (116%)

Equip Furniture and Materials 1,629 1,650 (7) 1,643 1,138 1,505 138 +8%

Expenses 549 555 6 561 416 546 15

General Office Supplies 443 252 0 252 154 252 0

Grants and Subscriptions 1,831 1,393 516 1,909 1,294 1,788 121 +6%

Miscellaneous Expenses 960 1,320 1,975 3,295 477 2,609 686 +21%

Services 8,325 7,293 953 8,246 6,472 7,885 361 +4%

Transfer Payments Housing Benefit 25,186 21,977 0 21,977 12,778 21,977 0

Support Services Recharges Exp 217 142 31 173 54 160 13

Amortisation of Def Chgs 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Depreciation 0 17 0 17 0 17 0

Capital Financing Costs Interest Payments 1,146 1,535 0 1,535 1,382 1,295 240 +16%

Appropriations Appropriations 8,858 4,515 0 4,515 0 4,001 514 +11%

Customer Fees and Charges (20,696) (20,141) (3) (20,144) (14,563) (19,293) (851) (4%)

Government Grants (29,348) (25,790) (2,234) (28,024) (20,780) (27,864) (160) (1%)

Interest (1,389) (543) 0 (543) (5,930) (1,232) 689 +127%

Other Grants and Contributions (2,731) (2,048) (1,397) (3,445) (2,757) (3,234) (211) (6%)

Recharges Inc (3,469) (1,854) (13) (1,867) (860) (1,729) (138) (7%)

Capital Financing Inc Capital Related Income 0 (300) 0 (300) 0 0 (300) (100%)

Net Recharges to Housing Revenue Account (1,026) (1,026) 0 (1,026) (1,026) (1,026) 0

RMS Capital Charges (now Housing Revenue Account) (200) (218) 0 (218) 702 (218) 0

Corporate Property Review (Revenue) 0 1,427 (1,275) 152 46 114 38 +25%

Corporate Property Review (Appropriation) 0 0 1,275 1,275 0 1,313 (38) (3%)

Revenue Reserve funded items included in above analysis (Revenue) 3,185 456 1,904 2,360 986 2,256 104 +4%

Revenue Reserve funded items included in above analysis (Appropriation) (3,134) (456) (1,904) (2,360) 0 (2,256) (104) (4%)

General Fund Revenue Budget 25,604 27,201 0 27,201 6,853 25,930 1,271 +5%

Core Funding : Revenue Support Grant (433) (460) 0 (460) (346) (460) 0

Additional New Homes Bonus 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Supplementary Government Grants 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Prior Year Council Tax Surplus 141 (280) 0 (280) 0 (280) 0

Net Business Rates Income (14,384) (14,911) 0 (14,911) 11,413 (15,180) 269 +2%

Council Tax Requirement 10,928 11,550 0 11,550 17,920 10,010 1,540 +13%

Notes:

1. Income is expressed as a negative figure in brackets

2. Expenditure is expressed as a positive figure

3. Projected Variances are expressed as negative ( ) for adverse and positive + for favourable

Income

Employees

Premises Related Exp

Transport Related Exp

Supplies and Services

Capital Charges

Page 288



APPENDIX C

QUARTER 3 FINANCIAL REVENUE MONITORING - HRA SERVICE ANALYSIS 2025/26

Provisional

Outturn

2024/25

£'000

Original

Budget

2025/26

£'000

Budget

Amendments

2025/26

£'000

Working

Budget

2025/26

£'000

Q3

Actual

2025/26

£'000

Projected

Outturn

2025/26

£'000

Projected

Variance

2025/26

£'000

Variance

+/- £30K

%

Housing Revenue Account

Policy & Management 2,495 3,071 208 3,279 2,024 3,248 31 +1%

Repairs & Maintenance 7,048 6,704 30 6,734 4,637 7,023 (289) (4%)

Welfare Services (241) (238) 0 (238) (196) (180) (58) (24%)

Special Services 221 253 24 277 244 311 (34) (12%)

Miscellaneous Expenses 1,380 1,158 0 1,158 863 1,205 (47) (4%)

Income Account (18,919) (18,255) 0 (18,255) (11,555) (17,947) (308) (2%)

Capital Charges (1,373) 7,424 0 7,424 0 6,872 552 +7%

Appropriations 8,872 (634) (262) (896) 0 (989) 93 +10%

Gain/Loss on Asset Sales 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Gain/Loss on Asset Sales(Move) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

(517) (517) 0 (517) (3,983) (457) (60) (12%)

Net Recharges to General Fund 517 517 0 517 517 517 0

Housing Revenue Account Budget 0 0 0 0 (3,466) 60 (60)

Notes:

1. Income is expressed as a negative figure in brackets

2. Expenditure is expressed as a positive figure

3. Projected Variances are expressed as negative ( ) for adverse and positive + for favourable

Housing Revenue Account

Page 289



APPENDIX D

QUARTER 3 FINANCIAL CAPITAL MONITORING - GENERAL FUND SERVICE ANALYSIS 2025/26

Original

Budget

2025/26

£'000

Budget

Amendments

2025/26

£'000

Working

Budget

2025/26

£'000

Q3

Actual

2025/26

£'000

Projected

Outturn

2025/26

£'000

Projected

Variance

2025/26

£'000

Budget 

Adjustments 

requested as 

part of 

2026/27 

budget 

process £'000

Variance

+/- £30K

%

Services

ASNL - Capital Access Works 0 0 0 (18) 0 0 0

Commercial Venue Improvements 150 0 150 147 150 0 0

Environment & Place Devpt Pool 4,346 (4,346) 0 0 0 0 0

Food Waste Strategy 0 0 0 (1,462) 0 0 0

National Landscape CORE Capital 0 0 0 (89) 0 0 0

Playground - The Roods 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Public Bins 500 0 500 0 485 15 0

Purchase Of Vehicles 5,337 (144) 5,193 36 4,898 295 295 +6%

Wheelie Bins 0 2,208 2,208 1,314 2,208 0 0

Winchester Field & Nature Area playground 71 0 71 64 71 0 0

1 Lodge Street Urgent Structural Repairs 172 180 352 198 300 52 52 +15%

87 King Street Conversion 400 (350) 50 0 50 0 0

Commercial Property Works 0 62 62 0 0 62 62 +100%

Coopers Fields - BLRF 0 0 0 (183) 0 0 0

Disabled Facilities Grants 0 0 0 (2,440) 0 0 0

HIA Purchase of Vehicles 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Local Authority Housing Fund 0 0 0 63 0 0 0

Low Voltage Switchgear & Solar Array - Gateway 974 2 976 0 750 226 226 +23%

Mellishaw Park 0 0 0 8 8 (8) 0

Property Capital Works 1,459 220 1,679 78 609 1,070 1,070 +64%

White Lund Depot Improvements 0 272 272 105 272 0 0

People & Policy 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Burrow Beck Solar 3,600 553 4,153 1,962 3,653 500 500 +12%

Electric Vehicle Charging Hub 0 60 60 (341) 0 60 60 +100%

Planning & Climate Change Devpt Pool 400 (60) 340 0 0 340 340 +100%

Property De-carbonisation Works 0 0 0 (66) 0 0 0

Property De-carbonisation Works 2024-25 1,933 500 2,433 22 1,433 1,000 1,000 +41%

SALC Salix Funded Optimised Solar Farm 0 0 0 (134) 0 0 0

I.S. Desktop Equipment 257 1 258 32 258 0 0

I.T.Strategy 130 107 237 57 237 0 0

ICT Laptop Replacement & E-campus screens 0 22 22 6 22 0 0

ICT Nimble 0 252 252 130 252 0 0

ICT Telephony 5 9 14 0 14 0 0

Lancaster Local Fibre Network 0 1,070 1,070 246 270 800 800 +75%

Resources Development Pool 400 (400) 0 0 0 0 0

Bare Outfall Flooding 0 18 18 0 0 18 18

Brownfield Land Release Fund 0 0 0 (2,389) 0 0 0

Caton Road Flood Relief Scheme 0 0 0 (1,578) 0 0 0

Centenary House Grant Funded Works 0 0 0 (446) 0 0 0

City Museum Shop 0 14 14 0 2 12 0

Coastal Revival Fund - Morecambe Co-op 0 0 0 (6) 0 0 0

Economic Growth & Regen Devpt Pool 500 0 500 0 0 500 500 +100%

Lancaster HS Heritage Action Zone 200 14 214 4 64 150 150 +70%

Lancaster Square Routes Project 0 5 5 (18) (14) 19 0

Morecambe Sea Front Parapet 30 30 60 0 0 60 60

Our Future Coast 0 0 0 (177) 0 0 0

REPF 24/25 (Yr2) External Projects 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

REPF 25/26 (Yr3) External Projects 0 0 0 (72) 0 0 0

The Streets are Ours Yr2 0 0 0 (5) 0 0 0

UKSPF - 23-24 (yr2) External Projects 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

UKSPF-23-24 (yr2) Lodge St Environs Enabling Works 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

UKSPF 25/26 (yr 4) Affordable Warmth 0 0 0 (3) 0 0 0

UKSPF 25/26 (yr4) Climate & Nature Study 0 0 0 (12) 0 0 0

UKSPF 25-26 (yr4) Local Area Energy Plan 0 0 0 (48) 0 0 0

UKSPF-25/26 (yr4) External Projects 0 0 0 62 0 0 0

20,864 299 21,163 (4,953) 15,992 5,171 5,133 +24%

GRAND TOTAL 20,864 299 21,163 (4,953) 15,992 5,171 5,133 +24%

Notes:

1. Income is expressed as a negative figure in brackets

2. Expenditure is expressed as a positive figure

3. Projected Variances are expressed as negative ( ) for adverse and positive + for favourable

Other Items

Environment & Place

Planning & Climate Change

Housing & Property

Resources

Sustainable Growth

Page 290



APPENDIX E

2025/26 2025/26 2025/26 2025/26 2025/26

Original 

Budget

Working 

Budget

P9 Actual Projected 

Outturn

Variance 

(Working v 

Projected)

Comments (Working Budget to Projected Outturn)

£ £ £ £ £

EXPENDITURE

Adaptations 300,000 300,000 213,036 300,000 0

Energy Efficiency / Boiler Replacement 1,501,000 1,834,300 828,542 1,834,300 0 Slippage anticipated due to staff vacancies

Internal Refurbishment 1,078,000 1,078,000 738,996 928,000 150,000 Projection based on current activity to Q3, affected by staff 

vacancies

External Refurbishment 637,000 855,400 232,885 855,400 0 Slippage anticipated due to staff vacancies

Environmental Improvements 500,000 500,000 213,727 406,000 94,000 Works on hardstanding areas for bins less than anticipated

Re-roofing / Window Renewals 595,000 692,900 111,080 692,900 0 Slippage anticipated for 2025/26 contract

Rewiring 88,000 128,000 60,400 121,500 6,500 Completion of 2024/25 contract

Lift Replacement 0 42,000 46,562 47,000 (5,000)

Fire Precaution Works 210,000 335,000 209,074 468,000 (133,000) Completion of 2024/25 contracts, requiring additional works

Housing Renewal & Renovation 957,000 938,500 692,448 966,500 (28,000) Net additional cost for conversions and redevelopment 

projects including Alder Grove

Mainway Regeneration Project 0 0 -344,973 0 0

Acquisitions 250,000 794,900 136,206 794,900 0 Two acquisitions completed, some slippage anticipated

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 6,116,000 7,499,000 3,137,982 7,414,500 84,500

Note: Variances are expressed as negative ( ) for adverse and positive + for favourable

Council Housing Capital Programme 2025/26

P
age 291



APPENDIX F

31 March 

2025
From Revenue

To / (From) 

Capital
To Revenue

31 March 

2026

31 March 

2025
From Revenue

To / (From) 

Capital
To Revenue

31 March 

2026

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Unallocated Balances (8,189,200) (820,000) 0 316,500 (8,692,700) (10,027,832) (2,091,000) 0 1,780,498 (10,338,334)

Earmarked Reserves (Usable):

Amenity Improvements (29,000) (29,000) (29,000) (29,000)

Corporate Priorities (68,800) 82,700 13,900 (267,939) 157,100 (110,839)

Capital Support (73,000) (73,000) (72,994) (72,994)

Corporate Property (313,500) (313,500) (313,548) (1,312,900) (1,626,448)

Covid 19 Support Reserve (9,700) (9,700) (9,715) (9,715)

Homelessness Support (110,800) (110,800) (110,830) (110,830)

Investment Property Maint (84,900) (84,900) (119,114) (119,114)

Invest to Save (105,300) (105,300) (162,913) 57,600 (105,313)

Museums Acquisitions (47,000) (4,500) (51,500) (45,164) (4,500) (49,664)

Restructure (400,000) (400,000) (450,628) 50,600 (400,028)

Business Rates Retention (12,064,400) (129,900) (12,194,300) (12,660,047) (129,900) (12,789,947)

Renewals Reserves (1,880,000) (491,800) 38,000 0 (2,333,800) (1,922,051) (198,500) 0 4,100 (2,116,451)

Total Earmarked Reserves 

(Usable)
(15,186,400) (626,200) 38,000 82,700 (15,691,900) (16,163,943) (1,645,800) 0 269,400 (17,540,343)

Earmarked Reserves (Ringfenced):

Elections (62,300) (45,000) (107,300) (62,302) (45,000) (107,302)

Lancaster District Hardship (600) (600) (60,984) 60,400 (584)

Planning Fee Income (10,600) (10,600) 0 0

Revenue Grants Unapplied (146,800) 19,200 (127,600) (264,686) 145,900 (118,786)

S106 Commuted Sums -
Affordable Housing

(218,800) (218,800) (218,796) (218,796)

S106 Commuted Sums -
Highways, Cycle Paths etc.

(1,411,400) (100,000) 71,000 (1,440,400) (1,545,637) (100,000) 131,000 (1,514,637)

Welfare Reforms (324,900) (324,900) (324,928) (324,928)

Reserves Held in Perpetuity:

Graves Maintenance (22,200) (22,200) (22,201) (22,201)

Marsh Capital (47,700) (47,700) (47,676) (47,676)

Total Earmarked Reserves 

(Ringfenced)
(2,245,300) (145,000) 71,000 19,200 (2,300,100) (2,547,210) (145,000) 131,000 206,300 (2,354,910)

Total Combined Reserves (25,620,900) (1,591,200) 109,000 418,400 (26,684,700) (28,738,985) (3,881,800) 131,000 2,256,198 (30,233,587)

Reserves Statement (Including Unallocated Balances)

<-----  ORIGINAL BUDGET -----> <----- PROJECTED OUTTURN ----->

Page 292



APPENDIX F

31 March 

2025

From 

Revenue

To / (From) 

Capital
To Revenue

31 March 

2026

31 March 

2025
From Revenue

To / (From) 

Capital
To Revenue

31 March 

2026

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

HRA Unallocated Balances (76,000) (26,700) 0 0 (102,700) (803,700) (26,700) 60,300 (770,100)

Earmarked Reserves:

Business Support Reserve (119,200) 0 0 0 (119,200) (389,500) 0 0 200,000 (189,500)

Major Repairs Reserve (550,100) (4,774,700) 4,774,700 0 (550,100) (281,000) (5,264,200) 5,545,200 0 0

Flats - Planned Maintenance (309,100) (33,000) 0 147,900 (194,200) (283,400) 0 0 177,600 (105,800)

ICT and Systems Improvement (713,200) 0 0 640,700 (72,500) (721,900) 0 0 649,400 (72,500)

Sheltered - Equipment     (260,900) (62,600) 0 75,100 (248,400) (275,700) (47,900) 0 75,100 (248,500)

Sheltered - Planned 

Maintenance
(379,400) (125,000) 0 80,300 (424,100) (371,700) (95,500) 0 105,300 (361,900)

Sheltered Support Grant 

Maintenance 
(339,900) (62,600) 0 0 (402,500) (328,400) (47,900) 0 0 (376,300)

Total Earmarked Reserves (2,671,800) (5,057,900) 4,774,700 944,000 (2,011,000) (2,651,600) (5,455,500) 5,545,200 1,207,400 (1,354,500)

Total Combined Reserves (2,747,800) (5,084,600) 4,774,700 944,000 (2,113,700) (3,455,300) (5,482,200) 5,545,200 1,267,700 (2,124,600)

HRA Reserves Statement (Including Unallocated Balances)

<-----  ORIGINAL BUDGET -----> <----- PROJECTED OUTTURN ----->

Page 293



APPENDIX G

GENERAL FUND - 2025/26 SAVINGS & BUDGET PROPOSALS MONITORING (QUARTER 3)

2025/26 APPROVED SAVINGS £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Environment & Place

SALC Direct Debit Supplier 5 0 0 (5) Not achieved in 2025/26 due to timing of change - now in place

SALC Padel 0 0 0 0 On target - discussions underway between officers and 

prospective providers of service - plan to be in place second half 

2026/27.

Housing & Property

Energy Officer 3 (4) (9) (12) Savings target of £37K is unlikely to be achieved in year due to 

delays in recruitment

Mailroom 10 0 0 (10) Delays due to procurement requirements

Planning & Climate Change

Building Control Fee Income 45 34 45 0 On target

Sustainable Growth

Museum Charging (12) (12) (12) 0 Achieved - annual budget exceeded by P07

TOTAL SAVINGS 51 18 24 (27)

2025/26 APPROVED GROWTH £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

People & Policy

New Council Website 26 7 26 0 Procured & spend underway Q4

TOTAL GROWTH 26 7 26 0

NET SAVINGS 25 11 (2) (27)

ProgressInitiative Budget
Actual to 

Date

Projected 

Outturn

Projected 

Variance

Page 294



APPENDIX H

GENERAL FUND SERVICE ANALYSIS 2025/26

Provisional

Outturn

2024/25

£'000

Original

Budget

2025/26

£'000

Q1

Projected

2025/26

£'000

Q2

Projected

2025/26

£'000

Q3

Projected

2025/26

£'000

Q4

Projected

2025/26

£'000

Services

ASNL and Nature Reserves 104 113 113 113 113

Environmental Protection 276 455 408 374 351

Fleet Management (4) (9) (15) 0 21

Food Safety 389 512 508 491 476

Hospitality & Events Management 330 223 206 242 262

Parks & Open Spaces 1,381 1,532 1,500 1,403 1,430

Pest Control (36) (12) (12) (12) (13)

Salt Ayre Leisure Centre 239 636 1,053 677 768

Service Support 670 565 1,020 738 732

Street Cleaning 1,784 1,923 1,880 1,879 1,857

Streetscape 52 73 73 68 70

Trade Refuse (787) (818) (768) (762) (731)

Waste Collection 3,239 2,608 2,693 2,741 2,671

Williamson Park 468 439 565 644 669

Democratic Support & Elections 1,044 1,087 1,060 1,073 1,079

Legal Services 742 665 746 745 790

Licensing (78) (45) (32) (61) (35)

Commercial Land & Properties (1,696) (1,364) (746) (1,008) (1,137)

Customer Services 539 608 631 612 614

Facilities Management 593 623 671 613 622

GF Housing Schemes (39) (13) (38) (58) (54)

Municipal Buildings 664 694 775 742 725

Other Land & Buildings 42 42 43 64 65

Private Sector Housing 616 1,565 1,004 864 832

Property Group 777 1,244 1,307 1,039 1,050

Public Health Services 109 137 142 139 145

Repairs & Maintenance 0 0 0 0 0

Communications 0 230 496 215 213

Community Connectors 166 0 0 0 0

Emergency Planning & CSP 99 117 117 118 117

Exec Support 196 197 198 202 198

Health & Safety 74 67 77 74 73

HR & OD 1,193 855 844 853 842

Marketing 226 242 249 291 290

Policy and Partnerships 0 285 249 223 220

Projects & Performance 168 118 124 126 120

VCFS 300 321 321 321 321

Visitor Information Centres 32 0 35 35 35

DM - Building Control 172 270 270 252 256

DM - Planning 644 822 666 690 591

Energy and Sustainability 294 210 215 218 213

Planning & Housing Strategy 894 972 955 933 867

CCTV 66 62 62 81 81

Finance 1,455 1,679 1,624 1,629 1,618

ICT 1,557 1,789 1,730 1,764 1,737

Internal Audit 219 172 172 172 172

Revenues & Benefits 1,413 1,382 1,382 1,395 1,395

Economic Development & Culture 220 226 226 226 226

Markets (77) (54) 181 230 276

Museums 493 490 510 484 482

Parking (2,700) (2,733) (2,747) (2,575) (2,661)

Regeneration 483 546 528 530 526

Strategic Projects & Engineers 275 547 428 412 280

19,280 22,295 23,699 22,259 21,860 0

Corporate Services

Corporate Accounts Corporate Accounts 1,838 (87) 359 704 877

Contributions from Reserves 4,517 1,520 1,520 1,227 1,176

Government Grants (1,334) (774) (774) (774) (774)

Interest Payable 1,145 1,534 1,353 1,294 1,294

Interest Receivable (1,302) (465) (611) (797) (1,155)

Minimum Revenue Provision 2,912 2,924 2,703 2,703 2,703

Notional Charges (55) 0 0 0 0

Pandemic Support 0 0 0 0 0

Revenue Funding of Capital (222) 71 71 71 71

Capital Funding of Revenue 0 0 0 0 0

UKSPF 0 0 0 0 0

7,499 4,723 4,621 4,428 4,192 0

Net Recharges to Housing Revenue Account (1,026) (1,026) (1,026) (1,026) (1,026)

RMS Capital Charges (now Housing Revenue Account) (200) (218) (218) (218) (218)

Corporate Property Review (Revenue) 0 1,427 0 152 114

Corporate Property Review (Appropriation) 0 0 0 1,275 1,313

Revenue Reserve funded items (Revenue) 2,858 427 1,991 2,167 2,256

Revenue Reserve funded items (Appropriation) (2,858) (427) (1,991) (2,167) (2,256)

General Fund Revenue Budget 25,553 27,201 27,076 26,870 26,235 0

Core Funding : Revenue Support Grant (433) (460) (460) (460) (460)

Additional New Homes Bonus 0 0 0 0 0

Supplementary Government Grants 0 0 0 0 0

Prior Year Council Tax Surplus 141 (280) (280) (280) (280)

Net Business Rates Income (14,384) (14,911) (14,911) (15,283) (15,180)

Council Tax Requirement 10,877 11,550 11,425 10,847 10,315 0

Notes:

1. Income is expressed as a negative figure in brackets

2. Expenditure is expressed as a positive figure

3. Projected Variances are expressed as negative ( ) for adverse and positive + for favourable

Resources

Environment & Place

Sustainable Growth

Other Items

Governance

Housing & Property

People & Policy

Planning & Climate Change

Page 295



APPENDIX I

No. Value No. Value No. Value No. Value No. Value No. Value No. Value No. Value

Environment & Place 62 77,026 108 41,140 39 51,653 97 29,834 506 184,120 171 278,377 92 -13,524 1,075 £648,626

Governance 2 4,331 0 0 1 377 2 10,389 1 2,800 13 24,900 0 0 19 £42,796

Housing & Property 196 206,956 34 86,391 46 61,932 110 286,077 338 420,017 1,159 1,430,828 80 -10,145 1,963 £2,482,057

Planning & Climate Change 1 420 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 3,532 50 233,177 3 -1,668 60 £235,461

Resources 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 12,032 3 -50 5 £11,982

Sustainable Growth 22 16,984 13 8,919 11 4,839 32 17,857 94 81,088 43 34,505 5 -364 220 £163,828

Total Per Period 283 £305,717 155 £136,451 97 £118,801 241 £344,156 945 £691,557 1,438 £2,013,819 183 (£25,751) 3,342 £3,584,750

Total Debts 3,342 £3,584,750

Aged Debt Summary by Service (as at 01 January  2026)

Debtor Sections
Under 28 Days 28 to 59 days 60 to 91 days 92 to 183 days 184 to 364 days Over 365 days

Credit/Income 

not applied 
Total Debts

P
age 296



APPENDIX J 

   

 

Treasury Management Update 
 

Quarter ended 31st December 2025 

 

Report of Chief Resources and S151 Officer 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 297



APPENDIX J 

   

 

2025/26 Treasury Management Update 
 
Quarter Ended 31st December 2025 

 

1. Introduction 

 
The CIPFA (Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy) Code of Practice for 
Treasury Management 2021 recommends that members be updated on treasury 

management activities at least quarterly. This report, therefore, ensures this Council is 
implementing best practice in accordance with the Code. 

 
 

2. Economic update (provided by MUFG Corporate Markets) 

 
The third quarter of 2025/26 saw:  

- A -0.1% m/m change in real GDP in October, leaving the economy no bigger than at 
the start of April; 

- The 3myy rate of average earnings growth excluding bonuses fall to 4.6% in October, 
having been as high as 5.5% earlier in the financial year; 

- CPI inflation fall sharply from 3.6% to 3.2% in November, with core CPI easing the 
3.2%; 

- The Bank of England cut interest rates from 4.00% to 3.75% in December after holding 
in November. 

- 10-year gilt yield fluctuate between 4.4% and 4.7%, ending the quarter at 4.5% 

 

From a GDP perspective, the financial year got off to a bumpy start with the 0.3% m/m 
fall in real GDP in April as front-running of US tariffs in Q1 (when GDP grew 0.7% on the 
quarter) weighed on activity. Despite the underlying reasons for the drop, it was still the 

first fall since October 2023. However, the economy surprised to the upside in May and 
June so that quarterly growth ended up 0.3% q/q (subsequently revised down to 0.2% 

q/q). October’s disappointing -0.1% m/m change in real GDP suggests that growth slowed 
to around 1.4% in 2025 as a whole. 

Sticking with future economic sentiment, the composite Purchasing Manager Index (PMI) 

for the UK rose from 51.2 in November to 52.1 in December, suggesting the economy 
may be benefitting somewhat from pre-Budget uncertainty fading. This may also reflect a 

diminishing drag from weak overseas demand. While the services PMI rose from 51.3 to 
52.1, the improvement in the manufacturing output balance from 50.3 to 51.8 was larger. 
Indeed, the manufacturing sector has been more exposed to the recent weakness of 

external demand and has lagged the services sector since the end of last year.  

Turning to retail sales volumes, and the 1.5% year-on-year rise in September, 

accelerating from a 0.7% increase in August, marked the highest gain since 
April. Nonetheless, the 0.1% m/m fall in retail sales volumes in November built on the 
0.9% m/m drop in October, suggesting the longer-lasting effects of weak employment and 

slowing wage growth are impacting. Moreover, the decline in the GfK measure of 
consumer confidence from -17 in October to -19 in November suggests that consumers 

are not that optimistic at present.    

Page 298



APPENDIX J 

   

 

Prior to the November Budget, the public finances position looked weak.  The £20.2 billion 
borrowed in September was slightly above the £20.1 billion forecast by the OBR.  For the 

year to date, the £99.8 billion borrowed is the second highest for the April  to September 
period since records began in 1993, surpassed only by borrowing during the COVID-19 

pandemic.  The main drivers of the increased borrowing were higher debt interest costs, 
rising government running costs, and increased inflation-linked benefit payments, which 
outweighed the rise in tax and National Insurance contributions.    

Following the 26 November Budget, the Office for Budget Responsibility (OBR) calculated 
the net tightening in fiscal policy as £11.7bn (0.3% of GDP) in 2029/30, smaller than the 

consensus forecast of £25bn. It did downgrade productivity growth by 0.3%, from 1.3% 
to 1.0%, but a lot of that influence was offset by upgrades to its near-term wage and 
inflation forecasts. Accordingly, the OBR judged the Chancellor was going to achieve 

her objectives with £4.2bn to spare. The Chancellor then chose to expand that headroom 
to £21.7bn, up from £9.9bn previously.   

Moreover, the Chancellor also chose to raise spending by a net £11.3bn in 2029/30. To 
pay for that and the increase in her headroom, she raised taxes by £26.1bn in 
2029/30.  The biggest revenue-raisers were the freeze in income tax thresholds from 

2028/29 (+£7.8bn) and the rise in NICs on salary-sacrifice pension contributions 
(+£4.8bn). The increase in council tax for properties worth more than £2.0m will generate 

£0.4bn. 

After the Budget, public net sector borrowing of £11.7bn in November was comfortably 
below last November’s figure of £13.6bn and was the lowest November borrowing figure 

since 2021, mainly due to tax receipts being £5.4bn higher, largely because of the hike 
in employer NICs in April 2025. Cumulative borrowing in the first eight months of 2025/26 

was still £10bn above last year’s total. However, lower inflation and a disposal of assets 
ahead of the Budget should mean borrowing in 2025/26 comes in below last year’s total.   

  

The weakening in the jobs market looked clear in the spring. May’s 109,000 m/m fall in 
the PAYE measure of employment was the largest decline (barring the pandemic) since 

the data began and the seventh in as many months. The monthly change was revised 
lower in five of the previous seven months too, with April’s 33,000 fall revised down to a 
55,000 drop. More recently, the 38,000 fall in payroll employment in November was the 

tenth monthly decline in the past 13 months, causing the annual growth rate to slow 
further, from -0.5% to -0.6%. The number of job vacancies in the three months to 

November 2025 stood at 729,000 (the peak was 1.3 million in spring 2022) but the less 
reliable Labour Force Survey data showed that employment fell by 16,000 in the three 
months to October, with the unemployment rate rising further, from 5.0% to 5.1%.  All this 

suggests the labour market continues to loosen, albeit at a slow pace.   

A looser labour market is driving softer wage pressures. The 3myy growth rate of average 

earnings including bonuses eased from 4.9% in September to 4.7% in October. And 
excluding bonuses, the 3myy rate slowed from 4.7% to 4.6%. Regular private sector pay 
growth continued to slow from 4.2% to 3.9%. That left it broadly on track to meet the 

Bank’s end of December prediction of 3.5%.   

 

CPI inflation fell sharply in November, easing from 3.6% in October to 3.2%. This was the 
third consecutive softer-than-expected inflation outturn and suggests that disinflation is 
well underway. There was a widespread easing in price pressures with inflation slowing 

Page 299



APPENDIX J 

   

 

in 10 of the 12 main categories. Core inflation fell from 3.4% to 3.2% and services inflation 
dipped from 4.5% to 4.4%. However, a great deal will depend on the adjustments to 

regulated and indexed prices scheduled for next April. Capital Economics forecast CPI 
inflation to drop from 3.2% in March to 2.0% in April, thereby leaving inflation on track to 

settle at the 2.0% target, or below, by the end of 2026.  

 

An ever-present issue throughout recent months has been the pressure being exerted on 

medium and longer dated gilt yields. The yield on the 10-year gilt moved sideways in the 
second quarter of 2025, rising from 4.4% in early April  to a high of c4.8%, before 

ending June at 4.50%,   

More recently, the yield on the 10-year gilt rose from 4.46% to 4.60% in early July as 
rolled-back spending cuts and uncertainty over Chancellor Reeves’ future raised fiscal 

concerns. Although the spike proved short lived, it highlighted the UK’s fragile f iscal 
position. In an era of high debt, high interest rates and low GDP growth, the markets are 

now more sensitive to fiscal risks than before the pandemic. During August, long-dated 
gilts underwent a particularly pronounced sell-off, climbing 22 basis points and reaching 
a 27-year high of 5.6% by the end of the month. While yields have since eased back, the 

market sell-off was driven by investor concerns over growing supply-demand imbalances, 
stemming from unease over the lack of fiscal consolidation and reduced demand from 

traditional long-dated bond purchasers like pension funds. For 10-year gilts, by late 
September, sticky inflation, resilient activity data and a hawkish Bank of England kept 
yields elevated over 4.70% although, subsequently, gilt yields fell back after the Budget, 

supported by a tighter fiscal plan, fewer tax hikes required following a smaller than 
expected downgrade to the OBR’s fiscal forecast, and a favourable shift in bond issuance 

away from long-dated debt. Gilt yields hovered around 4.5% at the end of the quarter.   

 

There were six Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) meetings held between April and 

December. In May, the Committee cut Bank Rate from 4.50% to 4.25%, while in June 
policy was left unchanged. In June’s vote, three MPC members (Dhingra, Ramsden and 

Taylor) voted for an immediate cut to 4.00%, citing loosening labour market conditions. 
The other six members were more cautious, as they highlighted the need to monitor for 
“signs of weak demand”, “supply-side constraints” and higher “inflation 

expectations”, mainly from rising food prices. By repeating the well-used phrase “gradual 
and careful”, the MPC continued to suggest that rates would be reduced further.   

In August, a further rate cut was implemented.  However, a 5-4 split vote for a rate cut to 
4% laid bare the different views within the Monetary Policy Committee, with the 
accompanying commentary noting the decision was “finely balanced” and reiterating th at 

future rate cuts would be undertaken “gradually and carefully”.  Ultimately, Governor 
Bailey was the casting vote for a rate cut but with the CPI measure of inflation expected 

to reach at least 4% later this year, the MPC was wary of making any further rate cuts 
until inflation begins its slow downwards trajectory back towards 2%.  

With wages still rising by just below 5%, it was no surprise that the September meeting 

saw the MPC vote 7-2 for keeping rates at 4% (Dhingra and Taylor voted for a further 
25bps reduction).  Moreover, the Bank also took the opportunity to announce that they 

would only shrink its balance sheet by £70bn over the next 12 months, rather than 
£100bn. The repetition of the phrase that “a gradual and careful” approach to rate cuts 
is appropriate suggested the Bank still thought interest rates will fall further.  

Page 300



APPENDIX J 

   

 

At the 6 November meeting, Governor Bailey was once again the deciding vote, keeping 
Bank Rate at 4% but hinting strongly that a further rate cut was imminent if data supported 

such a move.  By 18 December, with November CPI inflation having fallen to 3.2%, and 
with Q2 GDP revised down from 0.3% q/q to only 0.2% q/q, and Q3 GDP stalling at 0.1%, 

the MPC voted by 5-4 to cut rates further to 3.75%.  However, Governor Bailey made it 
clear that any further reductions would require strong supporting data, and th e pace of 
any further decreases would be slow compared to recent months.  The markets expect 

Bank Rate to next be cut in April.    

 

3. Interest Rate Forecast 

The Council has appointed MUFG Corporate Markets as its treasury advisor and part of 
their service is to assist the Council to formulate a view on interest rates. MUFG Corporate 

Markets provided the following forecasts and commentary on 22 December 2025.  These 
are forecasts for Bank Rate, average earnings and PWLB certainty rates, gilt yields plus 

80 bps.    

 
 

• Given the small majority vote for a rate cut in December, it was not unexpected to hear 

that although rates would continue on a “gradual downward path”, suggesting a further 
rate cut or cuts in the offing. However, MPC members want to assess incoming 

evidence on labour market activity and wage growth.  Indeed, with annual wage growth 
still over 4.5%, the MPC reiterated that the case for further rate cuts would be “a closer 
call”, and Governor Bailey observed there is “limited space as Bank Rate approaches 

a neutral level”.   

• Accordingly, the MUFG Corporate Markets forecast has been revised to price in a rate 

cut in Q2 2026 to 3.5%, likely to take place in the wake of a significant fall in the CPI 
inflation reading from 3% in March to 2% in April (as forecast by Capital Economics), 
followed by a short lull through the summer whilst more data is garnered, and then a 

further rate cut to 3.25% in Q4.  

• Nonetheless, threats to that central scenario abound.  What if wage 

increases remain stubbornly high?  There are, after all, several sectors of the 
domestic economy, including social care provision and the building/construction 

industries, where staff shortages remain severe.  Moreover, by May 2026, following 
the local elections, we will have a better handle on whether or not the 
Starmer/Reeves team is going to see out the current Parliament or whether they face 

a Leadership challenge from within their own party  If so, how will gilt markets react 
to these variables…and will there be additional geo-political factors to also bake in, 

particularly the Fed’s monetary policy decisions in 2026 and the ongoing battle to 
lower rates whilst inflation remains close to 3%.     

• Accordingly, the updated central forecast is made with several hefty caveats.  We are 

confident, as we have been for some time, that our forecast for Bank Rate and the 5-
year PWLB Certainty Rate is robust, and we have marginally brought forward the 

timing of the next rate cut(s).  But for the 10-, 25- and 50-years part of the curve, the 

Page 301



APPENDIX J 

   

 

level of gilt issuance, and the timing of its placement, will be integral to achieving a 
benign trading environment.  That is not a “given”, and additionally, the inflation 

outlook and political factors domestically and, crucially, in the US, are also likely to 
hold sway.  Matters should be clearer by June in the UK, but the US mid-term 

elections are scheduled for November.  

• Revised PWLB rate forecasts are based on the Certainty Rate (the standard rate 
minus 20 bps) which has been accessible to most authorities since 1 November 

2012.  Please note, the lower Housing Revenue Account (HRA) PWLB rate started 
on 15 June 2023 for those authorities with an HRA (standard rate minus 60 bps) and 

is set to prevail until at least the end of March 2026.  Hopefully, there will be a further 
extension to this discounted rate announced in January.  

• Money market yield forecasts are based on expected average earnings by local 

authorities for 3 to 12 months.  

 

4. Investing Activities 
 

The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2025/26, which includes the 
Annual Investment Strategy, was approved by the Council on 26th February 2025.  In 

accordance with the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice, it sets out the 
Council’s investment priorities as being: 

• Security of capital 

• Liquidity 

• Yield 

 
The Council will aim to achieve the optimum return (yield) on its investments 

commensurate with proper levels of security and liquidity, aligned with the Council’s risk 
appetite. In the current economic climate, over and above keeping investments short-
term to cover cash flow needs, there is a benefit to seek out value available in periods up 

to 12 months with high credit rated financial institutions, using the MUFG Corporate 
Markets suggested creditworthiness approach, including a minimum sovereign credit 

rating and Credit Default Swap (CDS) overlay information. 
 
As shown by the charts below and the interest rate forecasts in section 2, investment 

rates have started to taper downwards during the final quarter 2025 and are expected to 
fall back further if inflation falls through 2026 and the MPC loosens monetary policy 

further. 
 
There have been few changes to credit ratings over the quarter under review.  However, 

officers continue to closely monitor these, and other measures of credit worthiness to 
ensure that only appropriate counterparties are considered for investment purposes.  

 
The current investment counterparty criteria selection approved in the Treasury 
Management Strategy is meeting the requirement of the treasury management function. 

 
The average level of funds available for investment purposes to the end of quarter 3 was 

£31.92M. These funds were available on a temporary basis, and the level of funds 
available was mainly dependent on the timing of precept payments, receipt of grants and 
progress on the capital programme. 

Page 302



APPENDIX J 

   

 

 
In terms of performance against external benchmarks, the return on investments 

compared to the 7-day SONIA at the end of the period is shown below.  This is viewed 
as good performance given the need to prioritise the investments and liquidity (i.e. making 

sure that the Council’s cash flow meets its needs).   
 

7 day SONIA     4.14% 

Lancaster City Council investments 4.01% 
 

Performance for the year to date is £611K above budget due to higher than forecast cash 
balances combined with interest rates falling more slowly than anticipated. 

 

Investment Balances – quarter ended 31 December 2025 
 

At the start of the year investments totalled £10.6M rising to £29.0M by 31st December. 
Fixed term investments with local authorities on 31st December were £10M, fixed term 
investments with the DMADF on 31st December were £2.0M whilst Money Market Fund 

balances were £17.0M. 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 303



APPENDIX J 

   

 

 
 
 

 
 

 

5. New Borrowing 

 
No borrowing was undertaken during the quarter ended 31 December 2025. It is 
anticipated that further borrowing may still be needed during this financial year. 

Balance sheet projections indicate that up to £15M borrowing may be required before 
the end of the financial year, whilst cashflow forecasts suggest a lower level of 
borrowing may be required. However, there is still potential for further slippage within 

the Capital Programme and unknown timing of the payment of significant invoices in 
addition to large cashflows relating to the Eden Project which make this difficult to 

Other Investments Term

Maturity 

Date

Opening   

1.4.25

Closing  

31.12.2025

Interest to 

Date

£ £ £

Call Accounts

Natwest (Cash Manager Plus) 1,719,368 292,344 0.01% 11,809

Money Market Funds

Aberdeen Standard Investments 6,000,000 6,000,000 4.19% 189,299

BlackRock Gov 0 0 4.16% 13,631

BlackRock 1st 2,600,000 0 4.26% 87,189

Goldman Sachs 0 0 4.19% 21,725
Insight 0 5,000,000 4.19% 143,434
LGIM 6,000,000 6,000,000 3.73% 188,406

Fixed Term Deposits

DMADF various various 0 0 various 328,471

DMADF 31 days 22/01/2026 0 2,000,000 3.72% 2,038

North Tyneside Council 71 days 27/02/2026 0 5,000,000 4.05% 7,767

London Borough of Barking & Dagenham 72 days 27/02/2026 0 5,000,000 4.20% 8,630

Sub-total 16,319,368 29,292,344 1,002,399

Budgeted income 390,923

611,476

Indicative 

Rate 

(YTD)

Current Fixed 

Rate

Page 304



APPENDIX J 

   

 

quantify with certainty. Should borrowing be required, it is anticipated to be temporary 
borrowing.  The ultimate timing will depend on exact working capital cashflows in the 

run up to year end which are kept under close review.  These will continue to be 
monitored in the forthcoming financial year. 

 
PWLB rates in 2025/26 have been somewhat circular, with the only net movement of 
substance over the nine months under review occurring at the shortest part of the 

curve. Nonetheless, there has been a degree of volatility driven by movements in US 
Treasuries as well as domestic factors, the most negative of which impacted markets 

in early September. 
 
Throughout the period under review, markets have reacted to Government fiscal 

messaging, yields rising when concerns emerged over the ability of the Government 
to keep net spending under control ahead of the 26 November Budget, and then easing 

back to rates similar to those at the start of the financial year once markets felt 
reassured by the steps the Chancellor had taken to manage public spending and to 
also bolster her fiscal headroom.  

  
Accordingly, 1-year PWLB Certainty rates started the financial year at 4.82% and 

finished 2025 at 4.37%, whilst the 5-year part of the curve started at 4.94% and finished 
at 4.78%.  Rates never got above 5% throughout the nine months under review.  
  

It was a different story for the longer part of the curve, and in recent weeks the Debt 
Management Office has confirmed that it will seek to issue less gilts in the longer part 

of the curve and seek to focus on the short to medium part of the curve, where investors 
are more willing to purchase.  That may alter in due course if the CPI measure of 
inflation falls to 2% by the spring of 2026, having been “sticky” at much higher levels 

for much of 2025.  
  

10-year PWLB Certainty rates started April at 5.38% and finished 2025 at 5.34%.  On 
3 September, rates hit a peak of 5.62%.  
  

The story was repeated for the 25- and 50-year parts of the curve. 25-year PWLB 
Certainty rates started April at 5.95% and finished the year at the same level but 

touched a peak of 6.41% on 3 September.  While the 50-year Certainty rate started at 
5.63% in April and finished the year at 5.71%, peaking at 6.14% also on 3 September.   
 

Page 305



APPENDIX J 

   

 

 
 
 

6. Debt Rescheduling 
 

Debt rescheduling opportunities have remained a possibility in the current quarter for 

those authorities with significant surplus cash and a flat or falling Capital Financing 
Requirement in future years. Members will be advised if there is value to be had by 

rescheduling or repaying a part of the debt portfolio.   
 

7. Compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits 

 
It is a statutory duty for the Council to determine and keep under review the affordable 

borrowing limits. During the quarter ended 31st December 2025, the Council has 
operated within the treasury and prudential indicators set out in the Council’s Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement for 2025/26. The Chief Resources & S151 Officer 

reports that no difficulties are envisaged for the current or future years in complying 
with these indicators. 

 
All treasury management operations have also been conducted in full compliance with 
the Council's Treasury Management Practices. 

 
The Prudential and Treasury Indicators for 2025/26 as of 31st December 2025 are set 
out below: 

 
 

 
 
 

 

Page 306



APPENDIX J 

   

 

Treasury Indicators 
31.03.25 Actual 

£M 

2025/26 Approved 

Estimate 
£M 

2025/26 Quarter 3 

Estimate 
£M 

Authorised limit for external debt 114.00 134.00 134.00 

Operational boundary for 

external debt 
98.00 118.96 118.96 

Gross external debt 56.93 78.89 71.89 

Investments (14.60) (10.67) (14.18) 

    

Prudential Indicators – Non HRA 
 

31.03.25 Actual 
£M 

2025/26  

Approved  
Estimate 

£M 

2025/26 Quarter 3 
Estimate 

£M 

Capital expenditure * 8.83 27.08 28.67 

Capital Financing Requirement 

(CFR) * 
64.82 85.96 78.07 

Annual change in CFR * 0.32 17.83 13.26 

Ratio of financing costs to net 
revenue stream * 

16.20% 17.82% 15.52% 

 

    

Prudential Indicators –  HRA 
 

31.03.25 Actual 
£M 

2025/26 

Approved 
Estimate 

£M 

2025/26 

Quarter 3 
Estimate 

£M 

Capital expenditure * 6.39 6.12 8.07 

Capital Financing Requirement 

(CFR) * 
33.04 32.00 32.00 

Annual change in CFR * (1.05) (1.04) (1.04) 

Ratio of financing costs to net 
revenue stream * 

15.78% 15.40% 15.64% 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

8. Other Issues 
 

Changes in risk appetite 

Page 307



APPENDIX J 

   

 

The 2021 CIPFA Codes and guidance notes have placed enhanced importance on risk 
management.  Where an authority changes its risk appetite e.g., for moving surplus 

cash into or out of certain types of investment funds or other types of investment 
instruments, this change in risk appetite and policy should be brought to members’ 

attention in treasury management update reports. 
 
The Treasury Management Mid-Year Review reported to Cabinet 2nd December 2025 

and Council 17th December 2025 saw changes to the investment counterparty criteria 
and sovereign limits following work to address the “Community concern over 

bombardment of Gaza and reaffirming Lancaster City Council’s commitment to human 
rights and International Law” motion presented to Council 24th September 2025. Whilst 
this increase allows for wider access to, and use of Environmental, Social and 

Governance (ESG) based investment funds, it also significantly increases the level of 
risk to the Council. 

Page 308


	Agenda
	7 Adoption of Arnside and Silverdale National Landscape Management Plan
	CURRENT Arnside & Silverdale National Landscape Management Plan 2026-2031 FINAL DRAFTv2

	8 Budget and Policy Framework General Fund Revenue Budget 2026/27 - 2030/31
	Appendix A GF Budget Projections
	Appendix B Budget Variances
	Appendix C Savings & Growth
	Appendix C1 Savings & Growth (Exempt)
	Appendix C2 Savings & Growth (Exempt)
	Appendix D GF Reserves
	Appendix E Reserves - Virements - Carry Forwards

	9 Capital Programme 2026/27 – 2035/36 & Capital Strategy (Investing in the Future)
	Appendix A - GF Capital Programme UPDATED
	Appendix B Capital Strategy - Investing in the Future
	Appendix C - CAG Terms of Reference

	10 Treasury Management Strategy 2026/27
	Appendix A - Council Responsibility
	Appendix B - TM Policy
	Appendix C - Treasury Management Strategy 2026-27

	11 Medium Term Financial Strategy 2026/27 - 2030/31
	12 Housing Revenue Account Budget Framework 2026/27 - 2030/31
	Appendix A HRA Statement
	Appendix B HRA Variance Analysis
	Appendix C HRA Capital Programme
	Appendix D HRA Capital Key Changes
	Appendix E(i) HRA Reserves
	App E(ii) Reserves & Provisions 26-27
	Appendix F - Risks and Assumptions (1)
	Appendix G - Equality Impact Assessment Form Feb 2026

	13 Flexible use of Capital Receipts Strategy 2026/27
	14 Delivering our Priorities 2025/26 Q3
	DoP Appendix Pack Q3 25-26
	Appendix A GF Service Analysis Q3 25-26.pdf (p.1)
	Appendix B GF Subjective Analysis Q3 25-26.pdf (p.2)
	Appendix C HRA Service Analysis Q3 25-26.pdf (p.3)
	Appendix D GF Capital Q3 25-26.pdf (p.4)
	Appendix E HRA Capital Q3 25-26.pdf (p.5)
	Appendix F GF Reserves Q3 25-26.pdf (p.6)
	Appendix F HRA Reserves Q3 25-26.pdf (p.7)
	Appendix G Savings & Budget Proposals Monitoring Q3 25-26.pdf (p.8)
	Appendix H Service Analysis Q3 25-26.pdf (p.9)
	Appendix I Aged Debt Summary by Service Q3 25-26.pdf (p.10)
	Appendix J TM Q3 Update 25-26.pdf (p.11-22)



